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PART |
ITEM 1. BUSINESS.

We are a biopharmaceutical company engaged iniseevery and development of therapeutic productiickates designed to
extend and enhance the quality of human life. Tghaile application of our proprietary technologigs,have established a
pipeline of therapeutic product development programmultiple disease areas. We are committed veldping therapeutic
products that we believe have best-in-class pa@kmtieaning therapeutic candidates that have ttenpal to be safer, more
effective products than the current standard o carother products in development, and that mag lo¢her advantages, such
as superior scalability or ease of administrat@ur current product development portfolio consigtMultiStem® , a patented
and proprietary stem cell product that we are dmiab as a treatment for multiple disease indicetiand that is currently
being evaluated in two ongoing clinical trials, dras been authorized for use in a third clinidal.tin addition, we are
developing novel pharmaceuticals to treat indicegisuch as obesity, certain cognitive and attemtisorders, and narcolepsy
other forms of excessive daytime sleepiness.

Recent Developments

In December 2009, we entered into a collaboratgre@ment with Pfizer Inc., or Pfizer, to developl @ommercialize
MutiStem for the treatment of inflammatory bowedehse, or IBD, for the worldwide market. Underttirens of the agreeme
we received an up-front cash payment of $6 milfiem Pfizer and will receive research funding andpmort during the initial
phase of the collaboration. In addition, we are alggible to receive milestone payments of upt06%million upon the
successful achievement of certain development|aemy and commercial milestones. We will be reslole for
manufacturing and Pfizer will pay us for manufagtgrproduct for clinical development and commeization purposes. Pfiz
will have responsibility for development, regulat@nd commercialization and will pay us tiered dtiga on worldwide
commercial sales of MultiStem IBD products. Alteimely, in lieu of royalties and certain commerdation milestones, we
may elect to calevelop with Pfizer and the parties will share depment and commercialization expenses and priofises ol
an agreed basis beginning at phase Il clinicabtigpment.

Business Strategy

Our principal business objective is to discoveralep and commercialize novel therapeutic prodfamtslisease indications tt
represent significant areas of clinical need ardroercial opportunity. The key elements of our stygitare outlined below.

-  Efficiently develop product candidates in estaldidlareas of significant clinical neeWe will continue to develop
certain product candidates leveraging others’ miimical efforts and validation while we focus davelopment of
best-in-class product candidates with differentigieofiles. Our intention is to develop our produfdr ultimate
commercialization by us, our partners or licensdt they have received approval from the U.S.drarad Drug
Administration, or FDA, and/or other regulatory ages.

«  Apply our proprietary technologies toward the raji@ntification, validation, and development ofrdpgeutic
product candidatesWe will continue to use our proprietary technolagiie identify and validate therapeutic product
candidates. We believe our technologies, includifiudtiStem and RAGE (Random Activation of Gene Exgsien),
provide us with a competitive advantage in drugalery and product development by allowing us tovenproducts
quickly from the discovery phase into clinical tsiaWe will select candidates for internal develgmibased on
several factors, including the required regulatmpproval pathway and the potential market into Whke product
may be sold, and our ability to feasibly fund depehent activities through commercialization andketing of the
approved produc

< Enter into licensing or c-development arrangements for certain product cdatdis.We intend to license certain of
our product candidates to, or co-develop them wjtialified collaborators to broaden and accelevatgproduct
development and commercialization efforts. We @pdite that this strategy will help us to enhancereturn on
product candidates for which we enter into collations through the receipt of a mix of license feeiestone
payments, and profit sharing or royalties. Cergartnerships may include strategic equity invests
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«  Continue to expand our intellectual property pditioOur intellectual property is important to our biess and we
take significant steps to protect its value. Weehan ongoing research and development effort, thottugh internal
activities and through collaborative research @@t with others, which aims to develop new irgetual property
and enables us to file patent applications thaécaew applications of our existing technologiepmduct
candidates, including MultiSter

e Out-license non-core applications of our technodsgCertain elements of our technologies, such as #pgilication
toward the development of novel diagnostics orrthse for the analysis, characterization or pradaabf certain
types of therapeutic product candidates such aghgrics or biosimilars, may not be relevant tokiéne elements of
our corporate strategy. We believe these applicatinay have significant potential value, howeved may provide
capital to us that can be applied to our other ldgent efforts. Where appropriate, we may sedicémse non-core
applications of our technologies to others to meathis value

Our Current Programs

By applying our proprietary cell therapy platforMultiStem, we have established therapeutic prodaeelopment programs in
the areas of cardiovascular disease, hematopstetic cell, or HSC, transplant support and ischestnake, and are developing
a program to treat IBD with our partner, Pfizer. Wvanced our first two MultiStem programs intmidal development in
2008 and completed phase | enrollment in our caedioular trial in the first quarter of 2010. In POve intend to further
advance our HSC transplant support phase | stutlgtimthe U.S. and Europe, while we prepare fosphalinical studies in
ischemic stroke and IBD and for a potential phaséidical study of MultiStem for acute myocardiafarction. In addition, by
applying our core technologies and capabilitieshaee established drug development programs iaréss of obesity and
central nervous system disorders involving cognitetttention and wakefulness.

Regenerative Medicine Progran
MultiStem— A Novel Allogeneic Approach to Stem Cell Theepy Regenerative Medicine

We are developing a proprietary nonembryonic, @lfegc stem cell product candidate, MultiStem, tiatelieve has potential
utility for treating a broad range of diseases emad have widespread application in the field lofical regenerative medicine.
Unlike traditional bone marrow transplants or otbtam cell therapies, MultiStem may be manufactored large scale (with
hundreds of thousands to millions of doses obtafrad a single healthy donor), and may be admirgstevithout tissue
matching or the need for immune suppression, ana®tp type O blood. Potential applications of N&tkkm include the
treatment of cardiovascular disease, cancer tredtralated transplant support, certain neurologicalditions, autoimmune
disease and other conditions. We initiated phadieital trials in the areas of acute myocardidhiotion, or AMI, and HSC
transplant support in 2008 and have received FDtAaxization to initiate a phase | clinical trialtime area of ischemic stroke.
We believe that MultiStem represents a signifiGhtancement in the field of stem cell therapy amdd have broad clinical
application.

MultiStem is a patented biologic product that iswnfactured from human stem cells obtained fromtaatuhe marrow. The
product consists of a special class of human stdlm that have the ability to express a range efapeutically relevant proteins
and other factors, as well as form multiple cetley. Factors expressed by MultiStem have the pateéatdeliver a therapeutic
benefit in several ways, such as the reductiomftdrnmation, regulation of immune system functiprgtection of damaged or
injured tissue, the formation of new blood vessel®gions of ischemic injury and augmenting tiseggair and healing in oth
ways. These cells exhibit a drug-like profile imthhey act primarily through the production ofttas that regulate the immune
system, protect damaged or injured cells, pronissei¢ repair and healing and most or all of this @ek cleared from the body
over time.

The therapeutic benefit of bone marrow transplémdtas been recognized for decades, and its alinge has grown since
Congress passed the National Organ TransplantnAt®84 and the National Marrow Donor Registry wstslglished in 1990.
However, widespread bone marrow or stem cell tdansgtion has yet to become a reality. Some ofithigations that have
prevented broader clinical application of bone maror stem cell transplantation include the requiat for tissue matching
between donor and recipient, the typical need fier donor for each patient (a reflection of the ilitglto expand cells in a
controlled and reproducible manner), frequent dsexmune suppressive drugs to avoid rejection anime system
complications, the inability to efficiently produsenificant quantities of stem cells, and a raofpotential safety issues.
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A stem cell therapy that has the potential to askltbe challenges mentioned above could repredmetathrough in the field
of regenerative medicine, since it could greatlgand the clinical application of stem cell therapyther forms of regenerati
medicine. In 2003, we acquired technology originditveloped at the University of Minnesota related novel stem cell, the
Multipotent Adult Progenitor Cell, or MAPC, whichay be isolated from adult bone marrow as well agrohonembryonic
tissues. Over the past several years, we haveefutitveloped this technology and the manufactwfrigese cells for use in
ongoing clinical trials. Our current product platfois referred to as MultiStem. During several geaafrpreclinical work,
MultiStem has demonstrated the potential to addreséundamental limitations observed with traditibbone marrow or
hematopoietic stem cell transplants.

We believe that MultiStem represents a potentiat-reclass stem cell therapy because it exhilsithef the following
characteristics based on research and developmedate:

*  Broad plasticity and multiple potential mechanismhsiction.MultiStem cells have a demonstrated ability in aadim
models to form a range of cell types and appebetable to deliver therapeutic benefit through ipldtmechanisms,
such as producing factors that protect tissueshagdamage and inflammation, as well as enhangipiaging a
direct role in revascularization or tissue regetiena

e Large scale productiorUnlike conventional stem cells, such as blood-foigndr hematopoietic stem cells,
MultiStem cells may be produced on a large scalegssed, and cryogenically preserved, and thehalsecally in
a rapid and efficient manner. Material obtainedrfra single donor may be used to produce hundrett®atands or
millions of individual doses, representing a yitdd greater than other stem cells have been aldehizve

e "Off-the-shelf” utility. Unlike traditional bone marrow or hematopoieticsteell transplants that require extensive
genetic matching between donor and recipient, I8tétin is administered without tissue matching oréugiirement
for immune suppressive drugs. MultiStem is admémest as a cryogenically preserved allogeneic pitpdueaning
that these cells are not genetically matched betwieaor and recipient. This feature, combined wighability to
establish large MultiStem banks, could make it ficatfor clinicians to efficiently deliver stemItéherapy to a larg
number of patient:

»  SafetyOther stem cell types, such as embryonic stem, @aispose serious safety risks, such as the farmat
tumors or ectopic tissue. In contrast, MultiStersdeave an outstanding safety profile that hasleenpiled over
several years of preclinical study in a range afna@hmodels by a variety of investigato

At each step of the MultiStem production procesisare analyzed and qualified according to ptekdished criteria to ensure
that a consistent, well characterized product ahatdiis produced. Cells are harvested from a padifgpd donor and then
expanded to form a Master Cell Bank from which wedpice clinical grade material. In March 2007, we aur manufacturing
partner, Lonza Walkersville, Inc., announced theceasful establishment of a Master Cell Bank predumder Good
Manufacturing Practices, or GMP, and the produatibalinical grade material for our initial clinittrials. In multiple animal
models, MultiStem has been shown to be non-immumogand is administered without the genetic maighhat is typically
required for conventional bone marrow or stem watsplantation.

MultiStem allows us to pursue multiple high valwmnercial opportunities from a single product ati, because, based
upon work that we and independent collaboratore ltanmducted over the past several years, we bahatdultiStem has the
potential to treat a range of distinct diseasecatitbons, including ischemic injury and cardiovasculisease, certain
neurological diseases, autoimmune disease, trarisplaport (including in oncology patients), angiage of orphan disease
indications. As a result, we expect to be ableficiently add clinical indications as we furthexpand the scope of potential
applications for MultiStem, enabling us to reduosts and shorten development timelines in compatisdraditional single-
use preclinical studies.
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Working with independent investigators, we havedtanted preclinical studies in relevant animal medksigned to evaluate
safety and potential therapeutic benefit in varidisease indications. Based on the results of thedether studies, we have
submitted and the FDA has authorized three invastigal new drug applications, or INDs, involvingrainistration of
MultiStem in phase | clinical trials in treatingstinct disease conditions to date. We advancedMultiStem programs into
clinical development in 2008, initiating phaseihwdal trials in cardiovascular disease (treatiagignts that have suffered an
acute myocardial infarction) and in oncology treatinsupport (administering MultiStem to leukemidyonphoma patients wt
are receiving a traditional bone marrow or HSCgpdant to reduce the risk or severity of graft uerbost disease, or GVHD).
We are conducting the acute myocardial infarctiamaal trial with our partner Angiotech Pharmadeats, Inc., or Angiotech,
and we completed phase | enroliment in the firsirtgr of 2010.

MultiStem for Heart Attack, HSC Transplant SuppefTfreatment of Hematologic Malignancies & Strt

Working with independent investigators at a numdfdeading institutions, such as the UniversityMifinesota, the Cleveland
Clinic, the National Institutes of Health, the Meali College of Georgia, the University of Oregoralie Sciences Center and
the Katholieke Universiteit Leuven, we have studvtatiStem in a range of in vitro and animal modilat reflect various
types of human disease or injury, such as myodardaction, stroke, brain damage due to restddiod flow in newborns,
vascular disease, and bone marrow transplant su@paiD. In addition, we are exploring, or intendemplore, the potential
application of MultiStem in the treatment of a raraf other conditions such as certain blood or imendeficiencies and varic
autoimmune diseases.

As stated above, we have consistently observedbliStem is safe and effective in animal modéls.a result, we have
advanced MultiStem to clinical development stagthiee areas: treatment of damage caused by myakenfdrction; support
in the hematologic malignancy setting to reduc¢ateicomplications associated with traditional bomerrow or HSC
transplantation; and treatment for stroke caused Ibpckage of blood flow in the brain. We may enxgh¢o other clinical
indication areas as results warrant and resouesip

Heart Attack

In our current phase | clinical trial, we are expig the use of MultiStem as a treatment for dan@eed by myocardial
infarction, or heart attack. Myocardial infarctimnone of the leading causes of death and disabilithe United States.
Myocardial infarction is caused by the blockag®wé or more arteries that supply blood to the h&uth blockages can be
caused, for example, by the rupture of an athegostit plaque deposit. According to the Americaratiéssociation 2010
Statistical Update, there were approximately 938 €ses of myocardial infarction that occurrechim United States in 2006
and approximately 8.5 million individuals living the United States that had previously sufferedartattack. In addition,
there were more than 831,000 deaths that occumet ¥arious forms of cardiovascular disease, inolgi®67,000 individuals
that died as a result of a myocardial infarctiomangestive heart failure. A variety of risk fact@re associated with an elev:
risk of myocardial infarction or atherosclerosig;luding age, high blood pressure, smoking, sedglifastyle and genetics.
While advances in the diagnosis, prevention aratrrent of heart disease have had a positive imfyege is clearly room for
improvement — myocardial infarction remains a legdtause of death and disability in the Unitede3taind the rest of the
world.

MultiStem has been studied in validated animal ned&AMI, including at both the Cleveland Cliniaéthe University of
Minnesota. Investigators demonstrated that the midtmation of allogeneic MultiStem into the hearfsaanimals damaged by
experimentally induced heart attacks resultedgnificant functional improvement in cardiac outpuid other functional
parameters compared with animals that receivedplaor no treatment. Furthermore, the administnasfdmmunosuppressi\
drug was not required and provided no additionakfiein this study, and supports the concept aigidultiStem as an
allogeneic product.
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Working with a qualified contract research orgatima we completed additional preclinical studie®stablished pig models
acute myocardial infarction using catheter delivang examining various factors such as the rouderathod of MultiStem
administration, dose ranging, and timing of treattmén 2008, we initiated a multicenter phase micll trial in this indication,
and during the first quarter of 2010, we completaobllment. We are working with leading cardiovdactreatment clinical
sites and experts in the area of cardiovasculaadisto complete this phase | clinical trial.

We are developing MultiStem for this indicationconjunction with our partner, Angiotech. We enteirgd a product co-
development collaboration with Angiotech in May B0O€or the potential application of MultiStem in Hiple cardiovascular
indications including myocardial infarction, pergral vascular disease and certain other indications

HSC Transplant Support in Hematologic Malignanc

Another area of focus is the use of MultiStem garaative treatment for HSC/bone marrow transplagdias therapy in
hematologic malignancy. For many types of canaerthss leukemia or other blood-borne cancers nret typically involves
radiation therapy or chemotherapy, alone or in doatbn. Such treatment can substantially depletecells of the blood and
immune system, by reducing the number of stem oellse bone marrow from which they arise. The mintense the radiation
treatment or chemotherapy, the more severe thétiresdepletion is of the bone marrow, blood, amariune system. Other
tissues may also be affected, such as cells idigestive tract and in the pulmonary system. Tiselltenay be severe anemia,
immunodeficiency, significant reduction in digestivapacity, and other problems that may resuliginificant disability or
death.

One strategy for treating the depletion of bonerowvatis to perform a peripheral blood stem cell s@lant or a bone marrow
transplant. This approach may augment the patiabilgy to form new blood and immune cells andvpde a significant
survival advantage. However, finding a closely rhattdonor is frequently difficult or even impossibEven when such a
donor is found, in many cases there are immunaodbgicmplications, such as GVHD, which may resuliénious disability or
death.

Working with leading experts in the stem cell amthéd marrow transplantation field, we have studiadti@tem in animal
models of radiation therapy and GVHD. In multiptéraal models, MultiStem has been shown to be namtimogenic, even
when administered without the genetic matching ighatpically required for conventional bone marromstem cell
transplantation. Furthermore, in animal model systéesting immune reactivity of T-cells againstalared donor tissue,
MultiStem has been shown to suppress the T-celliatedlimmune responses that are an important factausing GVHD.
MultiStem-treated animals also displayed a sigaifidncrease in survival relative to controls. Agsult, we believe that the
administration of MultiStem in conjunction with fillowing standard HSC transplantation may havepiential to reduce the
incidence or severity of complications and may @aglesgastrointestinal function which is frequentynpromised as a result of
radiation treatment or chemotherapy.

In 2008, we initiated a phase | clinical trial txaenine the safety and tolerability of MultiStempatients receiving a bone
marrow or hematopoietic stem cell transplant relatetheir treatment for hematologic malignancye Tiial is an open label,
multicenter trial that involves leading expertghe field of bone marrow transplantation.

Stroke

A third focus of our regenerative medicine progtiarthe use of MultiStem for the treatment of neagidal injury as a result of
ischemic stroke, which accounts for approximaté&$e8of all strokes. Recent progress toward the dgweént of safer and
more effective treatments for ischemic stroke heentdisappointing. Despite the fact that ischetnake is one of the leading
causes of death and disability in the United Stat#fecting more than 700,000 new patients annwalbording to the United
States Centers for Disease Control and Preverdio@DC, there has been little progress toward theeldpment of treatments
that improve the prognosis for stroke victims. Dy FDA-approved drug currently available for isofic stroke is the anti-
clotting factor, tPA. According to current clinicgliidelines, tPA must be administered to strokéep# within three hours aft
the occurrence of the ischemic stroke to removelihtewhile minimizing potential risks, such asduéng into the brain.
Administration of tPA after this time frame is mecommended, since it can cause bleeding or evagh.d8iven this limited
therapeutic window, it is estimated that less th#nof ischemic stroke victims currently receiveatraent with tPA.
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In preclinical studies conducted by investigatorsluding at both the University of Minnesota ahé Medical College of
Georgia, significant functional improvements haeei observed in rodents that have undergone amiqgreally induced
stroke, or that have incurred significant neuratajdamage as a result of neonatal hypoxic ischeanidthen received
treatment with MultiStem. Through research condiitig collaborators at the Medical College of Geamyd presented at the
annual American Academy of Neurology meeting iniAp006, we observed that administration of MuléiBteven one week
after a surgically induced stroke results in sutitsalong-term therapeutic benefit, as evidencedhe improvement of treated
animals compared with controls in a battery ofs@stamining mobility, strength, fine motor skilégd other aspects of
neurological functional improvement. We believettthgs benefit is achieved through several mecmasjsncluding reduction
of inflammation and immune system modulation inigolemic area and the protection and rescue oadachor injured cells,
including neuronal tissue. These results have beafirmed in subsequent studies that demonstraté3tem treatment is well
tolerated, does not require immunosuppressionresults in a robust and durable therapeutic beaefih when administered
one week after the initial stroke event.

In 2008, we completed additional preclinical safgttydies and submitted an IND for this applicatiwhijch has been authoriz
by the FDA. The phase | safety clinical trial authed by the FDA is a double blind, placebo coeaistudy that allows for
administration of MultiStem to patients 48 to 6Quafter the ischemic stroke, which, if shown ¢éoshfe and effective, would
represent a significant extension of the treatméntlow relative to existing standard of care. Weéhmitiated planning and &
continuing preparations for the commencement optieese | study.

IBD

In December 2009, we entered into a collaboratgre@ment with Pfizer to develop and commercialiagistem for the
treatment of IBD for the worldwide market. IBD igeoup of inflammatory and autoimmune conditiorest #hffect the colon ar
small intestine, typically resulting in severe almitloal pain, weight loss, vomiting and diarrhea. Timgst common forms of the
disease include ulcerative colitis and crohn’s ase which are estimated to affect more than twiomipeople in the U.S.,
major European countries and Japan. Chronic IBDbeaa severely debilitating condition, and advartasks may require
surgery to remove the affected region of the boadl may also require temporary or permanent amogbr iliostomy. In
many cases, surgery does not achieve a permanmentacud patients suffer a return of the diseaseak&¥eurrently planning ai
preparing for a phase | clinical study in the IB2a and plan to initiate the study as soon asilglesafter regulatory approval.

We believe that MultiStem could have broad potémdidreat a range of conditions. In addition te #tbove programs, working
with partners and collaborators, and as resoureanify we intend to explore the potential utilityMultiStem for treating a
range of other conditions, including autoimmunesdges, other conditions that involve the immungesysand certain
neurological conditions, especially those in whitfammation plays a role. We believe that Multi®teould have utility in
treating multiple diseases, and as a result, lmpdtential to create significant value for our @amy and our stockholders.

Pharmaceutical Program:

Obesity is a substantial contributing factor t@aage of diseases that represent the major causkestif and disability in the
developed world today. Individuals that are cliflicabese have elevated rates of cardiovasculaagis, stroke, certain types
cancer and diabetes. According to the CDC, thelerge of obesity in the United States has increasad epidemic rate duri
the past 20 years. CDC now estimates that 66% afna¢ricans are overweight, including more than 3®%t are considered
clinically obese. The percentage of young people ate overweight has more than tripled since 198@re has also been a
dramatic rise in the rate of obesity in Europe Asi. Despite the magnitude of this problem, curegaproaches to clinical
obesity are largely ineffective, and we are awdnelatively few new therapeutic approaches inicihdevelopment.
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We are developing novel pharmaceutical treatmemteliesity, which are compounds designed to astibyulating a key
receptor in the brain that regulates appetite and fntake — the 5HT2c receptor. The role of teisaptor in regulating food
intake is well understood in both animal models hathans. In 1996, Wyeth Pharmaceuticals launchednki-obesity drug
Redux® (dexfenfluramine), a non-specific serotonin recepmonist that was used with the stimulant pheritegrimn a
combination commonly known as fen-phen. This diegccombination gained rapid and widespread acneptan the clinical
marketplace and was shown to be highly effectivegtilating appetite, reducing food intake, andsaapweight loss.
Unfortunately, in addition to stimulating the SHT&eptor, Redux also stimulated the 5HT2b recaptris found in the
heart. The activation of 5HT2b by Redux is beliet@tiave caused significant cardiovascular problenasnumber of patients
and, as a result, Redux was withdrawn from the atark1997. In 1996, doctors wrote 18 million mdwptprescriptions for
drugs constituting the fen/phen combination. Irt #gane year, these drugs generated sales of gtieate$400 million, serving
as a benchmark for the substantial market oppdytdoi an effective drug to treat clinical obesity.

Since the withdrawal of Redux from the market, salvgroups have published research that implicgtiesulation of the 5HT2
receptor as the underlying cause of the cardiovaspuoblems. These findings suggest that highllgctive compounds that
stimulate the 5HT2c receptor, but that do not agiptdy stimulate the 5HT2b receptor, could be depetl that maintain the
desired appetite suppressive effects without theieaascular toxicity. Recently, Arena Pharmacesiceveloped a selective
5HT2c agonist, Lorcaserin, which exhibits signifitaelectivity for the 5SHT2c receptor relative be t5HT2b receptor. In a
phase Il clinical trial conducted by Arena Pharmdioals, Lorcaserin was demonstrated to reducetép@ad cause
statistically significant weight loss in patienitet were administered the drug for a period ofé¢hm®nths, without causing any
apparent cardiovascular effects. However, at higlbees the drug has been shown to cause dizziessga and headaches,
which may be a consequence of its apparently nimited selectivity for the 5SHT2c receptor relatieeanother serotonin
receptor expressed in the brain, the 5SHT2a receftena Pharmaceuticals recently completed two ehiaslinical trials
designed to evaluate safety, including cardiovascsafety, and effectiveness at causing weightitopatients that are
administered Lorcaserin for a period of up to tveans. The results of these studies demonstratethdra was no evidence of
cardiovascular toxicity or other serious adversengs, however, only modest weight loss was seerb&\eve the modest
weight loss is a result of the inability to admteisLorcaserin at higher dose levels in order tuea® a greater therapeutic
effect — a reflection of the limited compound s¢ilaty at the 5HT2a receptor and the neurologiddé £ffects seen at higher
dose levels.

We initiated a drug development program focusedreating potent and selective compounds that séitadhe 5SHT2c recept
but that avoid the 5HT2b receptor and other regspsuch as 5HT2a. Our specific goal has beenwveldie an orally
administered pill that reduces appetite by stinigpthe 5HT2c receptor, but that does not stimula¢e5HT2b receptor, the
5HT2a receptor, or other receptors that could cadserse side effects. Based on extensive prealistadies that we have
conducted with compounds that we have developediave demonstrated the ability to develop highliepband selective
compounds that are potent and selective for theZsH@&ceptor, and that lack activity at either SHE62&HT2b. We believe th
the potency and selectivity profile displayed bynpmunds we are developing for the SHT2c receplative to both the 5SHT2
receptor and the 5HT2a receptor will result in samally better efficacy and a cleaner safety toterability profile in clinical
trials, as well as a more convenient dosing scleethan other SHT2¢ agonist programs.
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H 3 Antagonists for the Treatment of Sleep Disordex$ @artain Other Cognitive Disorders

In addition to our other programs, we are indepatigeleveloping novel, orally-active pharmaceutctiat are designed to
enhance wakefulness and promote cognitive abilitiggmtients that experience attention or cognitigécits. Individuals that
suffer from narcolepsy or other conditions thatifeim excessive daytime sleepiness, or EDS, mageance persistent
tiredness and lack of energy. Chronic fatigue magxperienced by patients with other disease dondisuch as Parkinson’s
or those undergoing treatment for cancer. As dttesich individuals may experience significanfidiflty in performing
certain tasks and may suffer an impaired qualityfef More than 100,000 individuals in the UnitSthtes suffer from
narcolepsy or EDS. Historically, narcoleptics wesated with amphetamines and related stimulasaishiid substantial side-
effects, but more recently have been prescribedigit¢gModafinil). This compound works by an unknownechanism, but
appears to be relatively free of the stimulant-stfects of amphetamines. In addition to its usenarcolepsy, Provigil is also
approved for the treatment of shift work sleep diso, or SWSD, and sleep apnea. Known side efteqierienced by patients
taking Provigil include anxiety, depression, raa rare occurrences of serious and potentiaththifeatening reactions
including Stevens Johnson Syndrome, Toxic Epideiegirolysis, Erythema Multiforme, and multi-orgaypkrsensitivity.
Sales of Provigil in 2008 were reported to be @50 million. Although Provigil appears to be arpimovement over previous
narcolepsy drugs, certain safety concerns wereddiyg the FDA when Cephalon, Inc. attempted to gpjroval of Modafinil
for attention deficit-hyperactivity disorder, or AlD, and the company subsequently abandoned effotités market.

Individuals with attention or cognitive disordersiynsuffer from an inability to focus, solve probkemrocess information,
communicate, and may have memory impairment. Atiardnd cognitive disorders include ADHD, Schizaptia, Alzheimers
disease and other forms of dementia. Reuters Bssinsights estimates that in 2008 nearly 25 milpeople suffered from
ADHD in the seven major pharmaceutical markets {&thStates, France, Germany, Italy, Spain, Unitedyom and Japan).
Research also shows that 60% of children with ADH&Intain the disorder into adulthood, and the cionliafflicts
predominantly boys. According to IMS Health, aggtegglobal sales of drugs for treatment of ADHD aaccolepsy were
more than $5.7 billion in 2008, and most of theseenpsychostimulants (e.g. methylphenidate, ampiirtadexamfetamine,
modafinil) with side effects and abuse potentiaspite the limitations of these products, the magkew by more than 13%
over the prior year. We believe there exists aiggamt market opportunity for safer and more efffiee treatments.

We are developing multiple classes of highly sélecand potent compounds designed to block thedd8ptor and have
established a program to develop non-stimulant;adutictive, orally administered drugs for the treatinof narcolepsy or oth
conditions related to excessive daytime sleepir@ashistamine H3 receptor antagonists represeptaclass of drugs that
could have an improved efficacy and safety prolative to existing drugs used for the treatmémtascolepsy and related
sleep disorders. The H3 receptor regulates le¥disstamine and other neurotransmitters in cera@as of the brain that play a
direct role in regulating sleep and cognitive fumct The histamine H3 receptor antagonists beingld@ed at Athersys
represent a new class of drugs that could havemproved efficacy and safety profile relative tostixig drugs used for the
treatment of a range of conditions that affect dgmability, attention or wakefulness. In aninmabdels, H3 receptor
antagonists have been shown to increase histamlie@se in the brain and improve wakefulness, atteaind learning. In
preclinical studies conducted at independent laleshave tested some of our more advanced compaumds| validated

rodent sleep models. During these studies, composigdificantly enhanced wakefulness without cagisiyperactivity. In
comparison to Modafinil or caffeine, certain compds appeared far more potent, achieving a compaaatietter effect on
wakefulness at substantially lower doses. In agldjtihese compounds did not appear to cause tlessxe rebound sleepiness
that is a characteristic of other agents useddmpte wakefulness, such as amphetamines.

We intend to continue the study of H3 antagonistjgounds that we are developing for potential apfibnis in treating
narcolepsy, excessive daytime sleepiness, chratigufe associated with certain disease conditinook as Parkinson’s, certain
attention or cognitive disorders, and other condgi In addition, we intend to conduct additionaipnacology and safety
testing of certain compounds we are developing,aaadexploring potential partnering opportunitiesuad this and other
programs.
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Other Key Technologies

In addition to our current product development paogs, we developed our patented random activafigere expression, or
RAGE, technology that provides us with the abitdgyproduce human cell lines that express spedifadpgically well validated
drug targets without relying upon cloned and issdagene sequences. While our RAGE technology is pobduct, it is a
commercial technology that we have successfullyieghfor the benefit of our partners and that weehalso used for our own
internal drug development programs. Modern drugesting approaches typically require the physiadhion and structural
modification of a gene of interest, an approackimrefl to as gene cloning, in order to create dioellthat expresses a drug
target of interest. Researchers may then use thetigelly modified cell line to identify pharmaceatl compounds that inhibit
or stimulate the target of interest. The RAGE tedtbgy enables us to turn on or amplify the exp@ssif a drug target without
having to physically clone or isolate the geneeffiect, the technology works through the randoneiitisn of tiny, proprietary
genetic switches that randomly turn genes on withequiring their physical isolation, or any advarknowledge of their
structure. This technology provides us with braaéflom to work with targets that may be otherwisavailable as a result of
intellectual property restrictions on the use adafic cloned and isolated genes. Over the pastratyears, we have produced
cell lines that express drug targets in a rang#isgfase areas such as metabolic disease, infedigrese, oncology,
cardiovascular disease, inflammation, and centralaus system disorders. Many of these were pratificzedrug development
programs at major pharmaceutical companies thdtave collaborated with, such as our ongoing coliatian with Bristol-
Myers Squibb, and some have been produced fombemial drug development programs.

Collaborations and Partnerships
Pfizer

In the fourth quarter of 2009, we entered into kaboration agreement with Pfizer to develop anchewrcialize MutiStem for
the treatment of IBD for the worldwide market. Untlee terms of the agreement, we received an ug-trash payment of

$6 million from Pfizer and will receive researcinéling and support during the initial phase of tbllaboration. In addition, we
are also eligible to receive milestone paymentspotfo $105 million upon the successful achievenoéertain development,
regulatory and commercial milestones, though tlearebe no assurance that we will achieve any roitest We will be
responsible for manufacturing and Pfizer will payfor manufacturing product for clinical developrhand commercialization
purposes. Pfizer will have responsibility for demhent, regulatory and commercialization and val jpis tiered royalties on
worldwide commercial sales of MultiStem IBD prodaicAlternatively, in lieu of royalties and certaiommercialization
milestones, we may elect to co-develop with Pfad the parties will share development and comrakzation expenses and
profits/losses on an agreed basis beginning ateplhladinical development.

The Pfizer collaboration does not have a spedfimination date, but will terminate upon the laséxpire royalty term, unless
terminated earlier by either party. Either partp terminate the agreement for an uncured matemréaldn or default. Pfizer is
permitted to terminate the agreement upon advamitemwnotice to us if we sustain certain turnolesels for employees
working on the program, if our license with the Warisity of Minnesota is terminated, if we experiemcspecified change of
control event, or in its sole discretion. We camieate the agreement if a certain milestone elastnot occurred by a defined
period of time, or if we reasonably believe thaz@f has failed to satisfy its obligations to pregg the development of the
program. Following termination of the agreementbyall licenses granted to Pfizer to develop androercialize MultiStem
for IBD will terminate, other than certain more ltad research licenses, and ownership of regulatodyclinical data will
revert to us. Following termination of the agreetrtgnPfizer, the licenses granted to Pfizer withaen in effect according to
their terms, unless the termination is due to saabh, employee turnover or termination of theng=ewith University of
Minnesota, in which case payments to us will baiced from what was otherwise payable. Also, if &fierminates in its sole
discretion, then Pfizer retains its obligation tiad our research and development costs as setiffidtie agreement.
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Angiotech

In May 2006, we established a collaboration withgiaech that is focused on co-developing MultiSfemthe treatment of
damage caused by myocardial infarction and perghascular disease. In support of the collabonathmgiotech invested
$10.0 million in us and we may also receive up3&$ million of additional equity investments argB$5 million of aggrega
cash payments based upon the successful achievefrspecified clinical development and commercatian milestones,
though there can be no assurance that we will eetday milestones.

Under the terms of the collaboration, the partiesj@intly funding clinical development activitieghereby preclinical costs are
borne solely by Athersys, costs for phase | andglieclinical trials are borne 50% by Athersys &386 by Angiotech, costs
for the first phase Il clinical trial will be boen33% by Athersys and 67% by Angiotech, and castarfy phase Il clinical
trials subsequent to the first phase Il clinic&ltwill be borne 25% by Athersys and 75% by Artgh. We have lead
responsibility for preclinical and early clinicaéekelopment and manufacturing of the MultiStem paddand Angiotech will
take the lead on pivotal and later clinical triatel commercialization. We will receive nearly t@fithe net profits from the sa
of any jointly developed, approved products. Iniadd, we will retain the commercial rights to Misitem for all other
therapeutic applications, including treatment oblst, bone marrow transplantation and oncology sttpplood and immune
system disorders, autoimmune disease, and othieatiahs that we may elect to pursue.

The Angiotech collaboration does not have a spetgfimination date, but will terminate upon thelieat to occur of the
following:

. if at least one cell therapy product has obtaieeguilatory approval and we and Angiotech haveeshprofits with
respect to sales of at least one cell therapy ptothe date that there has been no sales for Tzhsmof any cell
therapy product that has been the subject of psbfitring, unless a clinical development candidate at least a
phase Il clinical or later; an

< the later of (1) the expiration date of the lastxpire patent licensed to Angiotech, and (2)1theyear anniversary,
which would be May 2021

Neither we nor Angiotech may terminate the collaion at will; however, either party may elect attain points to not mov
forward with individual product development progmarif either party breaches its material obligasiamd fails to cure that
breach within 60 days after notice from the norableng party, the non-breaching party may termitiaecollaboration.
Angiotech has a right to immediately terminate ¢baboration upon certain bankruptcy events inv@ws. Angiotech also
has the right to terminate the collaboration up2@ days’ prior notice if Angiotech, in its reasofeajudgment, determines that:
(1) a primary endpoint in a clinical trial withincéinical development plan has not been met; (8)dimical efficacy and/or
safety with respect to a clinical development cdaté# or a cell therapy product have not been detraded; (3) applicable
regulatory requirements for cells, a clinical deyshent candidate or a cell therapy product in amaare major markets shall
have a material adverse impact on the ability taiolregulatory approval for a cell therapy prodaucsuch markets; (4) our
data regarding cells, a clinical development caaigicr a cell therapy product were obtained, inle/loo in part, through
scientific fraud; or (5) a cell therapy produchist (or is not expected to be) commercially viatngrofitable in at least one
major market.

Bristol-Myers Squibb

In December 2000, we entered into a collaboratigh Rristol-Myers Squibb to provide cell lines ergsing well validated
drug targets produced using our RAGE technologyedmnpound screening and development. This inib&boration was
expanded in 2002 and again in 2006, and is nows ifinal phase as amended in 2009. Bristol-Myernsil8nuses the cell lines
in its internal drug development programs andxichange, we receive license fee and milestone patgnaad will be entitled
to receive royalties on the sale of any approvedipects. Depending on the use of a cell line bytBr®&lyers Squibb and the
progress of drug development programs benefitiagnfthe use of such a cell line, we may receive ashnas approximately
$5.5 million per cell line in additional licensesfeand milestone payments, though we cannot agsurénat any further
milestones will be achieved or that we will recearey additional milestone payments. In Septemb@82BristolMyers Squibl
successfully advanced into phase Il clinical deprlent a drug candidate discovered using a targetged by us, thereby
triggering a clinical development milestone payntenis.
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We intend to continue to prepare and deliver védidalrug targets for use by Bristol-Myers Squibltsrdrug discovery efforts
until the collaboration objectives have been fldéil We will remain entitled to receive licensedder targets delivered to
Bristol-Myers Squibb, as well as milestone paymaeantd royalties on compounds developed by BristoefdysSquibb using our
technology. Beyond 2009, we anticipate that Bridlgers Squibb’s demand for new targets will be saibigally reduced or
cease altogether.

The Bristol-Myers Squibb collaboration does notédavspecific termination date, but will terminatieen Bristol-Myers Squibb
no longer has an obligation to pay us royaltiedctviobligation generally continues until the ladéthe expiration of the
Bristol-Myers Squibb patent covering an approveatipct and ten years after commercial sales ofpteatuct began. Though
we expect Bristol-Myers Squibb to file for and Bstied patents for products developed under thabasttion, we are not
aware of any patents issued to Bristol-Myers Squiblering any potential products related to théatalration. If either party
breaches its material obligations and fails to ¢heg breach within 60 days after notice from tbe-breaching party, the non-
breaching party may terminate the collaboration.

Competition

We face significant competition with respect to #aeious dimensions of our business. With regarutoefforts to develop
MultiStem as a novel stem cell therapy, curreritigre are a number of companies that are activalgldping stem cell
products, which encompass a range of differenttgp#s, including embryonic stem cells, umbilicata stem cells, adult-
derived stem cells, and processed bone marrowetkeaells.

Osiris is currently engaged in multiple phase i @hase Ill clinical trials involving Prochymal, atlogeneic stem cell product
based on mesenchymal stem cells, or MSCs, thattaained from healthy consenting donors, and an@radtered without
tissue matching. However, in contrast to MultiStéa$Cs display limited expansion potential and monéted biological
plasticity. In November 2008, Osiris announced dngaship in which Genzyme acquired developmerittsigo Prochymal for
certain markets outside the United States and Gaimmagixchange for $130 million in license feestaf$1.25 billion in clinical
and sales milestones, and royalties. Osiris retinsmercial development rights to Prochymal forlthméted States and Cana

Other public companies are developing stem-reldtedhpies, including Geron, Aastrom BiosciencespSEells Inc., Viacell,
Celgene, Advanced Cell Technology, CRYO-CELL Intgional, Mesoblast Limited, Pluristem and Cytorefépeutics. In
addition, private companies, such as Cognate Tketigs, Gamida Cell, Plureon, Cellerix and othars,also developing cell
therapy related products or capabilities. Givenrttagnitude of the potential opportunity for stertl tteerapy, we expect
competition in this area to intensify in the comiregrs.

We also face competition in our efforts to devaetoppounds for the treatment of obesity. There lieady approved
therapeutic products on the market, such as Xefatsd known as Alli), which is marketed by Roched Meridia, which is
marketed by Abbott Pharmaceuticals. However, bbthaese drugs have reported side effects that \Wweveehave limited their
adoption by patients and clinicians. For examptgeptial side effects associated with taking Xelnicslli include cramping,
intestinal discomfort, flatulence, diarrhea, anaklege of oily stool. Potential side effects assediavith taking Meridia include
increased blood pressure and heart rate, headdtgh@outh, constipation, and insomnia. Individualth high blood pressure,
heart disease, irregular heartbeat, or a histosgroke are also cautioned not to take Meridia.

There are many other companies attempting to dpvedoel treatments for obesity, and a wide rangappfoaches are being
taken. Some of these companies include large, matilinal pharmaceutical companies such as Brisy@sSquibb, Merck,
Roche, Sanofi-Aventis, GlaxoSmithKline, Eli Lillynd others. There are also a variety of biotechnotmnpanies developing
treatments for obesity, including Arena Pharmacaigj Orexigen, Vivus, Neurosearch, Amgen, Regenddastech
Pharmaceutical Company, Alizyme, Amylin Pharmaczls, Neurocrine Biosciences, Shionogi, Metaboliarmaceuticals,
Kyorin Pharmaceutical, and others. It is likelytttgiven the magnitude of the market opportunitgnpncompanies will
continue to focus on the obesity area, and thapetition will remain high. If we are successfubdatveloping a 5SHT2c¢ agonist
as a safe and effective treatment for obesitg, likely that other companies will attempt to d@pesafer and more effective
compounds in the same class, or will attempt tolinemtherapies in an effort to establish a safdrranre effective therapeutic
product.
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Finally, we face competition with respect to ouiligbto produce drug targets for our drug devel@mnprograms. There are
many companies with established intellectual priypibiat seek to restrict or protect the use of gjgetrug targets, including
Incyte, Millennium Pharmaceuticals, Human Genomer8es, Lexicon Genetics, CuraGen, Exelixis, My@&ehetics,
Sangamo BioSciences, and others.

We believe our most significant competitors aré¢yfiritegrated pharmaceutical companies and moebbshed biotechnology
companies that have substantially greater finani@ahnical, sales, marketing, and human resothegswe do. These
companies may succeed in obtaining regulatory abfor competitive products more rapidly than vea dor our products. In
addition, our competitors may develop technologied products that are cheaper, safer or more eféetttan those being
developed by us or that would render our technotdugolete. Furthermore, some of these companiedesathreatened by o
activities and attempt to delay or impede our ¢$féo develop our products or apply our technolegie

Intellectual Property

We rely on a combination of patent applicationdepts, trademarks, and contractual provisions @tept our proprietary right
We believe that to have a competitive advantagenwst develop and maintain the proprietary aspefatsir technologies.
Currently, we require our officers, employees, cdtasits, contractors, manufacturers, outside sfienbllaborators and
sponsored researchers, and other advisors to exeonfidentiality agreements in connection withiteenployment, consultin
or advisory relationships with us, where appropridlte also require our employees, consultantsaduigors who we expect to
work on our products to agree to disclose and agsigis all inventions conceived during the worl,dfeveloped using our
property, or which relate to our business.

We have a broad patent estate with claims diredctedmpositions, methods of production, and mettuddsse of certain non-
embryonic stem cells and related technologies. ¥gaieed ownership of part of our stem cell techggland intellectual
property as a result of our 2003 acquisition obllimg company, which held the rights to the tedbgyg originally discovered
at the University of Minnesota. We also have arlestee license to additional MAPC-related invensdpor in other words,
improvements) developed by the University of Mirstaghrough May 2009, and under a collaborativeassh agreement with
the Katholieke Universiteit Leuven, or KUL, we haa® exclusive license to MAPC-related inventiongadi@ped at KUL using
the MAPC technology or intellectual property ortthesult from sponsored research funded by us. Méeavn and license
additional intellectual property develop by us atiders. We have fourteen issued patents and manelt?O patent applications
related to our stem cell technologies. Our curieteilectual property estate, which may broaderr éinee, could provide
coverage for our cell compositions, methods of usmufacturing processes, and product candidatesgh as late as 2028.

We have established a broad intellectual propestifgio related to our key functional genomicsheologies and product
candidates. We have a broad patent estate withhgldirected to compositions, methods of making,rmethods of using our
small molecule drug candidates. We have filed fratent applications with broad claims directed TdHX-105, related
compounds in the same chemical series from whicHXL05 was derived, and back-up and second geparatimpounds
from distinct chemical series. In our Histamine pt8gram, we have filed four patent applicationgwikitoad claims directed to
compounds from two distinct chemical series. Alinpmunds described in these patent applications discevered at Athersy
In addition, we currently have fourteen issued EhiStates patents and various issued internati@ahts relating to
compositions and methods for the RAGE technolodpesE patents will expire in 2017. There are alsers¢ patent
applications relating to human proteins and candideug targets that we have identified throughapglication of RAGE and
our other technologies. The RAGE technology wastiged by Dr. John Harrington and other Athersysrsists internally in
the mid-1990s.

We believe that we have broad freedom to use amunazcially develop our technologies and producticdates. However, if
successful, a patent infringement suit broughtreggais may force us or any of our collaboratorécensees to stop or delay
developing, manufacturing, or selling potentialguots that are claimed to infringe a third pariptellectual property, unless
that party grants us rights to use its intellecpraperty. In such cases, we may be required aikitenses to patents or
proprietary rights of others to continue to commadize our products. However, we may not be ablelimin any licenses
required under any patents or proprietary righthiwél parties on acceptable terms, or at all. Ef'/@re were able to obtain
rights to the third party’s intellectual propertigese rights may be non-exclusive, thereby givimgommpetitors access to the
same intellectual property. Ultimately, we may Inalle to commercialize some of our potential présloc may have to cease
some of our business operations as a result ofipatieingement claims, which could severely haran business.
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Research and Development

Our research and development costs, which congimbyly of costs associated with external cliniti@l costs, preclinical
study fees, manufacturing costs, salaries andegtjagrsonnel costs, legal expenses resulting fntefiéctual property
application processes, and laboratory supply aagenat costs, were $11.9 million in 2009, $16.5iomlin 2008, and
$15.8 million in 2007.

Government Regulation

Any products we may develop and our research anelagigment activities are subject to stringent gowsgnt regulation in the
United States by the FDA and, in many instancesdmgesponding foreign and state regulatory agendike European Union,
or EU, has vested centralized authority in the paem Medicines Evaluation Agency and Committee ropifietary Medicinal
Products to standardize review and approval adtbsmember nations.

These regulatory agencies enforce comprehensittgestaregulations, and guidelines governing thig dievelopment process.
This process involves several steps. Initially,dbepany must generate preclinical data to shoetgakefore human testing
may be initiated. In the United States, the druggany must submit an IND to the FDA prior to sesgrauthorization for
human testing. The IND must contain adequate dag@aduct candidate chemistry, toxicology and metiam and, where
appropriate, animal research testing to suppditirgafety.

A CTA is the European equivalent of the U.S. INOLACrequirements are issued by each competent atythvathin the
European Union and are enacted by local laws arecbies.

Any of our product candidates will require regutgtapproval and compliance with regulations mad&Jhited States and
foreign government agencies prior to commerciabzein such countries. The process of obtaining FibAoreign regulatory
agency approval has historically been extremelyigasid time consuming. The FDA regulates, amomgiothings, the
development, testing, manufacture, safety, effica@gord keeping, labeling, storage, approval, gibieg, promotion, sale, ar
distribution of biologics and new drugs.

The standard process required by the FDA befoteaanpaceutical agent may be marketed in the UnitateSincludes:
e preclinical tests in animals that demonstrate aaeable likelihood of safety and effectivenessumhbn patients

*  submission to the FDA of an IND, which must beecgffective before clinical trials in humans cameooence. If
phase I clinical trials are to be conducted inifialutside the United States, a different regulafding is required,
depending on the location of the tri

» adequate and well controlled human clinical $rial establish the safety and efficacy of the dnulgiologic in the
intended disease indicatic

«  for drugs, submission of a New Drug ApplicationNiDA, or a Biologic License Application, or BLA, i the FDA,;
and

e FDA approval of the NDA or BLA before any commetaale or shipment of the dru
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Preclinical studies can take several years to cetapand there is no guarantee that an IND basédose studies will become
effective to permit clinical trials to begin. Oncknical trials are initiated, they generally tdiee to seven years, or longer, to
complete. After completion of clinical trials oin@w drug or biologic product, FDA approval of thBA or BLA must be
obtained. This process requires substantial tindeeffiort and there is no assurance that the FDAasidept the NDA or BLA
for filing and, even if filed, that the FDA will gnt approval. In the past, the FDA’s approval oA or BLA has taken, on
average, one to two years, but in some instancgdaka substantially longer. If questions regardiafety or efficacy arise,
additional studies may be required, followed bgsubmission of the NDA or BLA. Review and approvigdn NDA or BLA
can take up to several years.

In addition to obtaining FDA approval for each puot] each drug manufacturing facility must be inspé and approved by tl
FDA. All manufacturing establishments are subjedhspections by the FDA and by other federalestand local agencies, 8
must comply with GMP requirements. We do not cutyemave any GMP manufacturing capabilities, antl sgly on contract
manufacturers to produce material for any clintdals that we may conduct.

We must also obtain regulatory approval in othemtdes in which we intend to market any drug. Téguirements governing
conduct of clinical trials, product licensing, pnig, and reimbursement vary widely from countrytantry. FDA approval do
not ensure regulatory approval in other countiié® current approval process varies from countigotmtry, and the time
spent in gaining approval varies from that requiied=DA approval. In some countries, the salegn€the drug must also be
approved. The pricing review period often begirisrainarket approval is granted. Even if a foreiggulatory authority
approves a drug product, it may not approve satisfa prices for the product.

In addition to regulations enforced by the FDA, ave also subject to regulation under the OccupatiSafety and Health Act,
the Environmental Protection Act, the Toxic SubstnControl Act, the Resource Conservation and Yegdict, and other
present and potential future federal, state, aalloegulations. Our research and development imgolkie controlled use of
hazardous materials, chemicals, biological matgratd various radioactive compounds. Although aleete that our safety
procedures for handling and disposing of such risseturrently comply in all material respects witle standards prescribed
by state and federal regulations, the risk of aaial contamination or injury from these mater@anot be completely
eliminated. In the event of such an accident, wddcbe held liable for any damages that resultaamdsuch liability could
exceed our available resources.

Employees

We believe that our success will be based on, amtmey things, the quality of our clinical prograrosr ability to invent and
develop superior and innovative technologies aodycts, and our ability to attract and retain cépalanagement and other
personnel. We have assembled a high quality tessuieftists, clinical development managers, andwiess with significant
experience in the biotechnology and pharmaceuitichistries.

As of December 31, 2009, we employed 37 full tirgaiealent employees, 15 with Ph.D. degrees. Intaddio our employee:
we also use the service and support of outsideuttamés and advisors. None of our employees isesprted by a union, and
believe relationships with our employees are good.

Available Information
Our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports=orm 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and miéadments to those

reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 18(al5(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1982 available free of charge
on our website, www.athersys.cqras soon as reasonably practicable after theffl@dewith, or furnished to, the SEC.

Merger and Name Change

On June 8, 2007, Athersys, Inc., a Delaware cotoramerged with a wholly owned subsidiary of BTN Inc., a Delaware
corporation. On August 31, 2007, Athersys, Inc.ngea its name to ABT Holding Company, and BTHC Mt. changed its
name to Athersys, Inc. In this annual report, lhigherwise indicated or the context otherwise ireguall references to “we”
or “us” are to Athersys, Inc., the Delaware corpioraformerly known as BTHC VI, Inc., together witls wholly owned
subsidiary, ABT Holding Company, the Delaware cogpion formerly known as Athersys, Inc. Specifisalissions or
comments relating only to BTHC VI, Inc. prior taetmerger described above reference “BTHC Mikiile those relating only -
our subsidiary Athersys, Inc. prior to the mergdference “Athersys.”
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

The statements in this section, as well as statenuescribed elsewhere in this annual report, othier SEC filings, describe
risks that could materially and adversely affeatlowsiness, financial condition and results of afiens and the trading price
our equity securities could decline. These risksrant the only risks that we face. Our businessyitial condition and results
operations could also be affected by additionabfiecthat are not presently known to us or thatureently consider to be
immaterial to our operations.

Risks Related To Our Business and Our Industry

Athersys has incurred losses since inception andexpect to incur significant net losses in the feeeable future and ma
never become profitable.

Since Athersys’ inception in 1995, it has incursgghificant losses and negative cash flows fronraipens. Athersys has
incurred net losses of $19 million in 2007, $18limil in 2008 and $15 million in 2009. As of DecemBé, 2009, we had an
accumulated deficit of $194 million, and anticipateurring additional losses for at least the reeuteral years. We expect to
spend significant resources over the next seveaisyto enhance our technologies and to fund refsead development of our
pipeline of potential products. To date, substdlgtal of Athersys’ revenue has been derived froonporate collaborations,
license agreements and government grants. In todeghieve profitability, we must develop produatsl technologies that can
be commercialized by us or through future collabore. Our ability to generate revenues and beqomfitable will depend o
our ability, alone or with potential collaboratots,timely, efficiently and successfully complete tdevelopment of our product
candidates. We have never earned revenue fromgellproduct and we may never do so, as none gfroduct candidates
have been approved for sale, since they are clyfesing tested yet in humans and animal studies c@hnot assure you that
we will ever earn revenue or that we will ever lmaegorofitable. If we sustain losses over an extdrmbgiod of time, we may
be unable to continue our business.

We will need substantial additional funding to ddep our products and for our future operations. ifie are unable to obtain
the funds necessary to do so, we may be requiredetay, scale back or eliminate our product devetggnt activities or may
be unable to continue our business.

The development of our product candidates will nega commitment of substantial funds to conduetdbstly and time-
consuming research, which may include preclinica einical testing, necessary to obtain regulatggrovals and bring our
products to market. Net cash used in Athersys’atrs was $12 million in 2007, $16 million in 2088d $5 million in 2009.
We expect to have available cash to fund our ojpersthrough 2011 based on our current businesep@itional plans and
assuming no new financings. Our future capital ireguients will depend on many factors, including:

*  the progress and costs of our research and gewelat programs, including our ability to develop ourrent
portfolio of therapeutic products, or discover aedelop new one:

« our ability, or our partners ability and willingss, to advance partnered products or programghargpeed in which
they are advance:

« the cost of prosecuting, defending and enforcingmtaclaims and other intellectual property rigl

< the progress, scope, costs, and results of eglipical and clinical testing of any current otute pharmaceutical or
MultiStem related product:

e the time and cost involved in obtaining regulatapprovals
e the cost of manufacturing our product candide
* expenses related to complying with GMP of theraipgqubduct candidate:

»  costs of financing the purchases of additionalte&piquipment and development technolog
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e competing technological and market developme

e our ability to establish and maintain collaboratand other arrangements with third parties tesassbringing our
products to market and the cost of such arrangesy

e the amount and timing of payments or equity itmesits that we receive from collaborators or changer
terminations of future or existing collaboratiordditensing arrangements and the timing and amoluexpenses we
incur to supporting these collaborations and lieesigreement:

e costs associated with the integration of any operation, including costs relating to future mesgend acquisitions
with companies that have complementary capabili

e expenses related to the establishment of satbsanketing capabilities for products awaiting agyad or products
that have been approve

e the level of our sales and marketing expenses
e our ability to introduce and sell new produc

We cannot assure you that we will not need additicapital sooner than currently anticipated. Wk ngied to raise substantial
additional capital to fund our future operationse WaAnnot be certain that additional financing Wélavailable on acceptable
terms or at all, particularly in light of the cuntecredit crisis. In recent years, it has beendliff for companies to raise capital
due to a variety of factors, which may or may ranit;ue. To the extent we raise additional capitedugh the sale of equity
securities, the ownership position of our exisstgckholders could be substantially diluted. Ifiiddal funds are raised
through the issuance of preferred stock or dehirgass, these securities are likely to have righteferences and privileges
senior to our common stock. Fluctuating interesgg&ould also increase the costs of any debtdingrwe may obtain.

Failure to successfully address ongoing liquidd@guirements will have a material adverse effeabamnbusiness. If we are
unable to obtain additional capital on acceptadims when needed, we may be required to take adtiat harm our business
and our ability to achieve cash flow in the futureluding possibly the surrender of our rightstene technologies or product
opportunities, delaying our clinical trials or ailing or ceasing operations.

We are heavily dependent on the successful devetagrand commercialization of MultiStem, and if waeounter delays or
difficulties in the development of this product cditlate, our business would be harmed.

We are heavily dependent upon the successful dewelot of MultiStem for certain diseases and coodgiinvolving acute or
ischemic injury or immune system dysfunction. Ousibess could be materially harmed if we encoutiféculties in the
development of this product candidate, such as:

« delays in the ability to manufacture the prodogjuantities or in a form that is suitable for aeguired preclinical
studies or clinical trials

* delays in the design, enrollment, implementationampletion of required preclinical studies andiclal trials;

e aninability to follow our current developmentagegy for obtaining regulatory approval from tHaA-because of
changes in the regulatory approval proc

« less than desired or complete lack of efficacyadety in preclinical studies or clinical trials;dc

e intellectual property constraints that preventrasf making, using, or commercializing the produandidate
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The results seen in animal testing of our producrdidates may not be replicated in humans.

This annual report discusses the safety and effisaen in preclinical testing of our lead prodwtdidates, including
MultiStem, in animals, but we may not see positegults when our other product candidates unddigica testing in humans
in the future. Preclinical studies and phase licdihtrials are not primarily designed to test éfiicacy of a product candidate in
humans, but rather to:

« test shorterm safety and tolerabilit
*  study the absorption, distribution, metabolism alihination of the product candida

»  study the biochemical and physiological effedtthe product candidate and the mechanisms ofrting action and
the relationship between drug levels and effeat;

« understand the product candic's side effects at various doses and sched

Success in preclinical studies or completed clirtitals does not ensure that later studies otlstriacluding continuing non-
clinical studies and largseale clinical trials, will be successful nor ditasecessarily predict future results. The ratéadtire in
drug development is quite high, and many companiése biotechnology and pharmaceutical industngse suffered
significant setbacks in advanced clinical trialggre after promising results in earlier trials. Rrotdcandidates may fail to show
desired safety and efficacy in larger and morerdwgatient populations in later stage clinical&;i despite having progressed
through early stage trials. Negative or inconclasisults from any of our ongoing preclinical sasdor clinical trials could
result in delays, modifications, or abandonmerdgrafoing or future clinical trials and the termiatiof our development of a
product candidate. Additionally, even if we areeatal successfully complete pivotal phase Il clitials, the FDA still may
not approve our product candidates.

Our product candidates are in an early stage of dmpment and we currently have no therapeutic pratiiapproved for
sale. If we are unable to develop, obtain regulat@pproval or market any of our product candidatesr financial condition
will be negatively affected, and we may have totailror cease our operations.

We are in the early stage of product developmertt,vee are dependent on the application of our telolgnes to discover or
develop therapeutic product candidates. We cuyrelatinot sell any approved therapeutic productsdandot expect to have
any products commercially available for severalrgei at all. You must evaluate us in light of tinecertainties and
complexities affecting an early stage biotechnologymnpany. Our product candidates require additiozsgdarch and
development, preclinical testing, clinical testangd regulatory review and/or approvals or clearamefore marketing. To date,
no one to our knowledge has commercialized anyatieartic products using our technologies and we tmigher
commercialize any product using our technologiesstirategy.

In addition, we may not succeed in developing nesdpct candidates as an alternative to our exigiorgfolio of product
candidates. If our current product candidates atayed or fail, or we fail to successfully devebm commercialize new
product candidates, our financial condition maybgatively affected, and we may have to curtadezse our operations.

We may not successfully maintain our existing cdilarative and licensing arrangements, or establisbvmones, which could
adversely affect our ability to develop and commialize our product candidates.

A key element of our business strategy is to consralize some of our product candidates throughabaltations with other
companies. Our strategy includes establishing ooltions and licensing agreements with one or mpbeemaceutical,
biotechnology or device companies, preferably aftethave advanced product candidates through ified stages of clinical
development. However, we may not be able to establi maintain such licensing and collaboratioamgements necessary to
develop and commercialize our product candidatesnbf we are able to maintain or establish licegsir collaboration
arrangements, these arrangements may not be orabd@derms and may contain provisions that walniet our ability to
develop, test and market our product candidateg.faiture to maintain or establish licensing orlabbration arrangements on
favorable terms could adversely affect our busimpeespects, financial condition or ability to deyeland commercialize our
product candidates.
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Our agreements with our collaborators and licensegshave provisions that give rise to disputeaming the rights and
obligations of the parties. These and other possitdagreements could lead to termination of theeagent or delays in
collaborative research, development, supply, orraengialization of certain product candidates, arld@equire or result in
litigation or arbitration. Moreover, disagreemeodsild arise with our collaborators over rightsritellectual property or our
rights to share in any of the future revenues otlpcts developed by our collaborators. These kifidssagreements could
result in costly and time-consuming litigation. Asiych conflicts with our collaborators could redoce ability to obtain future
collaboration agreements and could have a negiatipact on our relationship with existing collabarat

Currently, our material collaborations and licegsamrangements are our collaboration with Pfizetdeelop and commerciali
MultiStem for the treatment of IBD, our product development collaboration with Angiotech to jointlgvelop and ultimately
market MultiStem for the treatment of damage caumechyocardial infarction and peripheral vasculisedse, our
collaboration agreement with Bristol-Myers Squihlyguant to which we provide cell lines producechgsiur RAGE
technology, and our license with the UniversityMihnesota pursuant to which we license certain etspa the MultiStem
technology. These arrangements do not have spégifiination dates; rather, each arrangement tetesrupon the occurren
of certain events.

If our collaborators do not devote sufficient timend resources to successfully carry out their catted duties or mee
expected deadlines, we may not be able to advanc@mduct candidates in a timely manner or at all.

Our success depends on the performance by oubodditors of their responsibilities under our colleiion arrangements.
Some potential collaborators may not perform tbblrgations in a timely fashion or in a mannerdattory to us. Typically,
we cannot control the amount of resources or tiorecollaborators may devote to our programs orm@eproducts that may
be developed in collaboration with us. We are autyanvolved in multiple research and developmenitaborations with
academic and research institutions. These collatrsrérequently depend on outside sources of funtbrconduct or complete
research and development, such as grants or otlzeds. In addition, our academic collaborators hkeyend on graduate
students, medical students, or research assistactmduct certain work, and such individuals maybe fully trained or
experienced in certain areas, or they may eledistmontinue their participation in a particulareasch program, creating an
inability to complete ongoing research in a timahd efficient manner. As a result of these unaetitss, we are unable to
control the precise timing and execution of anyegipents that may be conducted.

Additionally, our current or future corporate citaators will retain the ability to pursue othesearch, product development
commercial opportunities that may be directly cotitjpe with our programs. If these collaboratorsatlto prioritize or pursue
other programs in lieu of ours, we may not be &bledvance product development programs in anieffior effective manne
if at all. If a collaborator is pursuing a compegtprogram and encounters unexpected financieapability limitations, they
may be motivated to reduce the priority placed onpgsograms or delay certain activities relateduo programs or be
unwilling to properly fund their share of the demainent expenses for our programs. Any of theseldpweents could harm ol
product and technology development efforts, whizhld seriously harm our business.

Under the terms of our collaboration agreement Witlgiotech, either party may choose, following teenpletion of phase |
trials, to opt-out of its obligation to fund furthproduct development on a product-by-product bgsisvided no clinical trials
concerning such product candidate are currentlpimgg If Angiotech should decide to opt-out of fimgithe development of
any of the product candidates for the covered atdias, for any reason, we may be unable to fuadivelopment on our own
and could be forced to halt one or more MultiSteawedopment programs.
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Even if we or our collaborators receive regulatoapproval for our products, those products may nebercommercially
successful

Even if we develop pharmaceuticals or MultiStenatesti products that obtain the necessary regulafgpyoval, and we have
access to the necessary manufacturing, sales, timayleead distribution capabilities that we need, success depends to a
significant degree upon the commercial succesBasfet products. If these products fail to achieveutrssequently maintain
market acceptance or commercial viability, our bass would be significantly harmed because ourdutoyalty revenue or
other revenue would be dependent upon sales ¢ fireslucts. Many factors may affect the market ptecece and commercial
success of any potential products that we may desgincluding:

. health concerns, whether actual or perceivednéavorable publicity regarding our obesity drugtem cell products
or those of our competitor

* the timing of market entry as compared to competifiroducts
» the rate of adoption of products by our collabamtind other companies in the indus

e any product labeling that may be required byRBé\ or other United States or foreign regulatorgrages for our
products or competing or comparable prodt

e convenience and ease of administrat

e pricing;

- perceived efficacy and side effec

e marketing;

e availability of alternative treatment

e levels of reimbursement and insurance coverage
e activities by our competitor.

We may experience delays in clinical trials and tdgtory approval relating to our products that calidversely affect our
financial results and our commercial prospects four pharmaceutical or stem cell product

In addition to the regulatory requirements for pharmaceutical programs, we will also require ratprly approvals for each
distinct application of our stem cell product. bch case, we will be required to conduct clinicals to demonstrate safety and
efficacy of MultiStem, or various products thatamgorate or use MultiStem. For product candidatas advance to clinical
testing, we cannot be certain that we or a collatoomwill successfully complete the clinical trisscessary to receive
regulatory product approvals. This process is lepghd expensive.

We intend to seek approval for our product caneisiéirough the FDA approval process. To obtainleggry approvals, we
must, among other requirements, complete clinté@ktshowing that our products are safe and effedor a particular
indication. Under the approval process, we musisudlinical and non-clinical data to demonstrdte tmedication is safe and
effective. For example, we must be able to prodata and information, which may include extendearptacology,
toxicology, reproductive toxicology, bioavailabyliand genotoxicity studies to establish suitabilityphase Il or large scale
phase Il clinical trials.

All of our product candidates are at an early stafgdgevelopment. As these programs enter and psegheough early stage
clinical development, or complete additional noimichl testing, an indication of a lack of safetylack of efficacy may result
in the early termination of an ongoing trial, oryr@use us or any of our collaborators to foregthér development of a
particular product candidate or program. The FDAtber regulatory agencies may require extensiwnecal trials or other
testing prior to granting approval, which coulddmstly and time consuming to conduct. Any of théseelopments would
hinder, and potentially prohibit, our ability toramercialize our product candidates. We cannot asgu that clinical trials
will in fact demonstrate that our products are safeffective.
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Additionally, we may not be able to find acceptatdtients or may experience delays in enrollingepés for our currently
planned or any future clinical trials. The FDA oe way suspend our clinical trials at any timetifiei believes that we are
exposing the subjects participating in the trialsihacceptable health risks. The FDA or institialaeview boards and/or
institutional biosafety committees at the medioatitutions and healthcare facilities where we geedponsor clinical trials m:
not permit a trial to proceed or may suspend aayitrdefinitely if they find deficiencies in theonduct of the trials.

Product development costs to us and our poterdlhmorators will increase if we have delays irtitesor approvals or if we
need to perform more or larger clinical trials thanned. We expect to continue to rely on thirdypelinical investigators at
medical institutions and healthcare facilities emduct our clinical trials, and, as a result, weyifzece additional delaying
factors outside our control. Significant delays radyersely affect our financial results and the e@rcial prospects for our
product candidates and delay our ability to becproitable.

If our pharmaceutical product candidates do not stessfully complete the clinical trial process, wélwot be able to partne
or market them. Even successful clinical trials magpt result in a partnering transaction or a markaile product and may
not be entirely indicative of a product’s safety efficacy.

Many factors, known and unknown, can adverselycaffénical trials and the ability to evaluate aguct’s efficacy. During th
course of treatment, patients can die or suffeeragldlverse events for reasons that may or mayenatlated to the proposed
product being tested. Even if unrelated to our pobdcertain events can nevertheless adverselydnmue clinical trials. As a
result, our ability to ultimately develop and markee products and obtain revenues would suffer.

Even promising results in preclinical studies amitldl clinical trials do not ensure successfulutesin later clinical trials, whic
test broader human use of our products. Many corepam our industry have suffered significant selisain advanced clinical
trials, despite promising results in earlier tridisen successful clinical trials may not resuldimarketable product or be
indicative of the efficacy or safety of a produdany factors or variables could affect the resaftslinical trials and cause the
to appear more promising than they may otherwis@hbeduct candidates that successfully completéceli trials could
ultimately be found to be unsafe or ineffective.

In addition, our ability to complete clinical trsatlepends on many factors, including obtaining adtclinical supplies and
having a sufficient rate of patient recruitmentr Erample, patient recruitment is a function of spnéactors, including:

e the size of the patient populatic

e the proximity of patients to clinical site

the eligibility criteria for the trial
«  the perceptions of investigators and patients diggrsafety; an
« the availability of other treatment optiot

Even if we obtain regulatory approval of any of oproduct candidates, the approved products may uigext to pos-
approval studies and will remain subject to ongoirggulatory requirements. If we fail to comply, drconcerns are
identified in subsequent studies, our approval cdide withdrawn and our product sales could be susged.

If we are successful at obtaining regulatory appltéer MultiStem or any of our other product caratigs, regulatory agencies
the United States and other countries where a ptotdill be sold may require extensive additionahicial trials or post-
approval clinical studies that are expensive ame ttonsuming to conduct. In particular, therapguticiucts administered for
the treatment of persistent or chronic conditidugh as obesity, are likely to require extensiiefoup studies and close
monitoring of patients after regulatory approvas baen granted, for any signs of adverse effeatsoittur over a long period
of time. These studies may be expensive and timewning to conduct and may reveal side effectsrmrdiarmful effects in
patients that use our therapeutic products aftgr éne on the market, which may result in the Btidin or withdrawal of our
drugs from the market. Alternatively, we may notdiiée to conduct such additional trials, which ntifgitice us to abandon our
efforts to develop or commercialize certain procdtarididates. Even if post-approval studies areetpiested or required, after
our products are approved and on the market, thagkt be safety issues that emerge over time #wptire a change in product
labeling or that require withdrawal of the prodfroim the market, which would cause our revenueetdide.
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Additionally, any products that we may successfdiyelop will be subject to ongoing regulatory riegiments after they are
approved. These requirements will govern the mantufang, packaging, marketing, distribution, ané o$ our products. If we
fail to comply with such regulatory requirementgpeoval for our products may be withdrawn, and piicales may be
suspended. We may not be able to regain compliamaeee may only be able to regain compliance aftengthy delay,
significant expense, lost revenues and damagertoeputation.

We may rely on third parties to manufacture our ptmaaceutical product candidates and our MultiStemquatuct candidate.
There can be no guarantee that we can obtain suéfit and acceptable quantities of our pharmaceutipaoduct candidates
or of our MultiStem product candidate on acceptalie¥ms, which may delay or impair our ability to delop, test and market
such products

Our current business strategy relies on third @sutth manufacture and produce our pharmaceutiodupt candidates and
MultiStem product candidate in accordance with go@thufacturing practices established by the FD/Asimilar regulations in
other countries. Our pharmaceutical product carnd&ar MultiStem product candidate may be in coitipatwith other
products or companies for access to these fasilitiel may be subject to delays in manufacturerd fharties give other
products greater priority than our product candidaihese third parties may not deliver sufficguentities of our
pharmaceutical or MultiStem product candidates, ufeature our pharmaceutical and MultiStem prodacididates in
accordance with specifications, or comply with agaddle government regulations. Additionally, if tnenufactured products
fail to perform as specified, our business and tamn could be severely impacted.

We expect to enter into additional manufacturingeagents for the production of product materidlany manufacturing
agreement is terminated or any third party collatmrexperiences a significant problem that coeklilt in a delay or
interruption in the supply of product materialag there are very few contract manufacturers wieatly have the capability
to produce our pharmaceutical product candidatédudtiStem product on acceptable terms, or on &Mtynand cost-effective
basis. We cannot assure you that manufacturershomwve will depend will be able to successfullyguwoe our
pharmaceutical product candidates or MultiStem pebdn acceptable terms, or on a timely or costetiffe basis. We cannot
assure you that manufacturers will be able to mastufe our products in accordance with our prodpetifications or will
meet FDA or other requirements. We must have safftand acceptable quantities of our product nedgeto conduct our
clinical trials and to market our product candidai€and when such products have been approvékedlyDA for marketing. If
we are unable to obtain sufficient and acceptabéntities of our product material, we may be regplito delay the clinical
testing and marketing of our products.

If our contract manufacturers are not satisfyingrmeeds and we decide not to establish our own faatwing capabilities, it
could be difficult and very expensive to changeptigps. Any change in the location of manufactunimguld require FDA
inspection and approval, which could interruptsbeply of products and may be timensuming and expensive to obtain. If
are unable to identify alternative contract mantufeers that are qualified to produce our produgtssmay have to temporarily
suspend the production of products, and would fableto generate revenue from the sale of products.

If we do not comply with applicable regulatory remements in the manufacture and distribution of oyroduct candidates
we may incur penalties that may inhibit our abilitpy commercialize our products and adversely affeat revenue.

Our failure or the failure of our potential collabators or third party manufacturers to comply vétiplicable FDA or other
regulatory requirements including manufacturingalgy control, labeling, safety surveillance, praing and reporting may
result in criminal prosecution, civil penaltiesca#l or seizure of our products, total or partiadgension of production or an
injunction, as well as other regulatory action agabur product candidates or us. Discovery of iptesty unknown problems
with a product, supplier, manufacturer or facilitgy result in restrictions on the sale of our prduincluding a withdrawal of
such products from the market. The occurrence pfodthese events would negatively impact our bessrand results of
operations.
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If we are unable to create and maintain sales, matikg and distribution capabilities or enter intoggeements with thirc
parties to perform those functions, we will not bele to commercialize our product candidat

We currently have no sales, marketing or distriuttapabilities. Therefore, to commercialize owrduct candidates, if and
when such products have been approved and are feaharketing, we expect to collaborate with thpatties to perform the:
functions. We will either need to share the valaeagated from the sale of any products and/or fag #o the contract sales
organization. If we establish any such relationshipe will be dependent upon the capabilities afamllaborators or contract
service providers to effectively market, sell, alstribute our product. If they are ineffectivesalling and distributing our
product, or if they choose to emphasize other prtsdaver ours, we may not achieve the level of pcodales revenues that we
would like. If conflicts arise, we may not be abieresolve them easily or effectively, and we maffes financially as a result.
If we cannot rely on the sales, marketing and ithistion capabilities of our collaborators or of t@wet service providers, we
may be forced to establish our own capabilities.N&ee no experience in developing, training or ngantaa sales force and
will incur substantial additional expenses if weide to market any of our future products diredigveloping a marketing and
sales force is also time consuming and could delarych of our future products. In addition, we witimpete with many
companies that currently have extensive and fueltled marketing and sales operations. Our mawetia sales efforts may
unable to compete successfully against these caegpan

If we are unable to attract and retain key persornred advisors, it may adversely affect our abilttyobtain financing,
pursue collaborations or develop our product candids.

We are highly dependent on our executive officatd/@n Bokkelen, Ph.D., our Chief Executive Officas well as other
executive and scientific officers, including WiltiaLehmann, J.D., M.B.A., President and Chief OpegaDfficer, John
Harrington, Ph.D., Chief Scientific Officer and Ex#ive Vice President, Robert Deans, Ph.D., Séviice President,
Regenerative Medicine, and Laura Campbell, CPAeWHeesident of Finance, as well as other personnel.

These individuals are integral to the developmentiategration of our technologies and to our pmésad future scientific
collaborations, including managing the complex aesle processes and the product development andtjadte
commercialization processes. Given their leaderghifensive technical, scientific and financial ettjse and management and
operational experience, these individuals wouldiffecult to replace. Consequently, the loss ofvéses of one or more of these
named individuals could result in product developtelays or the failure of our collaborations wétirrent and future
collaborators, which, in turn, may hurt our abilitydevelop and commercialize products and geneeatnues.

Our future success depends on our ability to aftratain and motivate highly qualified managenam scientific,
development and commercial personnel and advifosg are unable to attract and retain key persbaneé advisors, it may
negatively affect our ability to successfully deygltest and commercialize our product candidates.

Our ability to compete in the biopharmaceutical niat may decline if we do not adequately protect puoprietary
technologies.

Our success depends in part on our ability to atdad maintain intellectual property that protemis technologies and our
pharmaceutical products. Patent positions may glehjyhuncertain and may involve complex legal aradifal questions,
including the ability to establish patentability@@mpounds and methods for using them for whicls@ek patent protection.
We cannot predict the breadth of claims that wiihuately be allowed in our patent applicationsaiify, including those we
have in-licensed or the extent to which we may ex&fehese claims against our competitors. We higack ihultiple patent
applications that seek to protect the compositiomaiter and method of use related to our smalkede programs. In
addition, we are prosecuting numerous distinctrgefamilies directed to composition, methods ofdurction, and methods of
use of MultiStem and related technologies. If weamsuccessful in obtaining and maintaining thedents related to products
and technologies, we may ultimately be unable taroercialize products that we are developing or elagt to develop in the
future.

-24-




Table of Contents

The degree of future protection for our proprietaghts is therefore highly uncertain and we carassture you that:

* we were the first to file patent applicationdminvent the subject matter claimed in patentigptibns relating to the
technologies or product candidates upon which e

« others will not independently develop similar deahative technologies or duplicate any of our textbgies;

e others did not publicly disclose our claimed tealogy before we conceived the subject matter ohetlin any of our
patent applications

< any of our pending or future patent applicationt result in issued patent

e any of our patent applications will not resulirterferences or disputes with third parties rdgay priority of
invention;

e any patents that may be issued to us, our cabhétis or our licensors will provide a basis fonmgoercially viable
products or will provide us with any competitivevadtages or will not be challenged by third part

»  we will develop additional proprietary technologtlat are patentabl
« the patents of others will not have an adverseceéfa our ability to do business;

. new proprietary technologies from third partiesjuding existing licensors, will be available flarensing to us on
reasonable commercial terms, if at

In addition, patent law outside the United Stasasricertain and in many countries intellectual proplaws are undergoing
review and revision. The laws of some countriesolioprotect intellectual property rights to the saextent as domestic laws
may be necessary or useful for us to participatepiposition proceedings to determine the validftpur competitorspatents o

to defend the validity of any of our or our licerisduture patents, which could result in substantosts and would divert our
efforts and attention from other aspects of ouinmss. With respect to certain of our inventions,hvave decided not to pursue
patent protection outside the United States, bettabse we do not believe it is cost effective aamhhse of confidentiality
concerns. Accordingly, our international compestitoould develop and receive foreign patent pratadir gene sequences and
functions for which we are seeking United Stataemigprotection, enabling them to sell products t have developed.

Technologies licensed to us by others, or in-liegngchnologies, are important to our business.stbpe of our rights under
our licenses may be subject to dispute by our $ioeor third parties. Our rights to use theserteldgies and to practice the
inventions claimed in the licensed patents areesuitdp our licensors abiding by the terms of tHasnses and not terminating
them. In particular, we depend on certain techrielgelating to our MultiStem technology licenseahif the University of
Minnesota, and the termination of this license daakult in our loss of some of the rights thaté@as to utilize this
technology, and our ability to develop productsdobsn MultiStem could be seriously hampered.

In addition, we may in the future acquire rightatilitional technologies by licensing such rightsf existing licensors or
from third parties. Such in-licenses may be cogtlgo, we generally do not control the patent pcosien, maintenance or
enforcement of in-licensed technologies. Accordingle are unable to exercise the same degree @fotawer this intellectual
property as we do over our internally developetinetogies. Moreover, some of our academic instituticensors,
collaborators and scientific advisors have rightpublish data and information to which we havétsglf we cannot maintain
the confidentiality of our technologies and othenfidential information in connection with our caliorations, our ability to
protect our proprietary information or obtain pdtprotection in the future may be impaired, whicluld have a significant
adverse effect on our business, financial condiiod results of operations.
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We may not have adequate protection for our unpateghproprietary information, which could adversehffect our
competitive position.

In addition to patents, we will substantially rely trade secrets, know-how, continuing technolddimeovations and licensing
opportunities to develop and maintain our competiposition. However, others may independently tbg/eubstantially
equivalent proprietary information and techniquestberwise gain access to our trade secrets ologdis our technology. To
protect our trade secrets, we may enter into cenfidlity agreements with employees, consultantspantential collaborators.
However, these agreements may not provide meanipgitection of our trade secrets or adequate rémed the event of
unauthorized use or disclosure of such informatidkewise, our trade secrets or know-how may becknevn through other
means or be independently discovered by our comopetiAny of these events could prevent us frormetiging or
commercializing our product candidates.

Disputes concerning the infringement or misapprogtion of our proprietary rights or the proprietarsights of others coulc
be time consuming and extremely costly and coulthgieour research and development efforts.

Our commercial success, if any, will be signifidgitarmed if we infringe the patent rights of thpdrties or if we breach any
license or other agreements that we have enteteavith regard to our technology or business.

We are aware of other companies and academicutistis that have been performing research in teasaof adult derived ste
cells. In particular, other companies and acadénstitutions have announced that they have ideatifionembryonic stem ce
isolated from bone marrow or other tissues thaehhe ability to form a range of cell types, omiliy the property of
pluripotency. To the extent any of these compaaiescademic institutions currently have, or obiaithe future, broad patent
claims, such patents could block our ability to uagous aspects of our discovery and developmetgss and might prevent
us from developing or commercializing newly disc@deapplications of our MultiStem technology, dnertwise conducting o
business. In addition, it is possible that somthefpharmaceutical product candidates we are dewganay not be patentable
or may be covered by intellectual property of ttpatties.

We are not currently a party to any litigationgirfierence, opposition, protest, reexamination graher potentially adverse
governmental, ex parte or inter-party proceedinip wegard to our patent or trademark positions. elmw, the life sciences and
other technology industries are characterized lgresive litigation regarding patents and otherlliedtual property rights.
Many life sciences and other technology compange® lemployed intellectual property litigation asay to gain a competitiv
advantage. If we become involved in litigationgirfiérence proceedings, oppositions, reexaminapiariest or other potentially
adverse intellectual property proceedings as dtrekalleged infringement by us of the rights dfiers or as a result of priority
of invention disputes with third parties, we miglatve to spend significant amounts of money, tintbeffort defending our
position and we may not be successful. In additmy, claims relating to the infringement of thirdry proprietary rights or
proprietary determinations, even if not meritorioesuld result in costly litigation, lengthy govemental proceedings, divert
managemens attention and resources, or require us to enteroyalty or license agreements that are not @idggous to us.
we do not have the financial resources to supptt $itigation or appeals, we may forfeit or loggtain commercial rights.
Even if we have the financial resources to contisweh litigation or appeals, we may lose. In thentthat we lose, we may be
forced to pay very substantial damages; we may t@mwebtain costly license rights, which may notavailable to us on
acceptable terms, if at all; or we may be prohibftem selling products that are found to infrirthe patent rights of others.

Should any person have filed patent applicationzbtained patents that claim inventions also cldifmg us, we may have to
participate in an interference proceeding declisethe relevant patent regulatory agency to deteemriority of invention anc
thus, the right to a patent for these inventionthéUnited States. Such a proceeding could resslibstantial cost to us ever
the outcome is favorable. Even if successful oarjtyi grounds, an interference action may resuloss of claims based on
patentability grounds raised in the interferendgac Litigation, interference proceedings or othesceedings could divert
management’s time and efforts. Even unsuccessdimslcould result in significant legal fees andeotbxpenses, diversion of
management’s time and disruption in our businessetainties resulting from initiation and contitioa of any patent
proceeding or related litigation could harm oudiabto compete and could have a significant adeefect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.
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An adverse ruling arising out of any intellectuedjperty dispute, including an adverse decisiorodhe priority of our
inventions, could undercut or invalidate our ireetlial property position. An adverse ruling coukbaubject us to significant
liability for damages, including possible treblevtagyes, prevent us from using technologies or deugjoproducts, or require
us to negotiate licenses to disputed rights froind gharties. Although patent and intellectual pndypelisputes in the technology
area are often settled through licensing or singitaangements, costs associated with these arramgemay be substantial and
could include license fees and ongoing royaltiestifermore, necessary licenses may not be avaiiahie on satisfactory
terms, if at all. Failure to obtain a license ils@ case could have a significant adverse effedun business, financial
condition and results of operations.

Many potential competitors, including those who teagreater resources and experience than we do, deyelop products ¢
technologies that make ours obsolete or noncompeit

We face significant competition with respect to puvduct candidates. With regard to our effortdeégelop MultiStem as a
novel stem cell therapy, currently, there are almemof companies that are actively developing stelhproducts, which
encompass a range of different cell types, inclg@imbryonic stem cells, adult-derived stem celigl, processed bone marrow
derived cells. Our future success will depend anatnility to maintain a competitive position witbgpect to technological
advances. Technological developments by othersramylt in our MultiStem product platform and teclogies, as well as our
pharmaceutical formulations, becoming obsolete.

We are subject to significant competition from phaceutical, biotechnology and diagnostic compaieagdemic and research
institutions, and government or other publicly faddagencies that are pursuing the developmentddpeutic products and
technologies that are substantially similar to puposed therapeutic products and technologigbabiotherwise address the
indications we are pursuing. Our most significasrhpetitors include major pharmaceutical companiet s Pfizer, Bristol-
Myers Squibb, Merck, Roche, Johnson & Johnson, & wentis and GlaxoSmithKline as well as smallétbchnology or
biopharmaceutical companies such as Arena PharnieasuOrexigen, Celgene, Vivus, Osiris, Geronstham, Stem Cells
Inc., and Cytori Therapeutics. Most of our currentl potential competitors have substantially gre@search and development
capabilities and financial, scientific, regulatonyanufacturing, marketing, sales, human resouesebexperience than we do.
Many of our competitors have several therapeuticipets that have already been developed, approviduccessfully
commercialized, or are in the process of obtainayylatory approval for their therapeutic productthe United States and
internationally.

Many of these companies have substantially greafgital resources, research and development resand experience,
manufacturing capabilities, regulatory expertisdes and marketing resources, established rel&ijpmgvith consumer products
companies and production facilities.

Universities and public and private research in8tihs are also potential competitors. While thegmnizations primarily have
educational objectives, they may develop propnetachnologies related to stem cells or securenpgai®tection that we may
need for the development of our technologies andymts. We may attempt to license these proprigéfynologies, but these
licenses may not be available to us on acceptahtest if at all.

Our competitors, either alone or with their colledtove partners, may succeed in developing teclyiedoor products that are
more effective, safer, more affordable or morelgasimmercialized than ours, and our competitory piatain intellectual
property protection or commercialize products sodhan we do. Developments by others may rendepmduct candidates or
our technologies obsolete.

Our current product discovery and development bollators are not prohibited from entering into aesh and development
collaboration agreements with third parties in prgduct field. Our failure to compete effectivelpwd have a significant
adverse effect on our business, financial condiiod results of operations.

We will use hazardous and biological materials inrdbusiness. Any claims relating to improper handg, storage or dispos:i
of these materials could be time consuming and bost

Our products and processes will involve the colgdostorage, use and disposal of certain hazaralodidiological materials
and waste products. We and our suppliers and otilborators are subject to federal, state anal l@gulations governing the
use, manufacture, storage, handling and disposabtdrials and waste products. Even if we and theppliers and
collaborators comply with the standards prescritpethw and regulation, the risk of accidental camteation or injury from
hazardous materials cannot be completely elimindtethe event of an accident, we could be helldidor any damages that
result, and any liability could exceed the limitSall outside the coverage of any insurance we otagin and exceed our
financial resources. We may not be able to mairit&nrance on acceptable terms, or at all. We meyrisignificant costs to
comply with current or future environmental lawglargulations.
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If we acquire products, technologies or other bussses, we will incur a variety of costs, may havegration difficulties and
may experience numerous other risks that could achedy affect our business.

To remain competitive, we may decide to acquirdtal businesses, products and technologies. Weitly have no
commitments or agreements with respect to, andatractively seeking, any material acquisitions. Ngge limited experience
in identifying acquisition targets, successfullgairing them and integrating them into our currefiastructure. We may not
be able to successfully integrate any businessedupts, technologies or personnel that we miggtise in the future without
significant expenditure of operating, financial andnagement resources, if at all. In addition,iacquisitions could require
significant capital infusions and could involve mpaisks, including, but not limited to the followgn

e we may have to issue convertible debt or eq@tusties to complete an acquisition, which wouildté our
stockholders and could adversely affect the mapkiee of our common stoc

e an acquisition may negatively impact our resoftsperations because it may require us to inagielane-time
charges to earnings, amortize or write down amongiédéed to goodwill and other intangible assetshour or
assume substantial debt or liabilities, or it mayse adverse tax consequences, substantial dejpreciadeferred
compensation charge

« we may encounter difficulties in assimilating antkgrating the business, technologies, prodpetissonnel or
operations of companies that we acqt

e certain acquisitions may disrupt our relationshith existing collaborators who are competitivehe acquired
business

e acquisitions may require significant capital sifins and the acquired businesses, products andkxdies may not
generate sufficient revenue to offset acquisitiosts;

e an acquisition may disrupt our ongoing businesgrtiresources, increase our expenses and distteotanagemer

e acquisitions may involve the entry into a geogragibusiness market in which we have little opnior experience
and

*  key personnel of an acquired company may decidéonwbrk for us.
Any of the foregoing risks could have a significadierse effect on our business, financial conuliéind results of operations.

To the extent we enter markets outside of the Udifetates, our business will be subject to politicatonomic, legal and
social risks in those markets, which could advessaffect our business

There are significant regulatory and legal barrienmarkets outside the United States that we mwstcome to the extent we
enter or attempt to enter markets in countriesrdtien the United States. We will be subject tolibeden of complying with a
wide variety of national and local laws, includimyltiple and possibly overlapping and conflictimgvs. We also may
experience difficulties adapting to new culturassibess customs and legal systems. Any sales amdtams outside the Unit
States would be subject to political, economic smcial uncertainties including, among others:

« changes and limits in import and export contr

. increases in custom duties and tari
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e changes in currency exchange ra

e economic and political instability

e changes in government regulations and I

« absence in some jurisdictions of effective lawprmtect our intellectual property rights; a

e currency transfer and other restrictions and leguns that may limit our ability to sell certgamoducts or repatriate
profits to the United State

Any changes related to these and other factorsl@mersely affect our business to the extent wer enarkets outside the
United States.

Foreign governments often impose strict price cavltr on approved products, which may adversely &ffaa future
profitability in those countries, and the -importation of drugs to the United States from fgign countries that impose price
controls may adversely affect our future profitalty.

Frequently foreign governments impose strict pceetrols on newly approved therapeutic productaidfobtain regulatory
approval to sell products in foreign countries,may be unable to obtain a price that provides @&gaate financial return on
our investment. Furthermore, legislation in thetediStates may permit re-importation of drugs ffoneign countries into the
United States, including re-importation from fomeigountries where the drugs are sold at lower prilean in the United States
due to foreign government-mandated price cont&lsh a practice, especially if it is conducted avidespread basis, may
significantly reduce our potential United Stategeraies from any drugs that we are able to develop.

If we elect not to sell our products in foreign cotries that impose government mandated price cotdroecause we decide
is uneconomical to do so, a foreign government atgnt office may attempt to terminate our intelleet property rights in
that country, enabling competitors to make and salir products.

In some cases we may choose not to sell a prodactdreign country because it is uneconomicaltsa under a system of
government-imposed price controls, or becauseuldceeverely limit our profitability in the UniteStates or other markets. In
such cases, a foreign government or patent offigg terminate any intellectual property rights weyrohatain with respect to
that product. Such a termination could enable cditmpe to produce and sell our product in that nearkurthermore, such
products may be exported into the United Statemutyir legislation that authorizes the importatiomafgs from outside the
United States. In such an event, we may have teceedur prices, or we may be unable to compete lawthcost providers of
our drugs, and we could be financially harmed essalt.

We may encounter difficulties managing our growtWwhich could adversely affect our business.

At various times we have experienced periods aflirgpowth in our employee numbers as a resultdrfaanatic increase in
activity in technology programs, genomics progracediaborative research programs, discovery progrand scope of
operations. At other times, we have had to redtaféia order to bring our expenses in line withr imancial resources. Our
success will also depend on the ability of ourasffs and key employees to continue to improve perational capabilities and
our management information and financial contretesns, and to expand, train and manage our wock for

We may be sued for product liability, which couldhgersely affect our business.

Because our business strategy involves the deveopand sale by either us or our collaboratorsoafroercial products, we
may be sued for product liability. We may be hédtble if any product we develop and commercialimeany product our
collaborators commercialize that incorporates a@nyuo technology, causes injury or is found otheeminsuitable during
product testing, manufacturing, marketing, salearsumer use. In addition, the safety studies wst perform and the
regulatory approvals required to commercialize gharmaceutical products, will not protect us fromy auch liability.
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We carry product liability insurance, as well abllity insurance for conducting clinical trialsuently, we carry a $5 million
per event, $5 million annual aggregate coveragédtin our products liability policy and our clinldaals protection. We also
intend to seek product liability insurance for @pproved products that we may develop or acquiosvd¥er, in the event there
are product liability claims against us, our insuemay be insufficient to cover the expense ofigihg against such claims,
or may be insufficient to pay or settle such claifsrthermore, we may be unable to obtain adequraduct liability insurance
coverage for commercial sales of any of our apptgueducts. If such insurance is insufficient totpct us, our results of
operations will suffer. If any product liabilityam is made against us, our reputation and futaiesswill be damaged, even if
we have adequate insurance coverage.

The availability, manner, and amount of reimbursemtefor our product candidates from government andyate payers are
uncertain, and our inability to obtain adequate mbursement for any products could severely limitrgaroduct sales.

We expect that many of the patients who seek tresattavith any of our products that are approvediarketing will be eligible
for Medicare benefits. Other patients may be cavéseprivate health plans. If we are unable to iobta retain adequate levels
of reimbursement from Medicare or from private tiealans, our ability to sell our products will beverely limited. The
application of existing Medicare regulations aniipretive coverage and payment determinationgtdynapproved products
is uncertain and those regulations and interpretaeterminations are subject to change. The Medieezscription Drug
Improvement and Modernization Act, enacted in Deoen2003, provides for a change in reimbursemetiodelogy that
reduces the Medicare reimbursement rates for margsdwhich may adversely affect reimbursemenafor products we may
develop. Medicare regulations and interpretive mheitgations also may determine who may be reimbufsedertain services,
and may limit the pool of patients our product ddatks are being developed to serve.

Federal, state and foreign governments continygedpose legislation designed to contain or red@zdth care costs.
Legislation and regulations affecting the pricirigomducts like our potential products may changghier or be adopted before
any of our potential products are approved for ratinky. Cost control initiatives by governmentshird-party payers could
decrease the price that we receive for any ondl of aur potential products or increase patierihsarance to a level that make
our products under development become unaffordébkddition, government and private health plamsistently challenge
the price and cosffectiveness of therapeutic products. Accordintigse third parties may ultimately not consider anall of
our products under development to be cost effectivich could result in products not being covemaeder their health plans or
covered only at a lower price. Any of these initias or developments could prevent us from sucabgsharketing and selling
any of our products that are approved for commEzeition.

Public perception of ethical and social issues sounding the use of adu-derived stem cell technology may limit or
discourage the use of our technologies, which mayguce the demand for our therapeutic products aerdtinologies and
reduce our revenues.

Our success will depend in part upon our abilitdéwelop therapeutic products incorporating oralieced through our adult-
derived stem cell technology. For social, ethioalpther reasons, governmental authorities in thigeld States and other
countries may call for limits on, or regulationtbé use of, adult-derived stem cell technologidthdugh we do not use the
more controversial stem cells derived from embyofetuses, claims that adult-derived stem celinetogies are ineffective,
unethical or pose a danger to the environment mifyeince public attitudes. The subject of stem tealhnologies in general |
received negative publicity and aroused public teebathe United States and some other countrigscd& and other concerns
about our adult-derived stem cell technology caunfterially hurt the market acceptance of our themsip products and
technologies, resulting in diminished sales andafisey products we are able to develop using atkritved stem cells.
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

Not applicable
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our principal offices are located at 3201 Carndgienue in Cleveland, Ohio. We currently lease apipnately 53,000 square
feet of space for our corporate offices and lalwoias, with about 40,000 square feet of state-efédtt laboratory space. The
lease currently expires in March 2011, and we faawveption to extend the lease in annual increnténbsigh March 2013 at
our current rent of $267,000 per year. Also, weentty lease office and laboratory space for ougB@ subsidiary. The lease
expires December 2014 and the annual rent is suibjedjustments based on an inflationary index.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time to time, we may become subject to varlegal proceedings that are incidental to the @dirconduct of our
business. Currently, there are no such proceedings.

ITEM 3A. EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The information under this Item is furnished purgua Instruction 3 to Item 401(b) of RegulatiorkKS-

There exists no arrangement or understanding betaeg executive officer and any other person punstcawhich such
executive officer was elected. Each executive effierves until his or her successor is electedyantified.

The following sets forth the name, age, currenttfpssand principal occupation and employment dgitine past five years of
our executive officers.

Gil Van Bokkelen, Ph.D.
Age: 49

Dr. Van Bokkelelhas served as our Chief Executive Officer and @hmair since June 2007. Dr. Van Bokkelen co-founded
Athersys in October 1995 and served as Chief Exac@fficer and Director since Athersys’ foundirRyior to May 2006, he
also served as Athersys’ President. He has ses/&hairman of Athersys’ board of directors sinceyéat 2000. Dr. Van
Bokkelen is the current Chairman of the board of&nors for the Center for Stem Cells and Regeiverdedicine, and has
served on a number of other boards, including tieeeBhnology Industry Organization’s ECS board ioéctors (from 2001 to
2004, and from 2008 to present) and the Kent &tateersity Board of Trustees from 2001 to 2004.releeived his Ph.D. in
Genetics from Stanford University, his B.A. in Ecamics from the University of California at Berke)J@nd his B.A. in
Molecular Biology from the University of Californit Berkeley.

William (BJ) Lehmann, Jr., J.D.
Age: 44

Mr. Lehmanrhas served as our President and Chief Operatiriggdfince June 2007. Mr. Lehmann joined Atherays i
September 2001 and was Athersys’ Executive Vicsi@eat of Corporate Development and Finance fromgusti2002 until
May 2006, when he became Athersys’ President anef Ciperating Officer. From 1994 to 2001, Mr. Lehmawas with
McKinsey & Company, Inc., an international managetre®nsulting firm, where he worked extensivelyhwiew technology
and service-based businesses in the firm’s BusiBe#ding practice. Prior to joining McKinsey, heovked at Wilson, Sonsini,
Goodrich & Rosati, a Silicon Valley law firm, andbvked with First Chicago Corporation, a financiatitution. Mr. Lehmann
received his J.D. from Stanford University, his MABfrom the University of Chicago, and his B.Aoiffin the University of
Notre Dame
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John J. Harrington, Ph.D.
Age: 42

Dr. Harrington has served as our Chief Scientific Officer, ExaeiWice President and Director since June 2007.

Dr. Harrington co-founded Athersys in October 1998 has served as Athersys’ Executive Vice Presmtah Chief Scientific
Officer and as Director since Athersys’ founding. Barrington led the development of the RAGE texbgy as well as its
application for gene discovery, drug discovery aochmercial protein production applications. He lstd inventor on 20
issued or pending United States patents, has auatt®fY scientific publications, and has received enams awards for his work,
including being named one of the top internatigimaing scientists by MIT Technology Review in 20D2. Harrington has
overseen the therapeutic product development progyed Athersys since their inception, and duriregdaireer he has also held
positions at Amgen and Scripps Clinic. He receiliisdPh.D. in Cancer Biology from Stanford Univeysind his B.A. in
Biochemistry and Cell Biology from the University Galifornia at San Diego.

Robert J. Deans, Ph.D.
Age: 58

Dr. Deanshas served as our Senior Vice President, Regenetdtedicine since June 2007. Dr. Deans has ledréyke
regenerative medicine research and developmenitagisince February 2003 and has served as \fiegident of Regenerati
Medicine since October 2003. He was named Seniog President of Regenerative Medicine in June 2DB8Deans is highly
regarded as an expert in stem cell therapeutithk,avier fifteen years of experience in this fidkdom 2001 to 2003, Dr. Deans
worked for early-stage biotechnology companies.@rans was formerly the Vice President of Reseatsiris Therapeutics,
Inc., a biotechnology company, from 1998 to 2004 Birector of Research and Development with the imatherapy Divisio
of Baxter International, Inc., a global healthcepenpany, from 1992 to 1998. Dr. Deans was alsoipusly on faculty at USC
Medical School in Los Angeles, between 1981 anB18#Bthe departments of Microbiology and Neurolegyhe Norris
Comprehensive Cancer Center. Dr. Deans was angnadielate at MIT, received his Ph.D. at the Unitersi Michigan, and
did his post-doctoral work at UCLA in Los Angeles.

Laura K. Campbell, CPA
Age: 46

Ms. Campbelhas served as our Vice President, Finance sinae2l0v. Ms. Campbell joined Athersys in January8189
Controller and has served as Vice President ofriéieaince May 2006. Prior to joining Athersys, slas at Ernst & Young
LLP, a public accounting firm, for 11 years, in taadit practice. During her tenure with Ernst & Yigu_LP, Ms. Campbell
specialized in entrepreneurial services and thiebmology industry sector and participated in sghvaitial public offerings.
Ms. Campbell received her B.S., with distinctiamBiusiness Administration from The Ohio State Unsitg.

ITEM 4. RESERVED
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PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT 'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND
ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our common stock is traded on the NASDAQ Capitathdaiunder the symbol “ATHX.” Set forth below afesthigh and low
sale prices for our common stock on the NASDAQ Géapilarket for the periods indicated.

High Low

Year ended December 31, 2009:

First Quartel $ 1.2¢ $ 0.4t
Second Quarte $ 1.04 $ 0.7t
Third Quartel $ 1.3t $ 0.7¢
Fourth Quarte $ 6.4C $ 0.97
Year ended December 31, 200t

First Quartel $ 5.0C $ 3.0C
Second Quarte $ 4.2: $ 1.5t
Third Quartel $ 4.0C $ 1.17
Fourth Quarte $ 1.8¢ $ 0.1t

Holders

As of February 28, 2010, the number of holdersobrd was approximately 910 of which one is Ced&a%, a nominee for Tl
Depository Trust Company, or DTC. Shares of comstook that are held by financial institutions asnimees for beneficial
owners are deposited into participant accountsTal,land are considered to be held of record by @e@e., as one
stockholder.

Dividend Policy

All of our assets consist of the capital stock &TAHolding Company. We would have to rely upon desids and other
payments from ABT Holding Company to generate tivels necessary to make dividend payments, if ampuo common
stock. ABT Holding Company, however, is legallytitist from us and has no obligation to pay amotmiss. The ability of
ABT Holding Company to make dividend and other pawis to us is subject to, among other things, viadability of funds,
the terms of our indebtedness and applicable Eate We did not pay cash dividends on our comntocksduring the past tw
years. We do not anticipate that we will pay angdiinds on our common stock in the foreseeabladutather, we anticipa
that we will retain earnings, if any, for use i tthevelopment of our business.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

(in thousands, except per share data)

Year Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

Consolidated Statement of Operation:

Data:
Revenues

Contract revenu $ 1,07¢ % 1,88( 1,43 1,90¢ $ 762

Grant revenu 1,08(C 1,22¢ 1,82 1,81 2,83
Total revenue 2,15¢ 3,10¢ 3,26( 3,72¢ 3,59¢
Costs and expense

Research and developmt 11,92( 16,50( 15,817 9,741 12,57¢

General and administratiy 5,621 5,47¢ 7,97¢ 3,34 3,75¢

Depreciatior 238 21¢ 28¢ 52¢ 982

Restructuring cost — — — — 251

Loss from operation (15,61Y) (29,097 (20,815 (9,89)) (13,970

Other (expense) incom

Other (expense) income, r (12€) 48 2,017 20¢ 18

Interest incom 37¢ 1,14¢ 1,591 11¢ 317

Interest expens — (94) (1,269) (1,047 (9649)

Accretion of premium on convertible de — — (45€) (260) —
Loss before cumulative effect of change i

accounting principlt (15,36¢) (17,997 (18,926 (20,879 (14,599
Cumulative effect of change in accounting

principle — — — 30€ —
Net loss $ (15366 $ (17,99) (18,92¢) (10,56H $ (14,599
Preferred stock dividenc — — (659) (1,409 (2,253
Deemed dividend resulting from induced

conversion of convertible preferred stc — — (4,800 — —
Net loss attributable to commor

stockholders $ (15366 $ (17,99) (24,38F) (11,97) $ (16,857
Basic and diluted net loss per commo

share attributable to common

stockholders:
Loss before cumulative effect of change in

accounting principli $ (0.8) $ (0.9%) (2.26) (4189 % (57.79
Cumulative effect of change in accountiny

principle — — — 1.0t —
Net loss per share $ (0.8) $ (0.95) (2.26) (40.89) $ (57.79
Weighted average shares outstanding, bs

and dilutec 18,928,37 18,927,98 10,811,11 293,14. 291,61.
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:
Cash and cash equivalel $ 11,167 % 12,55: 13,24¢ 152¢ $ 1,08(
Available-for-sale securities (sh-tem) 10,13¢ 15,46( 22,477 — 3,481
Working capital (deficit 16,29: 26,78¢ 32,84¢ (3,20€) 1,82¢
Available-for-sale securities (lor-tem) 5,08( 3,601 13,85( — —
Total asset 28,33: 33,87 52,22¢ 4,26¢€ 7,30¢
Long-term obligations, less current porti — — 9,31( 4,68¢




Accrued dividend: — — — 8,88¢ 7,477

Total stockholder equity (deficit) 18,957 31,56: 47,63 (20,007 (8,589
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT 'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AN D RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

You should read the following discussion and analysconjunction with “ltem 8. Financial Statem&raind Supplementary
Data” included below in this annual report on FdrtaK.

Overview and Recent Developments

We are a biopharmaceutical company engaged iniseevery and development of therapeutic productiickates designed to
extend and enhance the quality of human life. Tghaile application of our proprietary technologigs,have established a
pipeline of therapeutic product development programmultiple disease areas. Our current produetldpment portfolio
consists of MultiStem, a patented and proprietegynscell product that we are developing as a treatrfor multiple disease
indications, and that is currently being evaluatetivo ongoing clinical trials. In addition, we adeveloping novel
pharmaceuticals to treat indications such as opesttain cognitive and attention disorders, alt agenarcolepsy, other forms
of excessive daytime sleepiness and chronic fatiggeciated with certain disease indications.

Current Programs

In 2008, we advanced two MultiStem programs intoichl development, initiating phase | studies amdiovascular disease
(treating patients that have suffered an acute arghal infarction) and in oncology treatment supadministering MultiStem
to leukemia or lymphoma patients who are receiarigaditional bone marrow or HSC transplant to oedihe risk or severity

of GVHD). We are conducting the acute myocardidiiction clinical trial with our partner Angiotecand we completed phase
| enrollment in the first quarter of 2010. In Ma9@b, we entered into a product development collaboration with Angiotect
jointly develop and ultimately market MultiStem fibre treatment of damage caused by myocardialdtiéer and peripher:
vascular disease.

In December 2009, we entered into a collaboratgre@ment with Pfizer to develop and commercializgiStem for the
treatment of IBD for the worldwide market. We awgrently planning and preparing for a phase | cahstudy in the IBD area
and plan to initiate the study as soon as posaitée regulatory approval.

We are also independently developing novel oraitiva pharmaceutical products for the treatmerdhefsity and certain
central nervous system disorders, including dissrdach as narcolepsy, excessive daytime sleepimed<hronic fatigue, as
well as other potential indications such as attentieficit hyperactivity disorder and other cogrétdisorders such as
schizophrenia.

Financial

In June 2007, we completed a merger with BTHC ¢, land its wholly-owned subsidiary that was fornfmdthe purpose of
completing the merger. BTHC VI was a public shellporation with substantially no assets, liabitit@ operations. We
continued as the surviving entity in the merger andbusiness became the sole operations of BTH&ftét the merger. BTH
VI's acquisition of us effected a change in conttntl was accounted for as a reverse acquisitionelblieve were the acquirer
for financial statement purposes. Accordingly, fimancial statements present our historical resants do not include the
historical financial results of BTHC VI prior toéhmerger. At the time the merger was effectivehedmare of common stock of
Athersys was exchanged into 0.0358493 shares ofVHcommon stock, par value $0.001 per share.

In connection with the merger in June 2007, Atheisympleted a restructuring of its capital stockialv included the
conversion of the preferred stock into sharessof@mmon stock, the termination of certain warraamsl the elimination of
accrued dividends. As a result, immediately priothie consummation of the merger with BTHC VI,cahvertible preferred
stock (including termination of warrants and eliation of accrued dividends) was converted into 8,347 shares of comm
stock and then exchanged for 1,912,356 shares Bi{BYI common stock using the merger exchange #tid0358493. The
change to the conversion ratios of the converfibégerred stock was deemed to be an induced caomerghich resulted in a
$4.8 million deemed dividend and an increase totdoss attributable to common stockholders meJ2007.
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Immediately after the merger, we completed an offeof 13,000,000 shares of common stock for agapeeget proceeds of
$58.5 million in June 2007, which included the este of warrants to purchase 3,250,000 shareswihon stock to the
investors. We also issued warrants to purchas@®80&hares of common stock to the lead investomarchants to purchase
1,093,525 shares of common stock to the placengamts.

Upon the closing of the June 2007 offering, bridgestors from 2006 also received five-year wasdatpurchase 132,945
shares of common stock at $6.00 per share, whialsterere consistent with the warrants issued to ingestors in the
offering.

In 2007, Athersys terminated the majority of stogition awards and granted options for 3,625,000eshaf common stock
under our equity incentive plans to its officensypboyees, directors and consultants with an exeiee of $5.00 per share,
resulting in stock compensation expense of $5.lianiln 2007.

We have incurred losses since inception of oparatio December 1995 and had an accumulated defigit94 million at
December 31, 2009. Our losses have resulted paithgiftom costs incurred in research and develognaimical and
preclinical product development, acquisition ameitising costs, and general and administrative esstsciated with our
operations. We have used the financing proceeds fiivate equity and debt offerings and other sesiaf capital to develop
our technologies, to discover and develop therappubvduct candidates and to acquire certain teloigies and assets. We he
also built drug development capabilities that hemabled us to advance product candidates intcalitiials. We have
established strategic collaborations that haveigeavrevenues and capabilities to help further adgaur product candidates,
and we have also built a substantial portfoliondéllectual property.

Results of Operations

Since our inception, our revenues have consistédafse fees and milestone payments from our lootktors and grant
proceeds primarily from federal and state grants.N&ve derived no revenue on the sale of FDA-amul@voducts to date.
Research and development expenses consist priméalysts associated with external clinical anctjmécal study fees,
manufacturing costs, salaries and related persamusts, legal expenses resulting from intellegtwaperty application
processes, and laboratory supply and reagent astexpense research and development costs aarthé@ycurred. We expect
to continue to make significant investments in aesle and development to enhance our technologieanae clinical trials of
our product candidates, expand our regulatoryraffaid product development capabilities, condustlprical studies of our
products and manufacture our products. Generahdndnistrative expenses consist primarily of selend related personnel
costs, professional fees and other corporate egpef® date, we have financed our operations trpuigate equity and debt
financing and investments by strategic collabosat@/e expect to continue to incur substantial leslsmugh at least the next
several years.

The following table sets forth our revenues andemss for the periods indicated. The followingéakdre stated in thousands.

Revenues
Year ended December 31
2009 2008 2007
Contract revenu $ 1,07¢ $ 1,88( $ 1,43¢
Grant revenu 1,08( 1,22¢ 1,827

$ 2,15¢ $ 3,10¢ $ 3,26(
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Research and development expenses

Year ended December 31

Type of expens 2009 2008 2007

Personnel cosi $ 3,601 $ 2,92¢ $ 2,81z
Research supplie 907 84¢ 67¢
Facilities 82¢€ 817 762
Clinical and preclinical development co 1,90¢ 7,87¢ 5,72
Sponsored resear: 87¢ 393 465
Patent legal fee 1,351 1,481 1,08¢
Other 1,151 1,431 1,821
Stocl-based compensatic 1,29¢ 727 2,46¢

$ 11,92( $ 16,50( $ 15,81

General and administrative expenses

Year ended December 31,

Type of expens 2009 2008 2007

Personnel cosi $ 1,97¢ $ 1,72¢ $ 1,981
Facilities 29¢ 34z 33C
Legal and professional fe 91€ 1,03 1,16t
Other 91¢ 1,25( 1,827
Stocl-based compensatic 1,51z 1,12¢ 2,671

$ 5,621 $ 547¢ $ 7,97

Year Ended December 31, 2009 Compared to Year Erdleckmber 31, 2008

RevenuesRevenues decreased to $2.2 million for the yeae@imecember 31, 2009 from $3.1 million for 2008ntact
revenues for the year ended December 31, 2009%ded|$171,000 of revenues from Pfizer in conneatith our collaboration
agreement entered into in December 2009. We expeaontract revenues related to the Pfizer coftatian in the next few
years to include amortization of the $6.0 millilcehse fee over the estimated performance pergsearch and developme
funding, as well as payments for manufacturing potential milestone achievement. Also includedantcact revenues are
license fees and milestone payments from our cot&ton with Bristol-Myers Squibb, which decrease@009 as a result of a
decline in activity and as a result of a clinicalrdlopment milestone achieved in September 2008n%ed to continue to
prepare and deliver validated drug targets as mekyg®ristol-Myers Squibb for use in its drug digeoy efforts, and will
remain entitled to receive license fees, milesfmagments and royalties on compounds developed isyoBMyers Squibb
using our technology. Beyond 2009, however, wecgrgte that Bristol-Myers Squibb’s demand for navgets will be
substantially reduced or cease altogether. Graetnree decreased $145,000 primarily due to the cetiopl of a state grant in
2008 and due to the timing of expenditures thateimbursed with grant proceeds. Additionally, gtant revenues could
fluctuate during any year based on the timing ahtprelated activities and the award of new grants.
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Research and Development ExpenResearch and development expenses decreased @ondiflibn in 2009 from

$16.5 million in 2008. The decrease of $4.6 millietated primarily to a decrease in clinical anegdtinical development costs
of $6.0 million, a decrease in other research awtldpment expenses of $280,000 and a decreasteint pfegal fee expense
$130,000 in 2009 compared to 2008. These decreasespartially offset by an increase in personostg of $683,000, an
increase in stock compensation expense of $569a00ihicrease in sponsored research of $485,00Gramttrease in research
supplies and facilities expenses of $67,000 in Z@ffpared to 2008. Of the $6.0 million decreasdimcal and preclinical
development costs, $5.3 million related to costeeisited with the completion of an ATHX-105 phastirical trial in the first
half of 2008 and preparations for a phase |l ciihtdal of ATHX-105 in 2008, which included sevepaeclinical studies and
manufacturing costs. ATHX-105 development was suded early in 2009 and there will be no future sasturred for this
product candidate. The remaining $700,000 decri@ad@ical and preclinical development costs rethprimarily to a
$235,000 credit from a renegotiated contract witlotract research organization in June 2009, esdiotanufacturing costs
associated with our MultiStem clinical trials, amdluced external costs for regulatory consultindj preclinical studies. Our
clinical costs in 2009 and 2008 are reflected fiétrmiotech’s cost-sharing reimbursements relatedur MultiStem acute
myocardial infarction collaboration in the amouh$847,000 and $943,000, respectively. Patent legaéxpense for 2009
decreased compared to 2008, but continued to béisant as a result of further development andntaning our portfolio of
patent applications. The increase in personnesaesited to the addition of personnel in suppbauw clinical programs and
regulatory affairs, a 2009 company-wide performangeus, salary increases and increased benef#t. st increase in stock
compensation expense related to a change in aaraget forfeiture rate, increased expense relateghtions held by certain
consultants that are computed using variable adtayrand the issuance of stock option awards B92@ponsored research
costs increased primarily due to gréumded programs that require collaboration withtaieracademic research institutions.
expect our research and development expensesreagein 2010, primarily due to increased MultiSttimical trial expenses
and support of our Pfizer and Angiotech collabaradi Other than external expenses for our clirdodl preclinical programs,
we do not track our research expenses by projatter, we track such expenses by the type of noatried.

General and Administrative Expens&eneral and administrative expenses increased.€onfilion in 2009 from $5.5 million
in 2008. The $100,000 increase was due primarigntincrease in stock compensation expense of 838&nd an increase in
personnel costs of $249,000, partially offset liearease in other expenses of $331,000, a dedrelegml and professional
fees of $116,000 and a decrease in facilities esgen$43,000 in 2009 compared to 2008. The inergastock compensation
expense related to a change in our estimated fioréefate and the issuance of stock option awar@909. The increase in
personnel costs related to a 2009 compaite performance bonus, salary increases and iseddaenefit costs. The decreas
other expenses for 2009 was primarily a resuledficed temporary help and outsourced accountimgeesrin 2009. The
decrease in legal and professional fees in 2009wasrily a result of reduced legal fees incuriedonnection with SEC
filings and transactional work. We expect our gahand administrative expenses to continue at aimglvels in 2010.

Depreciation.Depreciation expense increased to $233,000 in 2009 $218,000 in 2008. The increase in depreciagigpense
was due to depreciation on capital purchases nmagedo.

Other Expensdncluded in other expense for 2009 is an impairnhesg of $115,000 related to an investment in eapely-held
company.

Interest Incomelnterest income decreased to $375,000 in 2009 $brh million in 2008. The change in interest incones

due to the decline in cash and investment balamheesg the period. While we received $6.0 millionfees from Pfizer in 200
this payment had limited impact on interest incagiven its receipt in late December. Due to decfinimerest rates and lower
cash balances as a result of our ongoing and placiimécal and preclinical development, we expaat 010 interest income to
be less than 2009 absent any new financings onessitransactions.

Interest Expensdnterest expense decreased to $0 in 2009 from 89402008 due to the repayment of our senior lnan
June 2008. We do not expect any significant inteeggense in 2010.

Year Ended December 31, 2008 Compared to Year Erdlecember 31, 2007

RevenuesRevenues decreased to $3.1 million for the yeae@imecember 31, 2008 from $3.3 million for 2007a@mrevenue
decreased $0.6 million primarily due to the complebf a 2006 state grant in October 2008 as vegetha timing of
expenditures that are reimbursed with grant proededense fee revenues increased $0.4 millionrasut of the nature and
timing of target acceptances under our collabonagigreement with Bristol-Myers Squibb and the adgmeent of a clinical
development milestone in September 2008.
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Research and Development ExpenResearch and development expenses increased ®réilon in 2008 from

$15.8 million in 2007. The increase of approximatkd.7 million related primarily to an increasecimical and preclinical
development costs of $2.2 million, an increaseatept legal fees of $395,000, an increase in rekeaupplies expenses of
$170,000 and an increase in personnel costs of $2Q1n 2008 compared to 2007. These increasespeetially offset by a
decrease in stock compensation expense of $1.ibmid decrease in other expenses of $390,000 dedraase in sponsored
research of $72,000 in 2008 compared to 2007. Pt illion increase in preclinical and clinicalste was a result of the
completion of the ATHX-105 phase | clinical trigkeparations for the ATHX-105 phase Il clinicahtricompletion of two
additional phase | trials in the United Kingdomgfpemance of ATHX-105 non-clinical studies, andregses in MultiStem
preclinical and clinical costs and manufacturingenses. Our clinical costs in 2008 and 2007 ateatefd net of Angiotech’s
cost-sharing reimbursements related to our MultiSaeute myocardial infarction collaboration in #mount of $943,000 and
$63,000, respectively. The increase in patent Iged for 2008 was a result of maintaining our gngvand maturing portfolio
of patent applications, including prosecution cdstseveral cases that entered the national gha@08. Personnel costs
increased due to the addition of personnel in supgdmur clinical programs, annual salary incresaaed increased benefit
costs, which was partially offset by the absencleosfus payments in 2008. The decrease in othenegpavas primarily a
result of a milestone payment in 2007 in the amofi§tl.0 million associated with a stem cell coledtion milestone and a
stem cell IND milestone and was paid to the formeners of the technology. This decrease was plgrtiffset by an increase
in outsourced research and development expendest. than external expenses for our clinical andljrieal programs, we do
not track our research expenses by project; ratveetrack such expenses by the type of cost indurre

General and Administrative Expens€&g&neral and administrative expenses decreased3ariilion in 2008 from $8.0 million
in 2007. The $2.5 million decrease was due pripaoila decrease in stock compensation expense.®ifillion, decrease in
other expenses of $572,000, decrease in persoosisl af $261,000, and a decrease in legal andgsiofeal fees of $133,000.
The decrease in other expenses for 2008 was phlnaarresult of a one-time advisory fee of $350,002007 related to the
merger. Personnel costs decreased due to the absklbonus payments in 2008, which was partialfgeifby the addition of
administrative support personnel, annual salarse®es and increased benefit costs. The decrebsgalrand professional fees
in 2008 was primarily a result of reduced legakfe®urred in connection with SEC filings and tract®onal work.

Depreciation.Depreciation expense decreased to $218,000 in 2668%283,000 in 2007. The decrease in deprecigiquens
was due to more laboratory equipment, computempaaent, furniture and leasehold improvements becgrhitly depreciated.

Other Incomeln May 2007, Athersys sold certain non-core tecbgglrelated to its asthma discovery program to \Wyet
Pharmaceuticals for $2.0 million.

Interest Incomelnterest income decreased to $1.1 million in 2008f$1.6 million in 2007. The change in interesioime was
due to the receipt and investment of the proceruis the equity offering in June 2007, the procesdshich had declined as
they were used to fund operations.

Interest Expensdnterest expense on Athersys’ debt outstanding nitglsenior loan and its subordinated convertible
promissory notes decreased to $94,000 in 2008 i3 million in 2007. The decrease in interest esgewas due to the
repayment of the senior loan in June 2008, conmetisi June 2007 of $2.5 million in aggregate ppatiamount of
subordinated convertible promissory notes issuddtitiye investors, and conversion in June 200716frgillion in aggregate
principal amount of subordinated convertible praury notes issued to Angiotech.

Accretion of Premium on Convertible DeThe accretion of premium on convertible debt ob%@illion in 2007 relates to the
$2.5 million in aggregate principal amount of suboated secured convertible promissory notes istubddge investors in
2006 that were converted into common stock uportlibging of the equity offering in June 2007. Thutes, if not converted,
were repayable with accrued interest at maturitys p repayment fee of 200% of the outstandingcfpal. Athersys computed
a premium on the debt in the amount of $5.25 mmilime upon redemption, which was being accreted theeterm of the notes
using the effective interest method. The unamadtizeemium was reversed and recorded in additioaig-m-capital when the
notes were converted in June 2007.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our sources of liquidity include our cash balareed available-fosale securities. At December 31, 2009, we had $hilldn
in cash and cash equivalents and $15.2 milliorvailable-for-sale securities. Athersys has prinyeiitanced its operations
through private equity and debt financings thatehasulted in aggregate cumulative proceeds ofoappately $200 million.

In December 2009, we entered into a collaboratgre@ment with Pfizer to develop and commercializgiStem for the
treatment of IBD for the worldwide market. Undee tierms of the agreement, we received an up-frstt payment of

$6 million from Pfizer and will receive researchnéling and support during the initial phase of tblaboration. In addition, we
are also eligible to receive milestone paymentgpofo $105 million upon the successful achievenoéieertain development,
regulatory and commercial milestones, though tbarebe no assurance that we will achieve any roibest We will be
responsible for manufacturing and Pfizer will payfor manufacturing product for clinical developrhand commercialization
purposes. Pfizer will have responsibility for dexmhent, regulatory and commercialization and wal pis tiered royalties on
worldwide commercial sales of MultiStem IBD prodaichlternatively, in lieu of royalties and certaiommercialization
milestones, we may elect to co-develop with Pfagd the parties will share development and comrakzation expenses and
profits/losses on an agreed basis beginning ateplhladinical development.

In connection with our MultiStem collaboration wiétmgiotech, upon the successful achievement ofiipéclinical
development and commercialization milestones, wg atgo receive up to $3.75 million of additionaliéy investments and
$63.75 million of aggregate cash payments, thobghetcan be no assurance that we will achieve alegtones. Under the
terms of the collaboration, the parties are joifitlyding clinical development activity, whereby glieical costs are borne sol
by us, costs for phase | and phase Il clinicalgr@ae borne 50% by us and 50% by Angiotech, dostihe first phase 1lI
clinical trial will be borne 33% by us and 67% bwydiotech, and costs for any phase Ill clinicall&risubsequent to the first
phase Il clinical trial will be borne 25% by uscain5% by Angiotech. We have lead responsibilitydeclinical and early
clinical development and manufacturing of the Matéim product, and Angiotech will take the leadated clinical trials and
commercialization. Late in 2007, the parties beigeshare costs for phase | clinical developmentckvis reconciled quarterly.
As of December 31, 2009, $229,000 was due from étegh representing its share of costs for the foguarter of 2009. Upon
product commercialization, we will receive neargjftof the net profits from the sale of any jointlgveloped, approved
products.

Our collaboration agreement with Bristol-Myers Sifyiwhich was initially established in 2001, is niowits final phase. In
September 2008, Bristol-Myers Squibb successfullyaaced into phase Il clinical development a draigdidate discovered
using a target provided by us, thereby triggerimfjrdcal development milestone payment to us. Werid to continue to
prepare and deliver validated drug targets as melkyg®ristol-Myers Squibb for use in its drug digeoy efforts. We will

remain entitled to receive license fees for targeta/ered to Bristol-Myers Squibb, as well as miitene payments and royalties
on compounds developed by Bristol-Myers Squibbagisiur technology, though there can be no assuithateve will achieve
any milestones or royalties. Beyond 2009, we gpditel that Bristol-Myers Squibb'demand for new targets will be substant
reduced or cease altogether.

Our available-for-sale securities typically includeited States government obligations, commer@glep and corporate debt
securities. As of December 31, 2009, approxima@8B6 of our investments were in United States gaweint obligations,
including government-backed agencies. We have ime@sting conservatively due to the ongoing ecomraronditions and
have prioritized liquidity and the preservationpoincipal in lieu of potentially higher returns. Asresult, we have experienced
no losses on the principal of our investments anctheld our investments until maturity. Also, aligh these unfavorable
market and economic conditions have resulted iacaese to our market capitalization, there has heempairment to the
value of our assets. Our fixed assets are usddtiynal research and development and, therefoee@ impacted by these
external factors.
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We will require substantial additional funding irder to continue our research and product developpregrams, including
preclinical testing and clinical trials of our prard candidates. We expect to have available caimtbour operations through
2011 based on our current business and operafiara and assuming no new financings or signifibaisiness transactions.
Our funding requirements may change at any timetdtechnological advances or competition from pttenpanies. Our
future capital requirements will also depend on atous other factors, including scientific progresseur research and
development programs, additional personnel costgrpss in preclinical testing and clinical trialse time and cost related to
proposed regulatory approvals, if any, and thesciosfiling and prosecuting patent applications antbrcing patent claims. V
cannot assure you that adequate funding will bdahita to us or, if available, that it will be alatle on acceptable terms,
particularly in light of the current credit crisidny shortfall in funding could result in our hagimo curtail our research and
development efforts.

We expect to continue to incur substantial loskesuigh at least the next several years and may lasses in subsequent
periods. The amount and timing of our future losseshighly uncertain. Our ability to achieve ahdreafter sustain
profitability will be dependent upon, among othings, successfully developing, commercializing abthining regulatory
approval or clearances for our technologies andyts resulting from these technologies.

Net cash used in operating activities was $4.6onill$15.7 million and $12.1 million in 2009, 2088d 2007, respectively, a
represented the use of cash in funding clinical@edlinical product development activities. We esfthat net cash used in
operating activities will increase in 2010 in coatien with increased research and development esqseof our MultiStem
clinical trials and our Pfizer and Angiotech cobhations.

Net cash provided by investing activities was $8ilion in 2009 and $16.8 million in 2008. Net casted in investin
activities was $36.4 million in 2007. The fluctuats from period to period are due to the timingafchases and maturity da
of investments and the purchase of equipment. Reeshof equipment were $381,000, $532,000 and ®1®1in 2009, 2008
and 2007, respectively. We expect that our capgaipment expenditures will continue at similardisvin 2010 compared to
20009.

Financing activities neither used nor provided das?009, used cash of $1.8 million in 2008, anavted cash of
$60.2 million in 2007. These fluctuations relater@arily to proceeds from the equity offering in 82007, the issuance of a
convertible promissory note in 2007 to Angioteati] a&epayments of our senior loan.

Investors in the equity offering in June 2007 reedifive-year warrants to purchase an aggregade2&0,000 shares of
common stock with an exercise price of $6.00 pareshThe lead investor in the June offering, Ratfieisture Partners,
invested $10.0 million and received additional fixear warrants to purchase an aggregate of 508/0@@s of common stock
with a cash or cashless exercise price of $6.0GIpere. The placement agents for the June offeeicgjved five-year warrants
to purchase an aggregate of 1,093,525 shares aghoarstock with a cash or cashless exercise pri§® .60 per share. The
exercise of such warrants could provide us withhgasceeds. No warrants have been exercised anibere31, 2009.

Our senior loan was repaid in full in June 2008e Eknior lenders retain a right to receive a nolestpayment of $2.25 million
upon the occurrence of certain events as follotsthe entire amount upon (a) the merger with to another entity where our
stockholders do not hold at least a majority ofwtheng power of the surviving entity, (b) the safeall or substantially all of
our assets, or (c) our liquidation or dissolution(2) a portion of the amount from proceeds ofigdfinancings not tied to
specific research and development activities thapart of a research or development collaboratiowhich case, the senior
lenders will receive an amount equal to 10% of peats above $5.0 million in cumulative gross proseetil the milestone
amount is paid in full. The milestone payment iggide in cash, except that if the milestone eveii2) above, we may elect to
pay 75% of the milestone in shares of common stdtke per-share offering price. No milestone evéiatve occurred as of
December 31, 2009. The senior lenders also recevaednts to purchase 149,026 shares of commoh siitic an exercise
price of $5.00 upon the closing of our equity affgrin June 2007. The exercise of such warrantidqmovide us with cash
proceeds. No warrants were exercised at Decembh&089.
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Our contractual payment obligations as of Decer3tie2009 are as follows:

More
Less Than Than
Contractual Obligations Total 1 Year 1-3Years 3 -5 Years 5 Years

Operating leases for facilities and
equipment leas $ 470,00 $ 384,00( $  86,00( $ — $ —

We lease office and laboratory space under an tipgri@ase and have options to renew the leaserioal increments through
March 2013 at the initial rental rate. We execudptions to renew through March 2011. Also, we lezffiee and laboratory
space for our Belgian subsidiary. The lease exfix=mber 2014 and the annual rent is subjectjtstmaents based on an
inflationary index.

We filed a resale registration statement with tB€Jor 18,508,251 shares of common stock, whicludes all shares of
common stock issued in the equity offering in JBA@7 and shares of common stock issuable uponisgartthe warrants
issued in the offering (as well as the 531,781 eshaf common stock issued to the bridge investodstiae 132,945 shares
underlying their warrants). The resale registratitaiement was declared effective by the SEC onliactl8, 2007. Under the
registration rights agreement entered into in cotioe with the offering, subject to certain exceps, if the resale registration
statement ceases to remain effective, a 1% caditpevill be assessed for each 30-day period tinilregistration statement
becomes effective again, capped at 10% of the ggtgeyross proceeds we received from the equigrioff. Because the
penalty is based on the number of unregisteredestircommon stock held by investors in the offgriour maximum penalty
exposure will decline over time as investors d@litshares of common stock that were includetiéréegistration statement.

Athersys has never paid dividends on its capitadistand all accrued cumulative dividends were iglated in June 2007 in
connection with the merger.

We have no off-balance sheet arrangements.
Critical Accounting Policies and Management Estimags

The SEC defines critical accounting policies as¢hthat are, in management'’s view, important tgtirérayal of our financial
condition and results of operations and demandimganagement’s judgment. Our discussion and arsabfdinancial

condition and results of operation are based or®’ifs’ consolidated financial statements, whicheHasen prepared in
accordance with United States generally acceptedusating principles, or GAAP. The preparation afgb financial statements
requires us to make estimates on experience amdrayus assumptions that we believe are reasonatoler the circumstances,
the results of which form the basis for making jomgnts about the carrying values of assets andifiabithat are not readily
apparent from other sources. Actual results m&erdifom those estimates.

A discussion of the material implications of unaérties associated with the methods, assumptiothgstimates underlying o
critical accounting polices is as follows:

Revenue Recoghnitio

Our license and collaboration agreements may comtaitiple elements, including license and techgglaccess fees, research
and development funding, manufacturing revenue;sloaring, milestones and royalties. The delivesshinder such an
arrangement are evaluated under Accounting Stasdzadification, or ASC, 605-2B/ultiple-Element Arrangemenigwhich
originated primarily from the guidance in EITF 00}20 assess whether they have standalone valuetgective and reliable
evidence of fair value, and if so, are accounted$oa single unit. We then recognize revenuedoh ainit based on the
culmination of the earnings process under ASC 625{&sued as SAB Topic 13) and our estimated padace period for the
single units of accounting based on the specifiti$eof each collaborative agreement. We subsequadilist the estimated
performance periods, if appropriate, on a prospediasis based upon available facts and circumssafeiture changes in
estimates of the performance period may materiadpact the timing of future revenue recognized. Aimis received prior to
satisfying the revenue recognition criteria for ttaot revenues are recorded as deferred reverthe sccompanying balance
sheets. Reimbursement amounts (other than thosersted for using collaboration accounting) paidiscare recorded on a
gross basis in the statements of operations asagbmevenues.
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We entered into a collaboration agreement withe?fia December 2009 that contains multiple elemantsdeliverables. For a
description of the collaboration agreement anddéstermination of contract revenues, see Note Eit@onsolidated financial
statements included in this annual report on FobrK1

Also included in contract revenue are license feesived from Bristol-Myers Squibb, which are sfieally set forth in the
license and collaboration agreement as amountsodue based on our completion of certain tasks,(dadivery and acceptance
of a cell line) and development milestones (elinjaal trial phases), and as such, are not bagesstimates that are susceptible
to change. Such amounts are invoiced and recoslegivanue as tasks are completed and as milesiomeshieved.

Similarly, grant revenue consists of funding unciest reimbursement programs primarily from fedaral state sources for
qualified research and development activities peréal by us, and as such, are not based on estithatesre susceptible to
change. Such amounts are invoiced (unless prepadijecorded as revenue as tasks are completed.

Collaborative Arrangements

Collaborative arrangements that involve cost aureiprofit sharing are reviewed to determine thengeof the arrangement a
the nature of the collaborative parties’ businesgbhe arrangements are also reviewed to deterrhoreeiparty has sole or
primary responsibility for an activity, or whethtbie parties have shared responsibility for thevigtilf responsibility for an
activity is shared and there is no principal pattign the related costs of that activity are reeaghby us on a net basis in the
statement of operations (e.g., total cost, lesabvarsement from collaborator). If we are deemeletthe principal party for an
activity, then the costs and revenues associatétdthat activity are recognized on a gross basikérstatement of operations.
The accounting may be susceptible to change ifiithere of a collaborat@’business changes. Currently, our only collabam
accounted for on a net basis is our cost-shariighzmation with Angiotech.

Clinical Trial Costs

Clinical trial costs are accrued based on workgreréd by outside contractors who manage and pettoertrials. We obtain
initial estimates of total costs based on enrolleérsubjects, project management estimates aret atfivities. Actual costs
are typically charged to us and recognized asablestare completed by the contractor. Accruedadliriiial costs may be
subject to revisions as clinical trials progress] any revisions are recorded in the period in wile facts that give rise to the
revisions become known. Since such actual costypigally invoiced as incurred or based on cortralcamounts for services
rendered, the amounts are generally not suscepdilsignificant changes in estimates.

Investments in Availabl-for-Sale Securities

We determine the appropriate classification of gtreent securities at the time of purchase and aéiate such designation as
of each balance sheet date. Our investments tyypimahsist primarily of United States governmenligdtions, commercial
paper and corporate debt securities, which arsifiled as available-for-sale and are valued baseguoted prices in active
markets for identical assets (Level 1). Availalde-$ale securities are carried at fair value, whithunrealized gains and losses,
net of tax, reported as a component of accumulaiteel comprehensive income. The amortized cosebf securities is
adjusted for amortization of premiums and accretibdiscounts to maturity. Such amortization orration is included in
interest income. Realized gains and losses onadtaifor-sale securities are included in interesbime. The cost of securities
sold is based on the specific identification metHaterest earned on securities classified as aviailfor-sale is included in
interest income. Since the elements related touatow for these investments are reflected on ngmstiatements, the amounts
are not based on estimates that are susceptibleatge. None of our financial assets are in matketsare not active.
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Stock-Based Compensation

We recognize stock-based compensation expenseeatright-line method and use a Black-Schole®pgiricing model to
estimate the grant-date fair value of share-baseuds. The expected term of options granted reptéle period of time that
option grants are expected to be outstanding. Wehes“simplified"method to calculate the expected life of optiomtgayiver
our limited history and determine volatility by ngithe historical stock volatility of other compeasiwith similar characteristic
Estimates of fair value are not intended to prediattial future events or the value ultimately m=adiby persons who receive
equity awards.

Forfeitures are estimated at the time of grantrantsed, if necessary, in subsequent periods ifahd¢orfeitures differ from
those estimates and if our expectations on forfestehanges. If actual forfeitures vary from thiineete, we will recognize the
difference in compensation expense in the periedattiual forfeitures occur or when options vest.

All of the aforementioned estimates and assumptwa®valuated on a quarterly basis and may chaségcts and
circumstances warrant. Changes in these assumpgidonsaterially affect the estimate of the faineabf our share-based
payments and the related amount recognized inicamndial statements.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In December 2007, the Financial Accounting Stansl&alard, or FASB, issued guidance (issued as E33&el No. OTL) relater
to accounting for collaborative arrangements cedifn ASC 808Collaborative ArrangementsThe effective date of the
guidance was January 1, 2009 for calendar year aniep with retrospective application required fbpariods presented for
collaborative arrangements existing as of the &ffedate. ASC 808 requires certain disclosurested|to collaborative
arrangements where parties are active participardexposed to significant risks and rewards degr@noh the commercial
success of the activity. The adoption of the newdance did not have a material impact on our fiferstatements because our
accounting for our collaborative agreement with itech was consistent with the standard’s provision

In June 2008, the FASB issued clarifying guidansgued as EITF Issue No. Bfrelated to determining whether an instrun
is indexed to an entity’s own stock, codified in@815,Derivative and Hedging The new guidance was effective for us on
January 1, 2009. The adoption of the new guidaadeno impact on our financial statements.

In April 2009, the FASB issued guidance (issue&tadf Position FAS 115-2 and FAS 124-2) relatetheorecognition and
presentation of other-than-temporary impairmeridjfied in ASC 320|nvestments-Debt and Equity Securitid$e guidance
requires, among other things, that other-ttemporary impairments be separated into the amr@gognized in earnings and
amount recognized in other comprehensive income.giiidance was effective for us on June 30, 2088.adoption of the
new guidance had no impact on our financial statésne

In April 2009, the FASB issued additional guidarfissued as FSP 15%)-related to determining fair value when the vaduamc
level of activity for the asset or liability hageificantly decreased in relation to normal maketivity and required additional
disclosures about fair value measurements in arangalnterim reporting periods, which was codifiedASC 820,Fair Value
Measurements and Disclosul. The standard also provides guidance on circurostathat mayndicate that a transaction is |
orderly. This additional guidance within ASC 820snedfective for us on June 30, 2009. The adoptfaheadditional guidanc
had no impact on our financial statements.

In May 2009, the FASB issued additional guidanssyéd as SFAS No. 165), codified in ASC 85&hsequent Eventglated

to subsequent events and provides authoritativeagice regarding subsequent events as this guideascpreviously only
addressed in auditing literature. The additionddignce was effective for us on June 30, 2009 anddbption had no impact on
our financial statements.
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In May 2008, the FASB issued guidance (issued af§ Bosition APB 14-1) related to accounting foneertible debt that may
be settled in cash upon conversion, codified in ASQ-20,Debt with Conversion and Other Optionghe new guidance
requires the issuer of certain convertible deltrimsents that may be settled in cash on convetsiseparately account for the
liability and equity components in a manner thélers the issuer’s nonconvertible debt borrowiater We have no current
convertible debt instruments, and concluded tHaifadur prior instruments were not within the seayf the new guidance;
therefore, there was no retrospective effect froenadoption of the new guidance on our financetieshents.

In September 2009, ASC 605-2Multiple-Element Arrangementsvas updated (ASU No. 2009-13) related to revenue
recognition for arrangements with multiple elemeiitse new guidance is effective for our annual repo Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2010, however, early amofgtipermitted provided that the new guidancetsoactively applied t
the beginning of the year of adoption. We haveyettevaluated the potential effect of the futuregbn of this new guidance.

CAUTIONARY NOTE ON FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This annual report on Form 10-K contains forwaraking statements within the meaning of the PriGeeurities Litigation
Reform Act of 1995 that involve risks and uncettai These forwarlooking statements relate to, among other thiriges,
expected timetable for development of our prodantiiates, our growth strategy, and our future fioial performance,
including our operations, economic performanceafiicial condition, prospects, and other future esekife have attempted to
identify forward-looking statements by using sucids as “anticipates,” “believes,” “can,” “continug” “could,”

“estimates,” “expects,” “intends,” “may,” “plans,” “potential,” “should,” “will,” or other similar exp ressions. These
forward-looking statements are only predictions and argddy based on our current expectations. Thesedmtvilooking

statements appear in a number of places in thisiahreport.

”u ” o (LT

In addition, a number of known and unknown risks;artainties, and other factors could affect thaueacy of these statemer
Some of the more significant known risks that weefare the risks and uncertainties inherent iptbeess of discovering,
developing, and commercializing products that afe and effective for use as human therapeutickjding the uncertainty
regarding market acceptance of our product canesdatd our ability to generate revenues. The fatigwisks and
uncertainties may cause our actual results, lexfastivity, performance, or achievements to diffeaterially from any future
results, levels of activity, performance, or acki@ents expressed or implied by these forward-lapktatements:

« the possibility of delays in, adverse results af arcessive costs of the development proc

« changes in external market factc

e changes in our indusf’'s overall performance

e changes in our business strate

e our ability to protect our intellectual propertyrgolio;

* our possible inability to realize commercialljjuable discoveries in our collaborations with phaceutical and other
biotechnology companie

e our ability to meet milestones under our collabiorangreements

e our possible inability to execute our strategy thuehanges in our industry or the economy gener
e changes in productivity and reliability of suppsg

«  the success of our competitors and the emergeneevotompetitors; an

* the risks mentioned elsewhere in this annual repader Iltem 1A“Risk Factor¢”
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Although we currently believe that the expectatioeffected in the forward-looking statements agesomable, we cannot
guarantee our future results, levels of activitperformance. We undertake no obligation to pupligldate forward-looking
statements, whether as a result of new informafigare events or otherwise, except as otherwigeired by law. You are
advised, however, to consult any further disclosuve make on related subjects in our reports omEdi0-Q, 8-K and 10-K
furnished to the SEC. You should understand thatribt possible to predict or identify all riskcfars. Consequently, you
should not consider any such list to be a com@etef all potential risks or uncertainties.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARK  ET RISK

Interest Rate Risl

Our exposure to interest rate risk is related toitmeestment portfolio and our borrowings. Fixeteravestments and
borrowings may have their fair market value advgrsapacted from changes in interest rates. Duygairt to these factors, our
future investment income may fall short of expeote. Further, we may suffer losses in investmeinicipal if we are forced t
sell securities that have declined in market value to changes in interest rates. We invest owgssxcash primarily in debt
instruments of the United States government anaigéncies, commercial paper and corporate debtisesuAs of

December 31, 2009, approximately 83% of our investisiwere in United States government obligatiomduding
government-backed agencies. We have been invasimggervatively due to the current economic condgjaoncluding the
current credit crisis, and have prioritized liqtydand the preservation of principal in lieu of @atially higher returns. As a
result, we have experienced no losses on the pahof our investments.

We enter into loan arrangements with financialiindbns when needed and when available to us. &idinber 31, 2009, we
had no borrowings outstanding.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Athersys, Inc.
Years Ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounfinm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Athersys, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of Athersys, Inc. as of December 31, 2662008, and the
related consolidated statements of operationskistdders’ equity and cash flows for each of theéhyears in the period ended
December 31, 2009. These financial statementdhareesponsibility of the Company’s management. i@sponsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statemersisdoan our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighaBioUnited States).
Those standards require that we plan and perfoenatidit to obtain reasonable assurance about whe#hénancial statemen
are free of material misstatement. We were notgagido perform an audit of the Company’s intermaitml over financial
reporting. Our audits included consideration oéinal control over financial reporting as a basisdesigning audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, bufardhe purpose of expressing an opinion on thectiffeness of the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting. Accordly, we express no such opinion. An audit inclueeamining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosurégifinancial statements, assessing the accouptingiples used and
significant estimates made by management, and auaduthe overall financial statement presentatie. believe that our
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial stateteageferred to above present fairly, in all matenégpects, the consolidated
financial position of Athersys, Inc. at December 2009 and 2008, and the consolidated results @fgerations and its cash
flows for each of the three years in the periodeghDecember 31, 2009, in conformity with U. S. gatg accepted accounting
principles.

Cleveland, Ohic /s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLF
March 11, 201(
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Athersys, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(In Thousands, Except Share and Per Share Amounts)

December 31

2009 2008

Assets
Current asset:

Cash and cash equivalel $ 11,16 $ 12,55:

Available-for-sale securitie 10,13¢ 15,46(

Accounts receivabl 352 26C

Receivable from Angiotec 22¢ 234

Investment interest receivak 93 18¢

Prepaid expenses and otl 17z 40¢
Total current asse 22,14¢ 29,10:
Available-for-sale securitie 5,08( 3,601
Deposits and othe 38 15€
Equipment, ne 84¢ 701
Equity investment 21F 31€
Total asset $ 28,33 $ 33,87
Liabilities and stockholders’ equity
Current liabilities:

Accounts payabl $ 1,12¢ $ 1,49¢

Accrued compensation and related ben: 667 97

Accrued clinical trial cost 83 58

Accrued expense 857 603

Deferred revenu 3,12: 58
Total current liabilities 5,85¢ 2,31«
Deferred revenu 3,51¢ —
Stockholder' equity:

Preferred stock, at stated value; 10,000,000 slkautt®rized, and no shares issued ar

outstanding at December 31, 2009 and December08B — —
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 100,000,000 slardg®rized, 18,929,333 and

18,927,988 shares issued and outstanding at Dec&tp2009 and December 31,

2008, respectivel 19 19
Additional paic-in capital 212,70 209,89!
Accumulated other comprehensive inca 71 12C
Accumulated defici (193,83) (178,47)

Total stockholder equity 18,951 31,56:
Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity $ 28,33 $ 33,87

See accompanying notes.
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Athersys, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Operations
(In Thousands, Except Share and Per Share Amounts)

Year Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007

Revenues
Contract revenu $ 1,07¢ $ 1,88( $ 1,43¢
Grant revenu 1,08( 1,22¢ 1,82

Total revenue 2,15¢ 3,10t 3,26(
Costs and expenses
Research and development (including stock compiemsexpense of

$1,296, $727 and $2,468 in 2009, 2008 and 200@eotively) 11,92( 16,50( 15,811
General and administrative (including stock compéna expense of

$1,512, $1,129 and $2,671 in 2009, 2008 and 2@3perctively, 5,621 5,47¢ 7,97¢
Depreciatior 233 21¢ 283

Total costs and expens 17,774 22,19; 24,07
Loss from operation (15,61%) (19,099 (20,81Y)
Other (expense) income, r (12¢) 48 2,017
Interest incom 37¢ 1,14¢ 1,591
Interest expens — (94) (1,269
Accretion of premium on convertible de — — (45€)
Net loss $ (15366 $ (17,999 $ (18,920
Preferred stock dividenc — — (659)
Deemed dividend resulting from induced conversiboomvertible

preferred stocl — — (4,800)
Net loss attributable to common stockholder: $ (15366 $ (17,99) $ (24,38Yy
Basic and diluted net loss per common share attriliable to common

stockholders $ (0.8) % (0.95) $ (2.26)
Weighted average shares outstanding, basic and dikd 18,928,37 18,927,98 10,811,11

See accompanying notes.
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Athersys, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equityfi(itg

(In Thousands, Except Share Amounts)

Convertible Accumulated Total
Preferred Stock Common Stock  Additional Other Stockholder¢
Number Stated Number Par Paid-in Treasury Comprehensive Accumulated Equity
of Shares Value of Shares Value Capital Stock Income (Loss) Deficit (Deficit)
Balance at January 1, 20 364,52: $ 68,30 293,770 $ — $ 5349 $ (250 $ — $ (141,55) $ (20,007)
Stock based
compensatiol — — — — 5,13¢ — — — 5,13¢
Accrued dividends —
Class C — — — — (659) — — — (65%)

Elimination of

cumulative accrued

dividends— Class C — — — — 9,541 — — — 9,541
Conversion of preferrec

stock to common

stock (364,529 (68,30) 1,912,35 2 68,29¢ — — — —
Issuance of common

stock from warrant

exercises — — 1,003,19 1 9 — — — 10
Retirement of treasury
stock — — — — (250) 25C — — —

Shares of common stock
for merger with

BTHC VI, Inc. — — 299,62. — — — — —
Issuance of common

stock, net of expens — — 13,001,37 13 58,47¢ — — — 58,49:
Issuance of common

stock warrant: — — — — 492 — — — 49z

Issuance of common
stock for conversion

of convertible note — — 241767 3 13,49¢ — — — 13,491
Comprehensive los
Net loss — — — — — — — (18,92¢) (18,92¢)

Unrealized gain on
available-for- sale

securities — — — — — — 52 — 52

Total comprehensive lo (18,87¢)
Balance at December 31,

2007 — — 18,927,98 19 208,03¢ — 52 (160,479 47,63!
Stock based

compensatiol — — — — 1,85¢€ — — — 1,85¢
Comprehensive los
Net loss — — — — — — — (17,997) (17,997

Unrealized gain on
available-for-sale

securities — — — — — — 68 — 68

Total comprehensive lo (17,92¢)
Balance at December 31

2008 — — 18,927,98 19 209,89! — 12C (178,477 31,56
Stock based

compensatiol — — — — 2,80¢ — — — 2,80¢
Issuance of common

stock — — 1,34¢ — 1 — — — 1
Comprehensive los
Net loss — — — — — — — (15,36¢) (15,36¢)

Unrealized loss on
available-for-sale

securities — — — — — — (49 — (49

Total comprehensive lo (15,41%)
Balance at December 31

2009 — — 18,929,33 19 212,70 — 71 (193,83) 18,95

See accompanying notes.
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Athersys, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In Thousands)

Year Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007
Operating activities
Net loss $ (15366 $ (17,999 $ (18,92¢
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating activities
Depreciatior 238 21¢ 28¢
Gain on sale of equipme (22) (24) —
Accretion of premium on convertible de — — 45€
Provision on notes receivak — 74 193
Earned milestone applied to note receivi — — 28¢
Stocl-based compensatic 2,80¢ 1,85¢ 5,13¢
Expense related to warrants issued to len — 16 47€
Amortization of premium (discount) on availabler-&ale securities
and othel 30& 12 (52
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Accounts receivabl (92 61€ 111
Receivable from Angiotec 5 177 (63)
Prepaid expenses and other as 44¢ 17¢ (55¢)
Accounts payable and accrued expet 47¢ (467) 50¢&
Deferred revenu 6,581 (29) 87
Net cash used in operating activit (4,619 (15,712 (12,06¢)
Investing activities
Purchase of availat-for-sale securitie (11,697 (26,599 (46,316
Proceeds from maturities of availa-for-sale securitie 15,30( 43,91° 10,10(
Investment in private-held compan (14) — —
Proceeds from sale of equipm 21 24 —
Purchases of equipme (387) (532) (1617)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activi 3,23¢ 16,81¢ (36,377
Financing activities
Principal payments on de — (2,800 (3,332
Proceeds from convertible promissory nc — — 5,00(
Proceeds from issuance of common stock — — 58,49
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activi — (1,800 60,16
(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equiv: (1,385 (69¢€) 11,72(
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of 12,55: 13,24¢ 1,52¢
Cash and cash equivalents at end of - $ 11,16; $ 1255 $  13,24¢

See accompanying notes.
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Athersys, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A. Background, Merger and Offering

We are a biopharmaceutical company engaged iniseewvery and development of therapeutic productsimbusiness
segment. Operations consist primarily of reseanthpgoduct development activities.

On June 8, 2007, our subsidiary, which was theneabfithersys, Inc. (“Old Athersys”), effected a margto a wholly-owned
subsidiary of a public company (the “Merger”). Tingblic company, BTHC VI, Inc. (“BTHC VI”), was a sh corporation with
no assets, liabilities or operations as of the datee Merger. Upon completion of the Merger, tfficers and directors of Old
Athersys assumed control over the operations of 8 M and Old Athersys’ operations became the eplerations of BTHC
VI on a consolidated basis. In August 2007, BTHCcKanged its name to Athersys, Inc. (the “Compamyus”).

Prior to the consummation of the Merger, Old Atlysrsompleted a restructuring of its capital staekich included the
conversion of its preferred stock into shares af 8thersys’ common stock, termination of certairrnaats and the elimination
of accrued dividends. As a result, immediately praothe consummation of the Merger, all conveetipteferred stock
(including termination of warrants and eliminatioihaccrued dividends) was converted into 53,341 stafes of common sto
and then exchanged for 1,912,356 shares of BTHEoWimon stock using the Merger exchange ratio 3%8@93. The chan
to the conversion ratios of the convertible prefdrstock was deemed to be an induced conversidohwésulted in a

$4.8 million deemed dividend and an increase tottdoss attributable to common stockholders meJ2007.

BTHC VI's acquisition of Old Athersys effected aartge in control and was accounted for as a reaagaisition whereby Old
Athersys is the accounting acquirer for financtatement purposes. Accordingly, our financial stegsts as presented reflect
the historical results of Old Athersys and do matude the historical financial results of BTHC pior to the consummation
the Merger.

Immediately after the Merger, we completed an affgof 13,000,000 shares of common stock for neteeds of $58.5 millic
(the “Offering”). The Offering included the issuanef warrants to purchase 3,250,000 shares of caonstoek to the investors
with an exercise price of $6.00 and a fixear term. We also issued warrants to purchas®80&hares of common stock to
lead investor and warrants to purchase 1,093,5&feslof common stock to the placement agents,idilam exercise price of
$6.00.
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Athersys, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (coatihu
A. Background, Merger and Offering, continued

Upon the closing of the Offering, bridge investlsmn 2006 also received five-year warrants to paseh132,945 shares of
common stock at $6.00 per share, which terms wanmsistent with the warrants issued to new investotse Offering.

We filed a resale registration statement with tB€Jor 18,508,251 shares of common stock, whicludes all shares of
common stock issued in the Offering and share®wifnaon stock issuable upon exercise of the wariast®d in the Offering
(as well as the 531,781 shares of common stockdstuthe bridge investors and the 132,945 sharésrlying their warrants).
The resale registration statement was declaredtaféeby the SEC on October 18, 2007. Under thelmse agreement for the
Offering, subject to certain exceptions, if thealegegistration statement ceases to remain eftedi 1% cash penalty will be
assessed for each 30-day period until the registratatement becomes effective again, capped%tdf@Ghe aggregate gross
proceeds received in the Offering. Because thelfyeisebased on the number of unregistered shdresromon stock held by
investors in the Offering, our maximum penalty esqp@ will decline over time as investors sell thabiares of common stock
that were included in the registration statement.

In 2007, Old Athersys sold certain non-core tecbhgglrelated to its asthma drug discovery prograim pharmaceutical
company for $2.0 million, which was recognized amin on the sale in other income in 2007.

B. Accounting Policies
Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include eapants and results of operations and those oivbotly owned subsidiaries.
All intercompany accounts and transactions have leéminated in consolidation. Investments in joiehtures are accounted
for using the equity method when we do not corttielinvestee, but have the ability to exerciseifigmt influence over the
investee’s operations and financial policies.
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Athersys, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (coatihu
B. Accounting Policies, continued
Revenue Recognition

Our license and collaboration agreements may comtaitiple elements, including license and techgglaccess fees, research
and development funding, manufacturing revenue;sloaring, milestones and royalties. The delivesshinder such an
arrangement are evaluated under Accounting Stasd2odification (*“ASC”) 605-25Multiple-Element Arrangementgwhich
originated primarily from the guidance in EITF 00}20 assess whether they have standalone valuetgective and reliable
evidence of fair value, and if so, are accounted$oa single unit. We then recognize revenuedoh ainit based on the
culmination of the earnings process under ASC 62h{%sued as SAB Topic 13) and our estimated padace period for the
single units of accounting based on the specifiti$eof each collaborative agreement. We subsequadilist the estimated
performance periods, if appropriate, on a prospediasis based upon available facts and circumssafeiture changes in
estimates of the performance period may materiadpact the timing of future revenue recognized. Aimis received prior to
satisfying the revenue recognition criteria for itant revenues are recorded as deferred reverthe eccompanying balance
sheets. Reimbursement amounts (other than thosersted for using collaboration accounting) paidiscare recorded on a
gross basis in the statements of operations asambmévenues

We entered into a collaboration agreement withePfilnc. (“Pfizer”) in December 2009 that containsltiple elements and
deliverables. For a description of the collaboratgreement and the determination of contract iega®rsee Note |

Also included in contract revenue are license feesived from Bristol-Myers Squibb, which are sfieally set forth in the
license and collaboration agreement as amountsodug based on our completion of certain tasks,(dedivery and acceptance
of a cell line) and development milestones (elinjaal trial phases), and as such, are not basesstimates that are susceptible
to change. Such amounts are invoiced and recoslegivanue as tasks are completed and as milesiomeshieved.

Similarly, grant revenue consists of funding undest reimbursement programs primarily from fedarad state sources for

qualified research and development activities paréal by us, and as such, are not based on estithatesre susceptible to
change. Such amounts are invoiced (unless prepadijecorded as revenue as tasks are completed.

-B5-




Table of Contents

Athersys, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (coatihu
B. Accounting Policies, continued
Cash and Cash Equivalents

We consider all highly liquid investments with atority of three months or less when purchased todsh equivalents. Cash
equivalents are primarily invested in money mafatls and commercial paper. The carrying amououofcash equivalents
approximates fair value due to the short maturitthe investments.

Research and Development

Research and development expenditures, which a¢qngisarily of costs associated with external daliand preclinical study
fees, manufacturing costs, salaries and relatexbpeel costs, legal expenses resulting from irgielid property application
processes, and laboratory supply and reagent ¢oslisding direct and allocated overhead experagscharged to expense as
incurred.

Collaborative Arrangements

Collaborative arrangements that involve cost aurieiiprofit sharing are reviewed to determine thieingeof the arrangement a
the nature of the collaborative parties’ businesgbhe arrangements are also reviewed to deterrhoreeiparty has sole or
primary responsibility for an activity, or whethtbie parties have shared responsibility for thevigtilf responsibility for an
activity is shared and there is no principal pattign the related costs of that activity are recaghby us on a net basis in the
statement of operations (e.g., total cost, lesabvarsement from collaborator). If we are deemeletthe principal party for an
activity, then the costs and revenues associatétthat activity are recognized on a gross basikérstatement of operations.
The accounting may be susceptible to change ifiithere of a collaborat@’business changes. Currently, our only collabam
accounted for on a net basis is our cost-shariighmration with Angiotech Pharmaceuticals, InArgiotech”).

Clinical Trial Costs

Clinical trial costs are accrued based on workgreréd by outside contractors, who manage and pertioe trials. We obtain
initial estimates of total costs based on enrolleérsubjects, project management estimates aret atfivities. Actual costs
are typically charged to us and recognized asablestare completed by the contractor. Accruedadliriiial costs may be
subject to revisions as clinical trials progresg] any revisions are recorded in the period in Wiie facts that give rise to the
revisions become known.
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Royalties

We may be required to make royalty payments t@mgefarties based on product sales under licenseemgnts. We did not
pay any royalties during the three-year period dridecember 31, 2009.

Investments in Available-for-Sale Securities

We determine the appropriate classification of gtreent securities at the time of purchase and aéiate such designation as
of each balance sheet date. Our investments typimahsist of U.S. government obligations, commedrpaper and corporate
debt securities, which are classified as availéesale and are valued based on quoted pricestiveanarkets for identical
assets (Level 1). Available-for-sale securities@eied at fair value, with the unrealized gaind fsses, net of applicable tax,
reported as a component of accumulated other cdrapséve income. The amortized cost of debt seeariti adjusted for
amortization of premiums and accretion of discotmtsaturity. Such amortization or accretion idudged in interest income.
Realized gains and losses on available-for-salergies are included in interest income. The cdstezurities sold is based on
the specific identification method. Interest earnadsecurities classified as available-for-saladétuded in interest income.
None of our financial assets are in markets thanat active

Long-Lived Assets

Equipment is stated at acquired cost less accuatuti#preciation. Laboratory and office equipmeatdepreciated on the
straight-line basis over the estimated useful lfteeee to seven years).

Longived assets are evaluated for impairment whentsvanchanges in circumstances indicate that thiging amount of th
asset or related group of assets may not be remioleeilf the expected future undiscounted cashdlare less than the carrying
amount of the asset, an impairment loss is recedrét that time. Measurement of impairment maydsed upon appraisal,
market value of similar assets or discounted clastst

In connection primarily with a settlement that azed in 2003 and a milestone that was achieve®@62we and an affiliate
own preferred stock in a privately-held companyhveih aggregate value of approximately $300,000eWuated this cost-
method investment and deemed the investment tohae-than-temporarily impaired at December 31, 2088ognizing
$115,000 of impairment loss in 2009. No impairmiesses were recorded in 2008 or 2007.
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Patent Costs and Rights
Costs of prosecuting and maintaining patents atehpaights are expensed as incurred. As of DeceBihe2009, we have file
for broad intellectual property protection on ovogrietary technologies. We currently have numetdi& patent applications
and corresponding international patent applicatreteted to our technologies, as well as many &l&. and international
patents.

Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Unrealized gains and losses on our available-fiar-securities are the only components of accumdilatieer comprehensive
income (loss). Total comprehensive income or lestisclosed in the consolidated statement of stdiens’ equity (deficit).

Concentration of Credit Risk

Accounts receivable are subject to concentraticeredit risk due to the absence of a large numbeustomers. At
December 31, 2008, one customer accounted for 3dcounts receivable. We do not require collatioeh our customers.

Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in confeymiith accounting principles generally acceptethia United States requires

management to make estimates and assumptiondfizitthe amounts reported in the financial stateimiand accompanying
notes. Actual results could differ from those esties.
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Stock-Based Compensation

We recognize stock-based compensation expenseatrtight-line method and use a Black-Schole®ogiricing model to
estimate the grant-date fair value of share-basedds. The expected term of options granted repteke period of time that
option grants are expected to be outstanding. Wehes“simplified"method to calculate the expected life of optiomtgayiver
our limited history and determine volatility by ngithe historical stock volatility of other compasiwith similar characteristic
Estimates of fair value are not intended to prealatual future events or the value ultimately m=diby persons who receive
equity awards.

Forfeitures are estimated at the time of grantrentsed, if necessary, in subsequent periods ifshdorfeitures differ from
those estimates. If actual forfeitures vary from éstimate, we recognize the difference in comg&msaxpense in the period
the actual forfeitures occur or when options vest.

All of the aforementioned estimates and assumptimasvaluated on a quarterly basis and may chaségcts and
circumstances warrant. Changes in these assumpgi@onsaterially affect the estimate of the faineabf our share-based
payments and the related amount recognized inicamndial statements

The following weighted-average input assumptionsawesed in determining the fair value:

December 31,

2009 2008 2007
Volatility 89.5% 69.6% 73.4%
Risk-free interest rat 2.4% 3.0% 5.3%
Expected life of optiol 5.01 years 5.09 year: 5.36 year:
Expected dividend yiel 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Income Taxes

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are determbeesed on the differences between the financialrtieyggoand tax basis of assets
and liabilities and are measured using the taxaatkelaws currently in effect. We evaluate our defttincome taxes to
determine if a valuation allowance should be e&hbt against the deferred tax assets or if theatiah allowance should be
reduced based on consideration of all availabldenge, both positive and negative, using a “mdedylithan not’ standard.
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We had no liability for uncertain income tax pasits as of December 31, 2009 and 2008. Our polity iecognize potential
accrued interest and penalties related to thelitipfior uncertain tax benefits, if applicable,imcome tax expense. Net operal
loss and credit carryforwards since inception renagien to examination by taxing authorities, antllfaf a period post
utilization.

Net Loss per Share

We compute basic and diluted net loss per shangtise weighted-average number of common stockandg during the
period. The change to the conversion ratios ottrevertible preferred stock in June 2007 represkeateinduced conversion,
which resulted in a deemed dividend in the amo@i$d8 million that was included in determining thet loss attributable to
common stockholders in 2007.

We have outstanding options and warrants that hatbeen used in the calculation of diluted ne$ josr share because their
effects would be anti-dilutive. Therefore, the nuater and the denominator used in computing bosictend diluted net loss
per share are equal. The following instruments veaduded from the calculation of diluted net Ipss share attributable to
common stockholders because their effects werdiauive:

«  Outstanding stock options to purchase 4,001,34%8,473 and 3,679,884 shares of common stoakéoyears
ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respsgt

e Warrants to purchase 5,125,496 shares of commak &ioeach the years ended December 31, 2009, 2002007

e Shares of common stock issuable upon conversigorofertible preferred stock in the amount of 16Q,t the yea
ended December 31, 2007; ¢

e Shares of common stock issuable upon the comreddiconvertible promissory notes in the amourit1i#,098 for
the year ended December 31, 2C
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Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In December 2007, the Financial Accounting Stansl@&alard (“FASB”) issued guidance (issued as EIHudsNo. 07t) relatet
to accounting for collaborative arrangements, éediin ASC 808Collaborative ArrangementsThe effective date of the
guidance was January 1, 2009 for calendar year aniep with retrospective application required fbpariods presented for
collaborative arrangements existing as of the &ffeaate. ASC 808 requires certain disclosurestedlto collaborative
arrangements where parties are active particigartsexposed to significant risks and rewards degrgnoh the commercial
success of the activity. The adoption of the newlapuce did not have a material impact on our firerstatements because our
accounting for our collaborative agreement with idtech was consistent with the standard’s provision

In June 2008, the FASB issued clarifying guidanssugd as EITF Issue No. Bfrelated to determining whether an instrun
is indexed to an entity’s own stock, codified in@815,Derivative and Hedging The new guidance was effective for us on
January 1, 2009. The adoption of the new guidaadenio impact on our financial statements.

In April 2009, the FASB issued guidance (issue&tadf Position FAS 115-2 and FAS 124-2) relateth®recognition and
presentation of other-than-temporary impairmerasifeed in ASC 320|nvestments-Debt and Equity Securiti@$he guidance
requires, among other things, that other-ttemporary impairments be separated into the anmr@eognized in earnings and-
amount recognized in other comprehensive income.dttidance was effective for us on June 30, 2088.a0option of the
new guidance had no impact on our financial statésne

In April 2009, the FASB issued additional guidafissued as FSP 15¥)-related to determining fair value when the vatuamc
level of activity for the asset or liability hageificantly decreased in relation to normal maketivity and required additional
disclosures about fair value measurements in arandgalnterim reporting periods, which was codifisdASC 820,Fair Value
Measurements and Disclosur. The standard also provides guidance on circurostathat may indicate that a transaction i
orderly. This additional guidance within ASC 820sn&ffective for us on June 30, 2009. The adoptfaheadditional guidanc
had no impact on our financial statements.

In May 2009, the FASB issued additional guidanssyéd as SFAS No. 165), codified in ASC 858hsequent Eventglated

to subsequent events and provides authoritativdagee regarding subsequent events as this guisaspreviously only
addressed in auditing literature. The additionddignce was effective for us on June 30, 2009 anddbption had no impact on
our financial statements.
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In May 2008, the FASB issued guidance (issued af§ Bosition APB 14-1) related to accounting foneertible debt that may
be settled in cash upon conversion, codified in A3C-20,Debt with Conversion and Other Optionghe new guidance
requires the issuer of certain convertible delrimsents that may be settled in cash on convetsiseparately account for the
liability and equity components in a manner thélerts the issuer’s nonconvertible debt borrowiater We have no current
convertible debt instruments, and concluded tHaifadur prior instruments were not within the seayf the new guidance;
therefore, there was no retrospective effect froeadoption of the new guidance on our financetieshents.

In September 2009, ASC 605-2ultiple-Element Arrangementsvas updated (ASU No. 2009-13) related to revenue
recognition for arrangements with multiple elemefitse new guidance is effective for our annual repo Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2010, however, early amoftipermitted provided that the new guidancetsoactively applied t
the beginning of the year of adoption. We haveymbtevaluated the potential effect of the futuremibn of this new guidance.

Reclassifications

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassifiedbbform with current year presentations.

C. Equipment
December 31
Equipment consists of (in thousanc 2009 2008
Laboratory equipmer $ 6,262 $ 6,04¢
Office equipment and leasehold improveme 3,63¢ 3,607
9,901 9,652
Accumulated depreciatic (9,052) (8,957
$ 84¢ $ 701
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Investments in Availak-for-Sale Securities
Our available-for-sale securities typically includes. government obligations, commercial paperargorate debt securities.
As of December 31, 2009, approximately 83% of auestments were in U.S. government obligationscivimcluded
government-backed agencies.
We classify the inputs used to measure fair vaite the following hierarchy:
Level 1 Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets fortidahassets or liabilities
Level z Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets fimilar assets or liabilities, or unadjusted quotedgs for identical or
similar assets or liabilities in markets that ao¢ active, or inputs other than quoted prices #énatobservable for the
asset or liability

Level  Unobservable inputs for the asset or liabil

The following table provides a summary of the ficiahassets and liabilities measured at fair valne recurring basis as of
December 31, 2009 (in thousands):

Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2009 Using

Quoted Prices in Active Significant Other Significant
Balance as o Markets for Identical Observable Inputs Unobservable
Description December 31, 20C Assets (Level 1) (Level 2) Inputs (Level 3)
Available-for-sale securite  $ 15,21t $ 15,21 $ = $ —

Fair value is based upon quoted market pricestimeamarkets. We had no Level 2 or Level 3 asseBeaember 31, 2009. We
review and reassess the fair value hierarchy ¢leasons on a quarterly basis. Changes from oratquto the next related to
the observability of inputs to a fair value measueat may result in a reclassification between hétralevels.
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The following is a summary of available-for-salewsties (in thousands) at December 31, 2009 af@ 2@spectively:

Gross Gross Estimated
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
Cost Losses Gains Value
December 31, 200!
U.S. government obligations, which included
governmer-backed agencie $ 12,61 $ 12 $ 52 $ 12,65:
Corporate debt securitit 2,531 — 31 2,562
$ 15,14« $ 12 3 83 $ 15,21¢
December 31, 200!
U.S. government obligations, which included
governmer-backed agencie $ 13,60: $ — $ 12t $ 13,72¢
Corporate debt securiti 5,33¢ (24) 19 5,33
$ 18,94 $ (249 % 144 $ 19,06!

We had no realized gains or losses on the saleaibble-for-sale securities for any of the peripdssented. Unrealized gains
and losses on our available-for-sale securitiegactided from earnings and are reported as aaepesmponent of
stockholders’ equity within accumulated other coet@nsive income until realized. When availabledale securities are sold
in the future, the cost of the securities will Ipedfically identified and used to determine anglimed gain or loss. The net
unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities 21,000 and $120,000 as of December 31, 2002G0®&} respectively.

The amortized cost of and estimated fair valuevailable-for-sale securities at December 31, 2008dntractual maturity are
shown below (in thousands). Actual maturities méfgdfrom contractual maturities because the isswé the securities may
have the right to repay the obligations withoutganement penalties. Although the investments ardabla-for-sale, it is our
intention to hold the investments classified agtterm for more than a year from December 31, 2009.
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December 31, 200!

Amortized Estimated

Cost Fair Value
Due in one year or le: $ 10,06¢ $ 10,13t
Due after one year through two ye 5,07¢ 5,08(

$ 15,14 $ 15,21t

Financing Arrangement

We lease office and laboratory space under an tipgri@ase and have options to renew the leaserinal increments through
March 2013 at the initial rental rate. We execuiptions to renew through March 2011. Also, we exdénto a three-year lease
agreement for office and laboratory space for celgBn subsidiary through December 2010, whichuides options to renew
annually through December 2014. The annual resulligect to adjustments based on an inflationargindnd the lease
included an option to expand that was exercis&D09.

Aggregate rent expense was approximately $337/92009, $314,000 in 2008, and $267,000 in 2007.frhee annual
minimum lease commitments at December 31, 200@@peoximately $359,000 for 2010 and $67,000 for1201

Our former lenders retain a right to receive a stdae payment of $2.25 million upon the occurresfogertain events as
follows: (1) the entire amount upon (a) the mengigh or into another entity where our stockholddosnot hold at least a
majority of the voting power of the surviving emti(b) the sale of all or substantially all of asgsets, or (¢) our liquidation or
dissolution; or (2) a portion of the amount fronogeeds of equity financings not tied to specifieaach and development
activities that are part of a research or develayroellaboration, in which case, the lenders valigive an amount equal to 1
of proceeds above $5.0 million in cumulative gnossceeds until the milestone amount is paid in fiile milestone payment
payable in cash, except that if the milestone eigefft) above, we may elect to pay 75% of the roles in shares of common
stock at the per-share offering price. No amouatseheen recorded for the milestone in Decembe2@®19, 2008 or 2007. We
paid interest of $0, $76,000 and $456,000 duriegythars ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 20@&ctesely.

The former lenders also received warrants to pwelid9,026 shares of common stock with an exepcise of $5.00 per sha
and a seven-year term upon the closing of the fDffen June 2007 in accordance with the loan ageze¢nThe value of the
warrants was $492,000 based on the Black-Scholaati@n of the underlying security, of which $1600énd $476,000 was
recorded as interest expense in 2008 and 200 &caply.
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Pfizer

In December 2009, we entered into a collaboratiidh Rfizer to develop and commercialize MutiStentreat inflammatory
bowel disease (“IBD”) for the worldwide market. Usrdhe terms of the agreement, we received anamg-ficense and
technology access payment of $6.0 million from &fiand will receive research funding and supporindthe initial phase of
the collaboration, which began in December 2009iamdtimated to be completed in 2012. In additiea are also eligible to
receive milestone payments of up to $105 milliooruthe successful achievement of certain developmegulatory and
commercial milestones, for which we evaluated thieire of the events triggering these contingentrayts and concluded that
these events constituted substantive milestonésviide recognized as revenue in the period inclwhhe underlying

triggering event occurs.

We will be responsible for manufacturing and Pfiadt pay us for manufacturing product for clinicdévelopment and
commercialization purposes. Pfizer will have reslitity for development, regulatory and commeriziation and will pay us
tiered royalties on worldwide commercial sales aflti&tem IBD products. Alternatively, in lieu ofyalties and certain
commercialization milestones, we may elect to ceetlsp with Pfizer and the parties will share depehent and
commercialization expenses and profits/losses agaged basis beginning at phase Il clinical dgweient.

We evaluated the facts and circumstances of theeaggnt to determine whether the Pfizer agreemehtblégations
constituting deliverables and concluded that it tradtiple deliverables, including deliverables tilg to the grant of a license
and access to our technology, performance of relseard development services, and performance tdicenanufacturing
services, and concluded that these deliverabladdie combined into a single unit of accountinge Will recognize the
license and technology access fee and researctiesetbpment funding ratably on a straight-line basier the estimated
performance period, which began in December 20@9saastimated to be completed in 2012, and wilbgnize manufacturin
revenue as the services are performed. Prepaitsticand technology access fee and prepaid resadathevelopment funding
is recorded as deferred revenue and is amortizedstraight-line basis over the research period.

Angiotech

In 2006, we entered into a co-development collaimravith Angiotech. We issued convertible promigsootes to Angiotech
in the principal amounts of $5.0 million in 2006imteption and $5.0 million in 2007 upon the ackiment of a milestone.
Upon the closing of the Offering, the convertibtetes were converted along with accrued interestéotnmon stock at a
conversion price of 110% of the price per shamh@Offering, in accordance with the terms of tbees.
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We may receive equity investments and cash paynbaisesd on the successful achievement of specifieidal development
and commercialization milestones. Under the terfrieecollaboration, we bear all preclinical coasitsl the parties jointly fund
clinical development activity. We have primary resgibility for preclinical and early clinical dewgdment and clinical
manufacturing, and Angiotech will take the leadpdrotal and later clinical trials and commerciatina. The parties will share
net profits from the future sale of approved praduc

Under the terms of the collaboration, the partdstly fund clinical development activity, wherebgsts for phase | and Il
studies are borne 50% by us and 50% by Angiotexstsdor the first phase Il study will be born€/8®y us and 67% by
Angiotech, and costs for any phase Il studies sgbent to the first phase Ill study will be borf@2by us and 75% by
Angiotech. The parties began to share costs fosghalinical development in 2007.

We determined that neither party is a principaty#or clinical development costs, since both thets and responsibilities are
shared and neither party is in the business of wctimdy clinical development services for otherserifore, we record clinical
development costs net of Angiotech’s 50% cost-shainich amounted to $847,000, $943,000, and $63y9@009, 2008, and
2007, respectively. The amount due from Angioteels $229,000 and $234,000 at December 31, 2009G08] &spectively,
and is disclosed separately on the balance sheet.

F. Capitalization

At December 31, 2009, we had 100.0 million shafemmon stock and 10.0 million shares of undegphareferred stock
authorized. No shares of preferred stock have Eseied as of December 31, 2009.

We may issue shares of common stock to our forametdrs and to Angiotech in connection with futuilestones (see Notes
and E). Also, we entered into a license and speas@search agreement in 2007 with an academituiitat whereby, in
addition to annual research funding, the institutisay receive 1,345 shares of common stock on effive anniversary dates.
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The following shares of common stock were resefeeéuture issuance (in thousands):

December 31

2009 2008
Stock option plan 4,50( 4,50(
Warrants to purchase common st— 2007 Offering 4,97¢ 4,97¢
Warrants to purchase common st— Lenders 14¢ 14¢
9,62 9,62

G. Stock Option Plans

In 2007, we adopted two incentive plans that aitledran aggregate of 4,500,000 shares of commaek &to awards to
employees, directors and consultants. These eiqaiéntive plans authorize the issuance of equigedaompensation in the
form of stock options, stock appreciation righestricted stock, restricted stock units, perforneasitares and units, and other
stock-based awards to qualified employees, dire@od consultants.

In 2007, the majority of Old Athersys’ pre-Mergertstanding options were terminated. We accounteth®termination of
these awards as a settlement and all previousbcognized compensation expense ($385,000) wasnizeagon the
termination date in 2007. New option awards to pase 3,625,000 shares of common stock with an isggpcce of $5.00 per
share were granted to employees, directors andittants in June 2007 upon the closing of the Mergbke options that were
granted to employees generally vested 40% on tteead@yrant and vest ratably over three years.dgtens granted to non-
employees and board members generally vest atngpapgrcentages over three years.

Prior to the Merger in 2007, Old Athersys maintdirguity incentive plans in which 277,000 sharesvesailable for issuanc
Upon the closing of the Merger, BTHC VI assumedb3,6f these options, which will be governed by @ttersys’ original
equity plans until the awards expire. As of Decenfde 2009, 2,149 of these assumed awards remgitaading. All of the
remaining outstanding option awards under Old Ath&rformer equity incentive plans were termingteidr to the Merger.
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As of December 31, 2009, a total of 501,000 shaerge available for issuance under our equity corsgiéon plans and optiol
to purchase 4,001,149 shares of common stock wesganding (including the assumed options cove2iig9 shares describ
above). We recognized $2,808,000, $1,856,000 arkB3$300 of stock compensation expense in 20098 26d 2007,
respectively, which included approximately $264,@02009 related to a change in estimate of ouefure rate. At
December 31, 2009, total unrecognized estimategeasation cost related to unvested stock optiorssapproximately
$1,600,000, which is expected to be recognized bycM 31, 2013 using the straight-line method.

The weighted average fair value of option sharastgd in 2009, 2008 and 2007 was $2.04, $2.00 2r1&2 $er share,
respectively. The total fair value of option sharested in 2009, 2008 and 2007 was $2,257,0003%2)80 and $4,742,000,
respectively. There is no aggregate intrinsic valfilly vested option shares and option shargeeted to vest as of
December 31, 2009 since the market value washessthe exercise price of the options at the entlejear.

A summary of our stock option activity and relabefibrmation is as follows:

Weighted

Average

Number Exercise

of Options Price

Outstanding January 1, 20 116,08: $ 80.62
Granted 3,738,00I 5.0€
Exercisec — —
Forfeited / Terminated / Expire (174,199 51.21]
Outstanding December 31, 20 3,679,88: 5.24
Granted 218,00( 3.3¢€
Exercisec — —
Forfeited / Expirec (159,41) 6.64
Outstanding December 31, 20 3,738,47. 5.07
Granted 272,00( 3.17
Exercisec — —
Forfeited / Expirec (9,329 8.2¢
Outstanding December 31, 20 4,001,14 $ 4.94
Vested during 200 854,45¢ $ 4.81
Vested and exercisable at December 31, : 3,265,79: $ 5.0¢

-69-




Table of Contents

G. Stock Option Plans, continued

Athersys, Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (coatihu

December 31, 200!

Options Outstanding

Options Vested and Exercisabl

Weighted Weighted
Average Weighted Average Weighted
Number Remaining Average Number Remaining Average
of Contractual Exercise of Contractual Exercise
Exercise Price Options Life Price Options Life Price
$1.35-2.96 267,00( 566 $  2.0¢ 87,37 44C $  2.4¢
$4.00-4.99 137,00( 78 $ 432 67,04: 784 $ 4.3¢
$5.00-7.80 3,595,001 6.6 $ 5.07 3,109,22. 654 $ 5.0t
$90.66-278.95 2,14¢ 18¢ $ 184.7¢ 2,14¢ 186 $ 184.7¢
4,001,14 3,265,79.

The weighted average contractual life of unvestibas at December 31, 2009 was 7.07 years.

H. Income Taxes

At December 31, 2009, we had net operating losg@sehrch and development tax credit carryforwafdgpproximately
$29,093,000 and $2,070,000, respectively, for inetax purposes. Such losses and credits may beaseduce future taxab
income and tax liabilities and will expire in 2029.

As a result of the change in ownership relatedhéocapital restructuring and the June 2007 Offeniveglost the use of a
significant portion of our pre-Merger net operatlogs carryforwards. The remaining prerger net operating loss carryforw
of approximately $8,090,000 (“Pre-Merger NOL") imited for use under Section 382 of the Internaléeie Code to an
annual net operating loss carryforward of $464,00@ Pre-Merger NOL may be used to reduce futwahie income and tax

liabilities and will expire at various dates betwe®11 and 2026.
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Athersys, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (coatihu
H. Income Taxes, continued
Significant components of our deferred tax assetsa follows (in thousands):

December 31

2009 2008

Net operating loss carryforwar $ 9,89z $ 7,75¢
Net operating loss carryforwar— Pre-Merger NOL 2,751 2,90¢
Research and development credit carryforw. 2,07(C 1,40¢
License fee 2,011

Compensation expen 2,432 1,70C
Other 50€ 46€
Total deferred tax asse 19,66 14,23t
Valuation allowance for deferred tax ass (19,667) (14,235
Net deferred tax asse $ = $ =

Because of our cumulative losses, the deferreddagts have been fully offset by a valuation allovea We have not paid
income taxes for the three-year period ended Deeesih 2009.

I. Profit Sharing Plan and 401(k) Plan

We have a profit sharing and 401(k) plan that cesaibstantially all employees and allows for disorary contributions by u
We made no contributions to this plan for the thyear period ended December 31, 2009.
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Athersys, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (coatihu
J. Quarterly Financial Data (unaudited)

The following table presents quarterly data forykars ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, in thdsisercept per share

data:
2009
First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Full Year

Revenues $ 37C $ 43€ $ 484 $ 86¢ $ 2,15¢
Net loss $ (3,62 % (3,340 % (3,380 % (5,019 $ (15,369
Net loss attributable to common

stockholders $ (362 % 334) % (3380) % (5,019 $ (15,36¢)
Basic and diluted net loss per

common share attributable to

common stockholders $ 0.19 3% (0.1¢) 3 0.1¢) % (0.2¢) % (0.8))

2008
First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Full Year

Revenue: $ 792 $ 77€ $ 1,27¢ $ 25¢ $ 3,10¢
Net loss $ (4,669 % 4,127 % (4,499 % 4,719  $ (17,99)
Net loss attributable to commu

stockholders $ (4,669 % 4,122 $ (4,499 % 4,719 $ (17,99)
Basic and diluted net loss per comr

share attributable to common

stockholders $ (0.25 % (0220 % 029 % 025 % (0.95)
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON AC COUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE

Not applicable

ITEM 9A(T). CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of disclosure controls and proceduresAn evaluation was carried out under the supervisioth with the
participation of our management, including our pial executive officer and our principal financidficer, of the effectivene:
of our disclosure controls and procedures as oétitkof the period covered by this annual repaaisel on that evaluation,
these officers have concluded that as of Decemhe2@®9, our disclosure controls and proceduresfeetive.

Management’s report on internal control over finandal reporting: Management is responsible for establishing and
maintaining adequate internal control over finah@aorting, as such term is defined in ExchangeRde 13a-15(f). Under
the supervision and with the participation of masragnt, including our principal executive officedgrincipal financial
officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effeamtiess of internal control over financial reportb&sed on the framework in
Internal Control — Integrated Framework issuedh®sy €ommittee of Sponsoring Organizations of thedway Commission.
Based on this evaluation under the framework iarhml Control — Integrated Framework, managementlcaled that our
internal control over financial reporting was etfee as of December 31, 2009.

This annual report does not include an attestagport of our independent registered public acdagrfirm regarding internal
control over financial reporting. Management’s népeas not subject to attestation by our independegistered public
accounting firm pursuant to temporary rules of #t#C that permit Athersys to provide only managefserport in this annual
report.

Changes in internal control: During the fourth quarter of 2009, there has beeohange in our internal control over financial
reporting that has materially affected, or is remddy likely to materially affect, our internal dool over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

On March 8, 2010, we entered into a Waiver and Adneant No. 4 to the Amended and Restated Registr&ights
Agreement, dated April 28, 2000, as amended wittdre of our common stock who are party to the egent. The
amendment provides for the waiver by the holdersngf piggyback registration rights granted underafreement to the
holders in connection with the filing of the regaton statement on Form S-3 by Athersys on Janlér2010, including the
holders’ right to receive written notice of tharfi). The amendment further provides that all pigmkoregistration rights
granted under the agreement expire on JanuarylD, 20

PART IlI

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNA NCE

The information regarding Athersys’ directors, udihg the identification of the audit committee @hd audit committee
financial expert, is incorporated by referencehtinformation contained in Athersys’ Proxy Statameith respect to the 2010
Annual Meeting of Stockholders, or the 2010 Proiat@nent under the headings “Election of Directarsd “The Board of
Directors and its Committees”. Information concegnexecutive officers is contained in Item 3A oftRaf this annual report
on Form 10-K under the heading “Executive Officefrshe Registrant.”

The information regarding Section 16(a) benefioi@hership reporting compliance is incorporateddfgrence to the material
under the heading “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownipr&teporting Compliance” in the 2010 Proxy Statetmen
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Athersys has adopted a code of ethics that apjgligs principal executive officer, principal finaial officer and principal
accounting officer. Athersys’ code of ethics istedsunder the Investors tab of its website at withveisys.com. Athersys will
post any amendments to, or waivers of, its codettuts that apply to its principal executive officgrincipal financial officer
and principal accounting officer on its website.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information regarding executive officer ancedior compensation is incorporated by referend¢kednformation contained
in the 2010 Proxy Statement under the heading “&xex Compensation”.

The compensation committee report is incorporateteference to the information contained in the@Btoxy Statement und
the heading “Compensation Committee Report”.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
SHAREHOLDER MATTERS

The information regarding security ownership otaigr beneficial owners and management is incorpdrhy reference to the
information contained in the 2010 Proxy Statememnten the heading “Beneficial Ownership of Commaooc§t.

Equity Compensation Plan Information . The following table sets forth certain informaticegarding the Company’s equity
compensation plans as of December 31, 2009, uathsswise indicated.

Number of securitie
remaining available fi
future issuance und
equity compensatio
Number of securities Weightec-average plans (excluding
be issued upon exerc exercise price ¢ securities reflected i

of outstanding option outstanding optior column (a))
Plan Categor (a) (b) (c)
Equity compensation plan approved by security hsl 2,637,250 $ 4.8z 397,74
Equity compensation plan not approved by security
holders (1) 1,363,89: $ 5.07 103,25¢
Total 4,001,14 501,00(

(1) Includes 2,149 of shares of common stockaisuupon exercise of stock options that were asdumg BTHC VI in the
merger.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information regarding certain relationships egldted transactions and director independenice@porated by reference
to the information contained in the 2010 Proxy &tant under the heading “The Board of Directorsiem@ommittees”.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Information regarding fees paid to and servicesigex by our independent registered public accagriirm during the fiscal
years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008 and t-approval policies and procedures of the audit catemnis incorporated |
reference to the information contained in the 2Bidky Statement under the heading “Ratificatiothef Appointment of
Independent Auditors”.
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PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a)(2) Financial Statements:

The following consolidated financial statement#\dfersys, Inc. are included in Item 8:
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounfinm
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,2092008
Consolidated Statements of Operations for eacheoyéars ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equityfifiiefor each of the years ended December 3192@008 and 2007
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow for eacheftfars ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(a)(2) Financial Statement Schedules:

All schedules for which provision is made in thelkgable accounting regulation of the SEC are equired under the related
instructions or are inapplicable and, thereforeitiemh.
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(a)(3) Exhibits.

Exhibit No.

Exhibit Descriptior

2.1

2.2

3.1

10.1*

10.2*

10.%*

10.4

10.5

10.€

10.7

10.¢

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of May 8872by and among Athersys, Inc., BTHC VI, Inc. and
B-VI Acquisition Corp. (incorporated herein by reface to Exhibit 10.1 to registrant’s Current Reéor
Form &K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on May 24, 20

First Amendment to Agreement and Plan of Mergetiedias of June 8, 2007, by and among Athersys, Inc.
BTHC VI, Inc. and B-VI Acquisition Corp. (incorpard herein by reference to Exhibit 2.2 to the
registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Commisdiam 000-52108) filed with the Commission on

June 14, 2007

Certificate of Incorporation of Athersys, Inc.,asended as of August 31, 2007 (incorporated hénein
reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the registrant’s Ragtsdn Statement on Form S-3/A (Registration N8-33
144433) filed with the Commission on October 10)2X

Bylaws of Athersys, Inc., as amended as of Oct80eR007 (incorporated herein by reference to ExBild
to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (@assion No. 000-52108) filed with the Commission on
October 31, 2007

Research Collaboration and License Agreement, deted December 8, 2000, by and between Athersys,
Inc. and Bristol-Myers Squibb Company (incorporatedein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the registis
Current Report on Formr-K (Commission No. 0€-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Cell Line Collaboration and License Agreement, date of July 1, 2002, by and between Athersys,dnd.
Bristol-Myers Squibb Company (incorporated hergjirdéference to Exhibit 10.2 to the registrant’s i@at
Report on Form -K/A (Commission No. 00-52108) filed with the Commission on September 207
Extended Collaboration and License Agreement, daseaf January 1, 2006, by and between Athersgs, In
and Bristol-Myers Squibb Company (incorporated imeby reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the registrant’s
Current Report on Form 8-K/A (Commission No. 00@-82) filed with the Commission on September 27,
2007)

License Agreement, effective as of May 5, 2006abg between Athersys, Inc. and Angiotech
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorporated herein by egfee to Exhibit 10.4 to the registrant’s Currenp&é¢on
Form &K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Sublicense Agreement, effective as of May 5, 2@96and between Athersys, Inc. and Angiotech
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorporated herein by esfee to Exhibit 10.5 to the registrant’s Currenp&éon
Form &K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreerdated as of April 28, 2000, by and among Athersys,
Inc. and the stockholders of Athersys, Inc. pattieseto (incorporated herein by reference to BxAib.6 to
the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Conwsiais No. 000-52108) filed with the Commission on
June 14, 2007

Amendment No. 1 to Athersys, Inc. Amended and RedtRegistration Rights Agreement, dated as of
January 29, 2002, by and among Athersys, Inc.Nthe Stockholders, the Investors, Biotech and the
Stockholders (each as defined in the Amended asthiRel Registration Rights Agreement, dated as
April 28, 2000, by and among Athersys, Inc. andstoekholders of Athersys, Inc. parties thereto)
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 1@.7he registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K
(Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amendment No. 2 to Athersys, Inc. Amended and RedtRegistration Rights Agreement, dated as of
November 19, 2002, by and among Athersys, Inc.Nthe Stockholders, the Investors, Biotech anc
Stockholders (each as defined in the Amended asthRel Registration Rights Agreement, dated as
April 28, 2000, as amended, by and among Atheitsgs,and the stockholders of Athersys, Inc. parties
thereto) (incorporated herein by reference to Bxii.8 to the registrant’s Current Report on F@&id
(Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amendment No. 3 to Amended and Restated Registr&ights Agreement, dated as of May 15, 2007, by
and among Athersys, Inc. and the Existing Stoclkdmsldas defined therein) (incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the registrant’s Catfeeport on Form 8-K (Commission No. 000-521 0
with the Commission on June 14, 20!
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Exhibit No.

Exhibit Descriptior

10.1¢f

10.11F

10.12

10.1:

10.1¢

10.1%f

10.1¢f

10.1%F

10.1¢&f

10.1¢t

10.2(F

10.21f

10.2%F

10.2%F

BTHC VI, Inc. Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorpordtierein by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the
registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Commisdim 000-52108) filed with the Commission on
June 14, 2007

BTHC VI, Inc. Equity Incentive Compensation Planc@rporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to
the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Congieis No. 000-52108) filed with the Commission on
June 14, 2007

Loan and Security Agreement, and Supplement, deted November 2, 2004, by and among Athersys,
Inc., Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc., Venture Lagd& Leasing IV, Inc., and Costella Kirsch IV, L.P.
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 1@.1he registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
(Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on November 1402

Second Amendment to Loan and Security Agreemeteddss of October 30, 2007, by and among ABT
Holding Company, Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc.nMee Lending and Leasing IV, Inc., and Costella
Kirsch IV, L.P. (incorporated herein by referenoeeixhibit 10.2 to the registrant’s Quarterly Repmnt
Form 1(-Q (Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on November 1402

Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, datexf &gptember 29, 2006, by and among Athersys,
Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc., Venture Lending &aking 1V, Inc., and Costella Kirsch 1V, L.P.
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 1Gd ghe registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K
(Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, datefilxscember 1, 1998 but effective as of April 1,
1998, by and between Athersys, Inc. and Dr. Gil Bakkelen (incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.14 to the registrant’s Current Reportrammm 8-K (Commission No. 000-52108) filed with the
Commission on June 14, 20(

Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Employgrégement, dated as of May 31, 2007, by and
between Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc. and Gil Bakkelen (incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.15 to the registrant’s Current ReportFamm 8-K (Commission No. 000-52108) filed with the
Commission on June 14, 20(

Non-Competition and Confidentiality Agreement, datsc&December 1, 1998, by and between Athersys,
Inc. and Dr. Gil Van Bokkelen (incorporated herkejnreference to Exhibit 10.16 to the registrantisrént
Report on Form-K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, datefilascember 1, 1998 but effective as of April 1,
1998, by and between Athersys, Inc. and Dr. Jolhfadington (incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.17 to the registrant’s Current Reportrammm 8-K (Commission No. 000-52108) filed with the
Commission on June 14, 20(

Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Employsgrégement, dated as of May 31, 2007, by and
between Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc. and Johnititgion (incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.18 to the registrant’s Current Reportramm 8-K (Commission No. 000-52108) filed with the
Commission on June 14, 20(

Non-Competition and Confidentiality Agreement, datsc&December 1, 1998, by and between Athersys,
Inc. and Dr. John J. Harrington (incorporated hrebsi reference to Exhibit 10.19 to the registra@iisrent
Report on Form-K (Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(
Employment Agreement, dated as of May 22, 199&naybetween Athersys, Inc. and Laura K. Campbell
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 1G@€he registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K
(Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement, datedf &ay 31, 2007, by and between Advanced
Biotherapeutics, Inc. and Laura Campbell (incorfedderein by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to the
registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Commisdim 000-52108) filed with the Commission on
June 14, 2007

Employment Agreement, dated as of September 2%), 2§0and between Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc.
and Kurt Brunden (incorporated herein by referaindexhibit 10.22 to the registrant’s Current Repmort
Form &K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(
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Exhibit No.

Exhibit Descriptior

10.24f

10.2%F

10.2¢f

10.27t

10.2¢F

10.2¢t

10.3(F

10.31F

10.3zf

10.3%F

10.3¢

10.3%

10.3¢*

Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement, datedf &ay 31, 2007, by and between Advanced
Biotherapeutics, Inc. and Kurt Brunden (incorpaodaterein by reference to Exhibit 10.23 to the regig’s
Current Report on Formr-K (Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(
Non-Competition and Confidentiality Agreement, datscéSeptember 25, 2000, by and among Athersys,
Inc., Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc. and Kurt Bremdincorporated herein by reference to Exhibi24@o
the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Consiois No. 000-52108) filed with the Commission on
June 14, 2007

Employment Agreement, dated as of October 3, 20P&nd between Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc. and
Robert Deans, Ph.D. (incorporated herein by referéo Exhibit 10.25 to the registrant’s Current &&pn
Form &K (Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement, datedf &ay 31, 2007, by and between Advanced
Biotherapeutics, Inc. and Robert Deans (incorpdratzein by reference to Exhibit 10.26 to the regig’s
Current Report on Formr-K (Commission No. 0€-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(
Non-Competition and Confidentiality Agreement, dateda®ctober 3, 2003, by and among Athersys,
Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc. and Robert Dearcofporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2th&
registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Commisdim 000-52108) filed with the Commission on

June 14, 2007

Employment Agreement, dated as of January 1, 2004nd between Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc. and
William Lehmann (incorporated herein by referere&xhibit 10.28 to the registrant’s Current Repmort
Form &K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement, datedf &ay 31, 2007, by and between Advanced
Biotherapeutics, Inc. and William Lehmann (incoigted herein by reference to Exhibit 10.29 to the
registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Commisdim 000-52108) filed with the Commission on

June 14, 2007

Non-Competition and Confidentiality Agreement, datscéSeptember 10, 2001, by and among Athersys,
Inc., Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc. and Williammhbeann (incorporated herein by reference to

Exhibit 10.30 to the registrant’s Current Reportramm 8-K (Commission No. 000-52108) filed with the
Commission on June 14, 20(

Form Incentive Agreement by and between AdvancethBrapeutics, Inc. and named executive officers,
and acknowledged by Athersys, Inc. and ReGene&yG,(Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit3ll
to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (@assion No. 000-52108) filed with the Commission on
June 14, 2007

Form Amendment No. 1 to Incentive Agreement by laetiveen Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc. and na
executive officers, and acknowledged by Athersys, &and ReGenesys, LLC (incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.32 to the registrant’s €atrReport on Form 8-K (Commission No. 000-52108)
filed with the Commission on June 14, 20

Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of JU2@08, by and among Athersys, BTHC VI, Inc. and
Investors (as defined therein) (incorporated hebgireference to Exhibit 10.33 to the registra@igrent
Report on Form-K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Exclusive License Agreement, dated as of May 109220y and between Regents of the University of
Minnesota and MCL LLC, assumed by ReGenesys, Llt@uih operation of merger on November 4, 2003
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 1G@the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K
(Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Strategic Alliance Agreement, by and between Atygrkic. and Angiotech Pharmaceuticals, Inc., dagd
of May 5, 2006 (incorporated herein by referencExbibit 10.35 to the registrant’s Current Repart o
Form &K/A (Commission No. 00-52108) filed with the Commission on October 9, 2C
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Exhibit No. Exhibit Descriptior
10.3% Amendment No. 1 to Cell Line Collaboration and lrse Agreement, dated as of January 1, 2006, by and
between Athersys, Inc. and Bristol-Myers Squibb @any (incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.36 to the registrant’s Current Reportrammm 8-K (Commission No. 000-52108) filed with the
Commission on June 14, 20(
10.3¢&t Consulting Agreement, by and among Athersys, ldvanced Biotherapeutics, Inc. and Dr. Kurt Brunden
dated as of July 23, 2007 (incorporated hereirelfigrence to Exhibit 10.13 to the registrant’s Qerdyt
Report on Form 1-Q (Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on August 17, 20
10.3¢t Form Indemnification Agreement for Directors, O#fis and Directors and Officers (incorporated helogin
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s Cotfeeport on Form 8-K (Commission No. 000-521 0k
with the Commission on August 6, 20(
10.4( Advisory Agreement, dated as of May 24, 2007, by laetween Halter Financial Group, L.P. and Athersys
Inc. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit4D to the registrant’s Registration Statement on
Form $-1/A (Registration No. 33-144433) filed with the Commission on September2®)7)
10.41t Summary of Athersys, Inc. 2008 Cash Bonus Plarofparated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 & th
registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (ComimisdNo. 001-33876) filed with the Commission on
May 8, 2008
10.4z Collaboration and License Agreement, dated as cEBer 18, 2009, by and between Athersys, Inc., ABT
Holding Company, and Pfizer In
10.4% Stand-by License Agreement, dated as of Decemhe20I®, by and between Regents of the University of
Minnesota, ABT Holding Company and Pfizer Ii
10.4¢ Amendment dated as of March 31, 2009 to the Exti@ig#laboration and License Agreement, by and
between Athersys, Inc. and Bristol-Myers Squibb @any effective January 1, 2006 (incorporated herein
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’sr€nt Report on Form 8-K (Commission No. 001-33876)
filed with the Commission on April 9, 200
10.4¢ Amendment No. 4 to Amended and Restated Registr&ights Agreement, dated as of March 8, 2010, by
and among Athersys, Inc. and the Existing Stockérsldas defined therei
21 List of Subsidiarie:
23 Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registétablic Accounting Firn
24.1 Power of Attorney
24.2 Power of Attorney for Michael B. Sheffery and Jard& Davis
31.1 Certification of Gil Van Bokkelen, Chairman and €hixecutive Officer, pursuant to SEC Rules 13a)l4(
and 15«14(a) adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sar-Oxley Act of 2002
31.2 Certification of Laura Campbell, Vice Presidentafiance, pursuant to SEC Rules 13a-14(a) and 1614
adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sart-Oxley Act of 2002
32.1 Certification of Gil Van Bokkelen, Chairman and €hixecutive Officer, and Laura Campbell, Vice

President of Finance, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Sedtd&0, adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Samha
Oxley Act of 2002

*  Confidential treatment requested as to cenpairiions, which portions have been filed separateétis the Securities and
Exchange Commissio

t  Indicates management contract or compensatany pontract or arrangement in which one or mamectbrs or executive
officers of the registrant may be participai
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigtieereunto duly authorized, in the city of Clarel, State of Ohio, on
March 11, 2010.

ATHERSYS, INC.
By: /s/ Gil Van Bokkelen

Gil Van Bokkelen
Title: Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons
on behalf of the registrant and in the capacitieb@n the date indicated.

Signature Title Date
/s/ Gil Van Bokkelen Chief Executive Officer March 11, 2010
Gil Van Bokkelen and Chairman of the Board of Direct

(Principal Executive Officer

/sl Laura K. Campbell Vice President, Finance March 11, 2010
Laura K. Campbell (Principal Financial Officer and
Principal Accounting Officer

* Executive Vice President, March 11, 2010
John J. Harringto Chief Scientific Officer and Director
* Director March 11, 201(

William C. Mulligan

* Director March 11, 201(
George M. Milne, Jr

* Director March 11, 201(
Jordan S. Davi

* Director March 11, 201(
Floyd D. Loop
* Director March 11, 201(

Michael Sheffery

* Director March 11, 201(
Lorin J. Randal

*  Gil Van Bokkelen, by signing his name heretoed hereby sign this Form 10-K on behalf of eacthefabove named and
designated directors of the Company pursuant toelPowf Attorney executed by such persons and Vili¢ll the Securities
and Exchange Commissic

By: /s/ Gil Van Bokkelen
Gil Van Bokkelen
Attorney-in-fact
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit No.

Exhibit Descriptior

2.1

2.2

3.1

10.1*

10.2*

10.&

10.4

10.5

10.€

10.7

10.€

10.€

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of May 2872by and among Athersys, Inc., BTHC VI, Inc. and
B-VI Acquisition Corp. (incorporated herein by reface to Exhibit 10.1 to registrant’s Current Reéor
Form &K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on May 24, 20

First Amendment to Agreement and Plan of Mergeiedias of June 8, 2007, by and among Athersys, Inc.
BTHC VI, Inc. and B-VI Acquisition Corp. (incorpared herein by reference to Exhibit 2.2 to the
registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Commisdim 000-52108) filed with the Commission on

June 14, 2007

Certificate of Incorporation of Athersys, Inc.,@sended as of August 31, 2007 (incorporated hénein
reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the registrant’s Ragtsbn Statement on Form S-3/A (Registration N8-33
144433) filed with the Commission on October 10)2X

Bylaws of Athersys, Inc., as amended as of Oct80eR007 (incorporated herein by reference to ExBild
to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (@assion No. 000-52108) filed with the Commission on
October 31, 2007

Research Collaboration and License Agreement, dgeted December 8, 2000, by and between Athersys,
Inc. and Bristol-Myers Squibb Company (incorporatedein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the registis
Current Report on Formr-K (Commission No. 0€-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Cell Line Collaboration and License Agreement, date of July 1, 2002, by and between Athersys,dnd.
Bristol-Myers Squibb Company (incorporated hergjnrdference to Exhibit 10.2 to the registrant’s i@at
Report on Form -K/A (Commission No. 00-52108) filed with the Commission on September 207
Extended Collaboration and License Agreement, daseaf January 1, 2006, by and between Athersygs, In
and Bristol-Myers Squibb Company (incorporated imeby reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the registrant’s
Current Report on Form 8-K/A (Commission No. 00@-82) filed with the Commission on September 27,
2007)

License Agreement, effective as of May 5, 2006abg between Athersys, Inc. and Angiotech
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorporated herein by egfee to Exhibit 10.4 to the registrant’s Currenp&é¢on
Form &K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Sublicense Agreement, effective as of May 5, 2@96and between Athersys, Inc. and Angiotech
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorporated herein by esfee to Exhibit 10.5 to the registrant’s Currenp&éon
Form &K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreerdated as of April 28, 2000, by and among Athersys,
Inc. and the stockholders of Athersys, Inc. pattieseto (incorporated herein by reference to BxAib.6 to
the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Consiois No. 000-52108) filed with the Commission on
June 14, 2007

Amendment No. 1 to Athersys, Inc. Amended and RegtRegistration Rights Agreement, dated as of
January 29, 2002, by and among Athersys, Inc.Nthe Stockholders, the Investors, Biotech and the
Stockholders (each as defined in the Amended asthiRel Registration Rights Agreement, dated as
April 28, 2000, by and among Athersys, Inc. andstoekholders of Athersys, Inc. parties thereto)
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 1@.7he registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K
(Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amendment No. 2 to Athersys, Inc. Amended and RegtRegistration Rights Agreement, dated as of
November 19, 2002, by and among Athersys, Inc.Nthe Stockholders, the Investors, Biotech anc
Stockholders (each as defined in the Amended asthiRel Registration Rights Agreement, dated as
April 28, 2000, as amended, by and among Atheitsgs,and the stockholders of Athersys, Inc. parties
thereto) (incorporated herein by reference to BkHib.8 to the registrant’s Current Report on F@&qid
(Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amendment No. 3 to Amended and Restated Registr&ights Agreement, dated as of May 15, 2007, by
and among Athersys, Inc. and the Existing Stoclkdmsldas defined therein) (incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the registrant’s Catf@eport on Form 8-K (Commission No. 000-521 0.
with the Commission on June 14, 20!
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BTHC VI, Inc. Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorpordtierein by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the
registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Commisdim 000-52108) filed with the Commission on
June 14, 2007

BTHC VI, Inc. Equity Incentive Compensation Planc@rporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to
the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Congieis No. 000-52108) filed with the Commission on
June 14, 2007

Loan and Security Agreement, and Supplement, deted November 2, 2004, by and among Athersys,
Inc., Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc., Venture Lagd& Leasing IV, Inc., and Costella Kirsch IV, L.P.
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 1@.1he registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
(Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on November 1402

Second Amendment to Loan and Security Agreemeteddss of October 30, 2007, by and among ABT
Holding Company, Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc.nMee Lending and Leasing IV, Inc., and Costella
Kirsch IV, L.P. (incorporated herein by referenoeeixhibit 10.2 to the registrant’s Quarterly Repmnt
Form 1(-Q (Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on November 1402

Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, datexf &gptember 29, 2006, by and among Athersys,
Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc., Venture Lending &aking 1V, Inc., and Costella Kirsch 1V, L.P.
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 1Gd ghe registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K
(Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, datefilxscember 1, 1998 but effective as of April 1,
1998, by and between Athersys, Inc. and Dr. Gil Bakkelen (incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.14 to the registrant’s Current Reportrammm 8-K (Commission No. 000-52108) filed with the
Commission on June 14, 20(

Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Employgrégement, dated as of May 31, 2007, by and
between Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc. and Gil Bakkelen (incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.15 to the registrant’s Current ReportFamm 8-K (Commission No. 000-52108) filed with the
Commission on June 14, 20(

Non-Competition and Confidentiality Agreement, datsc&December 1, 1998, by and between Athersys,
Inc. and Dr. Gil Van Bokkelen (incorporated herkejnreference to Exhibit 10.16 to the registrantisrént
Report on Form-K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, datefilascember 1, 1998 but effective as of April 1,
1998, by and between Athersys, Inc. and Dr. Jolhfadington (incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.17 to the registrant’s Current Reportrammm 8-K (Commission No. 000-52108) filed with the
Commission on June 14, 20(

Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Employsgrégement, dated as of May 31, 2007, by and
between Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc. and Johnititgion (incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.18 to the registrant’s Current Reportramm 8-K (Commission No. 000-52108) filed with the
Commission on June 14, 20(

Non-Competition and Confidentiality Agreement, datsc&December 1, 1998, by and between Athersys,
Inc. and Dr. John J. Harrington (incorporated hrebsi reference to Exhibit 10.19 to the registra@iisrent
Report on Form-K (Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(
Employment Agreement, dated as of May 22, 199&naybetween Athersys, Inc. and Laura K. Campbell
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 1G@€he registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K
(Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement, datedf &ay 31, 2007, by and between Advanced
Biotherapeutics, Inc. and Laura Campbell (incorfedderein by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to the
registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Commisdim 000-52108) filed with the Commission on
June 14, 2007

Employment Agreement, dated as of September 2%), 2§0and between Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc.
and Kurt Brunden (incorporated herein by referaindexhibit 10.22 to the registrant’s Current Repmort
Form &K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(
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Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement, datedf &ay 31, 2007, by and between Advanced
Biotherapeutics, Inc. and Kurt Brunden (incorpaodaterein by reference to Exhibit 10.23 to the regig’s
Current Report on Formr-K (Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(
Non-Competition and Confidentiality Agreement, datscéSeptember 25, 2000, by and among Athersys,
Inc., Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc. and Kurt Bremdincorporated herein by reference to Exhibi24@o
the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Consiois No. 000-52108) filed with the Commission on
June 14, 2007

Employment Agreement, dated as of October 3, 20P&nd between Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc. and
Robert Deans, Ph.D. (incorporated herein by referéo Exhibit 10.25 to the registrant’s Current &&pn
Form &K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement, datedf &ay 31, 2007, by and between Advanced
Biotherapeutics, Inc. and Robert Deans (incorpdratzein by reference to Exhibit 10.26 to the regig’s
Current Report on Formr-K (Commission No. 0€-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(
Non-Competition and Confidentiality Agreement, dateda®ctober 3, 2003, by and among Athersys,
Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc. and Robert Dearcofporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2th&
registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Commisdim 000-52108) filed with the Commission on

June 14, 2007

Employment Agreement, dated as of January 1, 2004nd between Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc. and
William Lehmann (incorporated herein by referere&xhibit 10.28 to the registrant’s Current Repmort
Form &K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement, datedf &ay 31, 2007, by and between Advanced
Biotherapeutics, Inc. and William Lehmann (incoigted herein by reference to Exhibit 10.29 to the
registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Commisdim 000-52108) filed with the Commission on

June 14, 2007

Non-Competition and Confidentiality Agreement, datscéSeptember 10, 2001, by and among Athersys,
Inc., Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc. and Williammhbeann (incorporated herein by reference to

Exhibit 10.30 to the registrant’s Current Reportramm 8-K (Commission No. 000-52108) filed with the
Commission on June 14, 20(

Form Incentive Agreement by and between AdvancethBrapeutics, Inc. and named executive officers,
and acknowledged by Athersys, Inc. and ReGene&yG,(Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit3ll
to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (@assion No. 000-52108) filed with the Commission on
June 14, 2007

Form Amendment No. 1 to Incentive Agreement by laetiveen Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc. and na
executive officers, and acknowledged by Athersys, &and ReGenesys, LLC (incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.32 to the registrant’s €atrReport on Form 8-K (Commission No. 000-52108)
filed with the Commission on June 14, 20

Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of JU2@08, by and among Athersys, BTHC VI, Inc. and
Investors (as defined therein) (incorporated hebgireference to Exhibit 10.33 to the registra@igrent
Report on Form-K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Exclusive License Agreement, dated as of May 109220y and between Regents of the University of
Minnesota and MCL LLC, assumed by ReGenesys, Llt@uih operation of merger on November 4, 2003
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 1G@the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K
(Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Strategic Alliance Agreement, by and between Atygrkic. and Angiotech Pharmaceuticals, Inc., dagd
of May 5, 2006 (incorporated herein by referencExbibit 10.35 to the registrant’s Current Repart o
Form &K/A (Commission No. 00-52108) filed with the Commission on October 9, 2C

Amendment No. 1 to Cell Line Collaboration and lnise Agreement, dated as of January 1, 2006, by and
between Athersys, Inc. and Bristol-Myers Squibb @any (incorporated herein by reference to

Exhibit 10.36 to the registrant’s Current Reportrammm 8-K (Commission No. 000-52108) filed with the
Commission on June 14, 20(
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10.3¢&t Consulting Agreement, by and among Athersys, ldvanced Biotherapeutics, Inc. and Dr. Kurt Brunden
dated as of July 23, 2007 (incorporated hereirelfigrence to Exhibit 10.13 to the registrant’s Qerdyt
Report on Form 1-Q (Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on August 17, 20
10.3¢t Form Indemnification Agreement for Directors, O#is and Directors and Officers (incorporated helogin
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s Cotfeeport on Form 8-K (Commission No. 000-521 0k
with the Commission on August 6, 20(
10.4( Advisory Agreement, dated as of May 24, 2007, by laetween Halter Financial Group, L.P. and Athersys
Inc. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit4D to the registrant’s Registration Statement on
Form &-1/A (Registration No. 32-144433) filed with the Commission on September20®7)
10.41t Summary of Athersys, Inc. 2008 Cash Bonus Plarofparated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 & th
registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (ComimisNo. 001-33876) filed with the Commission on
May 8, 2008;
10.4z Collaboration and License Agreement, dated as cEBer 18, 2009, by and between Athersys, Inc., ABT
Holding Company, and Pfizer In
10.4% Stand-by License Agreement, dated as of Decemhe20I®, by and between Regents of the University of
Minnesota, ABT Holding Company and Pfizer I
10.4¢ Amendment dated as of March 31, 2009 to the Exe@i#laboration and License Agreement, by and
between Athersys, Inc. and Bristol-Myers Squibb @any effective January 1, 2006 (incorporated herein
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’sr@nt Report on Form 8-K (Commission No. 001-33876)
filed with the Commission on April 9, 200
10.4¢ Amendment No. 4 to Amended and Restated Registr&ights Agreement, dated as of March 8, 2010, by
and among Athersys, Inc. and the Existing Stocldmsldas defined therei
21 List of Subsidiarie:
23 Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registd?tablic Accounting Firn
24.1 Power of Attorney
24.2 Power of Attorney for Michael B. Sheffery and Jard& Davis
31.1 Certification of Gil Van Bokkelen, Chairman and €hxecutive Officer, pursuant to SEC Rules 13aa)l4(
and 15«14(a) adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sae-Oxley Act of 2002
31.2 Certification of Laura Campbell, Vice Presidentafiance, pursuant to SEC Rules 13a-14(a) and 1614
adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sart-Oxley Act of 2002
32.1 Certification of Gil Van Bokkelen, Chairman and €hixecutive Officer, and Laura Campbell, Vice

President of Finance, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Sedtd&0, adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Saha
Oxley Act of 2002

*  Confidential treatment requested as to cenpairiions, which portions have been filed separateéti the Securities and
Exchange Commissio

t  Indicates management contract or compensatany pontract or arrangement in which one or mamectbrs or executive
officers of the registrant may be participal
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CONFIDENTIAL
COLLABORATION AND LICENSE AGREEMENT

Collaboration and License Agreement (this “ Agreantigdated as of December 18, 2009 between ATHERSING,, an
Ohio corporation with offices located at 3201 CaiireAvenue, Cleveland, Ohio 44115 (* Al ABT HOLDING COMPANY,
a Delaware corporation and having a offices locateg?01 Carnegie Avenue, Cleveland, Ohio 441188T "), together
referred to in this Agreement as_(* ATHERSY)Sand PFIZER INC., a Delaware corporation withiogk located at 235 East
42nd Street, New York, New York, 10017, U.S.A. FIRER").

WHEREAS, ATHERSYS owns or otherwise controls cergatents, patent applications, technology, know-aod
scientific and technical information relating to M8tem® stem cell technology;

WHEREAS, PFIZER has extensive experience and egpért the development and commercialization ofapeutic
agents and biological products and documented sadoaegulatory proceedings, and desires to cmléb with ATHERSYS
in respect of the development of MultiStem Prod(assdefined below) for the Field (as defined bglend to acquire a license
in the Territory (as defined below) to such patep&ent applications, technology, know-how aneérsific and technical
information on the terms of this Agreement; and

WHEREAS, ATHERSYS is a biopharmaceutical group Hpcialises in the development of stem cell teldgyofor
therapeutic products, including MultiStehstem cell technology, to treat diseases and disert®l desires to collaborate with
PFIZER in relation to the development of MultiSt®moducts and to grant licenses to PFIZER on thegaf this Agreement;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual ctaues and agreements provided herein, ATHERSY SP&hdER
hereby agree as follows:

Section 1 DEFINITIONS
For purposes of this Agreement, the following diéifims shall be applicable:

1.1 “ Affiliate " means any entity directly or indirectly contraléy, controlling, or under common control withparty to this
Agreement, but only for so long as such controllstoatinue. For purposes of this definition, “cmit (including, with
correlative meanings, “controlled by”, “controllihgnd “under common control with”) means (a) posgas direct or indirect,
of the power to direct or cause direction of thenageement or policies of an entity (whether throagimership of securities or
other ownership interests, by contract or othenyise(b) beneficial ownership of at least 50%lwd voting securities or other
ownership interest (whether directly or pursuardang option, warrant or other similar arrangementther comparable equity

interests of an entity.

1.2 “ Athersys Combination Produtimeans a MultiStem Product containing or co-adstared (where the individual
products/forms are intended for simultaneous ousetjal administration) with an Athersys Compouid(s
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1.3 “ Athersys Combination Product IPRseans rights in (i) issued patents and pendingipional and non-provisional
applications for patents, including, without lintitan, any continuations, continuationsqast or divisions directed to inventio
disclosed therein; (ii) any re-examinations, reéssuenewals, substitutions or extensions of atgnps; (iii) foreign
counterparts or equivalents of any of the foregaights, (iv) inventions, discoveries, data, infation, trade secrets, proces:
methods, techniques, materials, technology, resultgher know-how, whether or not patentable nfethods, devices or
improvements for delivery or maintenance of a based product and (vi) copyrights, software, souotke and copyrightable
works, in each case (i) through (vi) that are @datlevised or arise out of the parties (or théfitidtes) undertaking and
performing activities under the Research Progradwamere such rights are directed to an Athersysi@aation Product.

1.4 * Athersys Compountimeans small molecules, biological molecules and dandidates and/or other pharmaceutical a
in respect of which ATHERSYS has exclusive rigletg)( by ownership or license from a Third Partydler relevant patents or
patent applications at the time such Athersys Camgas introduced into the Research Program.

1.5 “ Athersys Confidential Informatighmeans all information about any element of Atlger§echnology, Athersys
Compounds or Athersys Combination Products, asasediny other information regarding the businesisomerations of
ATHERSYS or any of its Affiliates, that is or hasdm disclosed (whether orally or in writing) by AERSYS to PFIZER or its
Affiliates to the extent that such information @tifi) as of the date of disclosure to PFIZER, kndw PFIZER or its Affiliates;
or (ii) disclosed in published literature, or othére generally known to the public through no brebg PFIZER of this
Agreement; or (iii) obtained by Pfizer or its Aféites from a Third Party free from any obligatidrconfidentiality to
ATHERSYS,; or (iv) independently developed by PFIZ&Rts Affiliates without use of the Athersys Catential Information.

1.6 “ Athersys Devicé means a device intended to assist the delivatmimistration or release of a bio-pharmaceuticabipct
in respect of which ATHERSYS has exclusive rigleg(by ownership or license from a Third Partydler relevant patents or
patent applications at the time such Athersys Deigdntroduced into the Research Program.

1.7 “ Athersys Exclusive Patent Riglitshall have the meaning assigned to it in Sectibsa .

1.8 “ Athersys Patent Rightsneans all patents and patent applications, whetbmestic or foreign, including all
continuations, continuations-in-part, divisionspysionals and renewals, and letters of patenttgcawith respect to any of the
foregoing, patents of addition, supplementary mtite certificates, registration or confirmationtguats and all reissues, re-
examination and extensions thereof, that are oweedwned by or licensed- to ATHERSYS or its Aiiés, with the right to
licence or sub-licence, as of the Effective Datataainy time during the Term and that relate totMdte#m Products, including
the Athersys Patent Rights listed in Schedule ari&d any patents that may issue from, or claimriyito or through, the
applications listed in Schedule 1.8

1.9 “ Athersys Technologymeans all materials, technology, data, techraca scientific information, standard operating
procedures, specifications, know-how (includingkalbw-how related to manufacturing of MultiStem @uots), expertise and
trade secrets that relate to or are used in coimmewith any MultiStem Products, Athersys CombioatProducts , including
any intellectual property rights embodying anytaf foregoing (other than Athersys Combination PeodieR) which are
owned, co-owned by or licensed to ATHERSYS or itfliates, with the right to licence or sub-licenaes of the Effective Date
or at any time during the Term, but excluding AtlyarPatent Rights.
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1.10 “ BLA " means Biologics License Application filed withetfFrDA in accordance with the FDCA with respect tiia
pharmaceutical product or an analogous applicatidiling with any Regulatory Authority outside tife United States
(including any supra-national agency such as thef&an Union) for the purpose of obtaining appraeesaharket and sell a bio-
pharmaceutical product in such jurisdiction.

1.11 “ Business Daymeans a day other than a Saturday, Sunday, dr draother public holiday in New York, New York.

1.12 “ Change of Contrdimeans that any of the following occurs in resp#cAl or ABT: (i) any entity becoming the
beneficial owner, directly or indirectly, of morean fifty percent (50%) of the voting securitiesfdfor ABT,; (ii) the sale or
other disposition of all or substantially all oktassets of Al or ABT; or (iii) a consolidationmerger of Al or ABT with any
entity, other than a merger or consolidation whiahuld result in the voting securities of Al or ABLtstanding immediately
prior thereto continuing to represent at leasy fifercent (50%) of the total voting power repreedriiy the voting securities of
Al or ABT outstanding immediately after such mergeconsolidation.

1.13 “ Clinical Development Candiddteneans (a) a MultiStem Product or Combination Raidhat meets the criteria and has
the characteristics that are necessary and desifabihe submission of an IND for use of such Mai#m Product(s) or
Combination Product(s) for treatment, preventiocantrol of a Pilot or Major Indication, as advad@nd recommended by 1
JSC or the Development & Regulatory Committeepdra(MultiStem Product or Combination Product ikair has been the
subject of an IND for use of such MultiStem Prodorc€ombination Product(s) in the treatment, préeanor control of a Pilot
or Major Indication.

1.14 * Clinical Development Pldhmeans, for each Clinical Development Candidatéetailed plan that sets forth the
responsibilities of, and the activities to be cartdd by, each of the parties in advancing each &liaical Development
Candidate to Regulatory Approval for a Pilot or btaindication (including a detailed budget corrasgiag to each such plan).
Each Clinical Development Plan shall be approvethieyparties and upon such approval shall be sutgebis Agreement.

1.15 “ Clinical Development Prografrmeans the clinical development activities condddby (or to be conducted by) each
party pursuant to a Clinical Development Plan.

1.16 “ Combination Produétmeans a Pfizer Combination Product and/or an istreeCombination Product.

1.17 * Commencé or “ Commencemerntwhen used with respect to a clinical study, meesfirst dosing of the first patient
for such study.




CONFIDENTIAL

1.18 “ Commercially Reasonable Effoftmeans those efforts and resources consistentthétlusual practice of PFIZER in
pursuing the development or commercialization ®bitvn pharmaceutical products that are of similarket potential as the
Licensed Products, taking into account all rele¥aators including product labelling or anticipataflelling, present and future
market potential, past performance of Licensed &etsdand PFIZER’s own pharmaceutical productsahabf similar market
potential, financial return, medical and clinicahsiderations, present and future regulatory enwirent and competitive marl
conditions, all as measured by the facts and cistantes at the time such efforts are due. Withoitiation to the generality
and principles stated above, the following shaltrbated as evidence that PFIZER has satisfiezbitgations to use
Commercially Reasonable Efforts: (i) receipt by AHRISYS of applicable Event Milestone Payments pfijgressing
development and commercialisation of Licensed Petsdim accordance with Research Plans, Clinicalelpment Plans
(including regulatory plans) and plans for Laungii); cooperation in relation to, funding or maintnce of Athersys Patent
Rights pursuant to Section 1and (iv) maintaining meaningful dialogue with Ré&gory Authorities to progress any clinical or
regulatory issues which have delayed or may delajdal Development Plans and/or Launch.

1.19 “ Committe¢ means each of the JSC, Research Committee, Dawelat & Regulatory Committee and/or Manufacturing
Committee.

1.20 “ Compound means a Pfizer Compound and/or an Athersys Comghou
1.21 “ Development & Regulatory Committéshall have the meaning assigned to it in Sechi@tb).

1.22 “ Device” means an Athersys Device and/or a Pfizer Device.
1.23 “ Effective Daté means December 18, 2009.

1.24 * Event Milestone Paymeritsneans the amounts set forth in Section 9.bfsosite the respective Event Milestones.

1.25 * Extensiorf shall have the meaning assigned to it in Sec®iéh

1.26 “ FDA” means the United States Food and Drug Adminisimatr any successor agency thereto.

1.27 “ FDCA” means the U.S. Federal Food, Drug and Cosmeticascamended, and the regulations promulgateduhder.
1.28 “ Field” means the Pilot Indication and the Major Indioati

1.29 “ FTE Raté means the amount per annum set out in Section@®.&uch other amount agreed by the parties), otithe
of an employee to whom all required facilities, erals and equipment have been made availablesfdognance of specific,
technical or managerial work being a full time eglent person (consisting of a total of not lestfi' ] per annum of work

supporting the collaborative efforts and goalshef Research Plan); to be prorated on a daily fastsessary (such per annum
amount to be divided by [*] to produce the rate waple day consisting of [*]).

*
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1.30 “ Governmental Authoritymeans any court, agency, department, authoritptloer instrumentality of any international,
national, state, county, city or other politicabdivision.

1.31 “ IND " means an Investigational New Drug Application siited under the FDCA; or an analogous applicatiofiling
with any analogous agency or Regulatory Authoritis@e of the United States under any analogowsdgor_aw for the
purposes of obtaining permission to conduct huntiarcal studies.

1.32 “ Indemnified Party shall have the meaning assigned to it in Sectio:3.

1.33 “ Indemnifying Party shall have the meaning assigned to it in Sectio:3.

1.34 “ Initial Research Terrhshall have the meaning assigned to in Section 2.2

1.35 “ JSC’ shall mean Joint Steering Committee and shaleltae meaning given to it in Section 5.1
1.36 “ Key Role’ shall mean each of the following roles in conmattwvith the Research Progrand:]f

1.37 * Launch’ means the first shipment of a Licensed Producioimmercial quantities for commercial sale by PRRZEs
Affiliates or its sublicensees to a Third Partyaisountry in the Territory after receipt by PFIZBRhe first Regulatory
Approval (and, in any country in which Price Appabis necessary or relevant for a majority of tbpydation to obtain access
to pharmaceutical products, Price Approval) forrsuizensed Product in such country.

1.38 “ Laws” means all laws, statutes, rules, regulationsemdudgments and/or ordinances of any GovernrhAataority.

1.39 “ Licensed Produétmeans any bio-pharmaceutical product in all desmgms and formulations, for administration
through any delivery platform or mechanism, in eaabe that contains a MultiStem Product (including Athersys
Combination Product and any Pfizer Combination Bet)d the manufacture, sale, offer for sale, imgtioh, or use of which

[*]-

1.40 “ Losses shall have the meaning assigned to it in Sectids2.

1.41 * Major EU Countrie$ means the United Kingdom, Spain, Italy, Francd &ermany.

1.42 “ Major Indicatior’ means inflammatory bowel disease in humans, [*].

1.43 * Manufacturing Committeeshall have the meaning assigned to it in Sechi@{c).

*
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1.44 *Manufacturing Cost8¥ means with respect to each Licensed Productf {ag Licensed Product is manufactured by a
Third Party for ATHERSYS or PFIZER or their respeetAffiliates, then the actual amount paid by ATRIEYS or PFIZER or
their Affiliates) to such Third Party for the maaafure and supply of the Licensed Product andf thgiLicensed Product is
manufactured by ATHERSYS or PFIZER or their respechffiliates, then all of the costs and expenisetusive of any taxes
(including applicable overhead costs and expermé®xcluding any clinical development costs) imedror paid by
ATHERSYS and its Affiliates (or PFIZER and its Affites if PFIZER has acquired manufacturing riginder this Agreement)
with respect to the manufacturing of Licensed Potglincluding, without limitation, the following sts to the extent such costs
are actually incurred by the manufacturing partgoainted for in accordance with U.S. GAAP as caestly applied by the
manufacturing party and attributable to the manuf@cand supply of the Licensed Product : (i) akbct costs with respect to
manufacturing and supply the Licensed Productuutioly all direct costs of raw materials, laboretise fees (if any),
maintenance and repair of equipment used to matwiéathe Licensed Product, storage and packagidghipping costs and
(i) a reasonable allocation of indirect costs agsed with such direct costs, not to exceéfigercent ([*%]) thereof.

1.45 "Materials Transfer Agreemehtneans an agreement in the form set out in Scleetidbpursuant to which the parties, or
their Affiliates, shall or shall be deemed to h&remsferred biological materials or compounds (idaig MultiStem cells or
Compounds) to each other pursuant to Section 2.9

1.46 “ MultiStem” means multipotent adult progenitor cells derifiemn bone marrow and expanded more than twenty
doublings, as covered by the Athersys Patent Rights

1.47 * MultiStem ProductSmeans the following cells identified, developadgd/or intended for use in treatment of a disease o
conditions in humans, however delivered: (a) Muéi8; (b) progeny or components of MultiStem; (c)iwkives of any of the
foregoing (a) or (b); and (d) genetically-modifigdiltiStem; and including, without limitation, celts tissues that are derived
from any of the foregoing, as any of the foregaietis might be at the time of treatment (i) in thative, undifferentiated sta

(i) in a partially or fully pre-differentiated gt (iii) primed for differentiation or specific ddbgical activity (for example,
through the introduction of grotein, peptide, gene, polynucleotide, small maleor other active pharmaceutical ingredient
(iv) in a modified form.

1.48 “ NDA” means a New Drug Application filed with the FDAdocordance with the FDCA with respect to a pharmica
products or an analogous application or filing vétiy Regulatory Authority outside of the Unitedt8&(including any supra-
national agency such as the European Union) foptinpose of obtaining approval to market and spthamaceutical product
in such jurisdiction.

1.49 “ Net Sale$ means (a) with respect to a Licensed Product irfriblel that is not a PFIZER Combination Produag, ginoss
amount invoiced by PFIZER, its Affiliates and itgbicensees of such Licensed Product to Third €artéss (i) bad debts
related to such Licensed Product, (ii) sales retamd allowances actually paid, granted or accrinetliding, trade, quantity
and cash discounts and any other adjustmentsdingjuthose granted on account of price adjustméiltsg errors, rejected
goods, damaged or defective goods, recalls, retuebates, chargeback rebates, reimbursementsidarspayments granted or
given to wholesalers or other distributors, buygmgups, health care insurance carriers or othétitiens, adjustments arising

*
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from consumer discount programs or other similagpams, (iii) customs or excise duties, salesdarsumption tax, value
added tax, and other taxes (except income taxef)t@s relating to sales, any payment in respesales to the United States
government, any state government or any foreigregowent, or to any other Governmental Authoritywih respect to any
government-subsidized program or managed care izagam actually collected, and (iv) freight andimance (to the extent
that PFIZER or the Affiliates bears the cost ofght and insurance for a Licensed Product); andviti) respect to a
Combination Product, such percentage of the NetsSafl such Combination Product, as determineddordance with clause
(a) hereot as the parties agree in good faith taking into antthe relative value of any Pfizer Compound, &fi2evice,
Athersys Compound, and Athersys Device includetthénCombination Product. Net Sales shall be detexdhfrom books and
records maintained in accordance with generallgpiable accounting principles in the United Stadss;onsistently applied |
PFIZER with respect to sales of all its pharmaaalifproducts

1.50 “ Pfizer Combination Produtimeans a MultiStem Product containing or co-adsiered (where the individual
products/forms are intended for simultaneous ousetjal administration) with a Pfizer Compound(s).

1.51 *Pfizer Combination Product IPRsmeans rights in (i) issued patents and pendingigiomal and non-provisional
applications for patents, including, without lintitan, any continuations, continuationsqast or divisions directed to inventio
disclosed therein; (ii) any re-examinations, reéssuenewals, substitutions or extensions of atgnps; (iii) foreign
counterparts or equivalents of any of the foregaights, (iv) inventions, discoveries, data, infation, trade secrets, proces:
methods, techniques, materials, technology, resultgsher know-how, whether or not patentable hfethods, devices or
improvements for delivery or maintenance of a babed product, and (vi) copyrights, software, sewade and copyrightable
works ; in each case of (i) through (vi) that areated, devised or arise out of the parties (ar tiiliates) undertaking and
performing activities under the Research Progradwemere such rights are directed to a Pfizer Coatlin Product.

1.52 ‘Pfizer Compound means a small molecule, biological molecule andfoig candidate and/or other pharmaceutical agent
in respect of which PFIZER has exclusive rightg.(by ownership or licence from a Third Party unagevant patents and
patent applications at the time such Pfizer Comgadsintroduced into the Research Program.

1.53 “ Pfizer Confidential Informatiohmeans all information relating to Compounds acdtised Products (including Pfizer
Combination Products), as well as any other infdionaregarding the business and operations of PRIZEat is or has been
disclosed (whether orally or in writing) by PFIZERATHERSYS or its Affiliates to the extent thatcsuinformation is not (i)
as of the date of disclosure known to ATHERSY S®Affiliates; or (ii) disclosed in published liure, or otherwise genera
known to the public through no breach by or ATHEFSS%f this Agreement or (iii) obtained by ATHERS%8its Affiliates
from a Third Party free from any obligation of calentiality to PFIZER; or (iv) independently devptmd by ATHERSYS or its
Affiliates without use of the Pfizer Confidentialfbrmation; or (v) in the reasonable opinion ofdegounsel, required to be
disclosed under Law; provided that, in the casggfATHERSYS provides PFIZER prior notice (to #netent practicable) of
such disclosure and agrees to cooperate, at thesegnd sole expense of PFIZER, with PFIZER' sreffm preserve the
confidentiality of such information.
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1.54 ‘Pfizer Devicé means a device intended to assist the deliveryjrastmation or release of a bio-pharmaceutical patdn
respect of which PFIZER has exclusive rights (eygownership or by licence from a Third Party wiitle right to sublicense)
under relevant patents and patent applicatiortseatitne such Pfizer Device is introduced into thesé&arch Program.

1.55 “ Pfizer Quartet means each of the four (4) calendar quartersygfcalendar year.

1.56 ‘Pfizer Technology means all materials, technology, data, technicdlsmientific information, know-how, expertise and
trade secrets that relate to or are used in coiomewith any MultiStem Products, Pfizer Combinat®roducts, including any
intellectual property rights embodying any of tbeegoing (other than Pfizer Combination ProductdpP®hich are owned, co-
owned by or licensed to PFIZER or its Affiliatestiwthe right to licence or sub-license as of tliie&ive Date or at any time
during the Term.

1.57 “ Pfizer Yeal means the twelve (12) month period commencingamuary 1 of any calendar year.

1.58 “ Phase | Clinical Studymeans a clinical study that is the first introtlan into humans of a Licensed Product that is
intended initially to evaluate the tolerance, saftd/or pharmacological effects at a potentidigrapeutic dose level of a
Clinical Development Candidate and advance theiciDevelopment Candidate to Phase Il or subsddqlieical study.

1.59 “ Phase Il Clinical Studymeans a clinical study, other than a Phase i€l Study, that is intended to test the
effectiveness of a Clinical Development Candidateaf specific indication in patients with the dise@r condition under study.

1.60 “ Phase lI(b) Clinical Studymeans a Phase Il Clinical Study that is intentiedstablish the dosing regimen for use in a
Phase IlI Clinical Study of a Clinical Developmé&Zdndidate for a specific indication.

1.61 “ Phase lll Clinical Studymeans a clinical study intended to meet the neguoénts for approval of an NDA, BLA or
equivalent, for a Licensed Product.

1.62 “ Pilot Indicatior’ means ulcerative colitis’].

1.63 “ Price Approval means, in any country where a Governmental Authauthorizes reimbursement for, or approves or
determines pricing for, pharmaceutical productseig (or, if required to make such authorizatiapproval or determination
effective, publication) of such reimbursement adttaiion or pricing approval or determination (ae tase may be).

1.64 “ Redacted Agreemehshall have the meaning assigned to it in Sectipd.

1.65 “ Regulatory Approvdl means with respect to any jurisdiction, any aliépprovals, or authorizations (other than Price
Approvals) (e.g. BLA, INDs, NDASs) that are necegsar the commercial manufacture, distribution, ,usarketing or sale of a
bio-pharmaceutical product in such jurisdiction.

Confidential treatment has been requested foratiaated portions of this exhibit, and such confiidéportions have bee
omitted and filed separately with the Securitied Brchange Commissio




CONFIDENTIAL

1.66 “ Regulatory Authority means, with respect to any jurisdiction, the Goweental Authority having responsibility for
granting Regulatory Approvals in such country aigdiction.

1.67 “ Research Committ?’ shall have the meaning assigned to it in Sedi@da).

1.68 “ Release Conditighshall have the meaning assigned to it in Schedude

1.69 ‘Representativésneans with respect to a party, such party’s Atii& licensees, officers, directors, managers erepk
consultants, contractors, sub-licensees and agents.

1.70 “ Research Pldhmeans a detailed plan that sets forth the respititisiof, and activities to be conducted by, ATRI&EY S
and PFIZER with respect to non-clinical researdiviies related to MultiStem and its potential gedn the clinic, and in
advancing one or more MultiStem Products into aneore potential Clinical Development Candidated hitensed Products
(including a detailed budget corresponding to eacth plan). [ ].

1.71 '‘Research Progrdhmeans the research and non-clinical developmenitaest conducted by (or to be conducted by) each
party pursuant to the Research Plan.

1.72 “ Research Program IPRmeans rights in (i) issued patents and pendingipional and non-provisional applications for
patents, including, without limitation, any contations, continuations-in-part or divisions directednventions disclosed
therein; (ii) any re-examinations, reissues, refdgvgbstitutions or extensions of any patentd;f@ireign counterparts or
equivalents of any of the foregoing rights, (ivyémtions, discoveries, data, information, tradeetscprocesses, methods,
techniques, materials, technology, results or dther-how, whether or not patentable; (v) methalésjces or improvements
for delivery or maintenance of a cell-based produntt (vi) copyrights, software, source code and/dghtable works, in each
case (i) through (vi) that which are created, dedisr arise out of the parties (or their Affilidtemdertaking and performing tl
Research Program, other than Athersys Combinatioduet IPRs and Pfizer Combination IPRs.

1.73 “ Research Terfhmeans the Initial Research Term and, at PFIZERIe discretion, the Extension.

1.74 * Royalty Termi means, on a country-by-country and Licensed Pebty-Licensed Product basis, the period commer
upon Launch of the Licensed Product in the Fielthencountry and ending upon [*]: (i) the date dmeh such Licensed
Product is no longer covered by a Valid Claim istsaountry; or (ii) [*] ([*]) years from the datef aunch of the first
Licensed Product in such country provided thatRbgulatory Approval for such Licensed Product iahsaountry continues to
provide data or market exclusivity in respect aftsuicensed Product.

1.75 “ Sales Milestone Paymeritmeans the amounts set forth in Section.9.2
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1.76 “ StaneBy License’ means each license entered into pursuant to@e¢tb between PFIZER, ATHERSYS and the
corresponding Third Party to a Third Party License.

1.77 * Suitably Qualified Persdmmeans a person with the qualifications and/oregigmce ordinarily required in connection
with the relevant Key Role, which in relation t§: ATHERSYS’ Co-Chair to the JSC shall mean a penstth at least [ ] ([*])
years experience working in human cell based tlyeragearch in an industrial environment; (i) ATHERS Co-Chair to the
Manufacturing Committee shall mean a person witkadt [*] ([*]) years experience in the manufaetwf human cell based
products and (iii) ATHERSYS’ Research Program piagriead shall mean a person with at least [*])([féars experience
managing human cell based research projects.

1.78 “ Term” shall have the meaning assigned to it in Section
1.79 “ Territory” means the entire world.
1.80 “ Third Party’ means any person or entity other than PFIZER, ERSYS, or any of their respective Affiliates.

1.81 “ Third Party Claini shall have the meaning assigned to it in Sectitr3.

1.82 “ Third Party License€smeans the Third Party licence agreements ligtiedchedule 1.83s such Schedule may be
amended during the Term by agreement of the pddigslude any relevant future Third Party license

1.83 “ Valid Claim” means [*]
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Section 2 RESEARCH PROGRAM
2.1 Purpose.

During the Research Term, ATHERSYS and PFIZER eghduct the Research Program and Clinical Developme
Program and any other agreed upon activities bpé#nges. The goal of the collaboration is to disrcand develop Licensed
Products and in particular to: (i) advance one orenLicensed Products in the Field to “proof of ogpt” in human; (ii) further
advance Licensed Products in the Field to predirtesting as defined in the Research Plan; (i@wate the potential to
advance one or more Licensed Products in the Bislidgive ATHERSYS an opportunity to participateadevelopment with
PFIZER; (iv) advance research in the potentiafdomulation, pre-treatment, concurrent treatmenfptiow-on treatment with
one or more pharmaceutical agents for improvemecglbbased therapy in the Field; and (v) to assuomtinuity of MultiStem
clinical supply and manufacturing capability to papgt development and commercialisation of LicerBemtucts in the Field.

2.2 Research Term.

The initial Term of the Research Program will be[fd] from the Effective Date (the “ Initial Researchrin”). Pfizer
may elect, in its sole discretion, to extend thedech Term for an additional [*] (* Extensi®y subject to the parties agreeing
to any applicable changes to the Research Plan@tihical Development Plan(s) and to PFIZER pdawy the additional
research funding pursuant to Section.8.1

2.3 Exclusivity.

During the Research Term and thereafter for as &ngFIZER is using Commercially Reasonable Effioridevelop or
commercialise a Licensed Product in the Field enTerritory, ATHERSYS and its Affiliates shall woekclusively with Pfizer
in the development and commercialisation of LicenBeoducts for the Field in the Territory.

2.4 Research Reports

(a) Quarterly Reports. After each Pfizer Quartehaaarty will submit to the Research Committee tem report
summarizing its activities under the Research RrmgiEach research report shall include summanjtsemod material data al
findings for all Research Program studies ongoingompleted during the Pfizer Quarter. The reparsnie submitted within
30 days of the end of the Pfizer Quarter.

(b) Annual Reports. After each Pfizer Year eachypaill submit to the JSC a written report detailithe work it
completed during the Pfizer Year and evaluatingrésellts of its work. The report must be submittéithin 30 days of the end
of the Pfizer Year.
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2.5 Sharing of Research and Certain Information.

ATHERSYS shall share with PFIZER in good faith campletely as possible, promptly, but in any evergccordance
with any requirements as to time for submissiorification of any Regulatory Authorities'[], prior to the Effective Date and
which are set out in writing, certain researchifiigd from studies conducted using MultiStem Prosloctresearch materials
outside this Agreement (by example and withoutthtindn[*]) which ATHERSY'S reasonably deems to blevant to patient
safety, the safe research use of MultiStem andebearch, development, regulatory requirementgpacdmmercialization of
Clinical Development Candidate. All information pided pursuant to this Section Zball be considered Athersys Confider
Information.

2.6 Introduction of Technology.

If a party identifies technology or compounds ingiegient of the Research Program that it believebthigve utility in the
Research Program, it may notify the Research Coteenénd the Research Committee shall discuss aed agon the nature
and scope of incorporation of such technology onpound into the Research Program, including sucty’sagpatent rights wit
respect to such technology, and designate suchdéay as Athersys Compounds or Devices or Pfizenfbunds or Devices,
as the case may be. If the Research Committee tagree on introduction of such technology, théypgroposing to introduc
the technology can withdraw its proposal and sechriology will be excluded from the Research Progra

2.7 Cell Repository.

By the date set out in the Research Plan, ATHERB&f8by agrees to: (i) transfer to PFIZER, on thexseof the
Materials Transfer Agreement, sufficient numbersiafs containing stored cells from each of: (a then current MultiStem
master cell banks, (b) each of the MultiStem wagkiell banks which have been derived from a MudtiSmaster cell bank,
and (c) the then current media used by ATHERSYiitiate cell expansion and a complete list of ghewth factors and med
components required, in each case (a), (b) anals(aye capable of producing the MultiStem cellsiaddo (x) enable PFIZER
to serve as a repository for MultiStem cells andnfanufacture Clinical Development Candidates aieérised Products for u
in the Field in accordance with Schedule 2and (ii) a certified (to the extent required) gay all licenses, permits and
authorisations granted by Regulatory Authoritied anch supporting documentation and donor conseqtsred to demonstre
compliance with all Laws relating to the isolatigurification, derivation, production and traced#bpibf the MultiStem cells,
such other information as is required to suppat@MC sections of a regulatory dossier for a LieehBroduct in the Field and
access to all electronic regulatory submissionsenigdor on behalf of ATHERSYS (together referredsahe “ MultiStem

Regulatory File").

2.8 Laboratory Facility and Personnel.

Each party will provide suitable laboratory faddit, materials, equipment and personnel for théwmbe done by it in t
Research Program. ATHERSYS may subcontract ang obligations in respect of a Research Plan taffiates or to other
Third Party providers as agreed under the appkcBlglsearch Plan and subject to the terms of Set@idgh

*
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2.9 Materials Transfer.

All biological materials and compounds for reseaanl laboratory use(i.e., excluding clinical or coencial supply of
Clinical Development Candidates and other Liceri¥extlucts), transferred by ATHERSYS and PFIZER &odther party shall
be transferred pursuant to the Materials Transfge@ment.

2.10 Commercially Reasonable Efforts.

PFIZER will use Commercially Reasonable Efforts &TAHERSYS will in good faith apply those effortscaresources
consistent with and in kind to PFIZER’S Commergidleasonable Efforts in pursing the developmembonmercialization of
the Licensed Products to achieve the goals of #se&ch Program.

2.11 Changes to Ongoing Research.

With respect to studies and activities of the RedeRrogram, the party responsible for a particstiady or activity under
the Research Program may modify the study or ifsites, but only after consultation with and appal of the JSC (or
applicable subcommittee) for material modificati@msl changes, such approval to by given by emahaxge of the applicak
Committee Co-Chairs.

2.12 New Research. During the Term, the partieisipate undertaking additional non-clinical reséamand the parties
acknowledge that either party may assume certaporesibilities, and may conduct certain activitisssonnection with such
research. The JSC (or a subcommittee designatadegponsibility therefore) shall have oversighttfee parties’
responsibilities and activities (if any) relatedntaw research, and shall incorporate such reseacthities and studies into the
Research Plan as appropriate.

2.13 Disclosure of Technology.

Within thirty (30) days after the Effective Dateydafrom time-to-time throughout the Term, and at time during the
Term at PFIZER's request, ATHERSYS will discloséPtelZER or its designated Affiliate all Athersyschaology that may be
necessary or useful to PFIZER to develop, manufactegister, or market Clinical Development Caathd or Licensed
Products in the Field and efficiently practice lisenses granted to PFIZER under this Agreementying all regulatory
materials, permissions and consents relating tdiStelm as may be required by any Regulatory Autipori
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Section 3 CLINICAL DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM

3.1 Clinical Development Program. The parties statiduct the Clinical Development Program in acaaog with the Clinical
Development Plan(s). The Development & Regulataoyn@ittee shall oversee the Clinical DevelopmengkRrm. PFIZER
shall have the exclusive right and responsibilitygreparing any Clinical Development Plans, cotidgcclinical development
and executing clinical trials thereunder, and atitegj all Regulatory Approvals for Licensed Produntthe Field. ATHERSYS
at its cost and without delay to the progressioarafterference with Regulatory Approvals, shallé the right to participate
a direct observer in all aspects of developmeiat Gfinical Development Candidate through Phase {I{mical Studies and, f
so long as ATHERSYS continues to fund Phase Iihi€éil Studies pursuant to Section 3.2(Phase Il Clinical Studies.
PFIZER shall be solely responsible for the costexafcuting any clinical study of any Clinical Demginent Candidate, except
the costs of ATHERSYS’ own participation in thenadial study in accordance with the Clinical Devetegmt Plan(s), certain
Manufacturing Costs pursuant to Section Zahd as provided in Section 3.2

3.2 Opt-In Rights. Prior to the initiation of thiest Phase Il Clinical Study in any Pilot Indicati or Major Indication,
ATHERSYS may elect to participate in the developtnand related funding, of the Phase IlI Clinicald for such Indication
as follows:

(a) At least six (6) months prior to the initiationthe first Phase 1l Clinical Study for a in aRijfot Indication or Major
Indication, PFIZER shall provide to ATHERSYS a weait Clinical Development Plan, including a desdoiptof the studies to
be completed (including trial design(s)), the planseeking any Regulatory Approval(s), any otleguirements for obtaining
Regulatory Approval, the then current commercigiaraplan, and a budget describing PFIZER'S godith festimates of the
costs of all of these activities.

(b) IF ATHERSYS wishes to participate in the co-eleypment of the Licensed Product pursuant to thical
Development Plan provided under Section 3.R(shall notify PFIZER in writing (OptIn Notic€’ ) by no later than thirty
(30) days prior to Commencement of the correspanBimase 1l Clinical Study. If ATHERSYS does nobyide an Opt-In
Natice, then it forgoes its right to participatecit-development of such Licensed Product. If ATHERSM®s provide PFIZER
with an Opt-In Notice, then it shall provide PFIZERhin thirty (30) days of the date of the OptNiotice a written
commitment to fund its share of costs. If ATHERSfa8s to provide such written commitment, thenhiailt forgo its right to
participate in the co-development of such LicerBextiuct.

(c) If ATHERSYS provides to PFIZER the Opt-In Na&iand a corresponding written commitment, theATHERSYS
shall make payment to PFIZER of its share of costa quarterly basis as described in Schedule)3aa¢t (ii) if ATHERSYS
funds all its share of the Clinical Development tSder that Clinical Development Candidate, ATHERShall be entitled to
(A) participate in any Development and Regulatooyinittee(s) and as a direct observer in all aspd#dtse Phase Il Clinical
Study and the Clinical Development Plan for sucini€al Development Candidate (subject to Pfizeights in_Section 3.} anc
(B) share Profits from the commercialization of sliicensed Product in accordance with ScheduleeB.2(

(d) If ATHERSYS is unable or elects not to pay amyall of its portion of costs pursuant_ to Sect®(c)then, as the sole
remedy for such failure, it shall lose the benagitSection 3.2 (c )(ii)(Babove with respect to the Licensed Product and,shal
subject to its obligations pursuant to Section Balje no further obligations to fund its share asts.
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3.3 Clinical Development Program Reports.

(a) Quarterly ReportsAfter each Pfizer Quarter following the Commeneairof a Clinical Development Plan and during
the Research Term each party will submit to thedligyment & Regulatory Committee a written repornguarizing its
activities under that Clinical Development Progr&ach report shall include summary results and ni@hidata and findings, if
available, for all Research Program studies ongomgpmpleted during the Pfizer Quarter. The reparst be submitted within
thirty (30) days of the end of the Pfizer Quarter.

(b) Annual Reportsr Clinical Summary ReporEollowing the Commencement of a Clinical Developirfélan and
ending with the first Launch of the applicable lnsed Product, PFIZER shall provide annually follegvthe end of the Pfizer
Year, or at the end of a clinical study when theichl report is issued, written reports to the I33®evelopment & Regulatory
Committee regarding the development of the Licerediuct. PFIZER shall use Commercially Reasongfitits to provide
the annual report within thirty (30) days of thelef each Pfizer Year and the clinical summary rephen completed and
approved. If PFIZER is preparing a clinical summaapgort for any clinical study that is completedenminated prior to
completion, PFIZER will not have to prepare a sefgmannual report if the clinical summary repodrigicipated within the
following Pfizer Quarter.

(c) All information provided by PFIZER to ATHERSY&Irsuant to this Section 3sBall be considered Pfizer Confiden
Information.

3.4 Commercially Reasonable Efforts.

PFIZER will use Commercially Reasonable Efforts &TAHERSYS shall in good faith apply those effontglaesources
consistent with and in kind to PFIZER’s Commergidtleasonably Efforts to achieve the goals of thei€l Development
Program. PFIZER will use Commercially ReasonabferE to develop, seek Regulatory Approval for anchmercialize a
Licensed Product for the Pilot Indication and foe Major Indication following approval pursuantthis Agreement of an
applicable Clinical Development Plan for a Liceng&edduct for the Pilot Indication or Major Indicati.

3.5 Records.

During the Term, PFIZER will prepare and maintaiewate records and books relating to the progredsstatus of its
activities under a Clinical Development Plan arfieotvise in relation to the development of LicenBedducts. As reasonably
requested by ATHERSYS from time-to-time throughttwet Term, PFIZER will disclose to or permit direcicess, during
PFIZER regular business hours with appropriatecedtiom and good faith justification from ATHERSY8,ATHERSYS to
material records, books and data related to theldpment of any Licensed Product, including anyltagpry filings and
communications; investigator’'s brochures; studyrds, reports and related data; and related infooma
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3.6 Regulatory Affairs.

(a) PFIZER shall determine all regulatory plans simdtegies for the Licensed Products (includingi€al Development
Candidates) in the Field, and will own and be resjide for preparing, seeking, submitting and nairihg the investigator’s
brochure and all regulatory filings and Regulatdpprovals for all Licensed Products in the Fietd;luding preparing all
reports necessary as part of a regulatory filinRegulatory Approval and for all communicationshMRegulatory Authorities
for such Licensed Products in the Field. ATHERSYi8lishave the right, at its cost and without defayhe progression of
Regulatory Approvals, to participate as a direcasber in significant regulatory activities, incing interactions with
Regulatory Authorities. Without limiting ATHERSY $bligations pursuant to Section 2id Schedule 2./ATHERSYS
agrees to cooperate and assist Pfizer in the poovig any documentation required for any regulafdings for Regulatory
Approvals for Licensed Products in the Field.

(b) ATHERSYS shall keep PFIZER regularly and prasnptformed of all material regulatory filings, Relgtory
Approvals and all material communications, inteefaend other actions to, with or from Regulatoryhduities relating to
MultiStem Products outside the Field and shall emslat all such filings, Regulatory Approvals, coonications, interfaces
and actions are materially made by ATHERSYS in etaace with the global clinical and regulatory &gy approved by the
Development & Regulatory Committee from time todifor the Licensed Products in the Field. AdditignaATHERSY'S shal
take in to account in good faith any concerns pufrraised by PFIZER in relation to such regulafiiygs, Regulatory
Approvals, communications, interfaces and actions.

(c) Without limiting the provisions of Section 3a§@and Section 2.5the safety reporting units from each of the parti
shall meet and agree upon a written agreemenifiramging adverse event and other safety and pti@macovigilance
information relating to MultiStem Products prioritdtiation of any clinical activity in the Fieldriplicating pharmacovigilance
obligations for the MultiStem Products in the Temy (the “ Pharmacovigilance AgreeméhtSuch Pharmacovigilance
Agreement shall ensure that adverse events and sdfety information is exchanged upon terms thltp@rmit each party to
comply with Laws and requirements of Regulatoryhfauities.

(d) Any regulatory affairs matter relating to anth&rsys Device to be used for MultiStem ProducthénField shall be
discussed initially by the JSC, Development & Ragndy Committee, with appropriate regulatory expémm the parties
present at that meeting, for the purposes of démémmthe appropriate regulatory strategy for ussuzh Device in the Field.
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3.7 Regulatory Exclusivity

PFIZER shall have the sole right to apply for aaduse exclusivity rights for the Licensed Productthe Territory in the
Field that may be available under the Law of cdastin the Territory, including any data or mar&gtlusivity periods such as
those periods listed in the FDA's Orange Book aiquis under national implementations of Article(@)(iii) of Directive
2001/EC/83 (including any paediatric exclusivityensions or other forms of regulatory exclusiviigttmay be available), and
all international equivalents. ATHERSYS shall irogdaith apply those efforts and resources congistéh and in kind to
PFIZER’s Commercially Reasonable Efforts to coofeevath PFIZER and to take such reasonable actmassist PFIZER, in
obtaining such exclusivity rights in each countty,PFIZER may reasonably request from time to time.

3.8 Commercialization/Pricing.

PFIZER shall be solely responsible for marketimgnpoting, selling, distributing and determiningginig and other terms
of sale for all Licensed Products in the Territorghe Field. After each Pfizer Quarter, and oneeually, Pfizer will submit to
ATHERSYS a written report summarizing its commeizaion activities during the applicable periodl iformation
provided by PFIZER to ATHERSYS pursuant to thistfec3.8shall be considered Confidential Information (aBrabal in
Section 12.9) of PFIZER.

Section 4 MANUFACTURING OF LICENSED PRODUCT
4.1 Clinical Manufacture and Supply of Licensedd®ict during Research Term.

(a) PreClinical Supply. ATHERSYS shall be responsible for the supply arahufacture, itself or through ATHERSYS’
Third Party manufacturer as of the Effective Datd any other Third Party manufacturer approved B(ZER (such approval
not to be unreasonably withheld), of such quastitiethe Clinical Development Candidate materiguieed for non-clinical
research and studies pursuant to a Research Phancast to Pfizer during the Research Term.

(b) Certain Clinical Supply ATHERSYS shall be responsible for the supply and

manufacture, itself or through an agreed ThirdyPawanufacturer, of such quantities of Clinical Diepenent Candidate
material required for clinical studies pursuanatGlinical Development Plan approved and underwaind the Research Term
at a cost to PFIZER of"[] percent ([*%]) of the reasonable Manufacturings@dfor that Clinical Development Candidate
material based on the following assumptions: @ ¢stimated Manufacturing Costs per dose being gl (ii) the anticipated
amount of Clinical Development Candidate mateggluired being the amount required for [*] patietftshese assumptions ¢
materially incorrect, the Manufacturing Committéxal review the costs sharing basis and agreeytgarised cost sharing
arrangement. The cost estimates are for initiaingtag purposes and are not intended to describ@bdost obligation from
PFIZER. ATHERSYS shall use its commercially reatda@ndeavours to reduce Manufacturing Costs.

(c) Other Clinical Study SupplyExcept as provided in Sections 4.1(a) andhfig) subject to any Release Condition
occurring, ATHERSYS shall be responsible for thppy and manufacture, itself or through an agreleiddTParty
manufacturer, of such quantities of the ClinicalVBlepment Candidate required for clinical studiasspant to an approved
Clinical Development Plan at a cost to Pfizer ¢fdércent ([*%]) of the reasonable Manufacturings@an respect of the
manufacture and supply of Clinical Development Gdaig material.

*

Confidential treatment has been requested foratiaated portions of this exhibit, and such confiidéportions have bee
omitted and filed separately with the Securitied Brchange Commissio
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4.2 Commercial Supply

Subject to any Release Condition occurring, ATHERS¥iall be responsible for the supply and manufagitself or
through an agreed Third Party manufacturer, of suentities of the Licensed Product to the exteasonably required by
PFIZER to commercialize the Licensed Products énTarritory and in the Field. ATHERSYS shall suppiich quantities of
Licensed Product at a price to PFIZER b1 percent ([*%]) of the reasonable Manufacturings@oof such Licensed Products,
unless ATHERSYS is sharing Profits with resped tdcensed Product pursuant to Section 3.2ift)which case the price to
PFIZER shall be [*] percent ([*%]) of the reasonalManufacturing Costs. The terms and proceduresdyupon which
ATHERSYS shall supply Licensed Products to PFIZERetnder shall be reasonably mutually determinetthéyarties in
good faith based upon commercially reasonable astbmary terms, and shall be set forth in a sepanainufacturing and
supply agreement not less than [¥] months prigh®anticipated first Launch of a Licensed Product.

4.3 Manufacturing Cost Records.

ATHERSYS shall keep, and shall require all ThirdtiPananufacturers of Licensed Products to keepjrate records in
sufficient detail concerning the Manufacturing GofFIZER shall be entitled, upon reasonable natiicaudit the
Manufacturing Costs. For this purpose, ATHERSY 8litshall keep, and to the extent that ATHERSY Sdtatained records or
documents from its Third Party manufacturers skedip, such account books and related records amuermts for a period of
least seven (7) years after the end of the fiseaf yo which the Manufacturing Costs relate.

4.4 Manufacturing Compliance.

All Licensed Products supplied hereunder shall baufactured by or on behalf of ATHERSYS in comptianvith current
good manufacturing practices, other applicableirequents of relevant regulatory authorities inchglbut not limited to the
transportation, storage, use, handling and dispifsahste materials and hazardous materials usetitufacture Licensed
Products, all product specifications and testinghods. ATHERSYS, at its expense, shall obtain aathtain, and/or shall
require that its Third Party manufacturers obtaid maintain, for so long as ATHERSYS is supplyingensed Products
hereunder, all facility licenses and governmentrper necessary to manufacture and supply the LeskRsoducts.

4.5 Inspection.

With respect to the manufacture of the Licenseditets, PFIZER may, at its expense, upon reasomaliiee and during
normal business hours, conduct appropriate revighirgspection of the Licensed Products manufaajuiagilities, procedures
and related documentation to verify ATHERSYS and®fhird Party manufacturer’s (as applicable) ptiance with current
good manufacturing practices, other applicableirequents of relevant Regulatory Authorities, anldeotapplicable Laws , and
conformity of Licensed Products with the applicagpecifications and testing methods.

*

Confidential treatment has been requested foratiaated portions of this exhibit, and such confiidéportions have bee
omitted and filed separately with the Securitied Brchange Commissio
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Section 5 JOINT STEERING COMMITTEE

5.1 Joint Steering Committee. Promptly following tBffective Date, the parties shall establish at¥8ieering Committee (“
JSC”) to oversee and coordinate the parties’ respdlitgls and activities in accordance with and intfierance of the Research
Plan(s), Clinical Development Plan(s) and this Agnent. The JSC shall be composed of three (3) seuialified
representatives from each of Al and PFIZER (or ftbeir Affiliates). The total number of JISC membweili initially be six (6),
but the number may be increased or decreased fnoentb-time by written agreement of the partiegivilled that the number
of representatives from PFIZER shall always be kfqutdne number of representatives from ATHERSY&cheof PFIZER and
Al may replace any of its representatives on th@ aBwill by giving written notice thereof to th¢her party.

5.2 Subcommittees. The JSC shall be empowere@é&tecone or more subcommittees, project teams kirgogroups, as it
may deem appropriate or necessary. Each such sufittem, project team and working group shall repmthe JSC, which
shall have authority to approve or reject recomragéinds or actions proposed thereby, subject teethmes of this Agreement.
general, the parties contemplate that all JSC subttiees shall have an equal number of membersiatepdy each party.

(a) Within sixty (60) days of the Effective DatbhetJSC shall establish a research committee teesdhe non-clinical
research activities of the collaboration (* Reska&ommitte€’). The Research Committee shall be responsibléier
development, management, and performance of theaRgsPlan and Research Program, and any otheslimizal activities a
determined by the JSC. The Research Committeelshalbmposed of three (3) senior, qualified repriedives from each of ¢
and PFIZER (or their Affiliates), and a represemtairom each of Al and PFIZER shall jointly ch#ie Research Committee.
Decisions shall be made by consensus, and in & evconsensus is not reached within ten (10)@ssiDays after it is first
presented to the joint chairs of the Research Cateeithen such decisions shall be submitted as as@ossible to the JSC
decision.

(b) Within ninety (90) days of the Effective Datke JSC shall establish a Development & RegulaBmmnmittee
responsible for overall strategic and businessandd with respect to the development, managemenperiormance of the
Clinical Development Program and Clinical Develomtielan(s), the coordination and alignment of tlodogl clinical
development and regulatory strategies for MultiSRnmducts and Licensed Products and Combinatioduets both inside and
outside the Field (* Development & Regulatory Cortieg”). The Development & Regulatory Committee shall be posed o
an equal number of senior, qualified representativ@n each of Al and PFIZER (or their Affiliateg)d a representative from
each of Al and PFIZER shall jointly chair the Desinent & Regulatory Committee. Decisions shall lz@lenby consensus,
and in the event a consensus is not reached wehi(L0) Business Days after it is first presentethe joint chairs of the
Development & Regulatory Committee, then such dacssshall be submitted as soon as possible tdSkefor decision. In tk
event ATHERSYS fails to perform any material obliga or activity assigned to it under a Clinicah@&pment Plan for a
Clinical Development Candidate and does not cuch $ailure promptly after notice thereof, PFIZERyn&dect to suspend or
terminate all responsibilities of the JSC and tle&opment & Regulatory Committee in respect of theensed Product.
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(c) As soon as the JSC determines, but not later tthe end of the Research Term, the JSC shallilissta manufacturing
committee to oversee the supply of Licensed Proftuic¢he Field, and ensure cooperation regardieghtien cGMP
manufacturing standards and regulatory requirementsiuct specifications and testing methods (* Maoturing Committee
™). The Manufacturing Committee shall be resporesiiok ensuring the supply of Licensed Product lier Eield in accordance
with regulatory requirements and industry standardduding forecasting supply requirements andtiogrency planning and
actions for back-up supply and supply disrupti@m] any other activities as determined by the J®€.Manufacturing
Committee shall be composed of three (3) senialifigd representatives from each of Al and PFIZERtheir Affiliates), and
a representative from each of Al and PFIZER sloélitly chair the Manufacturing Committee. Decisiaimall be made by
consensus, and in the event a consensus is nbeckadthin ten (10) Business Days after it is fpeésented to the joint chairs
of the Manufacturing Committee, then such decisgirall be submitted as soon as possible to thefdiSgecision.

5.3 Chairperson. Al and PFIZER shall each appaietaf its representatives on each of the Commitisesco-chair of that
Committee (each, a “ G8hair"), and may change its Co-Chair from time to tinyewgitten notice to the other. Each party’s
Co-Chair shall serve as a co-chair of the apple@dmmittee meetings, unless the Co-Chairs joatgtgrmine that they shall
alternate responsibility for chairing Committee tiregs (whether on a meeting-by-meeting, calendartgu-by-calendar
quarter or calendar year-by-calendar year basis).

5.4 Committee Meetings.

(a) The JSC and Research Committee shall eachankssist once every Pfizer Quarter during the Rekeberm, either il
person, by video conference or by telephone conéereas appropriate, as reasonably arranged kydHehairs; provided that
at least one (1) JSC and Research Committee mgeimgalendar year shall be held in person.

(b) The Development & Regulatory Committee shaletreg least once every six months up to first Lauwica Licensed
Product in the Field where ATHERSYS elects to ceeligp a Licensed Product pursuant to SectioroB(#) once every Pfizer
Year where ATHERSYS does not so elect, either isq®g by video conference or by telephone confereas appropriate, as
reasonably arranged by the Co-Chairs; providedahigast one (1) Development & Regulatory Committeeting per
calendar year shall be held in person.

(c) The Manufacturing Committee shall meet at leaste every six months for so long as ATHERSYS rfestures or
controls manufacture and supply by an agreed Tarty of Clinical Development Candidates or LicehBeoducts for the
Field, either in person, by video conference otddgphone conference, as appropriate, as reasoaahlyged by the CGhairs;
provided thagt least one (1) Manufacturing Committee meetingcpéendar year shall be held in person.
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(d) Meetings of Committees shall be effective dhlt least one (1) Committee representative ohefcATHERSYS and
PFIZER participates in the meeting (in person otddgphone or videoconference). The Co-Chairsherésponsible
Committee chairperson, if applicable) shall be oesjible for scheduling Committee meetings, pregameeting agendas.
Notices of all regular Committee meetings shalsést at least thirty (30) days before such meetiAgendas for such meetir
shall be sent at least ten (10) days before suctinggs.

(e) In addition, either Co-Chair of a Committee nfieyn time to time request a special Committee mgediy contacting
the other Co-Chair and providing a proposed agémdsuch meeting. The Co-Chairs shall arrange aiallytacceptable time
for such special Committee meeting as promptlyahfter as reasonably possible, and shall prepareissulate an agenda for
such special Committee meeting as far in advansaci meeting as reasonably possible.

(f) Each Committee will keep accurate minutes ®thliberations. The minutes will record all demisi and proposed
actions. A draft of the minutes must be deliver@dlt Committee members within ten (10) Businesgafter each meeting.
The party hosting the meeting will prepare andutate the draft minutes. The Co-chairs will editpeove and distribute the
minutes to all Committee members at least ten BL@)jness Days before the next Committee meeting.

(9) Each party shall be responsible for its ownesges incurred by its Committee representativastémding or otherwise
participating in Committee meetings.

5.5 Responsibilities of the Joint Steering Comrmsitte

In addition to its general responsibility to oversad coordinate the activities of the partiesannection with the
Research Plans, Clinical Development Plans andMfpisement, the JSC shall (itself or by delegatma subcommittee) in
particular be responsible for the matters describe&tthedule 5.5but the JSC shall have no authority to amendeimas of
this Agreement.

5.6 Voting; Decision-Making. Regardless of the nembf Committee representatives from any party ZER shall present one
consolidated view and have one vote on any issfeda Committee, to be cast by PFIZER’S Co-Chahis/her designee,
and ATHERSYS shall present one consolidated viesvteave one vote on any issue before a Committdee tast by Al Co-
Chair or his/her designee. Committees may onlypgetnanimous written agreement. In making decisamthe JSC, each
party shall duly consider in good faith any sugigest, opinions and proposals made by the othey pamnd shall use good faith
efforts to reach consensus with the other partthdfJSC fails to reach unanimous agreement omaatter within the scope of
its responsibilities, the dispute shall be resolasdet forth in Section 5.7
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5.7 JSC Disputes.

If the JSC fails to reach unanimous agreement gmaatter or issue within its power to decide witkén (10) Business
Days after the date of referral to the JSC, theéanat issue shall be referred for resolution by. [If they are unable to reach
consensus and resolve the JSC Dispute within tw@@yBusiness Days after the date of referrahémt, then the JSC Dispute
shall be referred for resolution [*], provided tlifgton any referred matter if no consensus decissoreached within ten
(10) Business Days of its referral to the CEO of*\ and further provided thato such decision by [*] may require
ATHERSYS to spend money or devote resources betfmse it is required pursuant to this Agreemeratroend the terms of
this Agreement.

Section 6 RIGHTS TO RESEARCH PROGRAM AND COMBINATIO N PRODUCT IPRs
6.1 Background Intellectual Property Rights Retdine

Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed togfar ownership of any intellectual property rigaxssting as of the
Effective Date, or in the case of Compounds or Bewvias of the date any such Compound or Devicgrggdiuced in to the
Research Program, from one party to another party.

6.2 Ownership Of New Intellectual Property.

(a) Subject to Section 11, ATHERSYS shall be the owner of the Research RragPRs, which shall be deemed to form
part of the Athersys Patent Rights, the Athersyshfielogy and/or the Athersys Confidential Inforroatias applicable, and of
the Athersys Combination Product IPRs.

(b) PFIZER shall be the owner of the Pfizer ComtiaraProduct IPRs.
Section 7 LICENSES
7.1 Exclusive Licenses to PFIZER

In consideration of the License and Technology Asdeee Event Milestone Payment and subject teetinestand
conditions of this Agreement ATHERSY'S hereby graotBFIZER, and PFIZER hereby accepts:

(a) an exclusive license (even as to ATHERSYS tmAffiliates, but subject to any rights granted-eserved for non-
commercial research purposes only to Third Paptigsuant to a Third Party License existing as at&ffective Date), includir
the right to sublicense, under the Athersys Pa&Rdgttts to research, develop, make or have madesalgoffer for sale,
supply, cause to be supplied, and import LicensedRts, in each case in the Field and in the ey and

(b) an exclusive license (even as to ATHERSYS #mdiffiliates, but subject to any rights grantedeserved for non-
commercial research purposes only to Third Paptigsuant to a Third Party License existing as at&ffective Date), includir
the right to sublicense, to use Athersys Technokogy Athersys Confidential Information in connentisith the research,
development, manufacture, use, sale, offer for, saleply and importation of the Licensed Productgach case in the Field
and in the Territory.

Confidential treatment has been requested foratiaated portions of this exhibit, and such confiidéportions have bee
omitted and filed separately with the Securitied Bnchange Commissio
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7.2 Non-Exclusive Licenses to PFIZER

Without limiting any of the licenses granted in &t 7.1, subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreet,
ATHERSYS hereby grants to PFIZER, and PFIZER hessngpts:

(a) a non-exclusive, irrevocable, royalty-free gegual license, with the right to sub licence tdilattes, under the
Athersys Combination Product IPRs to develop, mhkee made, use, sell, offer for sale, supply, eaoide supplied and
import any pharmaceutical or bio-pharmaceuticatipots (other than Licensed Products) at PFIZER'S ogk;

(b) a non-exclusive, royalty-free license in therifery, with the right to sublicense to Affiliatesd to service providers
under contract to PFIZER or its Affiliates, to Ueeresearch conducted pursuant to the ResearchoPka Clinical
Development Plan, the Athersys Patent Rights, tiherys Technology, the Athersys Confidential Infation and the
Athersys Combination Product IPRs disclosed dutfiegTerm to PFIZER by ATHERSYS or its Affiliateqich

(c) a non-exclusive, irrevocable, royaftge, perpetual license in the Territory, with tight to sublicense to Affiliates ar
to service providers under contract to PFIZER ®WAiffiliates, to use for all research purposes,Alteersys Technology,
Athersys Patent Rights, Athersys Combination ProtRiRs, Athersys Confidential Information and Reésk&rogram IPRs
provided thathis Section 7.2(cjloes not grant to PFIZER or its Affiliates any tigh use MultiStem cells outside of conduct
activities under a Research Plan or Clinical Depelent Plan.

7.3 Restriction on Exercise of Manufacturing Rights

Except through ATHERSYS, PFIZER agrees not to @gerits rights to make, have made or manufactudeun
Sections 7.1n respect of any Clinical Development Candidatestber Licensed Products in the Field or disclmstansfer
any Athersys Technology or Athersys Confidentifitmation in respect of such activities to any Adfie or Third Party (other
than Regulatory Authorities) until the occurrenéa &elease Condition.

7.4 Non-Exclusive Licenses to ABT

Subject to the terms and conditions of this AgrestmeFIZER hereby grants to ATHERSYS, and ATHER3¥&by
accepts:

(a) a non-exclusive, irrevocable, royalty-freeglise in the Territory and in the Field, with thghtito sublicense to
Affiliates and such Third Parties (for which theClBas obtained management approval pursuant tm8é&cnd Schedule 5.5
under the Athersys Patent Rights, Athersys Teclyyplathersys Confidential Information and Pfizermiilmnation Products
IPRs: (i) for ATHERSYS' research purposes in panjigtand_provided thatif ATHERSYS will not be the owner of any
intellectual property rights created by such agrEieidd Party sublicense, ATHERSYS shall procurd #wch such agreed Th
Party sublicensee shall grant directly to PFIZERa-exclusive, irrevocable, royalty free, perpeticnse in the Territory,
with right to sublicense to its Affiliates, in re=g of any intellectual property rights createdsbgh agreed Third Party
sublicensee, (ii) to develop during the ResearaimTand for so long as ATHERSYS continues to exeritsrights to co-
develop pursuant to Section 3.€linical Development Candidates and (iii) makdave made, Clinical Development
Candidates and Licensed Products in the Field patsio_Section 4nd any manufacturing agreement entered pursuarrtth
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(b) a non-exclusive, irrevocable, royalty-free,pegual license in the Territory and outside thédsieith the right to sub
license to Affiliates, under the Pfizer CombinatProduct IPRs to develop, make or have made, aligpffer for sale, supply,
cause to be supplied and import biopharmaceuticalyzts which are combined with MultiStem Prodwdt&BT’'s own risk.

(c) a non-exclusive, irrevocable, royaftge, perpetual license in the Territory, with tight to sublicense to Affiliates ar
to service providers under contract to ATHERSY &oAffiliates, to use for all research purposeg&fTechnology disclosed
to ATHERSYS by PFIZER or its Affiliates during tiesearch Term: (i) for all research purposes dutiegResearch Term
and (i) following expiry of the Research Term, &l research purposes outside the Field.

7.5 Stand-By Licences.

With effect from the Effective Date, PFIZER and AERSY'S (or its applicable Affiliate) shall entertmthe stand-by
licences with the Third Party Licensors listed th&8dule 7.%n the agreed terms. ATHERSYS undertakes to praouadimely
manner and on substantially similar terms, anytamidil stand-by licences from other Third Partgtisors of any ATHERSYS
Patent Rights or ATHERSYS Technology which PFIZB&jng reasonably, may request.

7.6 Restriction on Sublicensing by PFIZER.

PFIZER shall notify ATHERSYS, not less than thi(80) days, prior to granting a sublicense purst@a&ection 7.10 a
Third Party (other than any service provider ortcaet manufacturing organization) in respect of egit to develop or
commercialize a Licensed Product in the Field. Swatice shall set out: (a) the identity of the pregd sublicensee, and (b) the
terms and conditions in the proposed sublicensemying the access to, use and protection of Atlsefgghnology and
Athersys Confidential Information (th&ublicense Restrictior’$. If ATHERSYS reasonably and in good faith coresielthat
(i) the proposed sublicensee is a direct compatitdhe MultiStem cell therapy business of ATHERS&&@sting at the
Effective Date and as developed therefrom inteyr(alt together with licensees) by ATHERSYS (the tilliEtem Businesy)
and (ii) the Sublicense Restrictions will not prdeiadequate and reasonable protection againstiségriharm to the
MultiStem Business, ATHERSY'S shall notify PFIZERwmiting, within five (5) Business Days of receqftPFIZER'’s
notification, including the facts upon which sudiéf is based and the reasons why the Sublicersg&iRions are inadequate.
Promptly, following receipt of such notice from ABRSYS, the parties shall discuss ATHERSYS’ congenaduding any
additional, reasonable Sublicense Restrictions lvhiould satisfy those concerns. If the parties canesolve those concerns,
acting reasonably and in good faith, within thi{80) days, PFIZER shall not grant the sublicengbégroposed sublicensee
and ATHERSYS accepts that PFIZER shall not be meldeach of its obligations under Section 20t (Bection 3.4n respect
of any consequential delays or impact on the dgvetnt or commercialization of the Licensed Prodiuthe Field resulting
from such inability to sublicense.
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7.7 Reservation of Rights.

Except as expressly stated in this Sectiom@ rights or licenses are granted under this &gt by either party or its
Affiliates under any intellectual property of sugarty or its Affiliates to the other party or itdfiliates, whether by
implication, estoppel or otherwise, and all sugjint$ not expressly stated are hereby reserveddbypsaty and its
Affiliates.

Section 8 RESEARCH FUNDING.

8.1 During the Research Term, PFIZER will fund ATRIEY'S (or its Affiliates) on an FTE basis at the FR&e to perform the
work required for the Research Program and forq@sging any Clinical Development Candidates in Eha&3inical Studies
through to Phase ll(b) Clinical Studies. Such wmiy include work performed by ATHERSYS or on ATHERS behalf by
Third Parties (for which the JSC has obtained mament approval pursuant to Sectioarfil Schedule 5.pand may not
represent [ ] ([*]) specific ATHERSYS employees. The numberFofEs to be funded by PFIZER and the FTE Rate peuran
during the Research Term are set out below in drtates Dollars.

Period FTEs FTE Rate/annum Total Funding Quarterly Payment

Initial Research Terr [*] [*] [*] *

Extension [*] or such greater  [*] [*] or such higher [*9%] of the amount
number of FTEs amount linked to any of the Total Fundin
agreed by PFIZER agreed additional for the Extension
based on the Research number of FTEs
Plan

Except as set out in this Section 8rlin Section 4.1 all costs and expenses related to the performainttee Research
Plan or a Clinical Development Plan during the Reste Term incurred by a party shall be borne byréispective party
undertaking the activity and incurring the relatedts and expenses.

Confidential treatment has been requested foratiaated portions of this exhibit, and such confiidgéportions have bee
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8.2 Research Funding Payment.

All payments will be made in U.S. currency by efentc funds transfer within forty five (45) daydefreceipt and
acceptance by PFIZER of an invoice from ATHERSYS$HERSYS may invoice PFIZER in quarterly advancealments
provided howevethat ATHERSYS may not invoice PFIZER more thant$h{B0) days in advance of a Pfizer Quarter. FTE
funding for the first PFIZER Quarter of the termtlis Research Agreement will be paid to ATHERSYifhiw [ * ] Business
Days after the Effective Date.

Section 9 FEES AND ROYALTIES.
9.1 Event Milestone Payments.

(a) In consideration of the rights granted hereuynaled subject to the terms and conditions of Agiseement, PFIZER
shall pay to ATHERSY'S the amount set forth in thiglé below opposite the corresponding event Mitest@ach an “ Event
Milestone”) within thirty (30) days after the occurrencesaich Event Milestone, after providing prompt notiéesuch
achievement to ATHERSYS (no more than ten (10) @digs achievement) providésbwever that the License and Technology
Access Fee Event Milestone shall be payable by PRI&ithin ten (10) Business Days after the EffezDate:

No. Event Milestone Event Milestone Paymen
1 [ USD six million
($6,000,000

2 [l [$*]

3 [ [$*]

4 11 [$*]

5 [ [$*]

6 T[] [$*]

7 I [$*]

(b) With respect to each milestone (i) each Eveiedfone Payment shall be payable only on the dicsurrence of the
corresponding Event Milestone; (ii) none of the Evdilestone Payments shall be payable more thae;q(ii) should the first
Licensed Product be replaced or succeeded by andtiensed Product or advancement of the Licenseduet in another
indication or with additional regulatory guidanag additional Event Milestone Payments shall befdu&vent Milestones
already met with respect to any other Licensed Brpend (iv) the maximum amount payable by PFIZERespect of Event
Milestone Payments if all Event Milestones occualsbhe USD [*][$*]).

*

Confidential treatment has been requested foratiaated portions of this exhibit, and such confiidgéportions have bee
omitted and filed separately with the Securitied Brchange Commissio

27




CONFIDENTIAL
9.2 Sales Milestone Payments.

In addition to the Event Milestone Payments, insideration of the rights granted hereunder, angestulo the terms and
conditions of this Agreement, PFIZER shall pay tBHERSYS the following one-time payments (each Sales Milestone
Payment) when aggregate Net Sales of all Licensed Praduncthe Field, but excluding any Net Sales retatmLicensed
Products in the Field in respect of which ATHERSY&S elected to share Profits pursuant to Sect@(e)and _Schedule 3.2
(c), over a period of four (4) consecutive Pfizer Qe in the Territory first reach the respectiveesinolds indicated below in
United States Dollars:

Net Sales in the Territory Sales Milestone Paymel

Net Sales in * ] consecutive PFIZER Quarters

exceed [$*] [$%]
Net Sales in [*] consecutive PFIZER Quart

exceed [$*] [$*]
Net Sales in [$*] consecutive PFIZER Quart

exceed [$*] [$*]
Net Sales in [*] consecutive PFIZER Quart

exceed [$*] [$7]

PFIZER shall make any Sales Milestone Payment wihity (60) days of that Sales Milestone Paymalting due and
such payment shall be accompanied by a reportifgiergt the Licensed Products, the relevant coustridet Sales of each
Licensed Product for each such country, and theuatqmayable to ATHERSYS. All such reports shalkbket confidential by
ATHERSYS and not disclosed to any other party, othen ATHERSYS’ accountants which shall be obkgltio keep such
information confidential, and such information aeg@orts shall only be used for purposes of thise&grent.

9.3 Royalty Payments.

In consideration of the rights granted hereundsdl, subject to the terms and conditions of this &grent, unless and to
the extent ATHERSYS is participating in a Profiashin respect of any Licensed Product in the Fielduant to Section 3.2
and_Schedule 3.2(¢PFIZER shall pay to ATHERSYS, with respect to theensed Products in the Field, an amount equal to

(a) [*] percent ([*%)]) of Net Sales for the portiaf Net Sales of such Licensed Products in a Pivzar in the Territory
below or equal to [*] ([$*]); plus

(b) [*] percent ([*%]) of Net Sales for the portiai Net Sales of such Licensed Products in a Piaar in the Territory
greater than [*] ([$*]) and less than or equal*p([$*]); plus

(c) [*] percent ([*%]) Net Sales for the portion of Netl& of such Licensed Products in a Pfizer Yed#nenTerritory in
excess of [*] ([$*]).

Confidential treatment has been requested foratiaated portions of this exhibit, and such confiidéportions have bee
omitted and filed separately with the Securitied Brchange Commissio
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Notwithstanding the foregoing and subject to Secfic, any payments owed with respect to sales of Liegfroducts i
a country in the Territory pursuant to this Sec@oBshall be reduced by [*] percent ([*%]), such redoitto be prorated
appropriately for the then-current Pfizer Quarter Net Sales occurring during any time there ikezino Valid Claim or no
right of data or market exclusivity covering sudbdnsed Product in the Field in such country inTheritory. The parties agr:
and acknowledge that the payment of royalties i PR to ATHERSYS for sales in a country in whicleté is no Valid
Claim or no right of data or market exclusivity eowg the applicable Licensed Product in the Fatldll represent
consideration for the license to Athersys Techmpldghersys Combination Product IPRs, and AtheGgafidential
Information granted by ATHERSYS to PFIZER in Seotd.1.

9.4 Sales Milestone Payments Credit against Royagments.

[*] percent ([*%]) of each Sales Milestone Paymédch a “ Sales Milestone Crebitshall be credited against future
payments under Section 9RFIZER shall reduce the royalty payments due ipeessof the next Pfizer Quarter by the amount
of the applicable Sales Milestone Credit. To thizekany Sales Milestone Credit cannot be fullyditesl by reducing the
amount of the royalty payments due in respect aff tliext Pfizer Quarter, the royalty payments duegpect of subsequent
Pfizer Quarters shall be reduced by any remaininguant until the applicable Sales Milestone Credi been fully credited.

9.5 Duration of Royalty Payments.

Payments under Section 9Brespect of Net Sales for a Licensed ProdudiénRield in a country in the Territory shall
continue until the expiration of the Royalty Temmthat country for such Licensed Product in théd-ithereafter, the licenses
granted under Section 7.1 with respect to suchrisied Product in such country shall be roy&ige and fully paid up, perpett
and irrevocable.

Section 10 ACCOUNTING AND PROCEDURES FOR PAYMENT.
10.1 Inter-Company Sales.

Sales between or among PFIZER, its Affiliates dr-Bcensees shall not be subject to royalties uSdetion 9 Instead,
only the first sale by PFIZER or its Affiliates suablicensees to a Third Party shall be used talztethe Net Sales upon wh
the royalty calculation is based. PFIZER shalldsponsible for the payment of royalties on Net Shieits Affiliates or
sublicensees to Third Parties.

10.2 Currency.

All royalty payments shall be computed and paitdiited States dollars. For the purposes of detengithe amount of
any Sales Milestone Payments or royalties duei®rélevant Pfizer Quarter, the amount of Net Salesy foreign currency
shall be converted into United States dollars imaaner consistent with PFIZER’S normal practicesdus prepare its audited
financial reports; provided that such practicesaisgdely accepted source of published exchangs rat

Confidential treatment has been requested foratiaated portions of this exhibit, and such confiidéportions have bee
omitted and filed separately with the Securitied Brchange Commissio
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10.3 Royalty Payments.

(a) PFIZER shall make royalty payments to ATHERS#ifh respect to each Pfizer Quarter, within six@Q) days after
the end of each calendar quarter, and each payhalhitbe accompanied by a report identifying theliapble Pfizer Quarter fi
each Licensed Product in the Field: (i) each applie country or, for those countries where PFIZBRsthot typically produce
a country-specific report, the applicable regiomvimich Net Sales occurred; (ii) the gross salegHerlicensed Product in each
such country or such region; (iii) the Net Salestlfee Licensed Product for each such country on sagion; (iv) the applicable
royalty rate for the Net Sales for the LicenseddBob in each such country or such region; andh@)amount of royalties
payable to ATHERSYS for the Licensed Product irhesiech country or such region, as well as the caatiom thereof. Said
reports shall be kept confidential by ATHERSYS aodl disclosed to any other party, other than ATHERS accountants
which shall be obligated to keep such informationfiential, and such information and reports sbally be used for purposes
of this Agreement.

(b) If Net Sales in any Pfizer Quarter during aegivPfizer Year are less than zero (as a resuétofns or recalls of
Licensed Product in the Field or any other circmese), then PFIZER will not be obligated to pay AAREYS any royalties
for such Pfizer Quarter, and for purposes of caling royalty payments with respect to the fourfizd? Quarter of such Pfizer
Year, Net Sales for such fourth Pfizer Quarterldtmreduced by the aggregate amount of negatit&Shles in each Pfizer
Quarter of such Pfizer Year in which Net Salesless than zero. If, as a result of such reductlomaggregate Net Sales with
respect to such fourth Pfizer Quarter are less tlean, then, for purposes of calculating royaltyrpants with respect to the fi
or subsequent Pfizer Quarters of the next succgd®fimer Year, Net Sales for such first Pfizer Qaaand until any negative
Net Sales have been fully exhausted any subse&lieget Quarters shall be reduced by the amounegétive Net Sales in t
fourth Pfizer Quarter of the immediately precedifizer Year.

10.4 Method of Payments.

Each payment hereunder shall be made by electh@misfer in immediately available funds via eithdrank wire transfer,
an ACH (automated clearing house) mechanism, oo#tmr means of electronic funds transfer, at PR&Election, to such
bank account as ATHERSYS shall designate in writhBFIZER at least five (5) Business Days befbeegayment is due.

10.5 Inspection of Records.

PFIZER shall, and shall cause its Affiliates antls@nsees to, keep accurate books and recordgsgsfettth the, gross
sales of each Licensed Product in the Field, N&tsSaf each such Licensed Product, amounts pajanéinder to
ATHERSYS for each such Licensed Product and otifermation reasonably required to verify the cadtioin of payments
made under Section 10a8d_Schedule 3.2(g)rovided that nothing in this Section 18all require PFIZER to keep or create
books, records or reports solely for the purposéhis Section 10.5r which PFIZER would not typically keep for therpase
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of determining and reporting royalties or profiaghg arrangements. PFIZER shall permit ATHERSY{Sinlependent
certified public accountants employed by ATHERSY®# seasonably acceptable to PFIZER, to examine sacks and recor
at any reasonable time, upon reasonable noticedtdater than two (2) years following the rendgrof the corresponding
reports pursuant to Section 1@3d Schedule 3.2(c)The foregoing right of examination may be exexdisnly once during
each twelve (12)-month period of the Term and ahaing the two (2) year period after the Term. FEFRZmay require such
accountants to enter into a reasonably acceptabliidentiality agreement, and in no event shalhsaccountants disclose to
ATHERSYS any information, other than such as relédethe accuracy of the corresponding reportsyaumtsto Section 10.3
and_Schedule 3.2(c)The opinion of said independent accountants digaisuch reports and related payments shall bdirign
on the parties, other than in the case of manéest. ATHERSYS shall bear the cost of any suchrémation and review;
provided that if the examination shows an underpayrof royalties of more than five percent (5%jh# amount due for the
applicable period, then PFIZER shall promptly reimge ATHERSYS for all costs incurred in connectiath such
examination. PFIZER shall promptly pay to ATHERSH® amount of any underpayment of royalties revehiean
examination. Any overpayment of royalties by PFIZieRealed by an examination shall be fully-cred@amainst future
royalty payments under Section 9.3

Upon the expiration of the two (2) year perioddaling the rendering of a royalty report pursuangéztion 10.3 such
report shall be binding on the parties, and PFIAEBR its Affiliates shall be released from any lidpior accountability with
respect to royalties for the period covered by segort.

10.6 Tax Matters.

It is understood and agreed between the parti¢sattygpayments made by PFIZER under this Agreemeninclusive of
any value added or similar tax imposed upon sugimgats. In addition, in the event any payments nigdeFIZER pursuant
to this Agreement become subject to withholdingesamnder the laws or regulation of any jurisdictiBRIZER shall deduct ai
withhold the amount of such taxes for the accoi®{IAHERSYS to the extent required by applicable Lawegulations; such
amounts payable to ATHERSYS shall be reduced bytheunt of taxes deducted and withheld; and PFIZE& pay the
amounts of such taxes to the proper Governmenttiokity in a timely manner and promptly transmitA8HERSYS an
official tax certificate or other evidence of suel obligations together with proof of payment frtime relevant Governmental
Authority of all amounts deducted and withheld migit to enable ATHERSYS to claim such paymenaags. Any such
withholding taxes required under applicable Lawegulations to be paid or withheld shall be an espeof, and borne solely
by ATHERSYS . PFIZER will provide ATHERSYS with anable assistance to enable ATHERSYS to recovértsixes as
permitted by applicable Law or regulations.
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Section 11 PATENTS AND INFRINGEMENT.
11.1 Prosecution.

ATHERSYS will be responsible for filing, prosecudiand maintaining the Athersys Patent Rights satitn cost and
expense. ATHERSYS shall consult and reasonablyerade with PFIZER with respect to any potentiabygmtable inventions
within the Research Program IPRs and Athersys Coatibn Product IPRs, including with respect to¢batent and timing of
filing any draft patent applications thereon. ATHERS shall consult with PFIZER regarding countrigsvhich to file any
Athersys Patent Rights that (i) are based upondRelsd’rogram IPRs or Athersys Combination ProdeRis| or (ii) are other
Athersys Patent Rights that are, at the relevard,tlicensable or sublicensable for commercial pseg exclusively by
ATHERSYS or its Affiliates, and that claim, or amasonably likely to claim, inventions applicalde icensed Products for u
in the Field (such Athersys Patent Rights undear{d (ii) collectively, “ Athersys Exclusive PatdRights”), and that are to be
filed subsequent to the Effective Date. ATHERSY 8lisbromptly notify PFIZER of any new Athersys Rat®ights that are, «
any Athersys Patent Rights existing as of the Eifedate that become, Athersys Exclusive PateghRiunder subsection
(i) of the preceding sentence.

11.2 Updates and Cooperation.

ATHERSYS will keep PFIZER informed of the statusttod Athersys Patent Rights from time to time andny event
promptly on PFIZER’s reasonable request, and wiligle PFIZER with copies of all substantive docatagon submitted to,
or received from, the patent offices in connectidtin the Athersys Exclusive Patent Rights. Withpesst to any substantive
submissions that ATHERSYS is required to, or oth&svintends to, submit to a patent office, or araterial decision relating
to prosecution of the Athersys Exclusive PatenhRigATHERSYS shall provide a draft of such submisso PFIZER or
inform PFIZER of such intended decision, reasonabldvance of the deadline or of the intendeddildate of such
submission or such decision effective date, fonsgbion of such documentation. PFIZER shall haeerigiht to review and
comment upon any such submission by ATHERSYS, piirended decision, to a patent office and withpde such
comments, if any, reasonably in advance of theiegiple deadline, intended filing date or decisiffeaive date. ATHERSYS
shall reasonably consider all comments provide@BWER and shall incorporate such comments unl&3$E#RSYS provides
to PFIZER reasonable justification for not doing so

11.3 Maintenance.

ATHERSYS shall maintain, for the full life there@i] patents under the Athersys Patent Rights BM@HERSYS, in its
reasonable discretion decides otherwise for comiaeeasons. ATHERSYS will notify PFIZER of any é&on not to file
applications or any decision (i) not to file apglions for, or not to enter the national phaseaf®CT patent application, or
validate a patent in a particular country, ort@ilcease prosecution and/or maintenance of, oedegsay the expenses of
prosecution or maintenance of, any Athersys ExetuBiatent Rights in any country. ATHERSYS will pidessuch notice as
soon as reasonably possible after its decision rgipect to any of the foregoing, and sufficieiéfore (a) any date on whict
must offer the right to prosecute to Angiotech, hognsor or any other party, and (b) any filingpalyment due date or any
other due date that requires action to avoid abaméat of or loss of right to file the patent or bqation, to enable PFIZER to
consult with ATHERSYS regarding such decision andridertake any action it may be entitled to tagetinder, in connectic
with such Athersys Exclusive Patent Rights. In sexeént, PFIZER shall, subject only to any rightsrged to Angiotech prior
the Effective Date, and any limitations in any valet in-licenses, have the right to make the filiagto continue the
prosecution and maintenance of such Athersys Eixeliatent Rights at its expense, provitieat (x) with respect to Athersys
Exclusive Patent Rights which are Research Prodipats, ATHERSYS shall assign, free of charge, sutttelSys Exclusive
Patent Rights to PFIZER and (y) with respect to Athersys Exclusive Patent Rights included in Scited.83such Athersys
Exclusive Patent Rights shall no longer be pathaf Schedule.
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11.4 Notices.

ATHERSYS agrees that it will, and will cause itdiMdites to, (i) execute and file those notices atiter filings as PFIZE
shall request be made to record the existenceeafights granted hereunder, from time to time ligh United States Patent and
Trademark Office (or any successor agency) or aajogous patent office in the Territory, to theemttsuch filings are
permitted in accordance with applicable Laws.

11.5 Patent Term Extensions.

PFIZER, subject to any rights granted to Angiotpdbr to the Effective Date, shall have the exalasiight, but not the
obligation, to seek, in ABT’s name if so requirpdtent term extensions, and supplemental protectdificates and the like
available under Law, including 35 U.S.C. § 156 apglicable foreign counterparts, in any countrihie Territory in relation to
the Athersys Exclusive Patent Rights. ATHERSYS BRtZER shall cooperate in connection with all sactivities, and
PFIZER, its agents and attorneys will give due @®eration to all suggestions and comments of ATHER$egarding any
such activities, but in the event of a disagreemenween the parties, PFIZER will have final theafidecision-making
authority.

11.6 Third Party Royalty Obligations.

If PFIZER (a) reasonably determines in good fditht tin order to avoid infringement of any pateat licensed hereunde
it is reasonably necessary to obtain a license &orhird Party in order to make, use, sell, ofterdale, supply, cause to be
supplied, or import a Licensed Product in the Field country in the Territory and to pay a royaityother consideration under
such license (including in connection with thelsatient of a patent infringement claim), or (b) $bal subject to a final court
other binding order or ruling requiring any payngmcluding the payment of a royalty to a ThirdtP@atent holder in respe
of sales of any Licensed Product in the Field aoantry in the Territory, then, without limiting AAERSYS’ obligations under
Section 17.1(a) (if any)the amount of PFIZER’s royalty payments undettiar®.3with respect to Net Sales for such
Licensed Product in such country shall be redugeithéd amount payable by PFIZER to such Third Pamtyyided, however,
that in no event will a deduction, or deductionsder this Section 11.6n the aggregate, reduce any royalty payment rbgide
PFIZER in respect of Net Sales of such Licensedropursuant to Section 9r8any Pfizer Year to less thari [ percent
([*%]) of Net Sales of such Licensed Product faattRfizer Year.

Confidential treatment has been requested foratiaated portions of this exhibit, and such confiidéportions have bee
omitted and filed separately with the Securitied Brchange Commissio
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11.7 Third Party Infringement.

(a) Each party will promptly notify the other inetlevent of any actual, potential or suspectedrigéiment of a patent
under the Athersys Patent Rights by any Third P&xgept as provided in Section 11.78md 11.9 PFIZER shall have the
sole right, but not the obligation, to institutégation in connection with any infringement of théhersys Exclusive Patent
Rights in the Field, and any such litigation shwlat PFIZER’s expense, subject to ATHERSYS’ obidgato indemnify
PFIZER for such expenses pursuant to Section Iah{iJ; provided that any recoveries resulting from saction relating to a
claim of a Third Party infringement, after dedugtifFIZER'’s out of pocket expenses (including colfess and expenses) in
pursuing such claim, will be deemed Net Salesedfuired in order to establish standing, ATHERSYf#rurequest of PFIZER,
agrees to timely commence or join in any suchdiiion, at PFIZER’s expense, and in any event tpecde with PFIZER at
PFIZER's expense. The parties shall consult wiipeet to potential strategies for terminating saitdged or threatened
infringement without litigation and PFIZER may restter into settlements, stipulated judgments ogrodinrangements
respecting such infringement without the prior teritconsent of ATHERSYS. No settlement, stipuldteidment or other
voluntary final disposition of a suit under thiscBen 11.7may be undertaken by PFIZER without the conse®THERSYS if
such settlement, stipulated judgment or other walyrfinal disposition would require ATHERSYS to gbject to an
injunction, admit wrong-doing, make a monetary peptror would otherwise materially adversely affl@EHERSYS'’ rights
under this Agreement or any of the Athersys Exgligtatent Rights.

(b) If PFIZER fails, pursuant to Section 11.7{@bring an action with respect to, or to termin#te Third Party
infringement prior to the earlier of (i) one hundii@nd eighty (180) days following the notice otgkd infringement; and
(i) ten (10) days before the time limit, if anytdorth in the applicable Laws for the filing afch actions, then ATHERSYS
shall have the right, but not the obligation, téethel or institute litigation in connection therelyieind any such litigation shall
be at ATHERSYS’ expense; provided that any recegamesulting from such action relating to a claina dhird Party
infringement will be retained by ATHERSYS. PFIZERon request of ATHERSYS, shall cooperate with AREY'S at
ATHERSYS' expense, but shall be under no obligatmjoin in any such litigation. If PFIZER joins guch litigation, the
parties shall consult with respect to potentiatsigies for terminating such alleged or threaténfgthgement without litigatior
ATHERSYS may not enter into settlements, stipulgeidments or other arrangements respecting stichgement without
the prior written consent of PFIZER if such settiam stipulated judgment or other arrangement woeddire PFIZER to be
subject to an injunction, admit wrong-doing, makaa@netary payment or would otherwise conflict vitike exclusive rights
granted to PFIZER under this Agreement.

11.8 ANDA Filings.

If either party receives a notice under 21 U.SZSb)(2)(A)(iv) or 355())(2)(A)(vii)(IV) (“ Paragaph 1V Notice”) or any
supplements or comparable provisions relating atolgic products (* ANDA Filing") that are alleged to be equivalent to a
Licensed Product in the Field and for which an Aslge Exclusive Patent Right is listed in the FD&sange Book, then it shall
provide a copy of such notice to the other parthimitwo (2) Business Days after its receipt thérB&1ZER shall have the
only right, but no obligation, to initiate patenfringement litigation based on any ANDA Filing aamning any Athersys
Exclusive Patent Rights in connection with the dielt its own expense. In order to establish standh\THERSY'S shall
reasonably cooperate with PFIZER in any such liligeand shall timely commence or join in any slittgations, at PFIZER's
request and expense.
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11.9 Validity and Enforceability Challenges CondegnAthersys Exclusive Patent Rights.

Each party shall promptly notify the other in theiet of any legal or administrative action by arhyrdl Party involving an
Athersys Exclusive Patent Right of which a partgdyaes aware, including any nullity, revocationex@mination or
compulsory license proceeding. In the event ofssedion of invalidity or unenforceability of Atlets Exclusive Patent Rights
licensed hereunder, ATHERSYS shall promptly adAB€ZER in writing of such assertion and of all elet facts and
circumstances known to ATHERSYS pertaining to sas$ertion. Where such validity or enforceabilityeation is made in
connection with a litigation under Section 11.714r8, or in a declaratory judgment action where a cenatdim for
infringement is subsequently made by PFIZER or ARSY S pursuant to Section 1],.the party controlling such litigation
under Sections 11.7 or 11sBall have the right to control the defense of sagdertion. In all other instances, both partiedl sh
thereafter consult and cooperate fully to determaim@ppropriate course of action.

11.10 Compensation to Inventors/Third Party Licegghthersys Patent Rights or Technology.

As between ATHERSYS and PFIZER, only ATHERSYS shalresponsible for any compensation and any other
payments due to the inventors or Third Party Licen®f Athersys Patent Rights, Athersys Technologi the ATHERSYS
inventors of any Research Program IPRs or AtheEgyabination Product IPRs. As between ATHERSYS aRiZ PR only
PFIZER shall be responsible for any compensatiahzay other payments due to the inventors or PFIZEEensors, of any
Pfizer Technology or to the PFIZER inventors of &gsearch Program IPRs or Pfizer Combination PrtdéRs.

11.11 Trademarks.

The Licensed Product shall be sold in the Territamgler trademark(s) selected solely by PFIZER aarketed using
logos, slogans, trade dress, domain names andinthfectual property selected and owned by PFIZE&einafter
collectively “ Trademarks). All Trademarks filed in the Territory shall be owhky PFIZER and applications for registratiol
such Trademarks shall be filed and prosecuted byEH with reasonable assistance from ATHERSYS dassary. All costs
of the filing of applications for registration ofddemarks in the Territory shall be borne solel\PB}ZER.

Section 12 CONFIDENTIALITY; PUBLICATION
12.1 Confidential Information.

(a) PFIZER and ATHERSYS each agree that duringrlren and for seven (7) years thereafter, it wikfxeonfidential,
and will cause its Affiliates to keep confidentiall, of the other party’s Confidential Informati¢imat is disclosed to it
(including, in the case of ATHERSYS, disclosed parg to ATHERSYS exercising its observation rigimsler this
Agreement), or to any of its Affiliates. PFIZER aATHERSYS each agree to take such action, andusecis Affiliates to
take such action, to preserve the confidentialiththersys Confidential Information and Pfizer Colgintial Information,
respectively, as it would customarily take to presehe confidentiality of its own similar types @snfidential information.
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(b) Each of PFIZER, ATHERSYS and their respectiéliates agree (i) to use ATHERSYS Confidentiafdrmation and
Pfizer Confidential Information, respectively, ordg expressly permitted in this Agreement anchfit)to disclose ATHERSYS
Confidential Information and Pfizer Confidentiafdnmation, respectively, to any Third Parties unaiey circumstance without
the prior consent of the other party, except asesgly permitted in this Agreement.

(c) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary inst&iection 12 PFIZER may disclose ATHERSYS Confidential
Information (i) to Governmental Authorities (A) tioe extent desirable to obtain or maintain IND&egulatory Approvals for
any Licensed Product in the Field or Combinatiood®ct in the Field within the Territory, and (B)dnder to respond to
inquiries, requests or investigations relatinghis Agreement; (ii) to outside consultants, corttres; advisory boards, managed
care organizations, and non-clinical and clinicaistigators, in each case to the extent desitalulevelop, register, market or
otherwise commercialise any Licensed Product irFilbél or exercise its rights under Sections 7d/@n7.2; providedhat
PFIZER shall obtain the same confidentiality oligas from such Third Parties as it obtains witkpect to its own similar
types of confidential information; (iii) in connéah with filing or prosecuting Patent Rights asmited by this Agreement;

(iv) in connection with prosecuting or defendintigiation as permitted by this Agreement, providleat PFIZER shall use
reasonable efforts to limit the dissemination affsConfidential Information, including by use obgective orders and the like,
as PFIZER would use for its own similar types affidential information; (v) in connection with andluded in scientific
presentations and publications relating to LicerRextlucts in the Field, including abstracts, pasteurnal articles and the
like, and posting of results of, and other inforimatabout, clinical trials to clincialtrials.gov ®@RMA websites, and (vi) to the
extent necessary or desirable in order to enfasceghts under this Agreement, provided that PRZABall use reasonable
efforts to limit the dissemination of such Confitlahinformation, including by use of protectiveders and the like, as PFIZER
would use for its own similar types of confideniialormation.

(d) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary instisiection 12 ATHERSYS may disclose Pfizer Confidential Infotina
to: (i) Governmental Authorities in order to resgdn inquiries, requests or investigations relatmthis Agreement; (ii) to
outside consultants, contractors, advisory boandsiaged care organizations, and ebnical and clinical investigators, in ea
case to the extent required for ATHERSYS to fudfily of its obligations under the Research Plan@liracal Development
Plan or desirable to exercise its rights underi&edt.4 providedhat ATHERSYS shall obtain the same confidentiality
obligations from such Third Parties as it obtairhwespect to its own similar types of confidehtidormation; (iii) in
connection with prosecuting or defending litigatempermitted by this Agreement; provided that ARSYS shall use
reasonable efforts to limit the dissemination afflsConfidential Information, including by use obgective orders and the like,
as ATHERSYS would use for its own similar typesohfidential information; (iv) to the extent necagsor desirable in order
to enforce its rights under this Agreement, proditteat ATHERSYS shall use reasonable efforts to limit dissemination of
such Confidential Information, including by usepobtective orders and the like, as ATHERSYS woudd for its own similar
types of confidential information; and (v) in comtien with filings required by security regulatioasd the rules and regulatic
of any securities exchanges upon which ATHERSY 8us#es are traded (e.g., Nasdaq); provittet ATHERSYS shall use
reasonable efforts to limit the dissemination afflsConfidential Information, including by use obgective orders and the like,
as ATHERSYS would use for its own similar typesonfidential information.
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(e) If ATHERSYS is subject to a Change of ContA/dfHERSYS will, and it will cause its Representasve, ensure that
no Pfizer Confidential Information is releasedijaafiy Affiliate of ATHERSYS that becomes an Aféite as a result of the
Change of Control or (ii) any Representatives oHERSYS (or of the relevant surviving entity of su¢hange of Control)
who become Representatives as a result of the @hafrigontrol, unless such Representatives havedigmlividual
confidentiality agreements which include equivaleligations to those set out in this Section Ifzany Change of Control of
ATHERSYS occurs, ATHERSYS shall promptly notify ZEIR, share with PFIZER the policies and procediirplans to
implement in order to protect the confidentialifyRfizer Confidential Information prior to such itementation and make any
adjustments to such policies and procedures teatasonably requested by PFIZER.

12.2 Publication.

ATHERSYS shall not, and shall cause, its Affiliated its Affiliates’ employees, consultants, contoas, licensees and
agents not to publish or present any informatiotiwéspect to any Licensed Product in the Fiel@@mbination Product in the
Field without PFIZER’s prior written consent (whiotay be withheld in its sole and final discreticeycept as may be required
by Law or legal proceedings.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, ATHERSY'S shall hétve right to publish information generated by ATHEFRS prior to
the Effective Date with respect to any LicenseddBod in the Field or Combination Product in theldrgubject to the following
procedure. ATHERSYS shall provide to PFIZER draftany proposed abstracts, manuscripts or presemsathat cover such
Licensed Product or Combination Product at leaditf80) days prior to ATHERSYS'’s submission othuyproposed abstract,
manuscript or summary for publication or presentatPFIZER shall be permitted to review and comnoensuch drafts, and
shall designate a person who shall be respongiblapgiproving such publications. Such designatedqueshall respond
promptly, and in no event later than twenty (20ydafter receipt of the proposed material, witheitapproval of the proposed
material or a specific statement of concern. Ifadesnent of concern is submitted, ATHERSYS agre¢sasubmit such
publication or to make such presentation that énstsuch information until PFIZER is able to regohny issues (not to exceed
forty-five (45) days following such statement ohcern). With respect to any proposed abstractsusaipts or summaries for
publication or presentation by independent investics or other Third Parties, such materials dteBubject to review under
the principles of this Section 12t@ the extent reasonable practicable.
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12.3 Publicity.

The form of public announcement of the executiothtf Agreement is set forth on in Schedule Ht8ched hereto and
shall be promptly disseminated following the exemubf this Agreement by both parties. Except a$a¢h in Section 12.2
neither Party may make any public statement (writteoral), including in analyst meetings, concegihe terms of, or events
related to, this Agreement or concerning any LieenBroduct in the Field including any Combinatioodict in the Field,
except where such statement: (a) is required by, tiewrules and regulations of any securities exgbaipon which a party’s
securities are traded, or legal proceedings, (lBdsired to be contained in a pagtfinancial statements prepared in accord;
with generally acceptable accounting principlethim United States, (c) has been announced preyiouakcordance with this
Section 12.3 or (d) has been announced previously by a psotyong as, in the case of (c) or (d), such puiitement is
consistent with such previously announced statenieihe case of any public statement (writtenraf)ahat is required by La
or legal proceedings, the disclosing party shalige commercially reasonable efforts to obtairfidential treatment of
financial and trade secret information, and (ifeésonably practicable under the circumstances,tbe other party sufficient
advance notice of the text so that such other peithhave the opportunity to comment upon theestant, and give due
consideration to any such comments in the findéatant. The parties will work together to estabéstutually agreed plan for
publicizing activities and developments under thigeement.

12.4 Filing, Registration or Notification of the Aggment.

The parties shall promptly following the EffectiiZate and in any event within forty five (45) dayslee Effective Date
agree a redacted form of this Agreement (the “ RextbAgreemeni) which will then be deemed included in this Agment at
Schedule 12.41f a party determines that it is required by Liawpublicly file, register or notify this Agreemenith a
Governmental Authority, such party shall (i) inityefile the Redacted Agreement, (ii) request, asé commercially reasonable
efforts to obtain, confidential treatment of alines redacted from this Agreement, as reflectetiénRedacted Agreement, for
the maximum period permitted by such Governmentah@rity, (ii) permit the other party to reviewdmapprove such request
for confidential treatment and any subsequent spordence with respect thereto at least five (S)jigss Days prior to its
submission to such Governmental Authority, (iv)rpply deliver to the other party any written copesdence received by it
its representatives from such Governmental Authavith respect to such confidential treatment resfjaed promptly advise
the other party of any other communications betwkenits representatives with such Governmentathrity with respect to
such confidential treatment request, (v) upon thi&em request of the other party, request an gpgate extension of the term
of the confidential treatment period, and (vi)uth Governmental Authority requests any changésgdeedactions set forth in
the Redacted Agreement, use commercially reasoeéfioles to support the redactions in the Redagigretement as originally
filed and shall not agree to any changes to theaBed Agreement without first discussing such clkamnith the other party
and taking the other party’s comments into consitilen when deciding whether to agree to such cheariggch party shall be
responsible for its own legal and other externatEin connection with any such filing, registratior notification.
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Section 13 REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES
13.1 ATHERSYS Representations and Warranties.

As of the date hereof and as of the Effective éthis Agreement, Al and ABT each jointly and selly hereby
represents and warrants to PFIZER as follows:

(a) ATHERSYS has the corporate power and authtwigxecute and deliver this Agreement and to perfits obligations
hereunder, and the execution, delivery and perfoomaf this Agreement by ATHERSYS have been dutyadidly
authorized and approved by proper corporate actiothe part of ATHERSYS, and ATHERSYS has takemthér action
required by Law, its certificate of incorporatidry-laws or other organizational documents or amgagent to which it is a
party, or to which it may be subject, required ttharize such execution, delivery and performaAssuming due
authorization, execution and delivery on the paRBIZER, this Agreement constitutes a legal, valid binding obligation of
ATHERSYS, enforceable against ATHERSYS in accordamith its terms.

(b) The execution and delivery of this Agreemen®¥THERSYS and the performance by ATHERSYS contetepla
hereunder does not and will not violate any Lawargr order of any court or Governmental Authoripplicable to or binding
upon ATHERSYS.

(c) To the knowledge of ATHERSYS, the patents aagipt applications encompassed within the AtheEsydusive
Patent Rights, are, or, upon issuance, will badaid enforceable patents and no Third Partys (ipfringing any such patents
relating to any MultiStem Product as of the EffeetDate or (ii) other than a Government Authontythe course of patent
prosecution, is challenging the patentability, diéyi or enforceability of any claims of any suchgu@ts or patent applications
(including by way of example through the institatior written threat of institution of interferenawyllity or similar invalidity
proceedings before the United States Patent ardkfrrark Office or any analogous foreign entity).

(d) To the knowledge of ATHERSYS, the manufactuise, sale, offer for sale, supply or importatiorARYHERSYS or
PFIZER (or their respective Affiliates) of any Mid@tem Product or Licensed Products existing, or@liryical Development
Candidate and Licensed Products in the Field copiteed, at the Effective Date does not and willinéinge any issued valid
claims of any patent of any Third Party.

(e) Schedule 1.8ontains a complete and correct list of all patamis patent applications owned or co-owned by or
licensed to ATHERSYS (and indicating which entityrs or co-owns each patent and patent applicatidruader which Third
Party License any such patents or patent applitcsioe licensed to ATHERSYS) relating to the LiezhBroducts.

(f) Except as otherwise set out.in Schedule, ASHERSYS is the sole legal and beneficial owrfealbthe ATHERSYS
Patent Rights and ATHERSYS Technology, free ofla&ty, encumbrance, charge, security interest, nagegr other similar
restriction and no person, firm, corporation oresténtity (including any Affiliate of ATHERSYS) hasy right, interest or
claim in or to, and neither ATHERSYS nor any ofAfifiliates has entered into any agreement granding right, interest or
claim in or to, any ATHERSYS Patent Rights or ATHERS Technology to any Third Party (including angdemic
organization or agency) that conflicts with or lisiihe rights licensed to PFIZER under SectionsaidL7.2.

(g) ATHERSYS has complied in all material respewith all applicable Laws, including any disclosueguirements, in
connection with the filing, prosecution and mairtece of the Athersys Exclusive Patent Rights inTibeitory.
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(h) Except as set out in Schedule &l to the best of ATHERSYS’ knowledge and belefhe of the Athersys Patent
Rights or Athersys Technology were developed wetefal funding from the United States governmeratryrother
Governmental Authority.

(i) ATHERSYS or, as applicable ATHERSYS'’ licensbas obtained or procured assignments, or an olaigtd assign,
by contract, university policies or otherwise, frtime inventors of all inventorship rights relatitogthe Athersys Patent Rights,
and all such assignments of inventorship rightstirgd to the Athersys Patent Rights are valid arfdreeable.

() The agreements listed in Schedule dstheretofore delivered by ATHERSYS to PFIZER repné the complete
agreement and understanding between the respdttiret Parties and ATHERSYS relating to the AtherBggent Rights and
Athersys Technology which are the subject of trexp@ements. The agreements listed in Scheduleal'& not been modified,
supplemented or amended, other than by amendntamtta provided to PFIZER prior to the executioteds this Agreement
or as required in writing by ATHERSYS, PFIZER ahé televant Third Party in connection with the s&etions contemplated
by this Agreement. Except for the agreements ligtegchedule 1.8there are no agreements to which ATHERSY'S orcdiritg
Affiliates is a party pursuant to which ATHERSY Sany of its Affiliates has a license, or an optiorobtain a license, or holds
an immunity from suit, with respect to patents whig) are pending, applied for, granted or regedeand (y) but for
ATHERSYS's rights under such agreements, couldsseréed by third parties to be infringed by thead@gment manufacture,
distribution, use, or sale of Licensed ProductheField. ATHERSYS has previously delivered to AR all of its agreemen
with any Third Parties regarding supply and mantufigcof all goods and services relating to MultiBteéroducts none of which
have been modified, supplemented or amendedhéiYhird Party Licenses are in full force and effatl payments to date
required to be made thereunder by ATHERSYS have besle, and ATHERSYS is in compliance in all respedgth its
respective obligations thereunder and (iii) ATHERSI¥ not aware of any breach by other parties yoTduird Party License

(k) Except pursuant to the Third Party Licenses andtherwise set out in Schedule do®e of the ATHERSYS Patent
Rights or ATHERSYS Technology have been licenseotloerwise made available (including pursuant tpismmunity from
suit arrangement) to ATHERSYS or any of its Affiéa from a Third Party.

(I) ATHERSYS has heretofore disclosed to PFIZERradkterial scientific and technical information aaitinformation
relating to safety and efficacy known to it, orAtfiliates, with respect to the MultiStem Produetsd Licensed Products.

(m) ATHERSYS has heretofore disclosed to PFIZERreiterial correspondence and contact informatidwdsen
ATHERSYS and the FDA and any other Governmentah@rities regarding the MultiStem Products and LeszhProducts.

(n) Neither the execution and delivery of this Agreent nor the performance hereof by ATHERSYS ordidrijie
Affiliates requires ATHERSYS to obtain any perm#sithorizations or consents from any Governmenteh@évity or from any
other person, firm or corporation, and such exeaytilelivery and performance will not result in tireach of or give rise to
any right of termination, rescission, renegotiatioracceleration under, or trigger any other rightder, any agreement or
contract to which ATHERSYS is a party or to whitimiay be subject that relates to the ATHERSYS R&ahts, the
ATHERSYS Technology, the MultiStem Products, Liceth®roducts or ATHERSYS’ obligations under this égment.
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(o) There is no action, claim, demand, suit, prda&g arbitration, grievance, citation, summondpena, inquiry or
investigation of any nature, civil, criminal, regtdry or otherwise, in law or in equity, pending torthe knowledge of
ATHERSYS, threatened against ATHERSYS, any of it#liates or any Third Party, in each case in cartion with the
ATHERSYS Patent Rights, the ATHERSYS Technologyher MultiStem Products and Licensed Products whichld have a
negative impact on the Research Program, any @liBievelopment Plan or any other obligation of ATREEY'S under this
Agreement.

(p) ATHERSYS, its Affiliates or, to the best of ABRSYS’ knowledge and belief, its Third Party Licerss have
complied materially with all Laws, codes of praeticlirections, guidance, required licenses, peramitsauthorisations
concerning health and safety, human tissue, clitvigds and environmental procedures, protocol$ systems applicable to the
isolation, purification, derivation, productionateability, research, development and manufactutteedVultiStem Products
and Licensed Products and all such licenses, peon#uthorisations in relation to such Law arédvahd subsisting and there
are no circumstances or grounds that would leadwef®mental or Regulatory Authority to revoke, ®rapor cancel such
licenses, permits or authorisations, or imposeralpe or that would result in any permit, licensgherisation being revoked,
suspended, cancelled or not renewed.

(q) The MultiStem Products are not derived from grohic sources.

(r) ATHERSYS is financially solvent, that is hadfgtient funds on hand as of the Effective Dated anfficient capacity 1
obtain additional funds for the Initial Researchrig(including pursuant to Section §.1o satisfy all of its obligations under
this Agreement and to meet any other payment didigs as they become due in the ordinary courgrisihess.

13.2 PFIZER Representations and Warranties.

As of the date hereof and as of the Effective Déthis Agreement, PFIZER hereby represents andants to
ATHERSYS as follows:

(a) PFIZER has the corporate power and authorigxeeute and deliver this Agreement and to perftsrabligations
hereunder, and the execution, delivery and perfoomaf this Agreement by PFIZER have been dulywatidly authorized ar
approved by proper corporate action on the paPFd¥7ER, and PFIZER has taken all other action regluby Law, its
certificate of incorporation or blaws, or any agreement to which it is a party owkich it may be subject, required to autha
such execution, delivery and performance. Assurdingauthorization, execution and delivery on the @BATHERSYS, this
Agreement constitutes a legal, valid and bindinligation of PFIZER, enforceable against PFIZER ¢o@dance with its
terms.
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(b) The execution and delivery of this AgreemenPBIZER and the performance by PFIZER contemplagzdunder
does not and will not violate any Laws or any ordieany court or Governmental Authority, except$arch violations that
would not have an adverse effect on the abilitPBIZER to perform its obligation under this Agreerne

(c) Neither the execution and delivery of this Agreent nor the performance hereof by PFIZER reqiFZER to obtain
any permits, authorizations or consents from anye@amental Authority (other than any regulatory rmpals relating to the
manufacture, use, importation or sale of any LiedrBroduct) or from any other person, firm or coagion, and such
execution, delivery and performance will not resulthe breach of or give rise to any right of taration under any agreement
or contract to which PFIZER is a party or to whithnay be subject, except for those breaches btsithat would not adverse
affect the ability of PFIZER to perform its oblig@is under this Agreement.

(d) There is no action, claim, demand, suit, prdagg arbitration, grievance, citation, summongmena, inquiry or
investigation of any nature, civil, criminal, regtdry or otherwise, in law or in equity, pending torthe knowledge of PFIZER,
threatened against PFIZER or any of its Affiliatelting to the transactions contemplated by ttgse&ment.

13.3 Disclaimer of Warranty.

EXCEPT AS OTHERWISE EXPRESSLY STATED IN THIS AGREENT, NEITHER PARTY MAKES ANY
REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY OF ANY KIND WITH RESPECTO COMPOUNDS, DEVICES, LICENSED
PRODUCTS, ATHERSYS PATENT RIGHTS, OR ATHERSYS TECEINOGY, PFIZER TECHNOLOGY OR
COMBINATION PRODUCT IPRS OR ANY OTHER SUBJECT MATREUNDER THIS AGREEMENT. EXCEPT AS
OTHERWISE PROVIDED IN THIS SECTION 13EACH PARTY EXPRESSLY DISCLAIMS ALL WARRANTIES,
EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, INCLUDING WARRANTIES OF MERCHAMABILITY, FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR
PURPOSE AND NON-INFRINGEMENT.

Section 14 ADDITIONAL COVENANTS.

14.1 ATHERSYS shall not (and shall cause its Adfiis not to) license, sell, assign or otherwisesfiex to any person any
ATHERSYS Patent Rights or any ATHERSYS Technolagyagree to do any of the foregoing) in a mannatwould conflic
with the rights granted to PFIZER under Sectiodsand 7.2 In addition, ATHERSYS hereby covenants and agttests
ATHERSYS shall not incur or permit to exist (an@dblcause each of its Affiliates not to incur ormé to exist), with respect
to any ATHERSYS Patent Rights and/or Athersys Tetdgy, any lien, encumbrance (other than grantseehses to Third
Parties), charge, security interest, mortgageiliiabor other restriction (including in connectiavith any indebtedness) withc
the prior written agreement of PFIZER, such agregmet to be unreasonably withheld or delayed. ARS¥ S shall notify
PFIZER not less than thirty (30) days prior to dgirmspany license to a Third Party of its intenttorgrant that license, giving
PFIZER sufficient information as to the nature andpe of any proposed license to be granted reblsoredated to diseases or
conditions in the area of immune system dysfuncaiod modulation. ATHERSY'S shall reasonably conséaigr comments
provided by PFIZER regarding such proposed liceaseThird Party.
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14.2 ATHERSYS shall take all necessary steps torcethe transfer in all relevant patent officepafent rights for [ ] within
thirty (30) days of the Effective Date.

14.3 ATHERSYS shall promptly following the EffeatiDate obtain or procure assignments from the itovsrof all
inventorship rights relating to the Athersys ExolesPatent Rights and shall promptly obtain or precany outstanding
assignments from all inventors of all inventorshghts relating to any other Athersys Patent Rigm$FIZER’s request.

14.4 ATHERSYS, without the prior written consentRifIZER such agreement not to be unreasonably eldhdr delayed,(a)
shall not execute or otherwise permit, and shalkedts Affiliates to refrain from executing or etiwise permitting, any
amendment, modification or waiver to any of ther@iRarty Licenses, (b) shall not make any eleatioexercise any right or
option (or omit to take any action) which woulddashall cause its Affiliates to refrain from makiagy election or exercising
any right or option (or omitting to take any acliavhich would, terminate or relinquish in wholeinmart any right under a
Third Party License, or (c) shall comply, and sleallise its Affiliates to comply in all respectstiwall of its, and its Affiliates’,
obligations under the Third Party Licenses. ATHERSSShall take, and shall cause its Affiliates teetaduch actions as shall be
necessary to keep in full force and effect the @Rarty Licenses and shall give prompt notice ttZER, together with a
detailed summary of outstanding issues if PFIZERegpiests, of any notice received from the ThirdyP@a the Third Party
License, of any actual or alleged defaults, brescbeviolations, proposed exercise of any ThirdyPaghts or of any proposed
amendments or proposed modifications of, or anp@sed waivers under, any of the Third Party Licerseany of the parties
thereto that ATHERSYS is willing to accept.

14.5 Each of ATHERSYS and PFIZER shall conduct, stmall use reasonable efforts to cause its AféiBab conduct, all its
activities contemplated under this Agreement iroagdance with all applicable Laws of the countryinich such activities are
conducted.

14.6 Without limiting the generality of Section 4 .each party and its Representatives shall complenally with all Laws,
codes of practice, directions, guidance, perniitenses and authorisations concerning health getlyshuman tissue, clinical
trials and environmental procedures, protocolssystiems applicable to the isolation, purificatiderivation, production,
traceability, research, development and manufadtiiiee Licensed Products and shall not take atigraor omit to take any
action which would lead a Governmental or Regujafauthority to revoke, suspend or cancel any ligengermits or
authorisations in relation to such Law or to impaggenalty or that would result in any permit, fise or authorisation, being
revoked, suspended, cancelled or not renewed.

14.7 From and after the date hereof, ATHERSYS shplhin reasonable notice from PFIZER, provide PIRZE&d its
Representatives with reasonable access, durindardgusiness hours, to (a) all information conaggriiicensed Products in t
Field, ATHERSYS Patent Rights and/or Athersys Tetbgy and (b) all employees of ATHERSYS or its Affies who
possess any information described in clause (H)i®fSection 14.7in each case (a) and (b), to the extent reasomedulgssary
for PFIZER to exercise the rights granted to itemithis Agreement.

*

Confidential treatment has been requested foratiaated portions of this exhibit, and such confiidéportions have bee
omitted and filed separately with the Securitied Brchange Commissio
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14.8 ATHERSYS shall promptly provide to PFIZER, d&msdp PFIZER up-to-date in respect of, all inforioratelating to
MultiStem Products outside the Field, planned extdons with Regulatory Authorities (or correspamcie received) that will or
may affect the material quality or safety profite ficensed Products. PFIZER shall have the righeview and comment upon
such information and ATHERSYSS shall reasonably mersall comments provided by PFIZER and any défees of opinion
shall be submitted to the Co-Chairs of the Develeph& Regulatory Committee for further discussioavided thathis
covenant shall not apply as regards any such irddom in respect of which ATHERSYS requires congerttisclose from
Angiotech, until such consent has been obtainedHBRSYS shall promptly following the Effective Damd using
commercially reasonable efforts, procure the conskAngiotech to disclosure by ATHERSYS to PFIZBRnformation
pursuant to this Section 14.8

14.9 Without prejudice to the obligations_in Sewt®6 (c)PFIZER shall promptly provide to ATHERSYS, and keep
ATHERSYS up-to-date in respect of, all informati@hating to Licensed Products inside the Fieldnpéd interactions with
Regulatory Authorities (or correspondence receited) will or may affect the material quality orfsy profile for Licensed
Products. ATHERSYS shall have the right to reviewd aomment upon such information and PFIZER skealsonably consid
all comments provided by ATHERSYS and any diffeenof opinion shall be submitted to the Co-Chafithe Development
& Regulatory Committee for further discussion.

Section 15 TERM

This Agreement shall be effective as of the Effexate and shall, unless earlier terminated im@ance with
Section 16 remain in effect until the expiration of the lastexpire Royalty Term.

Section 16 TERMINATION
16.1 Termination Rights.
This Agreement may be terminated as follows:

(a) If either PFIZER or ATHERSYS materially breastwr materially defaults in the performance or obmece of any of
its respective obligations under this Agreemend, such breach or default is not cured within nin@ty) days after the giving
written notice by the other party specifying suciath or default, then such other party shall hageight to terminate this
Agreement by providing the breaching party writtertice within ten (10) days following the expiratiof such ninety (90)-day
period (such termination to be effective upon netef such termination notice). For the purposéhif Section 16.1(a)a
material breach or material default shall includeaterial inaccuracy in any warranty or represésmatontained herein.
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(b) PFIZER may terminate this Agreement withintth{{30) days of giving written notice to ATHERSYfS i
(i) ATHERSYS is unable at any time during the Resked erm to appoint a Suitably Qualified Persoa t¢ey Role following
the resignation or other departure of the persamhiom that Key Role was previously assigned antiKeg Role remains
unassigned to a Suitably Qualified Person fof ¢r longer; or (ii) [*] or more of the employee§ ATHERSYS or its Affiliates
performing work under a Research Plan during titealiResearch Term cease within any [*] periodvark on the Research
Program performing the activities assigned to thweisler a Research Plan or a Clinical Developmenmt &4iii) a Stand-By
Licence between PFIZER, the University of Minnesamtd ATHERSYS comes in to force due to a termimakip the Universit
of Minnesota of its license with ATHERSYS (or itffiates).

(c) PFIZER may terminate this Agreement immediatelywritten notice to ATHERSYS in the event of aa@be of
Control of Al or ABT that results in Al or ABT beigncontrolled by any entity which has a market adjziation of between [*]
to [*] US dollars or the equivalent value of casthand; provided that any such notice must be given by PFIZER iwitbrty
five (45) days of PFIZER being notified by ATHERS¥Bwriting after the Change of Control of Al or AB

(d) At any time and for any reason, PFIZER, upoitysi60) days’ written notice to ATHERSYS, shalMesathe right, at
PFIZER'’s sole discretion, to terminate this Agreamesuch termination to be effective upon the eatpn of such sixty (60)-
day period.

(e) ATHERSYS shall have the right to terminate thigeement if Milestone Event 3 has not occurrethinithe later of (i
[*] following the end of the Research Term and ffi)following completion of a successful ‘proof ebncept’ clinical study,
being a clinical study initiated during the Reséarerm which sufficiently establishes the effectigses of a Licensed Product
for the Pilot or Major Indication in patients ta sedosing regimen for use in a Phase Il Clinigaidy.

(f) If ATHERSYS reasonably believes that PFIZER faiked to satisfy its obligations to use CommeigiReasonable
Efforts to progress, pursuant to the Research &idrapplicable Clinical Development Plan, a LicenBeoduct to Launch in
the Territory (“ Diligence Requiremet), ATHERSYS shall so notify PFIZER in writing alRFIZER shall then have one
hundred and twenty (120) days to reasonably dematest has satisfied its Diligence Requiremernitinfig which ATHERSYS
may terminate this Agreement on giving PFIZER mstlthan one hundred and eighty (180) days notice.

16.2 Accrued Obligations.

Expiration or termination of this Agreement for amason (x) shall be without prejudice to ATHERSY 8ght to receive
all payments accrued prior to the effective dateuwh termination in accordance with the provisiohSections 8, 9 and 10, as
applicable, and to any other remedies that eithelypnay otherwise have and (y) shall not relegsarty hereto from any
indebtedness, liability or other obligation incutteereunder by such party prior to the date of iteation or expiration.

Confidential treatment has been requested foratiaated portions of this exhibit, and such confiidéportions have bee
omitted and filed separately with the Securitied Brchange Commissio
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16.3 Effects of Termination.
(a) Upon any termination of this Agreement by ATHERS pursuant to Section 16ll licenses and rights granted herein

to PFIZER shall terminate, other than the licensegd to PFIZER in Section 7.2 (a) and,(licenses for a Licensed Product
in a country that become perpetual pursuant toi@e6t5,and otherwise as specifically provided below.

(b) In addition, if ATHERSYS terminates this Agreemt under Section 16dr if PFIZER terminates this Agreement ur
Section 16.1(d, PFIZER shall, promptly after such terminatiahtfansfer to ATHERSYS ownership of all investigas
brochures, regulatory filings and Regulatory Ap@is\that relate solely to Licensed Products, @ijweér to ATHERSYS all
pre-clinical and clinical data and information iRIRER’s possession or control relating solely todrised Products, including
for clarity manufacturing data, if any (subjecthe last sentence of this Section 1%5.® the same form in which PFIZER
maintains such data; and (iii) deliver to ATHERSYBthe same form in which PFIZER maintains sueims, copies of all
reports, records, regulatory correspondence aref athterials in PFIZER'’s possession or controltidasolely to the pre-
clinical and clinical development of Licensed Prouincluding, if applicable, any information caimted in the global safety
database established and maintained by PFIZERidadthat the parties agree that any good faitbriaby PFIZER to provic
immaterial data, information, reports, recordsrespondence or other materials to ATHERSYS shalbea breach of
PFIZER'’s obligations under this Section 16.3

(c) Following termination of this Agreement pursumSection 16.1 (i) each of PFIZER and ATHERSYS shall, upon
request of the other party, return or destroy dIHERSYS Confidential Information and Pfizer Confitial Information,
respectively, disclosed to it pursuant to this Agnent, including all copies and extracts of docusieas promptly as
practicable following receipt of such request, gtdhat one (1) copy may be kept for the purposeoafplying with continuing
obligations under this Agreement and ATHERSY'S shatlbe required to destroy any information transfé or delivered to
ATHERSYS by PFIZER pursuant to Section 16.3(b)

(d) Upon termination of this Agreement by PFIZERguant to Sections 16.1(a), (b) or {le¢ licenses granted by
ATHERSYS to PFIZER pursuant to Sections 7.1 andwillZemain in full force and effect in accordaneéh their respective
terms, and any amounts payable by PFIZER to ATHERBNrsuant to Section 3.2(c) and Schedule 3.2(8gotions 9.1, 9.2
or 9.3shall remain in effect in accordance with and sciidje the provisions of Sections 9 and 10 (alontywiich other Sectio
as applicable) providedhowever, that where PFIZER terminates this Agegrpursuant to Sections 16.1(a) or,(Bhy
amounts payable by PFIZER to ATHERSYS pursuanieti8n 3.2(c) and Schedule 3.2(c) or Sections®2Lor 9.3shall eact
be reduced to] percent ([*%)]) of the amount that would otherwlsgve been payable under the terms of the Agreement
during the Term.

(e) If this Agreement is terminated by PFIZER parrsiito_Section 16.1(djuring the Research Term, PFIZER shall remain
under an obligation to provide the research fundigigout in Section 8ntil the expiry of the Research Term.

16.4 Survival

The provisions of Sections 3.2(c), 6, 7.4, 9.5,110(so long as any of PFIZER's licenses survive tertmman accordance
with Section 16.3) , 12, 16.2, 16.3, 16.4, 17,d@] 19 and Schedules 1.45, 2.7 and 3.24s)applicable, (as well as any other
Sections and Schedules or defined terms referrgtdgoch Sections and Schedules are necessaryetdhgim effect) shall
survive termination or expiration of this Agreemant remain in force until discharged in full. Fugtmore, any other
provisions required to interpret and enforce thetigsl rights and obligations or to wind up theirtstanding obligations under
this Agreement shall survive to the extent required

Confidential treatment has been requested foratiaated portions of this exhibit, and such confiidéportions have bee
omitted and filed separately with the Securitied Brchange Commissio
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16.5 Bankruptcy.

All rights and licenses granted under or pursuaurhis Agreement by ATHERSYS are, and shall otheeviie deemed to
be, for purposes of Section 365(n) of the U.S. Bapicy Code, licenses of rights to “intellectuabperty” as defined under
Section 101 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code. The padiree that PFIZER, as licensee of intellectugpenty under this
Agreement, shall retain and may fully exerciseoéilts rights and elections under the U.S. Bankry@ode. The parties further
agree that in the event of a rejection of this A&gnent by either Al or ABT in any bankruptcy procegdoy or against Al or
ABT under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code, (i) PFIZER tbalentitled to a complete duplicate of (or conplkeccess to, as
appropriate) any such intellectual property anegalbodiments of such intellectual property, whi€hpt already in Pfizer's
possession, shall be promptly delivered to it upbimer’s written request therefore, and (ii) neithé or ABT shall interfere
with PFIZER’s rights to intellectual property antdembodiments of intellectual property, and slaaiist and not interfere with
PFIZER in obtaining intellectual property and atitsodiments of intellectual property from anothetitgnThe term
“embodiments” of intellectual property includes @lhgible, intangible, electronic or other emboditseof rights and licenses
hereunder, including all compounds and productsaglyibg intellectual property, Licensed Productinds with Regulatory
Authorities and related rights, and technology.

Section 17 INDEMNIFICATION
17.1 Indemnification.

(a) ATHERSYSS will indemnify, defend and hold PFIZEBRd PFIZER’s Representative, harmless from anyafiricbsses
(as defined below) incurred by any of them as altes:

i. the breach of any covenant, warranty or repregiam made by ATHERSYS under this Agreement;

ii. the negligence, recklessness, or wilful misagetcbf ATHERSYS or any of its Representatives; or

iii. any acts or omissions of ATHERSYS or any af Representatives in connection with the reseaerglopment or
commercialization of Licensed Products prior tafier the Effective Date or following terminatiamwhole or in part of this
Agreement and the reversion of the applicable siiereunder to ATHERSYS in accordance with Sedt®B.

ATHERSYS shall only be obligated to so indemnifgfehd and hold PFIZER and PFIZER’s Representahiaemless to

the extent that such Losses do not arise fronméiloreach of any covenant, warranty, or representatade by PFIZER under
this Agreement, or (ii) the negligence, recklessr@swilful misconduct of PFIZER or any of its Repentatives.
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(b) PFIZER will indemnify, defend and hold ATHERSY8d ATHERSYS’ Representatives, harmless from awalyedl
Losses incurred by any of them as a result of:

i. the breach of any covenant, warranty or repriegiem made by PFIZER under this Agreement;
ii. the negligence, recklessness, or wilful misagetcbf PFIZER or any of its Representatives; or

iii. any acts or omissions of PFIZER or any ofRspresentatives in connection with the researargldpment or
commercialization of Licensed Products during tleent.

PFIZER shall only be obligated to so indemnify,atef and hold ATHERSYS and ATHERSYS’ Representathasless
to the extent that such Losses do not arise frpthéibreach of any covenant, warranty or represient made by ATHERSYS
under this Agreement or (ii) the negligence, ressfess or wilful misconduct of ATHERSYS or anytefRepresentatives.

17.2 Losses.

For purposes of this Agreement, “ Los8eshall mean any and all costs, expenses, claimnsgdosiabilities, damages, fin
royalties, governmental penalties or punitive daesagleficiencies, interest, settlement amountsydsyand judgments,
including any and all reasonable, out-of-pocketsasd expenses properly incurred as a resulttHim (including reasonable,
out-of-pocket attorneys’ fees and all other expsmeasonably incurred in investigating, preparingefending any litigation or
proceeding, commenced or threatened), in each wasef any tax benefit or insurance recovery resekin connection with
any of the foregoing.

17.3 Defense Procedures; Procedures for Third astyns.

In the event that any Third Party (in no eventitdiude any Affiliate of any of the parties) asseridaim with respect to
any matter for which a party (the “ Indemnified §4) is entitled to indemnification hereunder (a “ifichParty Clain?’), then
the Indemnified Party shall promptly notify the fyanbligated to indemnify the Indemnified Partygthindemnifying Party)
thereof; provided, however, that no delay on the giathe Indemnified Party in notifying the Indeifying Party shall relieve
the Indemnifying Party from any obligation hereundeless (and then only to the extent that) thedmdifying Party is
prejudiced thereby.

(a) Subject to PFIZER's right to control the defein$ actions described in Sections 11.7, 11.8 dn@l(&ven where
ATHERSYS is the Indemnifying Party), the IndemnifgiParty shall have the right, exercisable by ediicthe Indemnified
Party within ten (10) Business Days after recefptatice from the Indemnified Party of the commeaneet of or assertion of
any Third Party Claim, to assume direction and mdmf the defense, litigation, settlement, appabdther disposition of the
Third Party Claim (including the right to settleetblaim solely for monetary consideration) with usel selected by the
Indemnifying Party and reasonably acceptable tdrilemnified Party; provided that (i) the Indeminify Party has sufficient
financial resources, in the reasonable judgmetti@fndemnified Party, to satisfy the amount of adyerse monetary
judgment that is sought, (ii) the Third Party Claigeks solely monetary damages and (iii) the Indfging Party expressl
agrees in writing that as between the Indemnifyagty and the Indemnified Party, the Indemnifyiragti? shall be solely
obligated to satisfy and discharge the Third P&tgim in full (the conditions set forth in claug@s (ii) and (iii) above are
collectively referred to as the “Litigation Conditis”).
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(d) Within ten (10) Business Days after the Indefging Party has given notice to the Indemnifiedti?af its exercise of
its right to defend a Third Party Claim, the Indefied Party shall give notice to the IndemnifyingrB of any objection there
based upon the Litigation Conditions. If the Indéfied Party reasonably so objects, the Indemnikedty shall continue to
defend the Third Party Claim, at the expense ofrildemnifying Party, until such time as such ohfatis withdrawn. If no
such notice is given, or if any such objection idrawn, the Indemnifying Party shall be entitlatljts sole cost and expense,
to assume direction and control of such defensth, gunsel selected by the Indemnifying Party aabonably acceptable to
the Indemnified Party. During such time as the mdiying Party is controlling the defense of sudtir@ Party Claim, the
Indemnified Party shall cooperate, and shall césdRepresentatives to cooperate upon requesedhttemnifying Party, in tt
defense or prosecution of the Third Party Clairoluding by furnishing such records, information @estimony and attending
such conferences, discovery proceedings, heatirigis, or appeals as may reasonably be requestételipdemnifying Party.
In the event that the Indemnifying Party does mais§y the Litigation Conditions or does not notife Indemnified Party of tt
Indemnifying Party’s intent to defend any Third §aClaim within ten (10) Business Days after notigereof, the Indemnified
Party may (without further notice to the IndemnifyiParty) undertake the defense thereof with cduwists choice and at the
Indemnifying Party’s expense (including reasonabig;of-pocket attorneys’ fees and costs and exggeasenforcement or
defense). The Indemnifying Party or the IndemnifRadty, as the case may be, shall have the rigbtrtan (including the right
to conduct discovery, interview and examine witessand participate in all settlement conferendrg)not control, at its own
expense, the defense of any Third Party Claimttteabther Party is defending as provided in thise&gent.

(e) The Indemnifying Party shall not, without théop consent of the Indemnified Party, enter inby aompromise or
settlement that commits the Indemnified Party k@ tar to forbear to take, any action. The InderadiParty shall have the si
and exclusive right to settle any Third Party Claim such terms and conditions as it deems reakoappropriate, to the
extent such Third Party Claim involves equitabl@threr non-monetary relief, but shall not havertght to settle such Third
Party Claim to the extent such Third Party Clainvoires monetary damages without the prior writtensent of the
Indemnifying Party. Each of the Indemnifying Paaityd the Indemnified Party shall not make any adonssf liability in
respect of any Third Party Claim without the pigonsent of the other party, and the IndemnifiedyPstrall use reasonable
efforts to mitigate losses arising from the Thity Claim.
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17.4 Disclaimer of Liability for Consequential Dagess.

IN NO EVENT SHALL ANY PARTY OR ANY OF ITS RESPECTIK AFFILIATES BE LIABLE UNDER THIS
AGREEMENT FOR SPECIAL, INDIRECT, INCIDENTAL OR CONEQUENTIAL DAMAGES, WHETHER IN
CONTRACT, WARRANTY, TORT, NEGLIGENCE, STRICT LIABIOY OR OTHERWISE, INCLUDING LOSS OF
PROFITS OR REVENUE, SUFFERED BY PFIZER, ATHERSYS @RY OF THEIR RESPECTIVE REPRESENTATIVE
EXCEPT (A) TO THE EXTENT OF ANY SUCH DAMAGES PAIDO A THIRD PARTY IN CONNECTION WITH A
THIRD PARTY CLAIM, AND (B) FOR PURPOSES OF INDEMNIEATION PURSUANT TO THIS SECTION 17IN THE
EVENT OF AN INTENTIONAL AND WILFUL BREACH IN BAD FAITH OF ANY REPRESENTATION, WARRANTY,
COVENANT OR AGREEMENT BY ATHERSYS OR PFIZER (AS THEASE MAY BE) CONTAINED IN THIS
AGREEMENT; PROVIDED THAT THIS SECTION SHALL NOT RHEVE EITHER PARTY FROM ITS PAYMENT
OBLIGATIONS UNDER THIS AGREEMENT. ADDITIONALLY, THEPARTIES ACKNOWLEDGE AND AGREE THAT,
NOTWITHSTANDING THE DILIGENT EFFORTS OF THE PARTIESHE ACTIVITIES TO BE CONDUCTED UNDEF
THE RESEARCH PROGRAM AND THE CLINICAL DEVELOPMENTROGRAM ARE INHERENTLY UNCERTAIN,
AND THAT THERE ARE NO ASSURANCES THAT A LICENSED RBOUCT WILL BE SUCCESSFULLY DEVELOPED
AND COMMERCIALIZED.

17.5 SOLE REMEDY.

EXCEPT AS EXPRESSLY PROVIDED IN THIS AGREEMENT ANBXCEPT FOR ANY EQUITABLE REMEDIES
THAT MAY BE AVAILABLE TO A PARTY, INDEMNIFICATION P URSUANT TO THIS SECTION 1BHALL BE THE
SOLE AND EXCLUSIVE REMEDY (WHETHER BASED ON CONTRAL TORT OR ANY OTHER LEGAL THEORY)
AVAILABLE TO ATHERSYS OR PFIZER FOR THE MATTERS COSRED THEREIN.

Section 18 GOVERNING LAW AND JURISDICTION
18.1 Governing Law.

This Agreement shall be governed by and constnu@d¢ordance with the substantive laws of the Sifaéew York,
without regard to conflicts of law rules.

18.2 Jurisdiction.

With the exception of those matters referred feohation by independent accountants under Secfidh, in the event of
any controversy, claim or counterclaim arising ofubr relating to this Agreement, the parties sfiedt attempt to resolve such
controversy or claim through good faith negotiasidor a period of not less than thirty (30) dayiofeing notification of such
controversy or claim to the other party. If sucinttoversy or claim cannot be resolved by meansici :iegotiations during
such period, then such controversy or claim stalidsolved by the United States District Courttfier Southern District of Ne
York or a local court sitting in New York, New Yo(kollectively, the “ Court8). Each party (a) irrevocably submits to the
exclusive jurisdiction in the Courts for purposésy action, suit or other proceeding relatingt@rising out of this
Agreement and (b) agrees not to raise any objeeti@my time to the laying or maintaining of thewwe of any such action, suit
or proceeding in any of the Courts, irrevocablyweaiany claim that such action, suit or other pedagg has been brought in
inconvenient forum and further irrevocably waivies tight to object, with respect to such actiorit suother proceeding, that
such Court does not have any jurisdiction over suartty.
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ATHERSYS hereby irrevocably designates, appointseanpowers its designated agent for service ofga®as registered with
the State of Delaware, as its true and lawful agedtattorney-in-fact in its name, place and steadceive and accept on its
behalf service of process in any action, suit ocpeding in the Courts with respect to any mater® which it has submitted
to jurisdiction as set forth in the immediately geding sentence.

Section 19 MISCELLANEOUS.
19.1 Force Majeure.

Neither party hereto shall be liable to the otremtyfor any losses or damages attributable tofaultdn or breach of this
Agreement that is the result of war (whether dedasr undeclared), acts of God, revolution, actebr, fire, earthquake,
flood, pestilence, riot, enactment or change of [(BoNowing the Effective Date), accident(s), lalioouble, or shortage of or
inability to obtain material equipment or transparrany other cause beyond the reasonable coritsoioh party; provided that
if such a cause occurs, then the party affecteldonoimptly notify the other party of the nature diketly result and duration (if
known) of such cause and use commercially reaseredfirts to reduce the effect. If the event l&stsa period of longer than
three (3) months, the parties shall meet and désappropriate remedial measures.

19.2 Severability.

If and solely to the extent that any provisiontiétAgreement shall be invalid or unenforceablestall render this entire
Agreement to be unenforceable or invalid, suchruffieg provision shall be of no effect and shall afiect the validity of the
remainder of this Agreement or any of its provisigprovided, however, the parties shall use thespective reasonable efforts
to replace the invalid provisions in a manner tiett accomplishes the original intentions of theiga

19.3 Waivers.

Any term or condition of this Agreement may be veahat any time by the party that is entitled tolikaefit thereof, but
no such waiver shall be effective unless set forth written instrument duly executed by or on iebgthe party or parties
waiving such term or condition. Neither the waibgrany party of any term or condition of this Agment nor the failure on tl
part of any party, in one or more instances, toe any of the provisions of this Agreement oexercise any right or
privilege, shall be deemed or construed to be aevaif such term or condition for any similar insta in the future or of any
subsequent breach hereof. All rights, remediesenakings, obligations and agreements containéisnAgreement shall be
cumulative and none of them shall be a limitatibamy other remedy, right, undertaking, obligat@ragreement.

51




CONFIDENTIAL
19.4 Entire Agreements; Amendments.

This Agreement sets forth the entire agreemenuaiérstanding between the parties as to the subjiter hereof and
supersedes all agreements or understandings, \arbaitten, made between ATHERSYS and PFIZER tetbe date hereof
with respect to the subject matter hereof, inclgdhre confidentiality agreement between the partiated [ ]. All ATHERSYS
Confidential Information disclosed to PFIZER prtorthe Effective Date will be deemed to have besaoldsed pursuant to this
Agreement. None of the terms of this Agreementlsfembmended, supplemented or modified except itingrsigned by the
parties.

19.5 Construction

Except where expressly stated otherwise in thisgrent, the following rules of interpretation apgythis Agreement:
(i) “include”, “includes” and “including” are notrhiting and mean include, includes and includinghaut limitation;
(i) definitions contained in this Agreement argbgable to the singular as well as the plural ferof such terms; (iii)
references to an agreement, statute or instrumeahrsuch agreement, statute or instrument as froetd time amended,
modified or supplemented; (iv) references to aqeere also to its permitted successors and asgigneferences to an
“Article”, “Section”, “Exhibit” or “Schedule” referto an Article or Section of, or any Exhibit or &clule to, this Agreement
unless otherwise indicated; (vi) the word “will’a@hbe construed to have the same meaning and eff¢be word “shall”; and
(vii) the word “any” shall mean “any and all” ungestherwise indicated by context.

19.6 Assignment.

Neither this Agreement nor any rights or obligatiarf either party to this Agreement may be assignestherwise
transferred by either party without the conserthefother party; provided, however, either partymethout such consent,
assign or otherwise transfer this Agreement, inlevioo in part: (i) to any of its respective Affites, subject to Section 19.6(a)
in the case of ATHERSYS:; providéldat such assigning or transferring party shallai@npintly and severally liable with such
Affiliate in respect of all obligations so assigned (ii) to a Third Party where a party or its #te is required, or makes a
good faith determination based on advice of coytsalivest any of the Licensed Products in ordezamply with Law or the
order of any Governmental Authority as a resuld ofierger or acquisition; or (iii) in connection kvt Change of Control of
ABT and/or Al (subject to Sections 12.1(e) and {6.fhereafter).

(a) ATHERSYS and any Affiliate of ATHERSYS may selbsign or otherwise transfer Athersys PatenttRighd/or
Athersys Technology applicable to Licensed Produnctee Field solely to any wholly-owned directindirect subsidiary of Al
that (x) is and continues to be at all times inooaped and domiciled (including with respect tapipal headquarters) in any
state of the United States of America and (y) pi@oany such sale, assignment or transfer to sardop described in clause (
has acknowledged and confirmed in writing to PFIZBRin a manner reasonably acceptable to PFIZER, effective as of
such sale, assignment or other transfer, suchféenaesshall be bound by this Agreement as if itengeparty to it as and to the
identical extent applicable to the transferor withpect to Athersys Patent Rights and Athersysaoby.

(b) Any purported assignment in violation of thiscBon 19.6shall be void. Any permitted assignee shall assaline
obligations of its assignor under this Agreement.

*

Confidential treatment has been requested foratiaated portions of this exhibit, and such confiidgéportions have bee
omitted and filed separately with the Securitied Bnchange Commissio
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19.7 Independent Contractor.

The relationship between ATHERSYS and PFIZER is tfigndependent contractors. ATHERSYS and PFIZERnat
joint venturers, partners, principal and agent, leygr and employee, and have no other relationsthipr than independe
contracting parties. The parties’ obligations aigtits in connection with the subject matter of thggeement are solely and
specifically as set forth in this Agreement, anel plarties acknowledge and agree that neither panyg the other any fiduciary
or similar duties or obligations by virtue of thelationship created by Agreement. Without limitthg foregoing, the parties
also acknowledge and agree that if a court of ceempgurisdiction or an arbitrator should determthat, notwithstanding the
terms of this Section 19,%hat such fiduciary or similar duties or obligaits exist, the parties hereby waive such duties and
obligations and agree not to assert or rely upaeh sluties or obligations in connection with anypdi® arising out of or relatit
to this Agreement.

19.8 Subcontracting.

ATHERSYS may subcontract any of its obligations emithis Agreement, provided that it furnishes t8€ With advance
written notice thereof specifying the work to bésontracted, and with an opportunity to objectuochssubcontract for sound
business reasons. Any dispute regarding ATHERSYS&sof a subcontractor shall be referred to the a8€any
corresponding JSC Dispute shall be resolved inrdece with Section 4.7In any subcontract agreement with a Third Party,
ATHERSYS shall ensure that (i) that Third Partyutitractor is bound by obligations of confidentiahio less stringent than
those imposed on the parties under this Agreeni§nd)l inventions, copyrightable subject mattdiscoveries or materials
created, identified, conceived, reduced to praciicgeveloped by the Third Party subcontractoh@gcope of its, his or her
engagement with a party in connection with the sabact agreement, and in furtherance of the Rekd@rogram or the
Clinical Development Program, are appropriatelywiented and disclosed promptly to ATHERSYS, (iii)sach inventions,
copyrightable subject matter, discoveries or makedirectly related to the Licensed Products dhalbwned by ATHERSYS
unless otherwise approved by the JSC, (iv) shalgpant to ATHERSYS or its representative a righinspect the
subcontractos relevant records and facilities; (x) require shecontractor to be in good standing with all aggilie Regulator
Authorities; (y) require the subcontractor to coynfas appropriate) with current good laboratorycpicas, current good
manufacturing laboratory practices and applicalae4; and (z) require that the subcontractor hasutgtanding violations or
citations that would or may impair the servicesleliverables to be provided to ATHERSYS by suchceulractor.

19.9 Notices.

Each communication and document made or deliveyezhb party to another under this Agreement steathlade in the
English language. All notices, consents, approvafglests or other communications required hereugiden by one party to
the other hereunder shall be in writing and madeclgystered or certified air mail, facsimile, exggevernight courier or
delivered personally to the following addressethefrespective parties:

If to ATHERSYS: Athersys Inc.
3201 Carnegie Avenue
Cleveland, Ohio 44115
Attention: President
Facsimile: +-21€-361-9495

53




CONFIDENTIAL

with a copy to
Thomas A Briggs
Jones Day
12265 El Camino Real, Suite 200
San Diego, CA 92130
Facsimile: +1 85-314-1200
If to Pfizer: Pfizer Global R&D Headquarters
50 Pequot Avenue
New London, CT 0632
Attn: Head of Research, PGRD

Copy to: General Counsel, Pharma Therapeutics (PhTx
Pfizer Inc.

235 East 42nd Street

New York NY USA 1001

Facsimile ["]

Invoices should be sent to the attention of [*] fee Finance Lead, Pfizer Regenerative
Medicine) at the following address:

[*] (or her designate)
Pfizer Ltd Finance
Ramsgate Road
Sandwich

Kent

CT13 9NJ

Great Britain

And electronically to:

[

Notices hereunder shall be deemed to be effectivapon receipt if personally delivered, (b) on tiweth (10th) Business
Day following the date of mailing if sent by registd or certified air mail; (c) on the second (2Bdsiness Day following the
date of transmission or delivery to the overnighiréer if sent by facsimile or overnight courier pArty may change its address
listed above by sending notice to the other partgdcordance with this Section 19.9

Confidential treatment has been requested foratiaated portions of this exhibit, and such confiidéportions have bee
omitted and filed separately with the Securitied Bnchange Commissio
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19.10 Third Party Beneficiaries

None of the provisions of this Agreement shall taetfie benefit of or enforceable by any Third Partgluding any
creditor of either party. No Third Party shall dhtany right under any provision of this Agreemenshall by reason of any
such provision make any claim in respect of anyt,debility or obligation (or otherwise) againsther party.

19.11 Binding Effect.

This Agreement shall be binding upon and inurdoklenefit of the parties hereto and their respedteirs, successors
and permitted assigns.

19.12 Counterparts.

This Agreement may be executed in any two or mowmterparts, each of which, when executed, shalleeened to be an
original and all of which together shall constitotee and the same document.

19.13 Headings.

Headings in this Agreement are included hereirefge of reference only and shall have no legatefReferences to the
parties, Sections, Schedules, and Exhibits afeg@arties, Sections, Schedules and Exhibits tmétids Agreement unless
otherwise specified.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties hereto have caulisddgreement to be executed by their duly autleariafficers
upon the date set out below.

ATHERSYS PFIZER

ATHERSYS INC PFIZER INC.

By: /s/ Gil Van Bokkeler By: /s/ Polly A. Murphy
Name Gil Van Bokkelen Name Polly A. Murphy
Title: Chairman & CEC Title: Vice Presiden

Worldwide Business Developme

ABT HOLDING COMPANY

By: /s/ William O. Lehmant
Name William O. Lehmanr
Title: Presiden

56




CONFIDENTIAL
Schedule 1.8
ATHERSYS PATENT RIGHTS

Confidential treatment has been requested foratiaated portions of this exhibit, and such confiidéportions have bee
omitted and filed separately with the Securitied Brchange Commissio
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Schedule 1.14

CLINICAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN(S)
(']

Confidential treatment has been requested foratiaated portions of this exhibit, and such confiidgéportions have bee
omitted and filed separately with the Securitied Bnchange Commissio
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Schedule 1.45

MATERIAL TRANSFER AGREEMENT FOR CONDUCT
OF THE RESEARCH PLAN

Whereas, PFIZER INC , a Delaware corporation, having an office at 285t#2nd Street, New York, New York 10017
(“Pfizer”), and ATHERSYS INC, a Ohio corporationtivioffices located at 3201 Carnegie Avenue, Clewatl®hio 44115
(“Al"), ABT HOLDING COMPANY, a Delaware corporation and lray a offices located at 3201 Carnegie Avenue, €aw
Ohio 44115 (“ABT"), together referred to in this segment as (“Athersys”) have entered into a COLLABOION AND
LICENSE AGREEMENT as of December 18, 2009 (the ‘@gnent”); and

Whereas,Pfizer and Athersys have agreed, in accordancethtlprovisions of the Agreement, including Secddthereto, tc
exchange and provide to one another samples dfibibical, biological or synthetic chemical materialther than clinical
materials, and any documents and information regetid the same for the purposes of progressinRésearch Plan
(“Materials”).

Now, in consideration of the foregoing and the covenantspromises contained in the Agreement, andisnMiaterial Transfe
Agreement (the “MTA”")the parties agree to the following terms and caowitfor the disclosure, control, use and protectt
the Materials:

1. This MTA is effective of even date with the Agrearhbetween the partie

2. Ifthere is any conflict between the termshi$ MTA and the Agreement, the terms of the Agreshwill dominate.
Unless specifically defined otherwise herein, aafirebd term used in this MTA will have the meandefined within the
Agreement

3. Either Athersys or Pfizer (‘Provide”) may deliver or have delivered to the other part‘Recipien”) Materials.

4. The Provider warrants to Recipient that Prewritas the right to deliver to Recipient the Matksti Provider hereby grants
to Recipient and its Affiliates a license in acamde with Section @f the Agreement to use the Materials, in each case
solely for the purpose of performing the Recig’s obligations under the Research P

5. Recipient accepts that Provider will have @gponsibility for any injury (including injury relsung in death, damage or
loss related to the handling, use, making, manufaxg, storage or disposal of the Materials. Regipivill hold harmless,
indemnify and defend the Provider, its Affiliatéisensees, officers, directors, employees, constdfaontractors, sub-
licensees and agents from and against any andlalities, claims, demands, damages, losses apenmes, including
reasonable attorneyies and witness fees and costs, arising fromlating to the use, storage or disposal of the Malt
by, through or on behalf of Recipient except todktent caused by the negligence, recklessnesgfol misconduct of
the Recipient
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Recipient will only allow those trained in lthing similar materials in their assigned job fuiaos to handle Materials.
Recipient assumes all responsibilities and risksimection with the handling, use, making, manuifég, storage or
disposal of Materials, and Recipient shall compithvall applicable Laws, codes of practice, dirent, guidance, permits,
licenses and authorisations concerning health afedys human tissue, clinical trials and environtaéprocedures,
protocols and systems in connection with such diets/

Recipient understands and accepts that M&érgave not been approved for human use and atjreeBlaterials will not
be administered to humans in any manner or fi

MATERIALS ARE EXPERIMENTAL IN NATURE AND ARE ROVIDED “AS I1S” WITHOUT WARRANTY,
EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION, WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY, FITNESS
FOR PURPOSE AND WARRANTY OF NON-INFRINGEMENT OF ANWROPRIETARY RIGHT OF A THIRD
PARTY. PROVIDED THAT NOTHING IN THIS SECTION 8 REMEES, QUALIFIES OR ALTERS ANY
WARRANTIES GIVEN IN THE AGREEMENT

Recipient will fully and promptly disclose amgprovements and inventions arising from the dsth® Materials in
accordance with the Agreement. Inventions made ftarMaterials will be handled in accordance with Agreement

The results, and the rights and use of at@jié@ctual property rights and any ownership rightsn use of results obtained
with Materials will be governed by the Agreeme

The provision of any Materials will not alemy ownership or licensed rights Provider may habtained in or for the
Materials or rights Provider has obtained to cdritre Materials. Recipient undertakes that Matenwill not be sold,
transferred or otherwise distributed to any thiadty or any employee or agent of Recipient whooilsumder Recipiens or
its Affiliate’s direct supervision or subject to a written corttigith Recipient or its Affiliate

Recipient undertakes that it will not atterrpteverse engineer, characterize, or ascertaichbmical structure, genomic
structure or other make-up of Materials, and agne¢so make derivatives of, or perform experimdatdetermine the
identity of, any of Materials except as agreedytaHz parties under the Research P

Within thirty (30) days of written notice Brovider, Recipient will as directed by Providex gturn to Provider any
remaining portion of Material or (b) destroy andperly dispose of any remaining portion of Mateimahccordance with
all applicable laws, regulations, codes of pracéind guidelines and certify in writing that it hdene so

If any part of this MTA is found by a couetlte invalid or unenforceable, it will be deemeddified to the extent
necessary to allow enforcement, and all other gostof this MTA not so modified will remain in fuibrce and effect
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This MTA shall b governed by and construeddnordance with the substantive laws of the Stdew York, without
regard to conflicts of law rule

This MTA may be executed in any two or mavartterparts, each of which, when executed, shalldeened to be an
original and all of which together shall constitotge and the same docume

In the event of any controversy, claim orrteuclaim arising out of or relating to this MTAet parties shall first attempt
to resolve such controversy or claim through gaathfegotiations for a period of not less thantyh{30) days following
notification of such controversy or claim to théet party. If such controversy or claim cannotdésoived by means of
such negotiations during such period, then suclraeersy or claim shall be resolved by the Unitéak&s District Court
for the Southern District of New York or a localuebsitting in New York, New York (collectively, &* Courts”). Each
party (a) irrevocably submits to the exclusivegdiction in the Courts for purposes of any actguit or other proceeding
relating to or arising out of this Agreement anjldbrees not to raise any objection at any tintbedaying or maintaining
of the venue of any such action, suit or proceedirany of the Courts, irrevocably waives any clairat such action, suit
or other proceeding has been brought in an incaaméforum and further irrevocably waives the rigthbbject, with
respect to such action, suit or other proceedhms,guch Court does not have any jurisdiction sueh party. Athersys
hereby irrevocably designates, appoints and empoitgedesignated agent for service of processgisteged with the
State of Delaware, as its true and lawful agentadtainey-in-fact in its name, place and steactbteive and accept on its
behalf service of process in any action, suit ecpeding in the Courts with respect to any ma#sr® which it has
submitted to jurisdiction as set forth in the imnagely preceding sentenc

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, and intending to be bound,ghgies have caused this Agreement to be execetasdmally or by
their duly authorized representatives, to be effeds of the Effective Date:

PrizER INC .: ABT HoLbING COMPANY
By: By:

Name: Name:

Title: Title:

ATHERSYS INC.

By:
Name:
Title:
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Schedule 1.70

RESEARCH PLAN(S)

Confidential treatment has been requested fordtiaated portions of this exhibit, and such confiidéportions have bee
omitted and filed separately with the Securitied Bnchange Commissio
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Schedule 1.82

THIRD PARTY LICENSES APPLICABLE TO ENTIRE AGREEMENT

Confidential treatment has been requested foratiaated portions of this exhibit, and such confiidgéportions have bee
omitted and filed separately with the Securitied Bnchange Commissio
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Schedule 1.83

ATHERSYS PATENT RIGHTS FOR THE PURPOSES OF THE RQAY TERM
["]

Confidential treatment has been requested foratiaated portions of this exhibit, and such confiidgéportions have bee
omitted and filed separately with the Securitied Bnchange Commissio
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Schedule 2.7
MULTISTEM CELLS REPOSITORY AND RELEASE CONDITIONS
1. CELL REPOSITORY OBLIGATIONS

1.1 ATHERSYS shall provide or procure that its @Hitarty manufacturer shall provide, to PFIZER sidigsignated Third Pa
manufacturer and keep up to date a complete mamuifag dossier, including all specifications, SOfsting reports, and other
information and materials which PFIZER would reguiv manufacture Clinical Development Candidateklacensed Produc
in the Field to the required manufacturing standard

1.2 PFIZER shall or procure that its AffiliatesTrird Party contractor shall maintain the MultiSteglls transferred to it
pursuant to Section 2ahd all related information and documentation,udiig the manufacturing dossier referred to in
paragraph 1.1 above, in accordance with all spediéins notified to it by ATHERSYS and in a secanel suitably controlled
environment, using security measures at least caabfato those PFIZER uses for its own similar higlonfidential biologica
and pharmaceutical materials and otherwise reagpnaber the circumstances.

1.3 In the event that the MultiStem cell repositbejd by or on behalf of PFIZER is lost, damagedeastroyed, ATHERSYS
shall provide promptly to PFIZER, at PFIZER'’s casplacement MultiStem cells of the type descrilmefection 2.0f this
Agreement.

1.4 ATHERSYS shall keep up to date the MultiSteng®Ratory File provided to PFIZER pursuant to Setfo/of this
Agreement.

2. RELEASE CONDITIONS

21["]

2.2 Following the occurrence of a Release Condition
[*]; and

[*]; and

Confidential treatment has been requested foratiaated portions of this exhibit, and such confiidéportions have bee
omitted and filed separately with the Securitied Bnchange Commissio
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2.2.3 ATHERSYS shall, and shall procure that ited Party manufacturer shall, co-operate with asslst, at PFIZER’s
expense, PFIZER (pursuant to which PFIZER shaéri#led to contact such Third Party manufacturezaily and share
Athersys Confidential Information with such Thirdi) in exercising its rights to manufacture ovéanade the applicable
Clinical Development Candidate or Licensed Prodo@nsure a smooth transition of the manufactusaioh Clinical
Development Candidate or Licensed Product.

2.3 If at any time after PFIZER has exercisedightrto manufacture or have made in accordance thighSchedule, T].

*

Confidential treatment has been requested foratiaated portions of this exhibit, and such confiidgéportions have bee
omitted and filed separately with the Securitied Brchange Commissio
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Schedule 3.2 (c)
CO-DEVELOPMENT COSTS AND PROFITS SHARING

1. “ Clinical Development Costsmeans, with respect to any Pfizer Quarter, theeagaie of all costs incurred in performing
activities under a Clinical Development Plan (imtthg clinical Manufacturing Costs) for a Licensedduct, excluding
corporate overhead.

(a) out-of-pocket costs and expenses incurredriatyror to a Third Party in connection with allv@dopment activities
performed in accordance with a Clinical Developntlan, including personnel costs, study costsiaalrsupply costs, costs in
connection with regulatory submissions, and camtpfocess development of the manufacturing profmeshe Licensed
Product;

(b) Manufacturing Costs of products for clinicahts;
(c) such other out-of-pocket costs and expens#segsarties may agree upon in writing from timéirtiee; and
(d) a reasonable allocation of indirect costs assed with such direct costs not to exceéd per cent ([*%]) thereof.

2. In the event that ATHERSYS elects to co-develdpcensed Product pursuant to Section, EHnical Development Costs
will be split [*%] for ATHERSYS and [*%] for PFIZERxccording to the following procedure:

(a) Within fifteen (15) days following the end ada@h PFIZER Quarter, ATHERSYS shall submit to PFIZERritten report
setting forth in reasonable detail all Clinical @&pment Costs incurred by ATHERSYS, if any, fae tmmediately preceding
Pfizer Quarter.

(b) Within thirty (30) days following the end of@aPFIZER Quarter, PFIZER shall submit to ATHERSX ®ritten report
setting forth in reasonable detail its estimatalb€Clinical Development Costs incurred by PFIZERny, for the immediately
preceding Pfizer Quarter.

(c) Within forty five (45) days following the end each PFIZER Quarter, PFIZER shall submit to ATHES a written report
setting forth the final calculation of the totalifital Development Costs for that Pfizer Quartedt #re net amount to be paid
ATHERSYS and PFIZER.

The net amount payable by a party shall be paiHFHYER or ATHERSYS, as the case may be, to ther giiuety within fifteen
(15) Business Days after receipt of such writtgrorg without regard to any dispute as to the arhtube paid thereunder.

Confidential treatment has been requested foratiaated portions of this exhibit, and such confiidéportions have bee
omitted and filed separately with the Securitied Bnchange Commissio
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3. If clinical development of the Licensed Prodiaetthe Field is successful, then ATHERSYS and BRZhall split the
Manufacturing and Commercialization Costs and Bydforn commercialization of the Licensed Prod{it#6] for Athersys
and [*%] for PFIZER as follows:

(a) “ Profits” shall mean an amount calculated as follows:
Profits = Net Sales minus (Clinical Development Sgdus Manufacturing Costs plus Commercializatimsts).
(b) “* Commercialization Costsmeans, with respect to the Licensed ProductHerRield, the following costs to the extent such

costs are actually incurred, accounted for in atamoce with U.S. GAAP as consistently applied byehtty incurring such
costs, attributable to the marketing or sales oéhsed Product:

(i) direct costs that are exclusively incurred a@s opposed to allocated to) obtaining and maimgiRegulatory
Approvals, marketing, promotion, sales and distidyuof Licensed Product, including advertising gamndmotion expenses,
such as for example, promotional material and gopdist production/reprints, advertising agencysfemsts of key opinion
leaders, advertising space, direct mail, trade stxqrenses and free samples, conduct of Phaserii¢allstudies, conduct of
primary and secondary market research, sales caiumssand salaries, and distribution costs;

(ii) costs relating to the packaging, labelling aalkase of the Licensed Product (to the extenirmodided in
Manufacturing Costs), warehouse, distribution aelivdry of the Licensed Product and conduct of ifea the Licensed
Product;

(iif) the amounts payable (if any) pursuant to ®eci 1.6;

(iv) any litigation costs incurred in respect ofifthParty infringement of the Licensed Producttia Field or any other
legal or administrative action in connection witie t=ield involving an Athersys Patent Right, Atlysr$echnology or Pfizer
Combination Product IPR or Trademark;

(v) such other out-of-pocket costs and expens#seagarties may agree upon in writing from timeiriee; and

(vi) a reasonable allocation of indirect costs asged with the foregoing direct costs, not to etg] per cent ([*%]) of
such direct costs.

(c) The parties’ respective Clinical DevelopmenstBoManufacturing and Commercialization Costs bellcovered with
proceeds from Net Sales. Profits from Net Salel beashared by the parties, based on the [*:*]ekdlys: Pfizer split, adjusted
for disproportionate cost sharing, as illustratetthwhe following conceptual example, which assuries all Clinical
Development Costs have been fully recovered byRfiaer Quarter:

*

Confidential treatment has been requested foratiaated portions of this exhibit, and such confiidgéportions have bee
omitted and filed separately with the Securitied Brchange Commissio
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Actual Net Sales in a Pfizer Quarter 100

Athersys Pfizer Total
Actual Costs
Manufacturing ["] [*] [*]
Commercializatior [*] [*] [*]
Total Costs [*] [*] [*]
Allocation % [*%%] [*90] [*%]
Allocated Costs [*] [*] [*]
Allocated Profit Shar [*] [*] [*]
Adjustment to Profit Shar [*] [*] [*]
Actual Profit Share [*] [*] [*]

(d) Within fifteen (15) days following the end cd&h Pfizer Quarter, ATHERSYS shall submit to PFIZ&ERritten report

setting forth in reasonable detail all Clinical @&pment Costs, Manufacturing Costs and Commerzaeitidin Costs incurred by

ATHERSYS, if any, for the immediately precedingZefi Quarter.

(e) Within thirty (30) days following the end of@aPfizer Quarter, PFIZER shall submit to ATHERS& @ritten report settin
forth in reasonable detail its estimate of ATHERSS1&are of Profits (if any), separately for eachdrised Product that is the
subject of Profit sharing hereunder, the followinfprmation on a country by country basis for themediately preceding Pfiz

Quatrter:
(i) Gross Sales;
(ii) Net Sales;
(iii) Clinical Development Costs;
(iv) Manufacturing Costs;
(v) Commercialization Costs;
(vi) Profits;

(vii) The share of Profits earned by ATHERSYS focls quarter (including applicable adjustments fustsharing)

provided that if Profits are negative for such germrthen ATHERSY Sshare of such negative amount shall be accrue

applied by PFIZER as an offset against future ATISKB Profits for a Pfizer Quarter in which Profite @ositive until
such negative amount has been fully recovered;

(viii) Any offset being applied due to one or mamevious Pfizer Quarters with negative Profits; and

omitted and filed separately with the Securitied Bnchange Commissio
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(ix) The amount being paid to ATHERSYS or, if ATHERS’ running balance of Profits remains negativerahe
foregoing calculations, the current value of suebative amount.

(f) Within forty five (45) days following the end each Pfizer Quarter, PFIZER shall submit to ATHERS a written report
setting forth the final calculation of the amoumtparagraph 3(e) of this Schedule 3.2{n)l the Profits or negative amounts to
be paid or allocated (as applicable) to ATHERSYI$e et amount payable to ATHERSYS shall be pai@BWER within
fifteen (15) Business Days after delivery of sudafitten report, without regard to any dispute ath®wamount to be paid
thereunder.
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Schedule 5.5

JSC RESPONSIBILITIES

In addition to its general responsibility to oversad coordinate the activities of the partiesonnection with the Research
Plans, Clinical Development Plans and this Agredntae JSC shall in particular:

(@)

(b)

(©

(d)
(€)

(f)
(9)

(h)

(i)
0)

monitor the progress made by the partie®imection with the Research Program(s) in a macoesistent with the
corresponding Research Plans and this Agreemetiiding reports prepared for the committee, thévitiets and resource
and personnel commitments of the part

seeking management approval of each partgrigrsubcontracts or sublicenses to Third Pantiethe conduct of any
material activities under a Research Plan or Glinevelopment Plan and monitoring the performasfcaich Third
Parties, including monitoring compliance, reviewnegorts prepared by or for a party, evaluating rparting to
management any intellectual property resulting feuoh Third Party agreements and ensuring thaippeopriate party
obtains rights to any such intellectual propertyspant tcSection 11;

monitoring and seeking management approval fogthat of material transfer agreements between ATSERand Thir
Parties in respect of the conduct of any researthe Field;

designate Clinical Development Candidate(s) in edaoce with criteria determined by the J:

monitor the progress made, and direct thieiies to be undertaken, by the parties in conioectith the Clinical
Development Programs in a manner consistent wéltthresponding Clinical Development Plans andAlgieement

review, modify as it deems appropriate, and recominas necessary from ti-to-time, the Clinical Development Plan(

review, and recommended for both parties’ agament approval, publications emanating from thgelarch Plan
activities;

oversee and, whenever practicable, expeugténplementation of each Research Plan and eacit&lDevelopment
Plan,;

create and update a risk analysis plan (where appte);
designate a head of the Manufacturing Commi

(1) assure the manufacturing dossier refelwed Schedule 2. kept up to date and in particular the availapibf
appropriate SOPs and knowhow to allow transfer afiafiacturing, if required, to maintain Pfizer's Qoercially
Reasonable diligence in maintaining clinical ordarct supply:
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(2) assure review and update requisite mastebank(s) and feeder cell lines needed to alloaintenance of
manufacturing and transfer of manufacturing, ifdess

(3) monitor third party supply arrangements and as@pyate, observe third party manufacturing and rooimg;

clarify or adjust the tasks of the respectpagties under the Research Plans and Clinical IDpreent Plans, in a manner
consistent with this Agreemet

ensure adequate resources are assigned hypaey for research planning, project managemedipersonnel and other
resource management related to the Research amdaCDevelopment Plans in a manner consistent thithAgreement

create, review, modify as it deems appropriatd,i@commend an annual budget corresponding toGlimical
Development Plan, in a manner consistent withAlgiseement

reasonably determine or adjust milestones and pssgelated to the Clinical Development Pl

recommend whether or not, and to what extesgarch or development studies, beyond thoséfiddrin an existing
Research Plan or Clinical Development Plan, shbaldonductec

recommend whether a Clinical Development @iate should either be advanced to the next phiadevelopment or
commercialization, as applicable, or be termindigthe parties

seek management approval in respect of all publiancements
evaluation, review and comment on draft publicatj@bstracts, manuscripts and presentations relevéme Field; an

such other responsibilities as are expresstijorth elsewhere in the Agreement or as argmagito it as mutually agreed
upon by the partie:
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Schedule 7.5
LIST OF STAND-BY LICENCES

1. StandBy License Agreement, by and among Regents of thiedusity of Minnesota, ABT Holding Company, andzef Inc.
dated as of December 18, 2009.
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Schedule 12.3

FORM OF PRESS RELEASE

Athersys Enters into Global Agreement with Pfizer b Develop and Market MultiStem® for the Treatment of
Inflammatory Bowel Disease

—Athersys to Host Conference Call Today at 11:00 AT to Discuss Stem Cell Partnership—

CLEVELAND OH December 21, 2009 (BUSINESS WIRE) —Athys, Inc. (NASDAQ: ATHX) announced today thdtats
entered into an agreement with Pfizer Inc. (PFE)aeelop and commercialize MultiSteéhfior the treatment of Inflammatory
Bowel Disease (“IBD”)MultiStem is an investigational stem cell therapyrently in development by Athersys for severalet
conditions, including acute myocardial infarctimone marrow transplant support, and ischemic stroke

Under the terms of the agreement, Athersys wikirezan up-front cash payment of $6 million fronzBf, as well as research
funding and support during the initial phase of ¢tb#aboration. In addition, Athersys is also dligito receive milestone
payments of up to $105 million upon the successthievement of certain development, regulatory@mmercial milestones.
Pfizer will have responsibility for developmentgedatory and commercialization and will pay Athessiered royalties on
worldwide commercial sales of MultiStem IBD prodaicAlternatively, in lieu of royalties and certaiommercialization
milestones, Athersys may elect to @evelop with Pfizer and the parties will share depment and commercialization exper
and profits/losses on an agreed basis beginnipbase 111 clinical development.

Inflammatory Bowel Disease is a group of inflamnmgtand autoimmune conditions that affect the c@od small intestine,
typically resulting in severe abdominal pain, weilgiss, vomiting and diarrhea. The most common foafithe disease include
Ulcerative Colitis and Crohn’s disease, which astneated to affect more than two million peopldtie U.S., major European
countries and Japan. Chronic IBD can be a sevdedilitating condition, and advanced cases mayiregurgery to remove
the affected region of the bowel, and may alsoiregemporary or permanent colostomy or iliostotnymany cases, surgery
does not achieve a permanent cure, and patierits sufeturn of the disease.

“Pfizer is committed to the development of new noetis that have the potential to fundamentally muprthe quality of
clinical care in areas of need. We are delightedddk with Athersys to develop MultiStem for inflanatory bowel disease,”
said Dr. Ruth McKernan, Head of Pfizer Regeneradtheglicine. “This is an innovative new area and caltaboration with
Athersys represents a cornerstone of Pfizer’'s selhand regenerative medicine strategy.”
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“We have been systematically evaluating potentatrering opportunities in multiple areas, and whdve that Pfizer
represents the ideal partner for this programd &ai Gil Van Bokkelen, Chairman and Chief Execeat®fficer at Athersys.
“Their longstanding global leadership in developtreemd commercialization of new medicines, focudest-in-class therapies,
and their growing commitment to regenerative mesigrovide a great foundation for working together.

About MultiStem

MultiStem is a patented and proprietary cell thgnamduct consisting of a special class of sterts¢kht are obtained from the
bone marrow of healthy, consenting adult donord,which have the demonstrated ability to producange of factors, as well
as form multiple cell types. MultiStem appears torpote tissue repair and healing in multiple waygh as through the
production of multiple therapeutic factors produgedesponse to signals of inflammation and tissaimage. Athersys believes
that MultiStem represents a unique “off-the-shetEm cell product based on the apparent abilietover multiple
mechanisms of therapeutic benefit, administratiothe product without tissue matching or immunogegpion, and its capac
for large scale production. Athersys maintain rigiat develop and commercialize MultiStem for amaside of the Pfizer
collaboration. In 2008 Athersys was awarded thet&oSullivan North American Product Innovationtb&é Year Award for
MultiStem, which cited the product as having bestlass potential among stem cell and regenerataicine technologies.

Conference Call Information

Athersys will hold a conference call today at 1120f. Eastern Time (8:00 a.m. Pacific Time) to aléscthis announcement. To
participate in the conference call, please calight Dial-up information]. In addition, this cadl being Webcast and can be
accessed at Athersys’s website at www.Athersys.com

About Athersys, Inc.

Athersys is a clinical stage biopharmaceutical canypengaged in the discovery and development oapleeitic product
candidates designed to extend and enhance théyogofatiuman life. The company is developing MuléiSt, a patented, adult-
derived “off-the-shelf” stem cell product platfofior multiple disease indications, including damagased by myocardial
infarction, bone marrow transplantation and oncglsgatment support, ischemic stroke and othecattins. The company is
also developing a portfolio of other therapeutioggams, including orally active pharmaceutical preiccandidates for the
treatment of metabolic and central nervous systsarders, utilizing proprietary technologies, irdig Random Activation of
Gene Expression (RAGE).

75




CONFIDENTIAL
Forward Looking Statements

This press release contains forward-looking stat@seithin the meaning of the Private Securitiggyhtion Reform Act of
1995 that involve risks and uncertainties. We hattempted to identify forward-looking statementaibiyng such words as
“anticipates,” “believes,” “can,” “continue,” “coul d,” “estimates,” “expects,” “intends,” “may,” “plans,” “potential,”
“should,” “will,” or other similar expressions. Thee forward-looking statements are only predictiand are largely based on
our current expectations. A number of known anchomk risks, uncertainties, and other factors caafféct the accuracy of
these statements. Some of the more significantrknsis that we face are the risks and uncertagiiderent in the process of
discovering, developing, and commercializing prddubat are safe and effective for use as humampieaitics, including the
uncertainty regarding market acceptance of our prtccandidates and our ability to generate revenireguding MultiStem
for the treatment of Inflammatory Bowel Diseas®threr indications. These risks may cause our aagesllts, levels of activit
performance, or achievements to differ materiaiynt any future results, levels of activity, perfamoe, or achievemen
expressed or implied by these forward-looking stetiets. You should not place undue reliance on fahh@oking statements
contained in this press release, and we undertakeligation to publicly update forward-looking stanents, whether as a
result of new information, future events or otheevi
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Schedule 12.4
REDACTED AGREEMENT

The Redacted Agreement approved by the partiesciordance with
this Agreement shall be attached hereto
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Schedule 14.2
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Confidential treatment has been requested foratiaated portions of this exhibit, and such confiidéportions have bee
omitted and filed separately with the Securitied Brchange Commissio
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EXHIBIT 10.43

CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT HAS BEEN REQUESTED FOR THEEDACTED PORTIONS OF THIS EXHIBIT, AND
SUCH CONFIDENTIAL PORTIONS HAVE BEEN OMITTED AND EIED SEPARATELY WITH THE SECURITIES AND
EXCHANGE COMMISSION.

STAND-BY LICENSE AGREEMENT

STAND-BY LICENSE AGREEMENT (this “Stand-by License Agreement”) dated Decenit#sr2009 by and among
REGENTS OF THE UNIVERSITY OF MINNESOTA, a constitutional educational corporation under#wes of the state of
Minnesota, having an office at 1000 Westgate Dr&ugte 160, St. Paul, Minnesota 55114Uiversity ”); ABT HOLDING
COMPANY , a Delaware corporation formerly called Atherdps, and which is now a wholly-owned subsidiaryAtiiersys,
Inc., having an office at 3201 Carnegie Avenueyé€liend, Ohio 44115, (ABT ") ; andPFIZER INC. , a Delaware
corporation having an office at 235 Eastd3treet, New York, New York 10017 Pfizer ).

WHEREAS , MCL LLC and the University entered into an ExdlesLicense Agreement dated May 17, 2002 (the “
License Agreement’) and an Ownership Agreement dated May 17, 200@whership Agreement”);

WHEREAS , MCL LLC was merged into ReGenesys LLC, a whollyped subsidiary of ABT, on November 4, 2003 and
as a result thereof, ReGenesys LLC became the avfrtiee “Company Technology” and “Company Patemisd the licensee
of the “University Technology” and “University Pats”, each as defined in the License Agreementlam@®wnership
Agreement;

WHEREAS , by a Technology and Contract Assignment and Agsiom Agreement of May 5, 2006 ReGenesys assigned
to Athersys, Inc. (now ABT) all rights, title anatérest granted to MCL LLC / ReGenesys LLC by tlen@rship Agreement
and licensed to it by the License Agreement;

WHEREAS , in connection with its activities to develop asaimmercialize the Technology (as defined in theehge
Agreement and the Ownership Agreement) in the Pfidd (as defined below), ABT proposes to subilgeeits rights under
the License Agreement, and license its rights uttteeOwnership Agreement, to Pfizer in the Pfizetd-under a Collaboratic
and License Agreement to be entered by and amangrPABT and Athersys, Inc. on or around Decenit&r2009 (“Pfizer-
Athersys Collaboration Agreement”) and Pfizer has asked the University to providied? with certain assurances regarding
Pfizer's rights under certain circumstances.

WHEREAS , the University has agreed to provide such assesto the extent set forth below.

NOW THEREFORE in consideration of the foregoing and other goodl @uable consideration, the receipt and
sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, thetipa, agreeing to be legally bound, agree aswallo




1. Definitions.

Capitalized terms used but not defined herein steale the meaning ascribed to them in the Pfizéreisys Collaboration
License Agreement, unless otherwise indicatediff®@purposes of this Stand-by License Agreement:

1.1 “ Affiliate " means any company which (directly or indirecttgntrols, is controlled by or is under common cointith,
that party.

1.2 “ Effective Time " means the effective date on or by which the LggeAgreement is terminated by the University for an
reason including for breach thereof by ABT, to ¢éixéent ABT’s breach is not caused by Pfizer’'s bineaicthe Pfizer-Athersys
Collaboration Agreement.

1.3 “ Pfizer Field " means the Pilot Indication and, if applicableg tajor Indication, each as may be revised fronetimtime
pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Pfigiiersys Collaboration Agreement

2. Acknowledgement of rights under License AgreeménThe University acknowledges and confirms to the bégs
knowledge:

(a) the accuracy of the recitals above in relatthe transfer of rights in the Technology undher ticense Agreement a
the Ownership Agreement and fully acknowledgesardirms that, as between the University and ABB,TAs the sole and
rightful licensee under the License Agreement asiddhall rights, title and interest granted tanisiccordance with the License
Agreement. The University further acknowledges emafirms that as far as it is aware any and alliiregnents specified, for
the transfer and/or assignment of all rights, igéand title granted under the License Agreenrent the original licensee
(MCL, LLC) to ABT, have been observed, and to tkiest that any such requirement(s) has not beeerebd, the University
hereby waives all and every such requirement;

(b) that the federal government has made no clarasy rights in the Technology and that it is aetare of such federal
rights or claims to such rights for the AthersyseRaRights to which the University has an ownggshterest, listed in
Schedule 1.83 of the Athersys-Pfizer Collaborafigmeement as of the Effective Date of that Agreeinfercepting
PCT/US09/65128 for which the existence and extéfederal rights has not yet been evaluated). Thizéisity further
acknowledges and confirms to the best of its kndgéeand subject to article 3.2 of the License Agremt, the University owr
or has acquired the exclusive rights (includingoallents and other intellectual property) to thelif®logy which is the subject
of the License Agreement;

(c) that ABT has met the obligations imposed uratécle 4.1(a), (b), (c) and (e) of the License égnent. To the extent
that any such obligations have not been met by ABEgard to the Field, the University hereby waied and every such
obligation;




(d) that all Institutions which are a party to atbtéal Transfer Agreement (as provided at ExhibtbGhe License
Agreement) are listed in Schedule 1 of this Stapdibense Agreement and that the University hasoeein notified of, and is
not otherwise aware of, any Biological Materialémtions in accordance with a Material Transfer &grent (as provided at
Exhibit C to the License Agreement), except thageost in Schedule 2;

(e) as of the date of this Stand-by License Agrednibe License Agreement remains in full force affdct and the
University has not given any notice to ABT of arefalilt by ABT or any of its Affiliates under thedense Agreement, or to
terminate the License Agreement; and

(f) the Pfizer-Athersys Collaboration Agreementfifid all of the requirements for sublicenses asfggh in Section 3.1(c)
of the License Agreemeint

3. Amendments to the License Agreement.

(a) With effect from the date of this Stand-by lrise Agreement, the License Agreement shall be déamended as
follows:

(i) article 1.1: shall read “University Technologghall mean that part of the Technology that isyed by the
University pursuant to that certain Ownership Agneat dated as of the Effective Date , and including Biological Material
Inventions to the extent that the University haguéred any such rights under article 3.3 or wiljaice any such rights under
article 3.4 (if a license agreement is executedymamt to such article) of a Material Transfer Agneet’

(i) sub-article 4.1(d) shall be deleted in itsiesty;

(iii) article 4.2 (second sentence): shall readéTPompany shall, and it shall require and causeaasignees or
Sublicensees to, substantiathanufacture Licensed Produats,any portion thereof that embodies or is produbedugh use ¢
an invention which is subject to the rights of Fexleral Government of the United States of Ameircthe United States if the
Licensed Produatr portion thereof that embodies or is producedufh use of an invention which is subject to tights of the
Federal Government of the United States of Amergcty be sold in the United States unless the Commgranted a waiver
of these restrictions by the United States of An®ri

(iv) article 3.4 (addition after article 3.3): shiadad “I n respect of a Biological Material Invemnt, the University
shall within ten (10) days, following disclosure &y Institution, determine whether or not it wikeecise its Option as defined
under the Material Transfer Agreement. If it desidet to exercise the Option it shall notify then@@any and at the request of
the Company will assign the Option free of chargiie expiry of the Option Peridd

(v) article 3.5 (addition after article 3.4): shedhd “ If neither the University nor the Comparecidie to exercise the
Option in respect of a Biological Material Inventiand the University, having been notified by thstikution of its intention to
grant a third party license, will within ten (103y® notify the Company if it elects not to exerdtseight of refusal and will
immediately assign the right free of charge toGlenpany within the notice period.




(vi) article 5.1.6 (addition after article 5.1.5hall read "Minimum Royalties . Commencing in 2010, the Company
shall pay to the University annual minimum royaita [$ * ] per calendar year payable upon invoice from thesélsity”

(b) University and ABT agree not to amend the L&Agreement in any way that would materially &ftbe rights that
would be granted to Pfizer if the Pfizer Licensedgment (as defined below) were entered as offfaetive date of the Pfizer-
Athersys Collaboration Agreement.

4. Grant of Stand-By License to Pfizer.

(a) University grants to Pfizer and Pfizer's Affites all rights and licenses granted by the Unityeusider the License
Agreement effective as of the Effective Time, oa #ame terms and conditions such rights and lisamsee granted under the
License Agreement immediately prior to the Effeethime without any need for further action by Pfjzbe University or ABT
(or by any Affiliate of ABT) (such grant by the Ursity to Pfizer, the Pfizer License Agreement), provided however that
the “Field of Use” in the Pfizer License Agreemaiilt be limited to the Pfizer Field.

(b) Following the Effective Time, (i) notwithstamdj the scope of the Pfizer Field, Pfizer's paynaiigations under the
Pfizer License Agreement shall be the same as MA@ts payment obligations would have been underltitense Agreement
if the License Agreement had remained in effect @iy Pfizer’s activities under the Pfizer License Agreementl §lgathe sam
as those of ABT under the License Agreement, actgfitat Pfizer only has rights to develop and caruialize Licensed
Products in the Field.

(c) University agrees that if the University assigts rights under the License Agreement or anthefintellectual propert
thereunder to a third party assignee, the Univwessiall cause such assignee to be bound in wiiyntne terms of this Stand-by
License Agreement that are applicable to the Usitser
5. Termination.

(a) This Stand-By License Agreement shall termingten written notice by ABT, which notice can beyded upon
termination of the Pfizer-Athersys Collaborationrdgment by Athersys pursuant to Section 16.1 éxarid (f) of Pfizer-
Athersys Collaboration Agreement or by Pfizer parguo Section 16.1(d) of Pfizer-Athersys Collaltiora Agreement; or

(b) The provisions of Section 3(a) shall survivertimation or expiration of this Stand-by Licenserégment.

Confidential treatment has been requested forataated portions of this exhibit, and such confidémportions have be:
omitted and filed separately with the Securitied Brchange Commissio




6. U.S. Bankruptcy CodeAll r ights and licenses granted under or pursuant $a3tand-by License Agreement by ABT are,
and shall otherwise be deemed to be, for purpds8ediion 365(n) of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code, lmenof rights to
“intellectual property” as defined under Sectiord 1 the U.S. Bankruptcy Code. The parties agratRffizer, as licensee of
intellectual property under this Stabg-License Agreement or the Pfizer License Agredpsdall retain and may fully exerci
all of its rights and elections under the U.S. Bapkcy Code. The parties further agree that irethent of a rejection of this
Stand-by License Agreement or the Pfizer Licensee@ment by ABT in any bankruptcy proceeding bygaiast ABT under
the U.S. Bankruptcy Code, (i) Pfizer shall be égdito receive from the University, to the extanits possession or control, or
otherwise from ABT a complete duplicate of (or cdet@ access to, as appropriate) any such intedéptroperty and all
embodiments of such intellectual property, whiémat already in Pfizer's possession, shall be grthyrdelivered to it upon
Pfizer's written request therefore, and (ii) ABTaimot interfere with Pfizer’s rights to intellewtl property and all
embodiments of intellectual property, and ABT slaabist and not interfere with Pfizer in obtaininggllectual property and all
embodiments of intellectual property from the Umsity. The term “embodiments” of intellectual profyeincludes all tangible,
intangible, electronic or other embodiments of rgéind licenses hereunder, including all compoamdsproducts embodying
intellectual property, Licensed Products, filinghaARegulatory Authorities and related rights aachinology.

7. Notices. Any notice required or permitted hereunder shalbémet by registered or certified mail or by an gglént delivery
service capable of verification to the relevantraddes stated below, or by telefacsimile to thevesit fax numbers below, or
such other addresses or fax numbers that the releseeiving parties may provide in the future loyice in writing in
accordance with this Section 7.

If to University: Office for Technology Commercializatic
Regents of the University of Minnesc
1000 Westgate Drive, Suite 1

St. Paul, MN 5511
Facsimile No. (612) 624 65¢

If to ABT: ABT
3201 Carnegie Avent
Cleveland, Ohio 4411
Attn: Presiden
Fax: 21¢-361-9495

If to Pfizer: Pfizer Inc.
235 East 4d Street
New York, New York 1001-5755
Attn: [*]
Fax: [* ]

Confidential treatment has been requested forataated portions of this exhibit, and such confidéportions have be:
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8. Miscellaneous.

(a) This Agreement may not be assigned withouptiwr written consent of each party hereto excepigmment by Pfizer
to any of its Affiliates or by any party in connieet with the successors of the entire businessaaadts of the respective party
hereto. This Agreement shall not constitute anyypas the joint venturer, legal representativegard of any other party hereto
and no party hereto shall have the right or autihéoi assume or create any obligation on the daahp among the parties with
respect to their collective subject matter.

(b) The parties agree that if any of the terms @mtlitions of this Agreement were not performeddnordance with the
terms and conditions herein and, accordingly, gacty may be entitled to obtain an injunction tey@nt any breaches and to
obtain specific performance of the terms and caomtherein in addition to any other remedy avadath law or in equity.

(c) This Agreement will be governed by and constrimeaccordance with the laws of the State of Mswta, without
giving effect to its conflicts of law principlesh& parties shall bring any action arising undes f&greement in Hennepin
County District Court.

(d) This Agreement and the License Agreement tagethpersede all prior agreements or understaritvgeen the
parties with respect to such subject matter. Irethent of any conflict between this Agreement dredlticense Agreement, the
terms and conditions of this Agreement shall prlevai

(e) The University is not liable for any indirecgnsequential, special damages of any kind, inoutbst profits or lost
business opportunities for any claim or cause ttba@rising out of this Stand-By License Agreement

(f) This Agreement may be executed in any two orar@munterparts, each of which, when executed| baaleemed to be
an original and all of which together shall congétone and the same document.




IN WITNESS WHEREOF , the parties hereto have caused this Agreemeyd txecuted by their duly authorized
representatives.

REGENTS OF THE UNIVERSITY OF MINNESOTA

/s/ James D. Hine
By: James D. Hine
Title: Contracts Manager, Office
for Technology Commercializatic

ABT HOLDING COMPANY

/s/ William O. Lehmant
By: William O. Lehmanr
Title: Presiden

PFIZER INC.

/s/ Polly A. Murphy
By: Polly A. Murphy
Title: Vice Presiden
Worldwide Business Developme




SCHEDULE 1
LIST OF MATERIAL TRANSFER AGREEMENTS

Institution / Investigator Scope Effective Date Status Standard Template
["] [*] [*] [*] [*]

Confidential treatment has been requested forataated portions of this exhibit, and such confid¢portions have be:
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SCHEDULE 2
NOTIFIED BIOLOGICAL MATERIAL INVENTIONS

Confidential treatment has been requested forataated portions of this exhibit, and such confid¢portions have be:
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EXHIBIT 10.45
ATHERSYS, INC.

WAIVER AND AMENDMENT NO. 4
TO
AMENDED AND RESTATED REGISTRATION RIGHTS AGREEMENT

This Waiver and Amendment No. 4, dated as of M&c2010 (this “Amendment’), to the Amended and Restated
Registration Rights Agreement (thé&freement’) dated as of April 28, 2000, as amended, is iy @mong ABT Holding
Company, a Delaware corporation formerly known #sefsys, Inc. (the Company”), Athersys, Inc., a Delaware corporation
formerly known as BTHC VI, Inc. and the parentlod Company (‘Parent”), and the holders of shares of common stock of
Parent who previously held shares of capital stddke Company and from time to time have executathterparts to the
Agreement (collectively, the Existing Stockholders).

RECITALS:

WHEREAS, the Company effected a transaction puitstaenvhich a wholly owned subsidiary of Parent neergvith and
into the Company, with the Company becoming a wholned subsidiary of Parent (théferger”);

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 13(e) of the Agreeimtietcovenants and the agreements of the Companante the
covenants and agreements of Parent in connectibrtié Merger;

WHEREAS, Parent has filed a registration statemarfform S-3 under the Securities Act of 1933 (tiseCurities Act)
registering the offer and sale by Parent of itstggecurities, including its common stock, on atiauous or delayed basis
pursuant to Rule 415 promulgated under the Seesrict (the “Shelf Registration Statemeri}; and

WHEREAS, under Section 13(d) of the AgreementAbeeement may be amended and the Existing Stockrolday
waive any rights granted to them under the Agreémen

AGREEMENTS:
NOW, THEREFORE, the parties hereto, intending téelgally bound, agree as follows:

1. Effective as of the date of this Amendment,Biésting Stockholders hereby waive any rights tggyback Registration
granted under Section 2 of the Agreement to BigtdehInvestors and the Stockholders in connedtiitim the filing of the
Shelf Registration Statement by Parent, includimithout limitation, any right to receive written time pursuant to Section 2(a)
of the Registration Statement.




2. Effective as of the date of this Amendment, ®ac2(c) of Agreement is hereby amended and raktatis entirety as
follows:

“(c) Expiration of Piggyback Registration Right§he “piggyback’ registration rights granted under ttf8gction 2shall
expire on January 1, 2010.”

3. All covenants and agreements in this Amendmegmrlon behalf of any of the parties hereto wilidbiand inure to the
benefit of the respective successors and assigihe gfarties hereto whether so expressed or not.

4. This Amendment may be executed in two or motetarparts, each of which constitutes an origiaad| all of which
taken together shall constitute one and the samemfiment. It is understood that all parties needsigot the same counterpart.
In the event that any signature is delivered bgifade transmission or by email delivery of a “.péfrmat data file, such
signature shall create a valid and binding oblayatf the party executing (or on whose behalf sighature is executed) with
the same force and effect as if such facsimilemilf* signature page were an original thereof. €kecution of this
Amendment by each of the Existing Stockholdersl stwaistitute the written consent of such ExistiigcRholder to the
amendment of the Agreement by operation of this Adneent.

5. This Amendment shall be governed by the lawbefState of Delaware, without reference to itSfletirof law
principles.

6. Where necessary or appropriate to the meanirephehe singular, plural, masculine, feminine aedter shall be
deemed to include each other.

7. Whenever possible, each provision of this Ameswinshall be interpreted in such manner as tofeetefe and valid
under applicable law, but if any provision of tAisiendment is held to be prohibited by or invalidlenapplicable law, such
provision shall be ineffective only to the extefisach prohibition or invalidity, without invalidatg the remainder of this
Amendment.

8. This Amendment and the Agreement constitutettige agreement of the parties and there areher agreements,
written or oral, between the parties related tosihigiect matter of this Amendment and the Agreement

9. Capitalized terms used but not otherwise deflrerg@in have the meanings set forth in the Agreémen

[SIGNATURES BEGIN ON FOLLOWING PAGE]




IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed\ésver and Amendment No. 4 to the Amended and Rabta
Registration Rights Agreement of Athersys, Incofthe day and year first above written.

ATHERSYS, INC.

By: /s/ Gil Van Bokkelen
Name: Gil Van Bokkelen
Title: Chief Executive Officer

ABT HOLDING COMPANY

By: /s/ William Lehmann
Name: William Lehmann
Title: President

[STOCKHOLDER SIGNATURES BEGIN ON FOLLOWING PAGE]
*Note: conformed signatures of the stockholders irntionally omitted from this filing



SUBSIDIARIES OF ATHERSYS, INC.

Name of Subsidiary

EXHIBIT 21

Jurisdiction
ABT Holding Company (formerly Athersys, Inc Delaware
Advanced Biotherapeutics, Ir Delaware
Athersys Limitec United Kingdom
ReGenesys LL( Delaware
ReGenesys BVB!/ Belgium

Oculus Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (50% owners

Delaware



EXHIBIT 23
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINGRM
We consent to the incorporation by reference irféHewing Registration Statements:
(1) Registration Statement (Forn-3, No. 33.-164336) dated January 14, 20

(2) Registration Statement (Form S-8, No. 3833I79) dated November 14, 2007 pertaining to theeistys, Inc. Equity
Incentive Compensation Plg

(3) Registration Statement (Form S-8, No. 3333B0) dated November 14, 2007 pertaining to theeistys, Inc. Long-
Term Incentive Plan, ar

(4) Registration Statement (Forn-3/A, No. 33:-144433) dated October 10, 20t

of our report dated March 11, 2010, with resped¢htoconsolidated financial statements of AtherBys, included in this
Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended Decendi, 2009.

/s ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Cleveland, Ohio
March 11, 2010



EXHIBIT 24.1
POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each of thedensigned officers and directors of Athersys, Iac.,
Delaware corporation, hereby constitutes and appoinGil Van Bokkelen, William Lehmann, Jr., andura K. Campbell, and
each of them, as his true and lawful attorney mrageys-in-fact, with full power of substitution @nevocation, for each of the
undersigned and in the name, place, and steactbfafahe undersigned, to sign on behalf of eadh@fundersigned an Annt
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended Dewen31, 2009 pursuant to Section 13 of the Seesrifixchange Act of
1934 and to sign any and all amendments to suclu@rfiReport, and to file the same, with all exhiltiitsreto, and other
documents in connection therewith including, withlimitation, a Form 12b-25 with the Securities d&wthange Commission,
granting to said attorney or attorneys-in-fact, andh of them, full power and authority to do sd parform each and every act
and thing requisite and necessary to be done irabadt the premises, as fully to all intents angppses as the undersigned
might or could do in person, hereby ratifying andfirming all that said attorney or attorneys-irctfar any of them or their
substitute or substitutes may lawfully do or catgske done by virtue thereof.

This power of attorney may be executed in multg@anterparts, each of which shall be deemed amatigith respect to
the person executing it.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have hereuattheir hands as of the 3rd day of March 2010.

Signature Title

/s/ Gil Van Bokkelen Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Boafd o
Gil Van Bokkeler Directors

/sl Laura K. Campbe Vice President, Financ

Laura K. Campbel

/s/ John J. Harrington Executive Vice President, Chief Scientific Officard
John J. Harringto Director
/s/ William C. Mulligan Director

William C. Mulligan

/sl George M. Milne, Ji Director
George M. Milne, Jr

/sl Floyd D. Loog. Director
Floyd D. Loop
/sl Lorin J. Randa Director

Lorin J. Randal



EXHIBIT 24.2

ATHERSYS, INC.
POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each of thedensigned directors of Athersys, Inc., a Delawampgration
(the “Company”), hereby constitutes and appointsv@an Bokkelen, William Lehmann, Jr. and Laura Karipbell, or any of
them, his or her true and lawful attorney or atbystin-fact, with full power of substitution andstibstitution, to do any and all
acts and things and execute any and all instrunzgrdecuments which said attorney or attorneysact;for any of them, may
deem necessary or advisable or which may be refjirireonnection with the filing with the Securitiasd Exchange
Commission (the “SEC”) of an Annual Report on FdrgK for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2009 @mnsto Section 1
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and to sigy and all amendments to such Annual Report, afitttthe same, with all
exhibits thereto, and other documents in connedtierewith including, without limitation, a Form 25, with the SEC,
granting unto said attorney or attorneys-in-factach of them with or without the others, full povand authority to do and
perform each and every act and thing requisiteremngssary to be done in order to accomplish theging, as fully to all
intents and purposes as he or she might or cowérison, hereby ratifying and confirming all thaidsattorneys-in-fact, or any
of them, or their substitute or substitutes, mayfldly do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

This Power of Attorney may be executed in countespand all such duly executed counterparts sbgéither constitute the
same instrument. Except as otherwise specificattyiged herein, the power of attorney granted Imesball not in any manner
revoke in whole or in part any power of attornegttbach of the undersigned has previously execititéd.power of attorney
shall not be revoked by any subsequent power ofredy any of the undersigned may execute, unlegssubsequent power
specifically refers to this power of attorney oesifically states that the instrument is intend®delvoke all prior general powe
of attorney or all prior powers of attorney.

The “CAUTION TO THE PRINCIPAL” and “IMPORTANT INFORIATION FOR THE AGENT" statements below are
required under the New York General Obligations LBetwithstanding anything to the contrary contditteerein, this Power
of Attorney is limited to the powers granted asadieed above and DOES NOT grant the attorneysdhdad agents the
authority to spend the undersigned’s money oradlispose of the undersigned’s property.

CAUTION TO THE PRINCIPAL:

Your Power of Attorney is an important document.tAs “principal,” you give the person whom you chedyour “agent”)
powers to spend your money and sell or dispos®worf groperty during your lifetime without tellingy. You do not lose your
authority to act even though you have given yownagimilar powers. When your agent exercises theaers, he or she must
act according to any instructions you have proviadedwhere there are no specific instructiongaar best interest. “Important
Information for the Agent” near the end of this downt describes your agent’s responsibilities. Yagent can act on your
behalf only after signing the Power of Attorneydrefa notary public. You can request informatiamfryour agent at any tim
You can revoke or terminate your Power of Attoraéwny time for any reason as long as you arewidoind. If you are no
longer of sound mind, a court can remove an ageradting improperly. Your agent cannot make heedtte decisions for you.
You may execute a “Health Care Proxg"do this. The law governing Powers of Attornegasitained in the New York Gene
Obligations Law, Article 5, Title 15. This law isalable at a law library, or online through theviN¥ork State Senate or
Assembly websites, www.senate.state.ny.us or wvasrably.state.ny.us. If there is anything aboutdioisument that you do
not understand, you should ask a lawyer of your olpsing to explain it to you.




IMPORTANT INFORMATION FOR THE AGENT:

When you accept the authority granted under thiggpmf attorney, a special legal relationship sated between you and the
principal. This relationship imposes on you legaponsibilities that continue until you resigntoe power of attorney is
terminated or revoked. You must: (1) act accordingny instructions from the principal, or, whelnere are no instructions, in
the principal’s best interest; (2) avoid conflithat would impair your ability to act in the pripail’s best interest; (3) keep the
principal’s property separate and distinct from asgets you own or control, unless otherwise perchliy law; (4) keep a
record of all receipts, payments, and transactimmsiucted for the principal; and (5) disclose yidentity as an agent whene
you act for the principal by writing or printingafprincipa’s name and signing your own name as “agent” infdllewing
manner: (Principal’s Name) by (Your Signature) amht.

You may not use the principal’s assets to beneiitrgelf or give gifts to yourself or anyone elséess there is a Statutory
Major Gifts Rider attached to this Power of Attoyribat specifically gives you that authority. Ifyybave that authority, you
must act according to any instructions of the ppak or, where there are no such instructionshéprincipal’s best interest.
You may resign by giving written notice to the mipal and to any co-agent, successor agent, mahiboe has been named in
this document, or the principal’s guardian if oz bbeen appointed. If there is anything aboutdb@iment or your
responsibilities that you do not understand, youkhseek legal advice.

The meaning of the authority given to you is ddfiiie New York’s General Obligations Law, Article Bifle 15. If it is found
that you have violated the law or acted outsideatitbority granted to you in the Power of Attornggyu may be liable under t
law for your violation.




IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I, the undersigned, have exettiis Power of Attorney as of this 19th day dbfeary, 2010.

/s/ Michael Sheffery
Michael Sheffery
Director

State of New York)
County of New York) ss.:

On the 19th day of February in the year beforetimeundersigned, personally appeared Michael Styeffersonally known to
me or proved to me on the basis of satisfactorgiende to be the individual whose name is subsctibéite within instrument
and acknowledged to me that he or she executeshthe in his or her capacity, and that by his orsigrature on the
instrument, the individual, or the person upon lfatfavhich the individual acted, executed the fngtent.

/s/ Laura Neill Schuessl
Signature and Office of individual taking acknowdeaent




IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I, the undersigned, have exatlis Power of Attorney as of this 1st day of &gr2010.

/s/ Jordan S. Davis
Jordan S. Davis
Director

State of New York)
County of New York) ss.:

On the 1st day of March in the year before methdersigned, personally appeared Jordan S. Daarisppally known to me «
proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidead® the individual whose name is subscribed éoatithin instrument and
acknowledged to me that he or she executed the sahi® or her capacity, and that by his or henatgre on the instrument,
the individual, or the person upon behalf of which individual acted, executed the instrument.

/sl Rose M. Sma
Signature and Office of individual taking acknowdeaent




I, Gil Van Bokkelen, have read the foregoing PoafeAttorney. | am a person identified therein asagent for the principals
named therein. | acknowledge my legal respongislito the principals.

Agent signs here: ==> /s/ Gil Van Bokkelen

State of Ohio)
County of Cuyahoga) ss.:

On the 8th day of March in the year before me uthdersigned, personally appeared Gil Van Bokkglersonally known to m
or proved to me on the basis of satisfactory eviden be the individual whose name is subscribédeavithin instrument and
acknowledged to me that he or she executed the sahi® or her capacity, and that by his or henatgre on the instrument,
the individual, or the person upon behalf of whicl individual acted, executed the instrument.

/sl Matthew T. Celesni
Signature and Office of individual taking acknowdeaent




[, William Lehmann, Jr., have read the foregoingvBoof Attorney. | am a person identified thereinaa agent for the
principals named therein. | acknowledge my legspomsibilities to the principals.

Agent signs here: ==> /s/ William Lehmann, Jr.

State of Ohio)
County of Cuyahoga) ss.:

On the 8hday of March in the year before me, the undersigpetsonally appeared William Lehmann, Jr., perbpkaown to
me or proved to me on the basis of satisfactorgiende to be the individual whose name is subsctibéite within instrument
and acknowledged to me that he or she executeshthe in his or her capacity, and that by his orsigrature on the
instrument, the individual, or the person upon lfatfavhich the individual acted, executed the fngtent.

/sl Matthew T. Celesni
Signature and Office of individual taking acknowdeaent




I, Laura K. Campbell, have read the foregoing Posfekttorney. | am a person identified therein asagent for the principals
named therein. | acknowledge my legal responsislito the principals.

Agent signs here: ==> /s/ Laura K. Campbell

State of Ohio)
County of Cuyahoga) ss.:

On the 8hday of March in the year before me, the undersigpetsonally appeared Laura K. Campbell, persorkalbwn to
me or proved to me on the basis of satisfactorgiende to be the individual whose name is subsctibéite within instrument
and acknowledged to me that he or she executeshthe in his or her capacity, and that by his orsigrature on the
instrument, the individual, or the person upon lfatfavhich the individual acted, executed the fngtent.

/sl Matthew T. Celesni
Signature and Office of individual taking acknowdeaent




EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATIONS
I, Gil Van Bokkelen, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Athersys, Inc.

2. Based on my knowledge, this report doesantain any untrue statement of a material factnoit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, indfighe circumstances under which such statenveets made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered ly tport;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statement$ aéimer financial information included in this repdairly presen
in all material respects the financial conditiogsults of operations and cash flows of the regista of, and for, the
periods presented in this repc

4. The registrant’s other certifying officergg)d | are responsible for establishing and maiimgidisclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rulasl58e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control oveaticial
reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and plaress, or caused such disclosure controls and guoes to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure thatriabiieformation relating to the registrant, incing its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to ustbgre within those entities, particularly during theriod
in which this report is being prepare

(b) Designed such internal control over finahoéporting, or caused such internal control direncial
reporting to be designed under our supervisiopyéeide reasonable assurance regarding the rétyabfl
financial reporting and the preparation of finahsiatements for external purposes in accordantte wi
generally accepted accounting princip!

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the regimtsadisclosure controls and procedures and presentlis repor
our conclusions about the effectiveness of thelalisce controls and procedures, as of the endegpéhnioc
covered by this report based on such evaluatiah

(d) Disclosed in this report any change inrgmgistrant’s internal control over financial repiogt that occurred
during the registrant’'s most recent fiscal quaftiee registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the cafan
annual report) that has materially affected, ae@sonably likely to materially affect, the regisit’'s
internal control over financial reporting; a

5. The registramd’other certifying officer(s) and | have discloskdsed on our most recent evaluation of internatrot
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s anditand the audit committee of the registrant’stb@d directors (or
persons performing the equivalent functiot

(&) All significant deficiencies and materiadaknesses in the design or operation of internarabover
financial reporting which are reasonably likelyatdversely affect the registrant’s ability to recgrtbcess,
summarize and report financial information;

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, thatatves management or other employees who havendisant
role in the registra’s internal control over financial reportir

March 11, 2010

/s/ Gil Van Bokkeler

Gil Van Bokkelen
Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Boafdoectors




EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATIONS
I, Laura K. Campbell, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Athersys, Inc.

2. Based on my knowledge, this report doesantain any untrue statement of a material factnoit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, indfighe circumstances under which such statenveets made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered ly tport;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statement$ aéimer financial information included in this repdairly presen
in all material respects the financial conditiogsults of operations and cash flows of the regista of, and for, the
periods presented in this repc

4. The registrant’s other certifying officergg)d | are responsible for establishing and maiimgidisclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rulasl58e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control oveaticial
reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and plaress, or caused such disclosure controls and guoes to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure thatriabiieformation relating to the registrant, incing its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to ustbgre within those entities, particularly during theriod
in which this report is being prepare

(b) Designed such internal control over finahoéporting, or caused such internal control direncial
reporting to be designed under our supervisiopyéeide reasonable assurance regarding the rétyabfl
financial reporting and the preparation of finahsiatements for external purposes in accordantte wi
generally accepted accounting princip!

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the regimtsadisclosure controls and procedures and presentlis repor
our conclusions about the effectiveness of thelalisce controls and procedures, as of the endegpéhnioc
covered by this report based on such evaluatiah

(d) Disclosed in this report any change inrgmgistrant’s internal control over financial repiogt that occurred
during the registrant’'s most recent fiscal quaftiee registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the cafan
annual report) that has materially affected, ae@sonably likely to materially affect, the regisit’'s
internal control over financial reporting; a

5. The registramd’other certifying officer(s) and | have discloskdsed on our most recent evaluation of internatrot
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s anditand the audit committee of the registrant’stb@d directors (or
persons performing the equivalent functiot

(&) All significant deficiencies and materiadaknesses in the design or operation of internarabover
financial reporting which are reasonably likelyatdversely affect the registrant’s ability to recgrtbcess,
summarize and report financial information;

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, thatatves management or other employees who havendisant
role in the registra’s internal control over financial reportir

March 11, 2010

/sl Laura K. Campbe

Laura K. Campbel
Vice President, Financ




EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Athersys;.I(the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year endstember 31, 2009,
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiothe date hereof (the “Report”), each of theeunsigned officers of the
Company certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Sectids01as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Basb@xley Act of 2002,
that, to such officer's knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934; anc

(2) The information contained in the Report faplesents, in all material respects, the finanmaldition and results of
operations of the Company as of the dates andhéperiods expressed in the Rep

Date: March 11, 2010

/s/ Gil Van Bokkelen
Name: Gil Van Bokkelen
Title: Chairman and Chief Executive Offict

/sl Laura K. Campbell
Name: Laura K. Campbell
Title: Vice President, Financ

The foregoing certification is being furnished $pleursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 and is notghéled as part of the
Report or as a separate disclosure document.



